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information for an overseas company

UK establishment
number

Part 2

2 Filling in this form
Please complete in typescript or in
bold black capitals.

All fields are mandatory unless
specified or indicated by *

@ This is the name of the company in
its home state.

Legislation

Please give the legislation under which the accounts have been prepared and

@ This means the relevant rules or
legislation which regulates the

audited. .
preparation of accounts.
Legislation @ I Finnish Law
m Accounting principles
Accounts Have the accounts been prepared in accordance with a set of generally accepted |© please insert the name of the

accounting principles?
Please tick the appropriate box.
(] No. Go to Section A3.

Yes. Please enter the name of the organisation or ather
body which issued those principles below, and then go to Section A3.

Name of organisation | IFRS
or body ®

appropriate accounting organisation
or body.
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Audited accounts

Audited accounts

Have the accounts been audited in accordance with a set of generally accepted
auditing standards?

Please tick the appropriate box.
[CJ No. Goto Part 3 ‘Signature’.

Yes. Please enter the name of the organisation or other body which issued
those standards below, and then go to Part 3 ‘Signature’.

Name of organisation

or body © KPMG OY AB
Part 3 Signature

| I am signing this form on behalf of the gverseas company.
Signature

C ) s
I T

This form may be signed by:
Director, Secretary, Permanent representative.

O Please insert the name of the
appropriate accounting
organisation or body.
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Bﬁesenter information

n Important information

You do not have to give any contact information, but if
you do it will help Companies House if there is a query
on the form. The contact information you give will be
visible to searchers of the public record.

Contact name

Tuula Tikkanen-McCreath
Wpa"y ™™ Finnair OYJ

‘ 1 Old Street Yard

-

Post town

Address

White Collar Factory

London

County/Region

e e e [ [sfafr

Country

|W

Telephone

+44(0) 7766 110 688

nChecklist

We may return forms completed incorrectly or
with information missing.

Please make sure you have remembered the

following:

O The company name and, if appropriate, the
registered number, match the information held on
the public Register.

O You have completed all sections of the form,
if appropriate.

O You have signed the form.

Please note that all this information will appear
on the public record.

@ Where to send

You may return this form to any Companies
House address:

England and Wales:

The Registrar of Companies, Companies House,
Crown Way, Cardiff, Wales, CF14 3UZ.

DX 33050 Cardiff.

Scotland:

The Registrar of Companies, Companies House,
Fourth floor, Edinburgh Quay 2,

139 Fountainbridge, Edinburgh, Scotland, EH3 9FF.
DX ED235 Edinburgh 1

Northern Ireland:

The Registrar of Companies, Companies House,
Second Floor, The Linenhall, 32-38 Linenhall Street,
Belfast, Northern Ireland, BT2 8BG.

DX 481 N.R. Belfast 1.

ﬂ?urther information

For further information, please see the guidance notes
on the website at www.gov.uk/companieshouse
or email enquiries@companieshouse.gov.uk

This form is available in an
alternative format. Please visit the
forms page on the website at
www.gov.uk/companieshouse

This has been provided free of charge by Companies House.
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Review of
the year 2020

IN 2020, WE RAISED
APPROXIMATELY 1.8 BILLION
EUROS OF NEW FINANCING

THE YEAR 2020

REVIEW OF

The year 2020 will go down in history
as the most difficult peacetime year in

commercial aviation's 100 years of existence.

The COVID-19 pandemic has been first and
foremost a human crisis and health crisis
that has touched hundreds of millions of
people. It has also been a severe crisis

for aviation and for the tens of millions of
people globally whose livelihcods depend oa
international travel, including us at Finnair.
Yet in this uncharted territory we have built
a path for ourselves through the pandemic.
For that, Finnair’s Executive Board and the
Board of Directors are deeply grateful to

the entire Finnair team. The ccmmitment
and resilience of our people during this year
of challenges is a source of inspiration and
hope.

Amid lockdowns and exceptional restrictions
to travel across countries and centinents,
airlines suffered massive losses as passenger
flows diminished. During the yezr, we carried
3.5 million passengers (14.7) and our revenue
for the year shrank to 829.2 million euros
(3,097.7); a drop of more than 70 per cent on
both measures. Our comparable operating
result was -595.3 million euros (162.8). Our
operating result was -464.5 million euros
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(160.0) and the result for the period was
-523.2 million euros (74.5).

In the spring, we operated with a capacity

of a few per cent only, maintaining critical
connections for Finland to key European cities.
Even if people did not travel, goods had to
keep moving and we quickly ramped up our
cargo-only operations. All in all, we operated
over 1,300 cargo flights during 2020, and
cargo, supported by the shortage of capacity
and increased prices in the market, played a
significant role in our revenue. Among other
things, cargo included goods and equipment
for managing the pandemic. in summer 2020,
we started increasing the number of passenger
flights, but the pandemic situation continued
to be challenging and we operated a limited
network of approximately 50 destinations and
75 daily flights throughout the rest of the vear.

We paid over 460 million euros in refunds

for cancelled flights to our customers. Qur
health-related measures and flexible booking
terms enabled travelling for those who
needed to travel. Customers appreciated our
actions and our net promoter score (NPS)
rose to record heights during the year. In the
last quarter, our NPS was 52. We are grateful
for the trust our customers have shown us.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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THE IMPORTANCE OF
SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC
RESPONSIBILITIES WAS
HIGHLIGHTED

THE YEAR 2020

REVIEW OF

During the year, we concentrated on securing
the continuation of operations and our long-
in a post: i
market that will be different from what it was
before the pandemic. Our financing measures
were timely and comprehensive with which
we secured our equity and cash position.

We raised approximately 1.8 billion euros of
new financing including an oversubscribed
rights issue of over 500 million euros. In
addition, together with the State of Finland,
we are preparing a hybrid loan of up to 400
million euros, which awaits EU approval. The
support from the State of Finland and other
shareholders has been critically important in
this situation.

term competiti

We made overarching adjustments to our
operations and processes during the year
and reduced costs by over 1.5 billion euros
compared to 2019. Of this, 30 per cent

was fuel related. Almost all our personnel
were furloughed for a part of the year and,
unfortunately, furloughs continue for a

large share of our personnel. Our savings
programme, targeting a permanent reduction
of 140 million euros with full run-rate impact
in 2022, proceeded well as we sought savings
from all parts of our operations. With these
decisions, the number of personne! at Finnair
decreases altogether by 1,100 persons
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through reductions, ending of fixed-term
contracts, retirements, and natural attrition.
The job losses are saddening, but necessary.
To support redundant employees find new
jobs, we have collaborated with employment
authorities and training organisations to build
a comprehensive NEXT programme that has
started with encouraging results.

In making decisions that are crucial for
Finnair’s survival and future, our long-term
strategy and Finnair values have been our
compass. The Finnair team have shown their
ability to renew ways of working in a rapidly
changing environment. Our employee satis-
faction survey shows that our value of working
together has strengthened during the year. Asa
team, we have grown stronger amidst the enor-
mous challenges brought by the pandemic.

In the long-term, only a profitabte company can
shoulder its responsibilities and be a positive
force in society. Our key target during 2020
was to ensure Finnail’s long-term future, our
ability to continue to implement our strategy,
and our ability to continue to offer excellent
flight connections and employment for Finland.
We need profitability and investment capability
also for reducing our emissions because new
technology plays a key role in solving the
climate challenge.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The cornerstone of our strategy, the fuel-
efficient route between Europe and Asia,
enabled by the location of our Helsinki hub,
supports global CO, emission targets. This
means that Finland and Finnair can bring
solutions larger than their size to climate
action. The rebuild of our operations enables
us to come back better, and we intend to
ensure that our emissions do not increase at
pace with traffic recovery.

Year 2020 showed concretely how tightly
environmental, social, and economic
responsibilities are interlinked. While CO,
emissions from aviation decreased during
2020, tens of thousands of jobs were lost in
aviation and the global travel industry faced
severe difficulties. We saw this also in our
home market. Air connections provided by
Finnair play a significant rote in the Finnish
economy, both for export companies and for
the Finnish travel industry.

At Finnair, sustainability is not a separate
department or process, but an integral
part of everything we do. in line with this,
we report sustainability as a part of our
annual report. Finnair's Annual General
Meeting approved in 2020 an amendment
to our articles of association, enabling us to
participate more actively in activities that

REMUNERATION
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secure the acceptability of Finnair’s business
and its long-term profitability, such as taking
alternative fuels into use. This change in our
articles of association brought sustainability
to the core of our operations, where it
belongs.

We expect travel to begin to recover from
summer 2021 onwards as vaccination
coverage increases and countries start
lifting their travel restrictions. We intend to
come out stronger and serve our customers
even better when the market starts moving.
We have enhanced the agility of our
operations so that we can act fast when our
customers are again ready to travel,

The year 2020 showed how essential

it is to balance social, economic, and

envir | aspects of inability.
This is a good guideline also in our rebuild
phase, which we start now with the Finnair
team, our customers, and our partners. We
look forward to welcoming our customers
on board again, calling our colleagues at
Finnair back to work, and being able to
bring strong value to Finland and to our
shareholders again.

Topi Manner, President and CEQ
Anne Larilahti, VP Sustainability

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



’ REVIEW OF THE REPORT OF THE FINANCIAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
THE YEAR 2020 BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX

The Report of
the Board of Directors —

N
iy

6 Business model and operational 35 Significant near-term risks and “

environment uncertainties
10 Financial performance in 2020 37 Seasonal variation and sensitivities in P
15 Financial position and capital business operations

expenditure 39 Qutlook
18 Fleet 40 Performance indicators classified as 5.,,
19 Strategy implementation alternative performance measures
22 Financial performance 2016-2020 42 Reconciliation of performance
23 Non-financial performance 2020 indicators classified as alternative
28 Changes in company management performance measures

29 Shares and shareholders
33 Finnair's risk management principles

Other performance indicators !




Business model
and operational
environment
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VISION

SHAPING THE
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OF TRAVEL WITH YOU

+
MISSION

INSPIRE YOU TO
EFFORTLESSLY

CONNECT AND
EXPERIENCE

THE WORLD IN A MORE
SUSTAINABLE WAY

THE YEAR 2020

REVIEW OF

Finnair is a network airline that special-
ises in passenger and cargo traffic between
Asia and Europe. It also offers package
tours under its Aurinkomatkat-Suntours
(later Aurinkomatkat) and Finnair Holidays
brands.

The cornerstone of Finnair's strategy is
its geographical position, which confers a
competitive advantage because it enables
the fastest connections in the growing
market of air traffic between Asia and
Europe.

Finnair’s business is impacted by the four
megatrends described in the adjacent
picture. They offer numerous opportuni-
ties, but also add new requirements for
conducting business.

Finnair's business is cyclical in nature, and
in addition to long-term megatrends, it
is heavily influenced by external factors
described in the picture on the next page.

Of these external factors, the COVID-19

pandemic had an unprecedented impact

on Finnair’s business in 2020. As many

countries heavily restricted travelling, the
" company was forced to cut its passenger
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traffic capacity by over 70 per cent meas-
ured in available seat kilometres (ASK) and,
thus, total revenue declined by more than
70 per cent. Finnair adjusted its operations
significantly which resulted in temporary
and permanent layoffs impacting almost all
personnel during the majority of 2020. Also
other significant volume-driven, but also
permanent, cost adjustment measures were
introduced to minimise the losses caused by
the very limited operations since Q1 and to
make sure that the company will be compet-
itive and will operate from a more efficient
cost base when passenger traffic gradually
starts to recover. For some time, Finnair will
be a smaller company and, therefore, the
number of employees was adjusted down-
wards by approximately 600.

The timing of the recovery in demand will
primarily depend on the implementation
of the vaccination programmes, lifting of
travel restrictions and global acceptance of
vaccine passports. Finnair is prepared for
a range of outcomes with three different
recovery scenarios, namely an optimistic
case, a base case and a pessimistic case,
and is ready to react in an agile and timely
manner to changing circumstances. In the
scenarios, the recovery is expected to mate-

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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of inabilif ur

Technological progress, increase in the signifi-
cance of network connections and digitalisation

Shift in economic and political focus from the
United States and Europe to developing countries

Read more on Finnair's website.
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THE YEAR 2020

REVIEW OF

rially begin in June, August or October 2021,
respectively. The base case scenario is
considered the most probabie of the three.

In 2020, Finnair carried out an exten-

sive financing programme, consisting of
e.g. a 500-million-euro rights offering, a
600-million-euro pension premium loan,
several aircraft financing transactions

and up to 400-million-euro hybrid loan
the company is preparing together with
the State of Finland. Due to these meas-
ures, Finnair expects to be able to execute
its strategy and business model even if the
impacts of the pandemic were to result in
further deterioration of the demand for air
travel from currently forecasted levels. The
impact of COVID-19 on Finnair's strategy

is described in more detail in the strategy
section.

Business environment in 2020
Early Q1 was still in line with expecta-
tions and in accordance with Finnair’s
outlook, even though the first signs of the
COVID-19 pandemic were already visible.
Starting from March, the pandemic drasti-
cally impacted the global aviation sector,
including Finnair’s operations. As a result,
airlines the world over were forced to

THE REPORT OF THE
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significantly cut their capacity due to the
continued strict travel restrictions and the
resulting lack of demand for passenger air
travel. This also applied to Finnair, as it cut
its network significantly at the end of QL.
During Q2, the company only maintained
the flight connections that were critical for
Finland. The number of flights increased
slightly starting from Q3, but the annual
capacity (ASK) in 2020 was only c. 27 per
cent compared to 2019. Thus, it became
evident in mid-March that Finnair’'s perfor-
mance would not align with the outlook

it had provided in connection with the Q4
2019 result. As the pandemic is still present
globally, and COVID-19 vaccinations started
only a few weeks ago, Finnair estimates that
it will only be able to meaningfully increase
its traffic starting from the summer of 2021.
The company currently estimates that its
2019 traffic levels measured in ASKs will be
reached in 2023.

Starting from late Q1, market capacity
between Helsinki and many European desti-
nations declined drastically year-on-year.
Measured in ASKs, the scheduled market
capacity between origin Helsinki and
Finnair's European destinations decreased
by 68.2 per cent (+2.9) compared to

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX
EXTERNAL FACTORS INFLUENCING AIRLINES
CHANGES IN CONSUMER PREFERENCE, EXPECTATIONS,
PURCHASING PATTERNS AND DEMOGRAPHICS
P PRICE OF GLOBAL
_i_u JET FUEL ECONOMIC CYCLES /:Lfl|
$ EXCHANGE SEASONALITY IN LEISURE
RATES AND BUSINESS TRAVEL

POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT
AND REGULATION

WEATHER,

NATURAL DISASTERS,
PANDEMICS AND OTHER
| EXTERNAL SHOCKS

:

2019. After Q1, demand on European and
domestic routes was soft due to the COVID-
19-related route and frequency cancella-
tions as well as strict travel restrictions.
Similarly, direct market capacity between
Finnair's Asian and European destina-
tions decreased by 70.4 per cent (+4.5)
year-on-year and the COVID-19 impact

was already visible in Q1 as many Chinese
routes were suspended. Due to continued
travel restrictions, demand between Europe
and Finnair’s Asian destinations strongly
declined during 2020.

Finnair engages in closer cooperation with
certain oneworld partners through partici-

pation in joint businesses, namely the Sibe-
rian Joint Business (5JB) on flights between
Europe and Japan, and the Atlantic Joint
Businesses (AJB) on flights between Europe
and North America. During the pandemic,
Finnair and its JB partners have continued
to work together to ensure the uninter-
rupted delivery of efficiencies and customer
benefits, despite the severely reduced
capacity and revenues. Further, Finnair
continued the preparations to launch a Joint
Business with Juneyao Airlines in H1 2021.

Customer demand for package holidays in
the beginning of the first quarter was still
stronger than during Q1 2019 and, at the

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



STRONG DEMAND FOR CARGO
ALLEVIATED THE DECLINE IN
FINNAIR’S CARGO REVENUE
YEAR-ON-YEAR

REVIEW OF
THE YEAR 2020

same time, travel services allotment-based
package holiday capacity was lower than in
the comparison period. COVID-19 started
to negatively affect demand in February,
and holiday production was interrupted

in mid-March following the travel restric-
tions set by the authorities in Finland as
well as at the destinations. As a result,
customer demand for package holidays
declined significantly in the spring. During
the summer, demand for package holi-
days started to recover but production
remained low. In Q3, Aurinkomatkat intro-
duced domestic package holidays and their
demand has been stronger than expected.
During Q4, Aurinkomatkat produced only
domestic holiday packages. Even though
there were promising signs of a demand
recovery in late 2020 especially related to
summer 2021 and winter 2021-2022, the
outlook for the year 2021 continues to be
uncertain and is dependent on COVID-19
developments and related travel restric-
tions as well as the recovery of customer
demand.

THE REPORT OF THE
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The global air freight market was also
heavily impacted by COVID-19 in 2020,
decreasing industry cargo volumes signif-
icantly as the scheduled traffic capacity
decreased beginning in late Q1. On the
other hand, the market for cargo-only oper-
ations was availabte throughout 2020 and,
therefore, Finnair was gradually able to also
increase the number of scheduled Asian
flights carrying belly cargo despite the

low passenger load factor as demand for
cargo remained strong. This also alleviated
the decline in Finnair's cargo revenue that
resulted from lower cargo volumes year-on-
year. The total cargo load factor increased
significantly compared to 2019. Finnair esti-
mates that a similar cargo demand trend
will continue at least during Q1 2021.

The US dollar, which is the most significant
expense currency for Finnair after the euro,
depreciated by 2.0 per cent against the euro
year-on-year. The market price of jet fuel
was 43.1 per cent lower in 2020 than in the

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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comparison period, but this decline does
not fully impact Finnair's 2020 fuel costs
due to its hedging policy. Finnair hedges
its fuel purchases and key foreign currency
items; hence, market fluctuations are not
reflected directly in its result. Finnair's
2020 fuel bill, however, decreased signif-
icantly due to the capacity decline. As a
consequence, Finnair has also temporarily
changed the lower limit its degree of fuel
hedging to 0 per cent.

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX
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CAPITALS

Human
« Competent Personnel

Intellectual And Social
- Suppliers and partners
Joint businesses (AJB/SJB)
and alliance cooperation

- Distribution channels

« Public affairs

Intangible

Traffic & overflight right
+ Customer base and data
« Quality certifications

- Route network

« Brand

« Articles of Association

Financial And Material
Adjusted interest-bearing
debt €2197.5 million

+ Equity capital €896.6 million
Modern and efficient fleet

of 83 aircraft

+ COOL Nordic Cargo Terminal,
Helsinki Hub

Maintenance Facilities

- Catering Facilities

Natural Resources

- Fuel use (jet and ground)
+ Energy consumption of facilities
« Water use

« Purchased goods
- Material use

_
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Customer Service And Products Support Services Py Increasing Value For Society

[ ] Finnair and Oneworld Global network Catering - Enabling safe and free movement of people,

1‘ Passenger and cargo traffic Aircraft Maintenance goods and services

Ancillary services Ground Handling « Improving Cultural, Societal and Commercial
Package tours Airline Training interaction

Dynamic travel products

STRATEGY AND VALUES

WORKING

MODERN TOGETHER

PREMIUM
AIRLINE '

NETWORK
AND FLEET

CULTURE
| AND WAYS OF
b . WORKING
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PURPOSE: ENRICHING LIFE BY BRIDGING THE WORLD

" AN

- Participating and inspiring cross-industry
collaboration

« Economic multiplier effects for the Finnish
society

Sustainable Growth

+ Producing direct and indirect employment
(e.g. tourism, international trade and foreign
investments)

= Venturing out of our traditional business ta find
solutions for our core

+ Producing value for shareholders' investments

+ Increased brand value

Satisfied & Competent Personnel
Equal opportunities for Personnel
+ Good Governance
« Safe and Healthy work
« Support and respect of labour and human rights

Environmental Impact

+ Air Emissions (CO2 and non-C02)
+ Noise Emissions

« Liquid waste (De-icing fluids )

+ Material waste
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&
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Financial
performance in
2020

THE YEAR 2020

REVIEW OF

Revenue

In 2020, Finnair's revenue decreased signif-
icantly due to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic.

Unit revenue (RASK) decreased by 2.4
per cent and amounted 6.41 cents (6.56).
The unit revenue at constant currency
decreased by 2.0 per cent.

Passenger traffic

The COVID-19 pandemic had an impact
on the Asian traffic figures beginning in
February; the impact was significant in all
traffic areas from March. This resulted in
a material decline in 2020 traffic figures.
Passenger revenue decreased by 78.7 per
cent and passenger traffic capacity, meas-
ured in Available Seat Kilometres (ASK),
declined by 72.6 per cent overall against
the comparison period. The number of
passengers decreased by 76.2 per cent

Passenger revenue and traffic data by area, 2020
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to 3,485,600 passengers. Traffic meas-
ured in Revenue Passenger Kilometres
(RPK) decreased by 78.8 per cent and the
passenger load factor (PLF) decreased by
18.7 percentage points to 63.0 per cent.

In Asian traffic, capacity declined signifi-
cantly starting from February and there
were only a few scheduled flights in Q2 and
a limited number in Q3 and Q4. Even though
the number of scheduled flights increased
somewhat in Q3 and Q4 from Q2, ASKs were
nevertheless down by 73.6 per cent in 2020.
In total Asian traffic, RPKs decreased by
80.1 per cent and the PLF decreased by 20.6
percentage points to 62.3 per cent. The low
PLF causing low yields in Q2-Q4 were, how-
ever, supported by the strong Asian cargo
operations and a very high cargo load factor.

As there was only one passenger flight in
Q2 and none in Q3 or Q4, capacity on North

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Atlantic routes decreased by 79.1 per cent
year-on-year even though Q1 was stifl pos-
itive due to a new route, Los Angeles, that
was opened at the end of March 2019 and
ad hoc frequencies that were added in Feb-
ruary when COVID-19 measures prompted
cancelled frequencies from Asia. In total,
North Atlantic traffic (RPKs) decreased by
81.4 per cent and the PLF decreased by 9.1
percentage points to 76.2 per cent.

Also in European traffic, capacity decreased

due to the COVID-19 impact by 71.7 per cent.

RPKs decreased by 78.3 per cent and the
PLF was down by 18.8 percentage points to
62.1 per cent.

Due to the same reasons, domestic traffic
capacity decreased by 54.7 per cent. RPKs
decreased by 58.4 per cent and the PLF
decreased by 5.4 percentage points to 60.2
per cent.

REMUNERATION

Passenger revenue ASK RPK PLE
Traffic area MEUR Share % Change, % Mill. km Change, % Mill. km Change, % % Change, %-p
Asia 186.0 352 -82.8 61559 38377 -80.1 62.3 206
North Atlantic 26.4 50 -85.3 8489 6471 -81.4 6.2 -94
Europe 244.6 46.3 755 5.061.1 7 3.1405 783 621 188
Domestic 69.1 131 -619 8715 -54.7 5247 -58.4 602 -5.4
L 19 0.4 -95.0
Total 528.1 100.0 787 12,9375 2.6 81500 788 63.0 18.7

SUSTAINABILITY

REPORT APPENDIX

Revenue bridge by traffic area
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Ancillary

Ancillary revenue consisting of e.g. various
service fees and inflight sales decreased by
64.6 per cent, mainly due to the low num-
ber of passengers, especially in 32-Q4. In
addition to service charges, advance seat
reservations and excess baggagz2 were the
largest ancillary categories.

Cargo

Due to the limited number of scheduled
flights - especially in Q2, but also in Q3 and
Q4 - the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
was visible in Finnair's 2020 cargo volumes.
Finnair commenced its cargo-only opera-
tions in April as demand was strong in the
market due to overall lack of capacity. In Q3,
Finnair was abte to increase the number of
Asian scheduled passenger flights carrying
belly cargo as the cargo demand remained
strong even though the passenger load

BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS

factor was low. The same trend continued
in Q4.1n 2020, available scheduled cargo
tonne kilometres decreased by 73.9 per
cent, whereas revenue scheduled cargo
tonne kilometres decreased by 73.2 per
cent. However, cargo related available
tonne kilometres decreased by 61.6 per cent
and revenue tonne kilometres decreased
by 55.6 per cent as they included also

the cargo-only flights operated primarily
between Asia and Europe but also between
Europe and North America. Cargo revenue
decreased only by 16.2 per cent.

Travel services

Despite the improved package holiday
demand in early Q1, travel services develop-
ment was negatively affected by the lower
allotment-based capacity in Q1 caused by
COVID-19 and later temporarily cancelled
production both in allotment-based holi-

Revenue by product

EUR million 2020 2019 Change %
Passenger revenue . 528.1 2,479.8 787
Ancillary revenue ! 62.3 176.2 646
Cargo 1777 2i2.1 -16.2
Travel services 61.1 2295 734
Total 829.2 3,0977 32

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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days and dynamic products in Q2. Further,
Aurinko Estonia operations were discon-
tinued at the end of 2019. As a result, there
was no travel services revenue in Q2 and Q3
saw only a limited amount of production.
On the other hand, Aurinkomatkat cpened
domestic package holidays for sale during
Q3 and their demand has been stronger
than estimated. In Q4, Aurinkomatkat
produced only domestic package hclidays.
The total number of travel services sassen-
gers declined by 81.7 per cent and the load
factor in Aurinkomatkat's allotment-based
capacity was 94.5 per cent. Travel services
revenue decreased by 73.4 per cent.

REMUNERATION
REPORT APPENDIX

SUSTAINABILITY

Revenue bridge by product

€miltion

3,0077 -1951.7
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Cost development

In 2020, Finnair's operating expenses
decreased notably less than the decline in
revenue, due to certain fixed cost items.
Finnair has, however, introduced signifi-
cant cost adjustment initiatives, including
temporary and permanent layoffs, due to
the COVID-19 impact; their effect was visible
inQ2-Q4.

Unit cost (CASK) increased by 77.0 per

cent and totalled 11.01 cents (6.22). CASK
excluding fuel increased by 93.4 per cent
and totalled 9.21 cents (4.76). The surges
were caused by the limited capacity starting
from Q2 and certain fixed cost items.

Operating expenses excluding fuel
decreased by 46.2 per cent. Fuel costs,
including hedging resuits and emissions
trading costs, decreased mainly due to
COVID-19-related capacity cuts and this was
visible especially in Q2-Q4 although the
price impact mitigated it.! Fuel efficiency
(as measured by fuel consumption per ASK)
weakened by 17.7 per cent. Fuel consump-
tion per RTK, which also accounts for devel-
opments in both passenger and cargo load
factors, increased by 20.8 per cent.

THE REPORT OF THE
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staff and other crew related costs decreased
as capacity was cut significantly and Finnair
commenced the majority of its planned
temporary layoffs in April 2020 and, thus,
the effect was visible starting from Q2.

0On the other hand, items maintaining the
costs were summer holidays in the middie
of temporary layoffs, fixed pension fund
costs, an increase in the employer’s health
insurance contribution in 2020 and a salary
increase due to recently negotiated CLAs.

Passenger and handling costs (including
also tour operation expenses related to
e.g. hotels) were driven down by volume

declines in both passenger and cargo traffic.

The category also includes tour operation
expenses.

Sales, marketing and distribution costs
decreased even more than revenue due to a
decline in sales commissions and payment
costs added to material marketing cost
savings. Further, some booking fees paid,
particularly in Q1, were credited due to the

wave of COVID-19-related flight cancelfations.

Aircraft materials and overhaul costs also
decreased and notably in Q1, they were

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Operating expenses Included In
comparable operating result

€ million

3500

B staff and other crew related
costs, change -47%

W Fuel costs, change -66%

0 Capacity rents, change -31%

1 Aircraft
overhaul, change -48%

8 Tralfic charges. change -66% O PrOPerty. IT and other
expenses, change -17%

B Sales. marketingand
distribution costs, change -84%

W Passenger and handling
services, change -65%

o . .

change 6%

2019 2020
Key figures - Revenue and profitability ) 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
Revenue EUR mill. 829.2 309727 2,836.1 2,568.4 23168
change from previous year % 732 9.2 104 108 2.8
Comparable operating result EUR mill. -595.3 162.8 2184 1704 55.2
Comparable operating result of % 7.8 53 77 6.6 24
revenue -
Comparable operating result EUR mill. -558.9 205.7 2184
at constant currency and fuel
price”
Operating result EUR mill. -464.5 160.0 2563 2248 116.2
C ble EBITDA of revenue % -303 158 18.1 170 17
Basic and diluted earnings per EUR -0.51 0.09 013 0.23 010
share (EPS)**
Unit revenue per available seat cents/ASK 6.41 6.56 6.69 696 6.83
kilometre (RASK)
RASK at constant currency” cents/ASK 6.40 653 6.69
Unit revenue per revenue cents/RPK 6.48 644 6.48 6.57 671
passenger kilometre (yietd)
Unit cost per available seat cents/ASK 1.01 6.22 618 6.49 6.67
kilometre (CASK) :
CASK excluding fue! cents/ASK 921 476 481 5.22 5.22
CASK at constant currency and cents/ASK 1072 610 6.18

fuel price”

* Key figures at constant currency and fuel price are reported on 2018 level.

** A rights offering was implemented between June and July 2020 and, therefore, 2016-2019 EPS figures have been
restated accordingly.
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positively impacted by a new engine MRO
agreement and related revaluation, but this
was netted by the decline in the USD-based
discount rates of maintenance reserves.
During Q2-Q4, the capacity decline was the
main cause for the cost decrease.

Fleet growth and technical maintenance
increased depreciation and impairment
costs. Traffic charges decreased somewhat
in line with traffic decline. Capacity rents,
covering purchased traffic from Norra and
any wet leases or cargo rents, decreased
from the comparison period due to decline
in capacity despite Norra’s relatively signif-
icant operations during Q2-Q4. Prop-

erty, IT and other expenses were nearly at
the comparison period’s level as they are
mainly fixed even though some cost savings
initiatives have already been executed.

Result

Finnair’s 2020 result was heavily impacted
by COVID-19 as thé company was forced to
cancel tens of thousands of flights and was
able to operate only to a limited number
of destinations as a result of strict travel
restrictions in many countries worldwide
starting from mid-Ql. Thereforz, demand
softened significantly.

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Finnair's comparable EBITDA and compa- 2020 result

rable operating result decreased signifi- £UR million 2020 2019 Change %
cantly as revenue declined notably more .Comparable EBITDA 2515 488.3 -151.5
. Depreciation and impairment 3438 3254 56
than gperatnng expenses. Comparable EBIT = — st o953 o5 300
margin was -71.8 per cent (5.3), when the Items affecting comparability 130.8 2.8 >200
targeted over the cycle levet was above 7.5 Operating result :4645 1600 <200
. . Financial income 387 48 >200
per cent during the strategy period. The Financial expenses 255.2 836 5200
targeted level will, however, be r Exchange gains and losses 266 127 109.5
. Share of results in associates and joint ventures - 09 100.0
due to the COVID-19 impact. Result before taxes 6504 93.0 <200
Income taxes 1311 -18.4 >200
Result for the period -523.2 74.5 <200

Unrealised changes in foreign currencies
of fleet overhaul provisions were 12.2
million euros (-1.4) and fair value changes
of derivatives where hedge accounting

is not applied totalled -0.2 million euros
(1.3). Other items affecting comparability
consisting of changes in defined

benefit plans, sales gains or losses and
restructuring costs totalled 118.7 million
euros (-2.8) of which 132.8 million euros
was related to changes in defined benefit
plans caused by the net impact of Finnair’s
pension fund index increment removals
and pilots’ early retirement costs. Further,
-14.9 million euros was related to the
restructuring costs caused by the COVID-19
impact. Driven by the changes in the
defined benefit plans, Finnair's operating
result declined notably less year-on-year
than the comparable operating result.
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FINANCIAL EXPENSES
INCREASED SIGNIFICANTLY
DUE TO HEDGING WHICH WAS
RECLASSIFIED FROM OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BUT THIS WAS NETTED BY
MATERIAL COST SAVINGS
RELATED TO CHANGES IN
DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

Financial expenses increased significantly,
and the growth was mainly related to jet
fuel and foreign exchange hedging. Due

to COVID-19, Finnair operated only limited
capacity and, thus, the underlying fuel price
and foreign exchange exposures did not
exist. As a result, Finnair discontinued the
application of hedge accounting to most of
its fuel and currency hedges and the market
value of those hedges was reclassified to
profit and loss from other comprehensive
income due to IFRS 9 during Q1-Q3. Finan-
cial income increased for the same reason,
but the related net expense totalled 136
million euros. Foreign exchange gains were
mainly related to USD denominated aircraft
lease payments and liabilities.

Finnair’s result before taxes and result after
taxes declined more than the other result
key figures primarily due to the increase in
financial expenses.
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Financial position
and capital
expenditure

Gearing

€million %
2500

2,000

1,500

1,000

/
11

2019

500 —

W Cashfunds

3 Adjusted Interest-bearing liabilities
1 Equity

- Gearing

- Equityratio

? Arights offering was implemented between June and
July 2020. The shareholders' equity per share for the
comparison period has been restated accordingly.

REVIEW OF
THE YEAR 2020

Balance sheet
The Group’s balance sheet totalled 3,646.5
million euros at the end of the year (3,8779).

Fleet book value decreased 93.1 million
euros despite the A350 deliveries in
February and September 2020 due to depre-
ciation and two A350 sale-and-leaseback
transactions; the right-of-use fleet increased
by 36.1 million euros despite depreciation
mainly due to the effect of A350 sale-and-
leaseback transactions. Receivables related
to revenue decreased significantly due to the

COVID-19 impact to 57.5 million euros (160.6).

Netted deferred tax assets have increased
to 84.8 million euros (-64.3) resulting from
tax losses caused by the COVID-19 impact on
Finnair's result. The pension assets totalling
to 31.8 million euros (none in the compar-
ison period) mainly relate to the changes in
defined benefit plans (net impact of Finnair's
pension fund index increment removals

and pilots’ early retirement costs) whereas
pension obligations declined to 1.5 million
euros (77.1) mainly due to the same reason.

Deferred income and advances received
also decreased significantly to 133.6 million
euros (552.7) mainly due to the decline in

THE REPORT OF THE
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ticket related liabilities. The unflown ticket
liability decreased to 55.7 million euros
(451.2) mainly as a result of paid out ticket
refunds of 464 million euros related to the
cancelled flights.

The loss for the period decreased share-
holders’ equity. Shareholders' equity also
includes a fair value reserve that is affected
by changes in the fair values of jet fuel and
currency derivatives used for hedging as well
as actuarial gains and losses related to pilots’
defined benefit plans according to 1AS 19. The
value of the item at the end of December was

-41.8 million euros after deferred taxes (-6.7)

as the decrease in the fair value of hedge
instruments had a decreasing effect on
equity especially due to the decline in the jet
fuel price and actuarial losses from defined
benefit pension plans.

During 2020, Finnair booked 502.9 million
euros of net proceeds related to a rights
offering, which was finalised in July. Finnair
also issued a new hybrid bond of 200
million euros in September to refinance
the previous 200-mitlion-euro hybrid bond.
Shareholders’ equity totalled 896.6 million
euros (966.4), or 0.64 euros per share
(1.399).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY

STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX

Key figures - Capital structure 202 2019 2018 2017 2016
Equity ratio % 206 249 233 352 339
Gearing_ % 1532 64.3 769 242 1.2
Interest-bearing net debt EURmIll. 13738 621.0 7067 246.0 95.8
Interest-bearing net debt / . 85 13 14 16 25
& EBITOA, LTM :
Gross capital i EUR mill. 5159 4438 4740 519.0 5189
Return on capital employed % 152 - 6.3 93 136 89
(ROCE) )

Balance sheet

€million assets Equityand iabiltes

4,000 3,877.9 646.5 3,646.5 3,877.9

poey )
3000 —prr R _

5273

2,000 —
1,000 —|
° __
19 20 19
B Fleet D Other assets W Equity 0 peferredincome and
B Other fixed assets 0 Cashznd cash equivalents 8 interest-bearing advances received
and other financial assets fiabilities 1 Other liabilities
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3 The revolving credit facility includes a financial
covenant based on adjusted gearing. The covenant level
of adjusted gearing was waived during Q2 2020, was.
then reset to 225 per cent until 30 june 2021, reducing to
200 per cent untif 30 june 2022 and then to 175 per cent
thereafter. At the closing date, the figure was 153.2 per
cent.

THE YEAR 2020

REVIEW OF

Cash flow and financial position

In 2020, the COVID-19 impact was clearly
visible in net cash flow from operating
activities, which turned significantly nega-
tive primarily due to working capital move-
ments related to flight cancellations (e.g.
paid ticket refunds of 464 million euros

in total) and the decline in the financia!
result. Net cash flow from investments
turned positive mainly due to changes in
other current financial assets (maturity over
three months), the A350 sale-and-lease-
back transactions in August and December
and lower fleet investments. Also net cash
flow from financing turned positive mainly
due to the fully-drawn 600-million-euro
statutory pension premium loan, the rights
offering net proceeds of 500.6 million
received in cash and the export credit
agency financing transaction of an A350 in
December. The 175-million-euro unsecured
syndicated revolving credit facility® drawn in
March was repaid in September. Its maturity
date is in January 2023.

The equity ratio on 31 December 2020

was almost the same as at the end of 2019
despite the lower result for the period and
the change in the fair value reserve as 502.9
million euros refated to the rights offering
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were booked. Gearing, on the contrary, rose
significantly as interest-bearing net debt
increased.

The company's liquidity remained strong
during the period under review. Even
though Finnair Group's cash funds declined
due to the purchase of two A350 aircraft
(one in Q1 and one in Q3) and negative

net cash flow from operating activities,

the fully-drawn 600-million-euro pension
premium loan, the A350 sale-and-leaseback
transactions in August and December as
well as the export credit agency financing
transaction of an A350 in December netted
the decline. Further, the rights offering net
proceeds of 500.6 million received in cash
also increased the cash funds,

In addition to the currently fully undrawn
175-million-euro revolving credit facility,
Finnair still has a 200-million-euro short-
term commercial paper program, which
was unused at the end of December. The
company also announced in December that
the State of Finland, together with Finnair,
is preparing to make up to 400 million
euros which is expected to be available to
Finnair in Q1 2021 in the form of an unse-
cured hybrid loan. The possible arrange-

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Cash flow
EUR million 2020 - 2019
Net cash flow from operating activities -1.043.1 564.5
Net cash flow from investing activities 3516 -513.2
Net cash tlow from financing activities 1.001.9 -225.4
Liquidity and net debt
EUR million 2020 2019
Cash funds 8237 9527
Adjusted interest-bearing liabilities 21975 15737
Interest-bearing net debt 1,373.8 621.0
Cash Flow change 2020
€million 21,0834 351, activities, *1,0019
1,200 )
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THE STATE OF FINLAND,
TOGETHER WITH FINNAIR, IS
PREPARING A HYBRID LOAN OF
UP TO 400 MILLION EUROS

* Fleet value includes right of use assets as well as
prepayments of future aircraft deliveries.

REVIEW OF
THE YEAR 2020

ment is subject to a final decision by the
Finnish Government and it also requires
approval by the EU commission. Further,
Finnair is planning to refinance its existing
200-million-euro senior unsecured bond
which matures in March 2G22.

Interest-bearing liabilities increased from
2019 year-end mainly as a result of the
A350 sale-and-leaseback transactions, the
A350 export credit agency financing and
the pension premium loan. The share of
lease liabilities amounted to 1,016.2 million
euros (1,054.0). Interest-bearing net debt
increased from the end of 2019 due to the
decline in cash funds and the increase in
interest-bearing liabilities.

Capital expenditure

Gross capital expenditure, excluding
advance payments, totalled 515.9 million
euros in 2020 (443.8) and was primarily
related to fleet investments.

Cash flow from investments @including
fixed asset investments and divestments,
sublease payments received and advance
payments) totalled -88.3 million euros
(-460.6).
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Change in other current financial assets
(maturity over three months) totalled
4399 million (-53.4) also forming a part of
the net cash flow from investments, which
amounted to 351.6 million euros (-513.2).

Cash flow from investments (including

only fixed asset investments and advance
payments) for the financial year 2021
relates mainly to fleet and is expected to
total approximately -119 million euros.
Investment cash flow includes both
committed investments as well as estimates
for planned, but not yet committed, invest-
ments.

The company has 38 unencumbered
aircraft, which account for approximately
46 per cent of the balance sheet value of
the entire fleet of 2,212.7 million euros.*

Dividend policy and the Board’s
proposal for the distribution of
profit

The aim of Finnair’s dividend policy is to
pay, on average, at least one-third of the
earnings per share as a dividend over an
economic cycle. The aim is to take into
account the company'’s earnings trend and

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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outlook, financial situation and capital
needs in the distribution of dividends.

In 2020, earnings per share were -0.51
euros (0.09). Finnair PIC’s distributable
equity amounted to 361,672,701.47 euros on
31 December 2020. The Board of Directors
proposes to the Annual General Meeting
that no dividend be distributed for 2020.

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX
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. .y . . P . ~ - - - - e )
F|eet F.m",alr S operatmg fleet‘ o Finnair's mvestme@ commltmen.ts for prop Flectoperatedby - seats N change  Gwn  Lonsed | average | ordered
Finnair's fleet is managed by Finnair Aircraft erty, plant and equipment, totalling 429 Finnair* 31.12.2020 N from <o age !
Finance Oy, a wholly-owned subsidiary of million euros, include the upcoming invest- Narrow-body lieet ¥ 31122019 31.12.2020 -
Finnair. At the end of the year, Finnair itself ments in the wide-body fleet. Airbus A319 - 144 6 2 5
had 59 aircraft, of which 24 were wide- ¢ Airbus A320 A 1 M- 8
. . . s . Airbus A321 209 19 4
body and 35 narrow-body aircraft. Of these Finnair has the possibility to adjust the ‘Wide-body fleet,
aircraft, 30 were owned by Finnair Aircraft size of its fleet in line with demand fore- "?fzus A330 289/263 8 4
. ae . S X
Finance Oy and 29 were leased. casts through the staggered maturities of ,%:E;:_SM_SO 297/336 - _;: g 30 70 10,6 3
its lease agreements and changes in the N Finn‘ai(;'s AirOnerra(or Certificate (AOC). .
. - 0LCO-fi 0 ti i il i ircraft.
At the end of the year, the average age of number of owned aircraft. Inctudes JOLCO-financed {Japanese pe[a ing Lease with Call Option) A350 aircraft.
the fleet operated by Finnair was 10.6 years. Fleet operated by Seats # Change own**  Leased Average  Ordered
. . , . Norra* 31.12.2020 from age
Finnair continues to proceed with the intro- N 31.12,2019 31.12.2020 J
Fleet renewal duction of the new Premium Economy cabin ATR §8:-72 12 (] S 1.4 H
. i X ) Embraer E190, 100 12 9 3 125
At the end of the year, Finnair had sixteen class. Due to the COVID-19 impact, the intro- Total e 24 o 15 ) 12.0
A350 aircraft, which have been delivered duction has been postponed from 2021 to * '{ofdit RegionalAiflines Oy's Air Operator Certificate (A0C). . .
between 2015-2020 and three A350 aircraft ~ 2022. - T
on order from Airbus. These aircraft were
originaliy scheduled for delivery from Q2 Fleet operated by Norra
2021 to Q2 2022. Based on a new agreed (purchased traffic)
schedule, the remaining three aircraft Nordic Regional Airlines (Norra) operates a
would be delivered to Finnair in Q2 2022, Q4 fleet of 24 aircraft for Finnair on a contract
2024 and Q1 2025. flying basis. All of the aircraft operated
by Norra are leased from Finnair Aircraft
In the fourth quarter, Finnair also retired Finance Oy.
two of its oldest Airbus A319 aircraft, both
of which were more than 21 years old.
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Finnair is targeting sustainable, profit-

able growth. The company implements its
strategy for the period of 2020-2025 in five
focus areas, namely: Network and fleet,
Operational excellence, Modern premium
airline, Sustainability, as well as Culture and
ways of working.

Due to the COVID-19 impact, the company
has decided to reassess its strategy; though
the foundation is still valid - for example,
Finnair is still fully committed to Asian
megacities and transfer traffic between
Asia and Europe - the focus areas related
to growth, network and fleet investments
and their schedules, as well as long-term
financial targets, will be re-evaluated in the
autumn of 2021 as a result of the impact on
demand caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.
The company still estimates that it will
return to the path of sustainable, profitable
growth within a rebuilding period of approx-
imately 2 years. At the same time, the
company realises that the markets and the
competitive environment will differ from
the pre-pandemic era going forward.

The company's sustainability targets remain
the same, even though available measures
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to reach the targets are being re-evaluated.
The 2020 Annual General Meeting resolved
that the Articles of Association be amended
to expand the company’s field of business.
This amendment supports Finnair’s sustain-
ability strategy by enabling a more active
role e.g. in the usage of alternative fuels
and in activities that are aimed at ensuring
the acceptability, and thereby the long-term
profitability, of Finnair's business. It is an
important step and, as a result, sustaina-
bility is at the core of Finnair.

Network and fleet

Exclusive of the COVID-19 impact, Finnair

is targeting Asian market level growth
focusing primarily on the most profitable
Asian mega cities and transfer traffic. The
previously expected annual capacity growth
between 3-5% was in line with the antici-
pated market growth. However, the devel-
opment of the capacity growth rate will be
reassessed.

Finnair continues to leverage its home hub's
unigue geographic location, maximizing its
efficiencies. Currently committed aircraft
investments will be made, though Finnair
was able to postpone deliveries of the

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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remaining A350 aircraft by, on average, 24
months. The time horizon of the remaining
fleet investment plan (including the narrow-
body fleet renewal) will, however, be reas-
sessed. The company will in particular
follow the rapidly evolving airczaft market
when it plans its future fleet investments.

Operational excellence

Finnair is recognised as one of the world's
safest airlines. The strong safety culture
(including health and safety measures),

as well as the reliability and preductivity

of Finnair’s operations, continues to be at
the core of the company’s strategy. In the
future, more effort will be put into techno!-
ogy, automation and utilising data as well as
into working together cross-functionally.

Particular focus will be on fuel efficiency
and on-time performance, which have a sig-
nificant impact on both cost and productiv-
ity as well as customer experienze. In terms
of on-time performance and fuel efficiency,
Finnair aims to develop from being in line
with peers to being among the leaders. The
company’s on-time performance was excel-
lent {90.2%) during 2020.

REMUNERATION
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In October, Finnair announced that it

was targeting a 140-million-euro perma-
nent cost base decline by 2022, compared
t0 2019 levels. The first savings target
published in May was 80 million euros

and the second published in August was
100 million euros. Finnair continues to
seek savings in such areas as real estate,
aircraft leasing, IT, sales and distribution
and administration as well as employee
compensation structures, The company will
further continue streamlining its operations
and the digitalisation and automation of its
customer processes. The company will also
renegotiate its supplier and partner agree-
ments. In addition, it carried out staff co-op-
eration negotiations due to the COVID-19
impact, which resulted in a reduction of
approximately 600 employees globally.
Also, indefinite and temporary layoffs were
continued.

The company is preparing for a recovery in
traffic and demand with different scenarios
and it has already announced that it will
.g. soon commence training to reactivate
furloughed pilots’ eligibility to fly. with the
help of these preparations, the company
aims to ensure that the gradual increase
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IN THE AUTUMN OF 2021,
FINNAIR WILL RE-EVALUATE
CERTAIN STRATEGY FOCUS
AREAS AND FINANCIAL
TARGETS DUE TO THE COVID-19
IMPACT
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in traffic will be smooth once the demand
recovers.

Modern premium airline

Finnair aims to be defined as a modern,
premium airline. This will be achieved

by allowing the customers to tailor the
way they want to travel and by enabling a
smooth travel experience with the help of
digital services.

To win in the competitive airline market,
Finnair must excel in everyday customer
experience. Finnair’s Net Promoter Score
(NPS), measuring customer satisfaction,
was at an excellent level with a score of
48 (38) in 2020. The customers especially
appreciated Finnair's service and exten-
sive health and safety measures during
the pandemic. As a token of appreciation,
Finnair received a Five-Star Global Airline
rating from APEX (Airline Passenger Expe-
rience Association) in December based on
customer reviews.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, Finnair
introduced several health and safety meas-
ures in 2020 to restore customers’ trust

in air travel. These measures included e.g.
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intensified aircraft cleaning, plastic screens
at the airport customer service points, mini-
misation of unnecessary human contact
onboard, new boarding and disembarka-
tion processes, handing out personal Clean
Kits to the customers and mandatory face
masks during flights. Finnair also added
flexibility to change bookings.

In the autumn, a partnership related to
COVID-19 testing with Finnish health-
care service provider Terveystalo was
faunched. Finnair also offered a complimen-
tary Corona Cover, extending customers’
own travel insurance to all international
flights departing from Finland as well as
to all Aurinkomatkat and Finnair Holidays
international holiday packages between
November-March. The Corona Cover
compensates to a great extent potential
COVID-19 related costs accrued during a
trip.

Despite the pandemic, Finnair has
continued to develop its distribution chan-
nels, Finnair.com and the travel agent
channel. Finnair became the first European
airline to modernize airfine product sales
using New Distribution Capabilities (NDC)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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with TravelSky, a leading Chinese distribu-
tion system and TongchengElong, a leading
Chinese online travel service provider.

During Q4, Finnair launched a new Taste of
Finnair concept where it sells ready-made
meals in K-markets around the Helsinki area
but also in other parts of Finland. The meals
are made by Finnair Kitchen and, thus,
utilises a workforce which would otherwise
be furloughed. The same K-markets also
started selling Finnair's signature biueberry
juice, which was previously available only
onboard Finnair flights. In addition, Finnair
operated eight virtual flights from Helsinki
to Rovaniemi to meet Santa Claus. The total
virtual flight proceeds of 90,000 euros
went to supporting UNICEF's work to slow
the spread of COVID-19 and minimise the
pandemic’s impact on children worldwide.

In 2020, the average monthly number of
unique Finnair website visitors totalled only
1.1 million {2.0) due to the COVID-19 impact.
Similarly, the number of active users of the
Finnair mobile application decreased by 44
per cent to 187,300 from 2019. Direct sales
in Finnair’s digital channels increased to
40.7 per cent (25.9) of all tickets sold.
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SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX

Sustainability

Sustainability is an essential part of Finnair,
Finnair's sustainability targets will remain
unchanged despite the COVID-19 pandemic.
Finnair will, however, reassess how its
action plan to reach the targets should be
amended due to COVID-19.

Finnair’s long-term goal, which is among
the most ambitious ones in the aviation
sector, is carbon neutrality by 2045, with a
50% reduction in net emissions by the end
of 2025 compared to the 2019 level. The
company is on track to reach a 50% reduc-
tion in single use plastics by the end of 2022
and was able to reach a 50% reduction of
food waste by the end of 2020.

Culture and ways of working

The strategy will be implemented by
engaging all Finnair personnel and, thus,
the strategy will be closely linked to the
everyday work and targets. The strategy
emphasises genuine collaboration,
target-oriented leadership and utilising
of new working methods such as lean
and agile. These measures are empha-
sised in the pandemic but also during the
future years. The number of employeeé
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has decreased as a result of the COVID-19
impact and, therefore, new, mcre effective
ways of working as wel! as extensive collab-
oration are necessary.

In Q4, Finnair announced a long-term incen-
tive programme for those persennel groups
with which it agreed on permanent cost
savings that support Finnair's recovery
during the rebuild period. The incentive
programme started during 2020 and will
end in the third quarter of 2023. Finnair
also reached agreements with some of the
personnel groups related to Finnair pension
fund's index increment removals, which

had a positive impact of more than 150
million euros on the 2020 financial result.
These are outstanding examples of Finnair’s
common culture and collaboration during
the pandemic.

Despite the pandemic, Finnair retained

its status as an attractive employer and
Universum ranked Finnair as the most
attractive employer amongst business
students in Finland for the fourth consecu-
tive year.
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Revenue

€million
3500
3,000
2,500
2,000
1500
1,000

500
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Cash flow of investments and net cash flow
from operations

€million

600

-104.3
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900 — R —

1,200

17 18

8 Investment cash flow*
B Net cash flow from operations

*Including investments and divestments of fixed assets
and group shares.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Number of passengers

thousand

15,000 ~————————

Interest-bearing liabilities and cash funds

€millien

2500

2,000

W interest-bearing liabilities
8 Cash funds

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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million

Available seat kilometres (ASK) and revenue
passenger kilometres (RPK)

million %
50000 ————————————— 40

40000
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B Available seat kilometres (ASK)

W Revenue passenger kilomelres (RPK)
« Avallable seat kilometres (ASK). %

= Revenue passenger kilometres (RPK), %

Return on capital employed (ROCE)

16 17 18 19 20

® Return on capital employed (ROCE)

‘The target fevel of return on capital employed (ROCE)
for the 2020-2025 strategy period will be reassessed
due to the COVID-19 impact.

REMUNERATION

Comparable operating result
and operating result

€million %
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500 71.8%.
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W Comparable operating result™

8 operating result

= Comparable operaring resull*, % of revenue

The target evel of comparabie operaling resul for the.

COVID-I9impact.
* Comparable operating result excluding changes in
the fair values of derivatives andin the value of foreign
[{ Y i fleet

i ircraft and other

restructuring Cosls.
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Non-financial
performance 2020

Paid taxes and other sustainability costs

€miltion

# Direct taxes payable

W (ndirect taxes collected

O EYETS costs

1 other environmentally based costs

Other environmentally based costs include Noise and NOX
costs, and enviranmental-based taxes

REVIEW OF
THE VEAR 2020

At the end of February, the COVID-19 pan-
demic started to affect company’s finan-
cial prospects, and at the end of March, the
virus hit the aviation industry with its fult
force. Due to travel restrictions and reduced
demand, Finnair adjusted its flight opera-
tions, and at the lowest level only operated
less than 10 per cent of its normal traffic
plan.

Minor improvements in traffic were at
times seen during the year, but overall, the
continued significant travel restrictions lead
to over 70 per cent decrease in available
seat kilometres compared to 2019 figures.
This was also directly reflected in the air
emissions of the flying. The exceptional

and unprecedented decrease in flights
during the pandemic makes a comparison
of performance with previous years chal-
lenging. Absolute amounts of emissions and
waste have decreased significantly, while
relative indicators have declined. Further
adapting its operations to maet the weak-
ening demand, Finnair began co-operation
negotiations with personnel and adjusted
personnel costs through laycffs and staff
reductions.

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Direct and indirect taxes paid during 2020
decreased due to reduced operations and
negative result. Other performance-based
payments, such as environmental
payments, also decreased significantly.

Customers, employees and other
stakeholders

Finnair is committed to transporting
customers, their luggage and cargo to
agreed destinations safely, smoothly and
on time. In 2020, the arrival punctuality
was 90.0 (79.3). Particular attention was
also paid to in-flight health safety, the use
of a face mask was mandatory on flights,
the number of commonly distributed
magazines was reduced, and catering and
boarding processes were changed to mini-
mize personal contact. Due to these excep-
tional service measures, Finnair’s overall
customer satisfaction as measured by Net

Promoter Score (NPS) increased to 48 (38).

Finnair, together with the Ministry for
Foreign Affairs and the Finnish missions,
carried out 16 subsidised repatriation
flights for passengers who had difficulties
in finding a return route to Finland due to
the pandemic. We also started to fly direct
cargo-only routes to deliver surgical masks

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

STATEMENT

and respirators the National Emergency
Supply Agency had purchased, as well as
other protective equipment to Finland.

We modified three Airbus A330 aircraft

as temporary cargo carriers to transport
these protective equipment and medicines,
among other things.

Finnair employed an average of 6,573
(6,771) people in 2020, which is 3 per cent
less than in the previous year. The number
of employees decreased during 2020 by 683
or 10 per cent, totalling 6,105 at the end

of December (6,788). Altogether approxi-
mately 600 people were made redundant at
Finnair in 2020. The decrease in personnel
was due to adapting operations to meet

the reduced demand caused by COVID-19.

At the same time, preparations began for
sustainable post-crisis growth. Due to the
COVID-19 impact, Finnair has esoecially
concentrated on its social responsibilities by
offering extensive and active support to its
employees who have been, or will be, laid
off. The company has introducec' a NEXT
programme which supports the re-employ-
ment of those leaving the company. The
programme consists e.g. of personalised
plans to move forward in work life, a wide
range of training options, career coaching,

REMUNERATION
REPORT

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX

The diversity of the Personnel: Gender

Men: Women:
| 43.0% WAl

[ T 66.0% B 34.0%
@ Excecutive Board 78.0% O Excecutive Board 22.0%

Number of persons employed by Finnair at
year-end

8.000

6,000
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services and content that support coping
and well-being, support from the TE Office
and support for those interested in entre-
preneurship.

Full-time staff accounted for 92 per cent
(87) of Finnair employees in 2020, and 99
per cent (96) of staff were employed on a
permanent basis. The attrition rate for the
last 12 months was 7.4 per cent (3.8). The
average age of employees was 43 years
(42). of the personnel, 33 per cent (29)
were over 50 years of age, while 13 per
cent (18) were under 30 years of age. At the
end of 2020, 57 per cent (57) of Finnair’s
employees were women and 43 per cent
(43) were men. Four (three) out of the nine
(eight) members of Finnair’s Board of Direc-
tors are women. Finnair does not maintain
statistics based on ethnicity.

LTiF (Lost Time Incident Frequency), which
measures the frequency of accidents at the
company level, decreased when compared
to previous year being 4.4 (9.6). Also, the
number of absences due to illness was less
than in the comparison period and was 3.81
per cent (4.62).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS

Finnair values good cooperation with labour
unions representing its various employee
groups. in 2020, the following collective
agreements were negotiated:

Finnair Plc’s agreement on Finnish
commercial pilots between the Finnish
Commercial Pilots’ Association (SLL)
and the representative association

for service sector businesses and

organisations (Palta). The agreement is

valid until the end of March 2021.

+ Agreement on Finnair’s senior officers
between Finnair Pic and Finnair's
Engineers and Seniors (FINTO). The
agreement is valid until the end of
February 2022.

« Agreement with Aviation Association
(1AU) and Palta, representing the
employees of Helsinki Airport's
customer and ground service, cargo,
technical services and Finnair Kitchen.
The agreement is valid until March 15,
2022.

- Agreement between PRO and Palta,

trade unions representing technical

and air transport clerical workers. The
agreement is valid until the end of

January 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

In 2019, a new collective agreement on
Finnair’s Finnish cabin crew was negotiated
between Paita ry and the Transport Workers
Union (AKT), which is valid until the end of
January 2022. In 2017, an agreement was
reached with the AKT on Aurinkomatkat's
personnel. The agreement is valid until the
end of April 2021. In addition, Finnair is still
in the process of collective bargaining with
its associations representing Spanish cabin
crew.

Environmental Performance

In 2020, Finnair’s traffic dropped signifi-
cantly (73 per cent) when compared to year
2019. This led to carbon dioxide (CO2) emis-
sions of flying decrease of 67.7 per cent
compared to the previous year and were
1,151,299 tonnes (3,566,389). The pandemic
affected company's network and traffic
planning, and after the first months of the
pandemic Finnair was able to utilise its fleet
composition in more effective way. On the
other hand, this led to a relative increase in
the amounts of flights operated by Norra.
Year 2020 Norra operated 57 per cent from
the Finnair flights where 2019 they oper-
ated 42 per cent.

REMUNERATION
REPORT APPENDIX

SUSTAINABILITY

Lost Time Incident Frequency

No/Mh

o

Development in Finnalr's emlssion efficlency

Total €O, §CO,/RTK
theusand tonnes

949— 1,000

W Total CO,
= Emissions Efficiency

RTK = revenue tonne kilometres. i.e. capacity use
according to payload weight
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The fuel used per revenue tonne kilometres
was 301 g/RTK (249) (without allocation
between passenger and cargo) decreasing
the flight's fuel efficiency by 20.8 per cent
{1.0 per cent). At the same time the average
length of the flights decreased about 6 per
cent from about 1,700 kilometres to 1,600
and passenger load factor (PLF) decreased
by 18.7 percentage points explaining the
efficiency decrease.

€02 emissions figures of flying have

also been calculated by allocating them
between passengers and cargo using ICAQ
rec dations (see the inability
appendix, Scope 1 emissions). Calculated
in this way, year 2020 C02 emissions were
92 gC02/RPK (79) and 514 gCO2/RTKCargo
(488). Emissions per revenue passenger
kilometre (RPK) increased by 17.1 per cent
and per cargo revenue tonne kilometre
{RTKCargo) by 5.3 per cent. The lower
increase in the cargo emissions relates

to the strong cargo market demand and
successful increase of the cargo sales.

The energy consumption of the Finnair facil-

ities decreased by 22.5 per cent 2020 (11.3).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS

Year 2020 the total electricity consumption
of the facilities was 21,495 MWh (27,356)

and heat consumption 18,911 MWh (24,806).

Total energy efficiency was 18.7 kwWh/m?
(23.6), including both electricity and heat
consumptions. The efficiency improvement
was derived from the reduced operations
in the facilities. Respectively, the carbon
dioxide emissions decreased by 22.4 per
cent (18.6) being 8,699 tons (11,203).

Total amount of waste generated by Finnair
decreased by 64.8 per cent (5.5), or over
2,816 tonnes (253), from the previous year
total mass being 1,532 tonnes (4,348). The
largest waste stream has been food waste,
part of which has been donated as food aid.
The rest is utilised by either composting or
incineration. Finnair continue to work on
reducing food waste and we have set a new
goal to reduce food waste by 30% by the
end of 2022 compared to the level achieved
in 2019-20. We also continue to work on
developing our serving to be more sustain-
able. First, however, we use the cutlery,
mugs and other serving utensils already
existing in the warehouses to avoid unnec-
essary waste.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

Supply chain, Human Rights,
bribery and anti-corruption

After Q1, there were remarkabiy fewer new
supplier evaluations and bidding processes
due to low production. The prozurement
focused on demand management, price
negotiations with current suppliers and
supplier risk management. Due to the
limited route network and flight operations,
the number of active suppliers was reduced
by 18 per cent. The company changed its
approach with respect to supplier evalu-
ations during the fiscal year. The supplier
on-boarding process was updated and
enforced, and now compliance checks are
done for ali new suppliers against external
databases. Secondly, the use of the compa-
ny’s own resources in supplier evaluations
was increased and the use of a dedicated
external data system for the evaluation of
social impacts and traceability in the supply
chain was ended.

Finnair has a Whistleblowing line called
Finnair Ethics Helpline in use, through
which both our employees and partners can
report on concerns related to ethical busi-
ness principles. During 2020, no material

REMUNERATION

SUSTAINABILITY
REPORT APPENDIX

incidents of material misconduct were noti-
fied through the Finnair Ethics Helpline nor
were there any such investigations ongoing
in the company.

Amounts of waste and utilisation percentage

tonnes. %
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Non-financial key performance indicators
Topic Targets and KPIs Performance Key actions during the reporting period
2020 2019
. . . e
Enwmnr_ngg!al Half net CO, emissions by the end of 2025, compared to 2019 figures. 67.7 New Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, 2020 figures are showing uqugugl performance, since
Carbon free flying by the end of 2045 (net emissions), 0 g CO./RTK 949 New passenger demand was weak and unnecessary fiying was minimised.
17 New Two new energy efficient A350 aircraft were received and two narrow-body aircraft at
the end of their lifecycle were sent for dismantiement and parts recycling.
Operative methods to reduce lne_weigm of the flight continued (e.g. rationalise
Improving the fuel efficiency of fiying by 1% annually. Fuel Efficiency Index :::g;:g,:g;: omaor:iep;rllr::?:“?;alerlal was reduced, potable water intake and cargo ULD
(FEI)is used here as a basis for the KPI where wind and payload impacts are e g
normalised The improvement of flying procedures were further implemented (e.g. adjusting Cost
Index, Continuous Decent Approach, single-engine taxiing)
Fleet utilisation was improved during the year to meet the passenger and cargo
& demand. (aircraft type allocation corresponding to the passenger and Cargo amounts)
-23.0 234 The share of plastic cups in onboard catering was reduced. meaning 11.5 tonnes less
plastic consumed per year. .
I e - siene products were added to the flights and the plastic =~
] PUPTC Reducing single-use plastis in Kitcher operations by 50% by the end of 2022 ) . 'f;gkfg::%:f the sandwiches was reintroduced. This increased the use of p!asll( by i
- v . . ,
I = 4 * The amount of plastic purchased in 2020 was 10 percent of the 2019 amount. Df this '
] . share, more than 33% were related to COVID-19 measures {clean wet_wlpe; clian klts
. - P prastic-packed products, gloves)
Recycle 50 % of prastics in Knthe coperations for-reuse. h%fwhe end of 2022 207 138 In aircraft cleaning, we started fecvclii\_g_ bme,pl_gins- bottles. *

g T

- ﬁf -

-56.0

Reducmg foo (aste lromKlls?gn operations by 50% by lhef(e:n/\'v\ Zﬁofveacng
‘e ﬁ‘{fﬁ
)

* Net emwssmns in 2020 were excepnoaallv low due lo reduced amo}

ns durlng COVID-} Lﬁdemlc g

: o Pionc T
We started a systematic reduction of food loss cases, which includes better moniforing, -
aroot cause invesliganun and preventive measures.

1n 2020, food thieto obmiesceﬁe of stock as there was:&’uemnnm
More than 30% 5¥{e Josses could be donited ta foo

-34.2

oh.

S AT
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Non-financial key performance indicators
Topic Targets and KPIs. Performance Key actions during the reporting period
2020 2019
Social responsibility Asrival punctuatity at feast 85% 90.2 793 Low air-traffic reflected positively on the arrival punctuality.
Customer satisfaction, NPS increase on the previous year 48 38 We invested in castomer health-safety measures and repayment processes.
!zg}g%f;her@mm" Personnel Experience overal grade of atfeast 375 on 366 The WeTogether @ Finnair personnel survey was conducted in 2020 in a more concise
manner than in previous years, and due to this, an overall rating is not available. The
Absences due to iliness decrease from the previous year 381 262 Employee Recommendation Index (eNPS) in 2020 was -1 compared to 17 in 2019.
LTIF (Lost-time injury frequency) of less than 9.0in 2020 and less than 10.01n 44 gg  Decreasedlevel of flight operations had an mproving effect onsick leave and
2019 occupational safety.
Eg:‘zslasuyness g:atﬁli(:_fsccnduct awareness grade in WeTogether@Finnair survey at least 4 on 4.26 4.14 Continuous training of employees, Renewal of Finnair Ethics helpline
. : g
- R — .
B — .. O N o - '
: - T # ¢ - p
e - . t \
A

.

**NPS is not fully comparable to 2019; customer satisfaction surveys were sent 109l passengers
towards the end of the year due to fack of respondeats. The distribution a(respo{i
strongly focused on the European Economy-class in 2020, Il

i o~
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Changes in company
management

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY

STATEMENT

During the first quarter, there were no
changes in the company management.

Piia Karhu, Senior Vice President, Customer
Experience, and a member of the Finnair
executive board left the company on 30
June 2020. As a result, Finnair’s Customer
Experience unit was organised so that the
operative parts of the unit were trans-
ferred to Finnair’s Operations unit, which

is led by Jaakko Schildt, and the travel
service provider Aurinkomatkat, the
Contact centers and the customer experi-
ence and service development functions
became a part of Finnair's commercial unit,
headed by Ole Orvér. The Commercial unit
was renamed as Commercial and Customer
experience (CX) unit.

REPORT APPENDIX

During the third quarter, there were no
changes in the company management.

Arja Suominen, Senior Vice President,
Communications and Corporate Respon-
sibility and member of the Finnair exec-
utive board left the executive board on

31 0ctober 2020 but continued to serve

as executive advisor in Finnair until 31
December 2020. Further, Paivyt Tallgvist
was appointed Senior Vice President,
Communications and a member of Finnair's
Executive Board as of 1 November 2020.
Previously, Tallqvist worked as a Director,
Media Relations at Finnair, and has prior
to her Finnair career served in different
communications leadership roles in Nokia.
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Shares and Shares and share capital share price development and trading _Key figures - Share C 00 2019 2018 2017 2016
0n 31 December 2020, the number of Finnair's market capitalization was 1,066.1 i EUR 064 139 1.33 146 124
SharEh()lderS " : . e P Dividend for the financial year** EUR mill. 1] 0 35 38 13
Finnair shares entered in the Trade million euros at the end of December Dividend/share* ** EUR 0.00 .00 0.05 0.06 002
Register was 1,407,401,265 (128,136,115). (753.4). The closing price of the share Dividend/earnings** % 0.0 0.0 39.4 244 18.2
N N Dividend yield** % 00 00 39 23 25
As aresult of the rights offering finalised on 31 December 2020 was 0.76 euros Cash llow from operating TOR 099 082 ) 255 532
in July, the number of shares increased by (1.08). During January-December, the ac
. . ) N - PJE ratio -L.a7 12.02 1018 10.43 732
1.279,265,150. The registered share capital highest price for the Finnair Plc share on * A ights offering was implemented between June and July 2020 and. therefore, 2016-2019 key figures based on the
was 75,442,904.30 euros. The company’s the Nasdaq Helsinki was 1.68 euros, the number of shares have been restated accordingly. ) X
o A ** The dividend for year 2020 is a proposal of the Board of Directors to the Annual General Meeting.
shares are quoted on Nasdag Helsinki. Each lowest price 0.36 euros and the average
share has one vote at the General Meeting. price 0.63 euros. Some 939.4 million
company shares, with a total value
of 780.1 million euros, were traded in
Nasdaq Helsinki.
Finnair share 2016-2020* Comparison Nasdaq Helsinkl Comparison European Airlines
o 0 )
16 17 18 19 20 16 17 18 19 20 16 17 18 19 20
W average price  Finnair & Finnair
A ingwasi June and B Nasdaq Helsinki W Bloomberg Europe Alrine Index
suly 2020 and. therefore. Finnair's share prices have
been restated accordingty.
29
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Shareholders

The number of Finnair shareholders
increased by 216.7 per cent in 2020 to
85,578 shareholders (excluding nominee
registered shareholders). The number of
domestic retail shareholders increased from
26,210 to 83,711, whereas their combined
share of ownership increased by 87.8 per
cent. Nominee registered or foreign inves-
tors held 7.4 per cent (13.9) of all shares.

Flagging notifications
No flagging notices were issued in 2020,

Government ownership

At the end of 2020, the Finnish Government
owned 55.9 per cent of Finnair's shares and
votes. According to the decision made by
the Finnish Parliament on 20 June 1994, the
Government must own more than half of
Finnair PIC’s shares. Decreasing the owner-
ship below this level would require revision
of the Parliament’s decision.

Share ownership by management

0n 31 December 2020, members of the
company's Board of Directors did not own
any Finnair shares, while the CEO Topi
Manner owned 674,068 shares and the

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

STATEMENTS

members of the Executive Board, including
the CEO, owned a total of 1,672,969 shares,
representing 0.01 per cent of all shares and
votes.

Own shares

On 31 December 2019, Finnair held a total
of 552,313 own shares, representing 0.43
per cent of the total number of shares and
votes.

Shareholding by number of shares owned

B 1-1,0001.2%

181,001-10,0008.4%

H10,001-100,000 11.1%

[ 100,001-1,000.000 3.8%

M 1,000,001-10,000,000 2.8%

W 10,000,001-100.000,000 9.5%

B 100,000.001- 55.9%

1 Registered in the name of a nominee 7.4%

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Finnair Plc largest shareholders as at 31 December 2020

Number of shares. % Changes 2020
1 State of Finland, Prime Minister's Office 786,669,686 559 715.154,260
2 \lmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 37.000.000 26 33,994,358
3 __Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 35,881,263 25 32,619,330
4 Keva 23,980,084 17 17729.209
5___The State Pension Fund 22,000,000 16 20,300,000
6 Elo Mutual Pension Insurance Company 14,671,668 10 14,671,668
7___OP-Finland Fund 8,000,000 0.6 8,000.000;
8 Veritas Pension Insurance Company Ltd. 5,287,377 04 4,484,203
9 OP-Finland Small Cap 4.917,609 03" 4663416
10__ Finnair Pl¢'s Personnel Fund 4,000,000 03, 3,340,600
Nominee registered 103,961,549 74 86.121.231
Others 361,032,029 257 338,186,875
Total 1,407,401,265 100, 1,279,265,150
Shareholders by type at 31 December 2020
Number of shares. % Number of %
shareholders
Public bodies 928.140.885 659 1 00
307,578,879 219 83711 97.8
Private companie: 35.148.726 25 1,57) 18
Financial i 28,158,843 20 44 0.1
Associations 1,817,658 0.1 52 0.1
Finaish shareholders, total 1,300,844,991 924 85,389 99.8
Registered in the name of a nominee 103,961,549 74 12 0.0
Outside Finand 2,594.725 0.2 189 0.2
Nominee registered and foreign total 106,556,274 76 201 0.2
Total 1,407,401,265  100.0 85,590 100.0
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In Ql, Finnair transferred. using the author-
isation granted by the 2019 AGM, a total

of 72,939 own shares as incentives to the
participants of the FlyShare employee
share savings plan. It also transferred
269,774 own shares as a reward to the key
personnel included in Finnair’s share-based
incentive scheme 2017-2019.

In Q2 or Q3, Finnair did not exercise the
authorisation granted by the AGM 2019 or
2020 to acquire or dispose its own shares.

In Q4, Finnair transferred, using the author-
isation granted by the 2020 AGM, a total

of 38,940 own shares as incentives to the
participants of the FlyShare employee share
savings plan.

0n 31 December 2020, Finnair held a total
of 170,660 own shares, representing 0.01
per cent of the total number of shares and
votes.

Shareholder agreements

Finnair is not aware of any shareholder
agreements pertaining to share ownership
or the use of voting rights.

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Change of control provisions in
material agreements

Some of Finnair’s financing agreements
include a change of control clause under
which the financier shall be entitled to
request prepayment of the existing loan or
to cancel the availability of a loan facility
inthe event that a person other than the
Finnish state acquires control of Finnair
either through a majority of the voting
rights or otherwise.

Share-based incentive schemes
Employee share savings plan FlyShare

In December, Finnair's Board of Directors
decided to launch its ninth consecutive
12-month savings period under the FlyShare
Employee Share Plan. The objective of

the plan, which was established in 2013,

is to encourage the employees to become
shareholders in the company, and thereby
strengthen the employees’ interest in the
development of Finnair’s shareholder value
and to reward them over the long term. The
share savings plan is described in a stock
exchange release issued on 16 December
2020, in the Remuneration Statement 2020
and on the company’s website.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Breakdown of shares at 31 December 2020

Number of shares % Number of %

shareholders.

1-500 598087 04 30,526 357
501-1,000 10,302,218 07 12995 15.2
1,00i-10,000 118,490,518 8.4 35,200 411
10.001-100,000 155,895,172 11 6.581 77
100,001-1,000.000 53,574,702 3.8 246 03
1,000.001-10.000,000 38993.534 28 15 0.0
10,000.001-100,000,000 133533,015 95 5 0.0
100.000.001-> 786,669,686 559 1 0.0
_Registered in the name of nominee 103,961,549 24 12 0.0
Total 1,407,401,265 _ 100.0 85590 100.0

Acquisition and delivery of own shares and returns of shares

Period Number of shares Acquisition value, EUR Average price, EUR
Jan 1 2016 325,205 922,678.40 284
2016 800,000 4,327,860.54 5.41
2016 -336.241 -975,326.55 290
2017 -355.597 -1,962,443.86 5.52
2018 452,000 3,206,965.70. 710
2018 236,359, -1.264,765.58 535
2019 164,651 1,042,355.90 633
2019 -261.346 -1.501,496.17 575
2020 -381,653 -2,701,783.40 2.08
Dec 312020 170,660 1,094,044.98 6.41
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Effective authorisations granted
by the Annual General Meeting
2020

Finnair's Annual General Meeting was
held in Vantaa on 29 May 2020 under
special arrangements due to the COVID-19
pandemic.

The AGM authorised the Board of Directors
to decide on the repurchase of the compa-
ny’s own shares and/or on the accept-

ance as pledge and on the disposal of own
shares held by the company. The authori-
sation shall not exceed 5,000,000 shares,
which corresponds to approximately 0.4 per
cent of all the shares in the company. The

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

STATEMENTS

authorisations are effective for a period of
18 months from the resolution of the AGM.

The AGM also authorised the Board of Direc-
tors to decide on donations up 1o an aggre-
gate maximum of EUR 250,000 for char-
itable or corresponding purposes. The
authorisation is effective until the next
Annual General Meeting.

The resolutions of the AGM are available in
full on the company’s website.
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Finnair operates in a global and highly
competitive environment that is sensi-
tive to economic fluctuations. In executing
its strategy, Finnair and its operations

are exposed to a broad range of risks and
opportunities.

To exploit opportunities to create value,
Finnair is prepared to take and manage
risks within the limits of its risk appetite. in
relation to flight safety matters, compliance
with laws and regulations, and reliability of
reporting, Finnair’s objective is to minimise
risks.

Finnair has in place sufficient insurance
coverage regarding physical hazards and
related business interruptions, both for
aviation as well as non-aviation hazards.

Internal control and risk management activ-
ities are an integral part of the manage-
ment’s overall duties to ensure that the
company achieves its business objec-

tives. Through efficient systems of internal
control and risk management, devia-

tions from objectives can be prevented or
detected as early as possible. The Board

of Directors is responsible for monitoring
and evaluating the efficiency of the compa-

THE REPORT OF THE
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ny's internal control and risk management
systems. The Board of Directors is respon-
sible for approving the top-level policies,
such as the Risk Management Policy, and
setting Finnair’s Risk Appetite.

The primary governance principle is
adherence to the Three Lines of Defence
model, with a clear division of roles and
responsibilities with respect to internal
control and risk management. A proper
Three Lines of Defence governance ensures
that the segregation of duties is defined and
established between risk management and
risk control.

» Inthe first line of defence, the business
organisation and group functions are
risk owners, and thus responsible for
conducting day-to-day control and risk
management activities in accordance
with Finnair’s Internal Control
Framework.

+ Inthe second fine of defence, Risk &
Compliance acts as a control function
that is responsible for developing
and maintaining the Internal Control
Framework and Risk Management
Framework as well as for monitoring the
implementation of the policies, rules,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

procedures and key controls within the
frameworks.

In the third line of defence, Internal
Audit performs audits and provides the
Board of Directors with an independent
assessment of the overall effectiveness
and maturity of the internal control and
risk management systems.

The main features of the internal control
and risk management systems are
described in the Corporate Govarnance
Statement.

Policy, framework and process

The Finnair Risk Management Paolicy defines
the overall framework for risk management.
Finnair has an Enterprise Risk Management
process in place to ensure the identification,
evaluation and management of risks and
uncertainties associated with set objectives.
The process is designed to take a corpo-
rate-wide portfolio view to ensure that

the risks and uncertainties are identified,
analysed and managed within the bounda-
ries of Finnair’s risk-bearing capacity.

Based on the COSO Enterprise Risk Manage-
ment Framework, the objectives are split
into four categories: strategic, operational,

REMUNERATION
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compliance and reporting. The Enterprise
Risk Management process integrates the
identification, evaluation and management
of risks and uncertainties by objective cate-
gories.

The Enterprise Risk Management process
is executed according to the Annual Cycle
defined in the Risk Management Policy. It
takes place as an integral part of strategy
process and operational objective setting
across the organisation to enable a holistic
view of risks and opportunities. Risk iden-
tification and evaluation at Finnair include
the following phases:

Identification of external and internal
events affecting the achievement of
objectives;

Distinction between risks and
opportunities;

Analysis of identified risks;
Integration (aggregation) of risks;
Evaluation and prioritisation of risks
based on their impact and likelihood.

Finnair’s Risk Model and criteria for risk
evaluation have been established to ensure
comprehensive risk identification and
systematic risk evaluation. Assumptions
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behind strategic objectives are analysed
and validated as a part of strategic risk
assessment. A dedicated Risk Coordinator
Forum has been established to support the
execution and coordination of systematic
risk identification and evaluation in units,
functions and subsidiaries, and to ensure
that risk management activities conform to
the requirements set in the Risk Manage-
ment Policy. Risk response strategies are
applied to prioritised risks in order to reach
reasonable assurance that their outcomes
fall within an acceptable level.

The Executive Board members are risk
owners and they are responsible for plan-
ning and implementing risk management
and control activities within units, functions
and subsidiaries to ensure an acceptable
level of residual risk.

The performance and efficiency of Finnair’s
risk management system is subject to
systematic monitoring. Improving the risk

THE REPORT OF THE
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management process, performance and

capabilities takes place continuously based

on the Plan-Do-Check-Act (PDCA) cycle.

The Risk Management Policy is annu-
ally reviewed by the Executive Board and
approved by the Board of Directors.

Major risks

Risk and uncertainties that are consid-
ered to potentially have a significant effect
on Finnair’s business, financial results

and future prospects are further classi-
fied under risk categories of the Finnair
Risk Model. The model is divided into two
parts, external business environment risks
and internal process risks, both of which
comprise a number of specific risk catego-
ries. The risks and Finnair’s risk responses
are further discussed on the company’s
website. Significant near-term risks and
uncertainties are described on the next
page.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

STATEMENT

REMUNERATION
REPORT

Control Environment

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX

¢ )
1 «— | Establish context and set objectives | +——
|
i
| Identify risks and opportunities
. Analyse risks
Inform and Mon.ltarand
. continuously
communicate .
improve
Integrate risks
|
—_— Control risks I —_—
C 7

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



Significant near-
term risks and
uncertainties

THE YEAR 2020

REVIEW OF

The risks and uncertainties described
below are considered as potentially having
a significant impact on Finnair's business,
financial result and future outlook within
the next 12 months. This list is not intended
to be exhaustive.

Uncertainties related to the recovery of air
traffic pose a risk to Finnair’s revenue devel-
opment.

The key factors affecting revenue and oper-
ating loss, that Finnair can incluence, are
operating cost adjustments and the ability
to respond to changes in demand. Factors
beyond Finnair’s control are mainly related
to the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic
and the measures to fight the pandemic

as well as the recovery of air traffic and
demand. Other general risk factors in the
industry and business, such as the fluctua-
tion in prices of jet fuel, fluctuation in the
demand, currency exchange fluctuations as
well as regulatory and tax changes are also
beyond Finnair’s control.

Exceptional variations in the fuel price
(including the impact of currencies and
hedging) might affect capacity in Finnair’s
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main markets. This together with changes in
ticket prices pose a risk to Finnair’s revenue
development, as do sudden changes in the
foreign exchange rates and slowing growth
in demand. Generally, Finnair aims to pass
exceptional variations in the fuel price to
customers via ticket prices, however, the
market conditions prevailing from time to
time may not altow this.

Capacity increases and product improve-
ments among Finnair's existing or new
competitors may have an impact on the
demand for, and yield of, Finnair’s services.
In addition, joint operations involving closer
cooperation than airline alliances and

joint businesses are expected to develop
further. Industry consolidation could have a
significant impact on the competitor land-
scape. Introduction of new digital distribu-
tion technologies and channels in Finnair's
distribution strategy, including transition
towards differentiation of fare content and
availability between the channels, involves
implementation and commercial risks.

The aviation industry is affected by a
number of regulatory trends. Estimating
the impacts of the regulatory changes

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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on airlines’ operational activities and/or
costs in advance is difficult. Examples of
such regulatory trends include regulation
related to emissions trading, noise regu-
lation and other environmental regula-
tion, as well as regulations on privacy and
consumer protection. Due to the extraordi-
nary circumstances caused by the COVID-19
pandemic, uncertainties related to agree-
ments and authority policies as well as
interpretation and implementation of legis-
fation, such as approval of state aid, may
increase. This may increase the likelihood of
litigation processes or disputes. Finnair is,
however, not involved with any sending or
threatening litigation processes or disputes
which would include material claims.

Geopolitical uncertainty, the threat of trade
wars, the threat of terrorism, cyber-attacks
and pandemic risks (such as COVID-19) as
well as other potential external disruptions
may, if they materialise, significantly affect
the demand for air travel and Finnair’s
operations. The COVID-19 pandemic had

a significant negative impact on Finnair's
operations in all quarters in 2020 and the
negative impact will continue in 2021, A
prolonged COVID-19 pandemic would resuit
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in a deterioration in Finnair’s cash funds,
although the company has already acted to
mitigate this risk by introducing a funding
package consisting of a 600-million-euro
premium pension loan as well as inter

alia sale and leaseback arrangements and
export credit agency financing of aircraft.
In case of a prolonged pandemic, it will
also reduce the company's equity signif-
icantly. On the other hand, prolonged
unprofitability will increase the risk of
fleet and other fixed asset impairments.
As aresult, Finnair has also introduced a
significant cost adjustment programme
(140-million-euro permanent cost base
decline by 2022, compared to 2019 levels),
including e.g. renegotiating vendor agree-
ments. Further, the company was forced to
reduce the number of employees by 600
globally. Along with these actions, Finnair
executed a 512-million-euro rights offering
to strengthen the equity and is preparing,
together with the State of Finland, an unse-
cured hybrid loan of up to 400 million
euros to better ensure that it will weather
a prolonged pandemic and the resulting

impacts within the next 12 months.
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In a changing aviation business environ-
ment, it is difficult to predict the impact the
COVID-19 will have on airline market access
and traffic right opportunities in general.
Potentially increasing protectionism in the
political environment may have an adverse
impact on the market access required for
the implementation of Finnair’s strategy.
At the same time, it is also possible that
connectivity needs may increase in some
countries, leading to increasing market
access opportunities and new traffic rights.

Finnair’s risk management and risks related
to the company’s operations are described
in more detail on the company’s website.
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Due to the seasonality of the airline busi-
ness, the Group’s revenue and result are, in
a normal situation, generally at their lowest
in the first quarter and at their highest in
the third quarter of the year. The growing
proportional share of Asian traffic increases
seasonal fluctuation due to destination-spe-
cific seasons in Asian leisure and business
travel.

In addition to operational activities and
market conditions, the fuel orice develop-
ment has a key impact on Finnair's result,
as fue! costs are the company’s most signif-
icant variable expense item. Finnair's
foreign exchange risk arises primarily

from fuel and aircraft purchases, divest-
ments of aircraft, aircraft lease payments,
aircraft maintenance, overflight royal-

ties and foreign currency revenue. Signifi-
cant dollar-denominated expanse items are
fuel costs and aircraft lease payments. The
largest investments, namely the acquisition
of aircraft and their spare parts, are also
mainly denominated in US dollars. The most
significant income currencies after the euro
are the Japanese yen, the Chirese yuan, the
US dollar, the South Korean wen and the
Swedish krona,
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The company hedges its currency, interest
rate and jet fuel exposure using a variety

of derivative instruments, such as forward
contracts, swaps and options, in compliance
with the risk management policy approved
annuaily by the Board of Directors. Under
normal circumstances, fuel purchases are
hedged for 24 months forward on a rolling
basis, and the degree of hedging decreases
towards the end of the hedging period. The
higher and lower limits of the degree of
hedging would normally be 90 and 60 per
cent for the following six months but due to
the uncertainty caused by COVID-19, Finnair
has temporarily changed the lower limit
from 60 per cent to 0 per cent during the
hedging period. At the moment, Finnair has
hedged its fuel purchases for the next 12
months.

Hedging of foreign currency
exposure in balance sheet

Due to the introduction of IFRS 16 in 2019,
Finnair's asset-related foreign currency
exposure increased with the recognition of
the present value of qualifying operating
lease liabilities in the balance sheet as right-
of-use assets. Unrealised foreign exchange
losses/gains caused by the translation of

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

REMUNERATION
REPORT

Sensitivities in business operations, impact on comparable operating profit
(rolling 12 months from date of financial statements)

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX

1 percentage {peint)
change

Passenger load factor (PLF, %)

EUR 11 million

Average yield of passenger traffic

EUR 7 million

Unit cost (CASK excl. fuef)

EUR 11 millien

Fuel sensitivities - 10% change 10% change, taking
(rolling 12 months from date of financial statements) without hedging __hedging into account
Fuel EUR 14 million EUR 7 million
Fuel hedging ratios and average hedged price Hedged fuel, tonnes*  Average hedge price,
(rolling 12 months from date of financial statements) usp/ton* **
December 2020 12,000 634
Q12021 34,000 609
Q22021 65,000 521
Q32021 99,000 510
Q42021 30,000 491
Tatal 240,000 531

* Based on the hedged period, i.e. not hedging related cash flow.
** Average of swaps and bought call opions strikes.

Currency distribution, 2020 2019  Currency sensitivities USDand  Hedging ratio for
% JPY (rolling 12 months from  operational cash
date of financial statements flows (rolling

for operational cash flows) next 12 months)
Sales currencies 10% 10% change,

change taking hedging

without into account

hedging
EUR S5, 53 - - -
usp* 4 5 see below see below see below
PY ? n EURLLM EURSm 44%
CNY 6 7 . - -
KRW 3 3 -
SEK ; : 3 -
Other 21 19 -
Purchase currengies
EUR 59 57 - - .
usp* 35 36, EUR27m EURB M 42%
Other 6 7 - -

* Hedging ratio and sensitivity analysis for USD basket, which consists of net cash flows in USD and HKD. The
sensitivity analysis assumes that the correlation of the Hong Keng dollar with the US dollar is strong.
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the USD denominated liability will have

an impact on Finnair's net result. In the
future, the effect and amount of the foreign
currency exchange could be positive or
negative, depending on the USD-rate at the
closing date. Since the beginning of 2019,
Finnair has mitigated the foreign exchange
volatility introduced by this difference by
using hedges and is looking for alterna-
tive solutions to mitigate the effect of this
volatility on its financial performance. The
annual effect in net result going forward

is dependent on the size of the qualifying
operating lease portfolio, the duration of
the leases and hedging ratio. At the end of
December 2020, the hedging ratio of USD
denominated aircraft lease payments and
liabitities was approximately 50 per cent.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



THE YEAR 2020

REVIEW OF

Guidance issued on 28 October
2020:

Due to the continued strici travel restric-
tions, the comparable operating loss in Q4
will be of a similar magnitude as in Q2 and

Q3.

As Finnair has announced today, certain
amendments to the terms of Finnair
pension fund have been aparoved and
these and potential other similar changes
are expected to have a significant positive
one-off impact on Finnair’s operating result
in Q4. This impact is not included in the
expected comparable operating result.

Based on the current assumptions, the
revenue and capacity (measured in ASKs}
will both decrease more than 70% in 2020
compared to 2019.

Finnair updates its outlook and guidance
in connection with the financial statements
bulletin for 2020.
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New guidance on 18 February
2021:

Due to the continued strict travel restric-
tions, the comparable operating loss in Q1
2021 will be of a similar magnitude as in Q2,
Q3 and Q4 2020.

In Q1 2021, Finnair continues to operate

a limited network. As the visibility there-
after is weak and there are several potential
scenarios of the timing of the recovery in
demand, the company will not provide guid-
ance on full year revenue.

Finnair updates its outlook and guidance in
connection with the Q1 2021 interim report.
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Calculation
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Reason to use the measure

items affecting comparability

Unrealized changes in foreign currencies of fleet overhau! provisions + Fair value changes of
derivatives where hedge accounting is not applied + Sates gains and losses on aircraft and
other transactions + Restructuring costs

Component used in calculating comparable operating result.

Comparable operating result

Operating result - Items affecting comparabitity

Comparable operating result is presented to better reflect the Group's business performance
when comparing results to previous periods.

Comparable operating result, % of revenue

Comparable operating result / Revenue x 100

Comparable operating result is presented to better reflect the Group's business performance
when comparing results to previous periods.

Revenue at constant currency

Revenue + Currency impact adjustment at 2018 currency

Component used in calculating comparable operating result at constant currency and fuel
price and RASK at constant currency. All changes in currency levels and hedging results since
2018 are excluded from the measurement.

Costs at constant currency and fuel price

Other operating income + Operating expenses included in comparable operating result +
Currency and fuel price impact adjustment at 2018 currency and price

Component used in calculating comparable operating resuit at constant currency and fuel
price and CASK at constant currency and fuel price. Ali changes in fuel price, currency levels
and hedging results since 2018 are excluded from the measurement.

Comparable operating result at constant
currency and fuel price

Revenue at constant currency + Costs at constant currency and fuel price

Comparable operating result at constant currency and fuel price aims to provide a comparative,
currency and fuel price neutral measurement for comparable operating result. All changes in
fuel price, currency levels and hedging results since 2018 are excluded from the measurement.

RASK at constant currency

Revenue at constant currency / Available seat kilometres (ASK)

Unit revenue (RASK) at constant currency aims to provide a comparative, currency neutral
measurement for unit revenues. All changes in currency levels and hedging results since 2018
are excluded from the measurement.

CASK at constant currency and fuel price

Costs at constant currency and tuel price / Available seat kilometres {ASK)

Unit cost (CASK) at constant currency and fuel price aims to provide a comparative, currency
and fuel price neutral measurement for unit costs. All changes in fuel price. currency levels
and hedging results since 2018 are excluded from the measurement.

Comparable EBITDA

Comparable operating resuit + Depreciation and impairment

Comparable EBITDA is presented to better reflect the Group's business performance when
‘comparing results to previous periods. Comparable EBITDA is a common measure in airline
business which aims to reflect comparable operating result excluding capital cost.
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Alternative performance measures

Calculation

Reason to use the measure

Comparable EBITDA, % of revenue

Comparable EBITDA / Revenue x 100

Comparable EBITDA is presented to better refiect the Group's business performance when
‘comparing results to previous periods. Comparable EBITDA is a common measure in airline
business which aims to reflect comparable operating result excluding capital cost.

Equity ratio, %

Equity total / Equity and Jiabilities total x 100

Equity ratio provides information on the financial leverage used by the Group to fund its
assets.

Adjusted interest-bearing liabilities

Lease liabifities + Other interest-bearing liabilities + Cross currency interest rate swaps in
derivative financiat instruments

Component used in calculating gearing.

Cash funds

Cash and cash equivalents + Other financial assets

Component used in calculating gearing. Cash funds represent the total amount of financial
assets that are available for use within short notice. Therefore, cash funds provide the true
and fair view of the Group’s financial position.

Interest-bearing net debt

Adjusted interest-bearing fiabilities - Cash funds

Interest-bearing net debt provides view of the Group’s total external debt financing.

Gearing, %

Interest-bearing net debt / Equity total x 100

Gearing provides view of the level of the Group’s indebtedness.

Interest-bearing net debt /
Comparable EBITDA, LTM

Interest-bearing net debt / Comparable EBITDA, for fast twelve months.

The ratio provides information on the Group's leverage by comparing the Group's net
debt to the amount of income generated before covering interest, taxes, depreciation and
impairment,

Gross capital expenditure

Additions in fixed assets + New contracts in right-of-use assets + Reassessments and
modifications in right-of-use assets

Gross capital expenditure provides information on the Group's capitalized investments and
tease modifications.

Return on capital employed (ROCE), LTM, %

(Result before taxes + Financial expenses + Exchange rate gains and losses, for the fast twelve
months) / (Equity total + Lease liabilities + Other interest-bearing Habilities, average of
reporting period and comparison period)

The ratio provides a view to monitor the return of capital employed.

Cash to sales, LTM, %

Cash funds / Revenue for the last twelve months x 100

The ratio provides information about the Group’s liquidity in terms of available cash asa
percentage of its sales.
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Items affecting comparability Gearing, interest-bearing net debt and il bearing net debt / Comparable EBITDA, LTM

EUR million 2019 EUR million, unless otherwise indicated 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
Operating result 160.0 Lease liabilities 1,016.2 1,054.0
unrealized changes in foreign currencies of fleet overhaul provisions 14 Other interest-bearing liabilities 11626 520.8
Fair value changes of derivatives where hedge accounting is not applied 13 Cross currency interest rate swaps* 188 LY
Sales gains and losses on aircraft and other transaction: -0.2 _Adjusted interest-bearing liabilities 2,1975 1,573.7
_Changes in defined benefit pension plans Other financial assets 3583 -800.8
Restructuring costs 30 Cash and cash equivalents -465.3 1519

[2 operating result 162.8 Cash funds -8237 9527
Interest-bearing net debt 1,373.8 6210

Equity total 896.6 966.4

Comparable operating result, RASK and CASK at constant currency and fuel price Gearing, % 153.2 64.3

. 2 EBITDA, LTM -2515 4883

EUR million, unless otherwise indicated 2020 2019 Interest-bearing net debt / Comparable EBITDA, LTM 55 13

Revenue 8292 30977 * Cross-currency interest rate swaps are used for hedging the currency and interest rate risk of interest-bearing loans, but
Currency impact adjustment at 2018 currency, -08 -14.8 hedge accounting is not applied. Changes in fair net value correlate with changes in the fair value of interest-bearing liabifities.
Revenue at constant currency 828.4 3,0829 Therefore, the fair net value of cross-currency interest rate swaps recognised in derivative assets/liabilities and reported in the
Other operating. income 284 56.4 note 3.8 Derivatives, is considered an interest-bearing liability in the net debt calculation.

Currency and fuel price impact adjustment at 2018 currency and price 3 577 Return on capital employed (ROCE), LTM
Costs at constant currency and fuel price -1,387.3 -2.877.2
_Comparable operating result at constant currency and fuel price -558.9 205.7 EUR million, unless otherwise indicated 31Dec 2020 31Dec2019
Available seat kilometres (ASK), million 12937 47188 Result before taxes, LTM -654.4 930
RASK at constant currency, cents/ASK 6.40 653 Financial expenses, LTM 255.2 836
CASK at constant currency and fuel price, cents/ASK 10.72 6.10 Exchange rate gains and losses, LTM -26.6 <127
Return, LTM -425.8 1639
o Equity total 896.6 966.4
Equity ratio Lease liabilities : 10162 1,054.0
EUR million, unless otherwise indicated 2020 2019 Other interest-bearing liabilities 11626 5208
“Eaquity total 896.6 966.4 Eaplta: employed 3,075.4 2.541.:
Equity and liabiities total 36465, 38779 employed, average of reporting period and comparison period 2,808.3 2,616.8
Equity ratio, % 246 29 Return on capital employed (ROCE), LTH, % __ 152 63
*Capital employed accounted was EUR 2,692.5 million as at 31 Dec 2018.
Gross capital expenditure Cash to sales, LTM
T e s— 2020 29 e millon, unless otherwise indicated 310ec2020 __ 31Dec2019
New contracts in right-of-use assets 1733 292 hUALiE Assels 356.3 8008
Reassessments and modifications in right-of-use assels 52 s cahandtash 4653 1519
Gross capital - 50 238 Cash funds 8237 952.7
I Revenue, LTM 829.2 3,0977
Cash to sales, LTM % 993 30.8
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Earnings per share (EPS), basic

{Result for the period - Hybrid bond expenses net of tax) / Average number
of outstanding shares during the period

Earnings per share (EPS), diluted

(Result for the period - Hybrid bond expenses net of tax) / Average number
of outstanding shares during the period taking into account the dituting
effect resulting from changing into shares ail potentionatly diluting shares

Net Promoter Scare (NPS)

Net Promoter Score is based on a question: “Thinking aboul all aspects of
this journey, how likely would you be to recommend Finnair to a relative,
friend or colleague?” Scale is 0-10: The share of detractors (ratings 0-6) is
deducted from the share of promoters {ratings 9-10).

Unit revenue per available seat
kilometre (RASK)

Unit revenue (RASK) represents the Group's revenue divided by available
seat kilometres {ASK).

Share of digital direct ticket sales

Share of ticket sales in Finnair's own direct channels in relation to total
ticket sales for the period. Direct channels include Finnair.com, Finnair
mabile app, New Distribution Capability (NDC) sotutions and Finnair
Holidays.

Unit revenue per revenue
passenger kilometre (yield)

Passenger revenue by product divided by Revenue passenger kilometres
{RPK).

Unit cost per available seat

Unit cost (CASK) represents the Group's operational costs divided by

Sustainability

kilometre (CASK) available seat kilometres. Other operating income is deducted from
operational costs. , Flight €O, emissions €0, emissions from jet fuel consumption
CASK excluding fuel {Comparable operating result - Revenue - Fuel costs} / ASK x 100
Culture and ways of working
Traffic * Absences due toillness Share of sickness absence hours refating to planned work hours

Available seat kilometres (ASK)

Total number of seats available x kilometres flown

Revenue passenger kilometres
{RPK)

Number of revenue passengers x kilometres flown

Attrition rate, LTM

Number of leavers on own request during the last twelve months compared
1o active employments on reporting date and leavers on own request
during the fast twelve months

! Passenger load factor (PLF)

Share of revenue passenger kilometres of available seat kilometres.

Operational excellence

Share

Equity/share

Equity / Number of outstanding shares at the end of period

On-time performance

The share of flights arrived less than 15 minutes late

ning!

Dividend per share / Earnings per share (EPS) x 100

Dividend yield, %

Dividend per share / Share price at the end of period x 100

Cash flow from
operating activities/share

et cash fiow from operating activities /
Average number of outstanding shares during the period

" P/Eratio

Share price at the end of period / Earnings per share (EPS) x 100
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How to read Finnair Financial Statements?
Finnair's financial statements are structured to facilitate
reading and understanding of the financial statements
and to clarify the overall picture derived from it. The
notes to the financial statements have been combined
to business related sections, separately listing the ac-
counting principles, critical accounting estimates and
sources of uncertainty in each section. In addition, com-
ments on interesting figures and other highlights are
provided in text areas marked with a star. The financial
statements also include illustrative charts to support
the understanding of the figures.

B notes tothe financial statement have been combined
into sections based on their context. The aim s to give
a more relevant picture of the Finnair Group and its
business. The content of each section is described and
explained in the beginning of that section and marked
withB.

Specific accounting principles are attached 1 the
relevant note. The accounting principles can be recog-
nised from character 8.

M Critical accounting estimates and sources of uncer-
1ainty have been presented together with the relevant
note and specified with character El.

B3 Highlights related to the section are explained in a
separate text box lo underline significant matters.
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REVIEW OF

4 THE REPORT OF THE FINANCIAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
THE YEAR 2020 BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX
P> CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT Consolidated income statement Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
P CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT EUR mill. Note 2020 2019 EUR mill. Note 2020 2019
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Revenue L1112 829.2] 3,097.7 Result for the period -523.2] 74.5
Other operating income 48.4] 56.4 Other comprehensive income items.
Operating expenses Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET Staff and other crew refated costs 138 -283.5 -534.7 Change in fair value of hedging instruments .29.9] 75.8
Fuel costs -232.7) :687.3 Transfation differences 0.7
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT Capacity rents -89.3 -1302 Tax effect 69 152
A"‘!;?“r"“a‘e"a"a“d overhaul 't‘i%-.: ;‘3’;; items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods
Traffic charges -112. -331. — " - - -
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY Sales, marketing and Thution costs 383 721 :clua’;laltgams and losses from defined benefit plans 1.38.2 1;2 ig;
ax effect X X
Passenger and handling services 13.2 -168.6. -476.7 — B
Other comprehensive income items total -35.1) 20.5
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Property. IT and other expenses 133 -109.7, -132.4 P ve income for the period Y 95.0
1. OPERATING RESULT Comparable EBITDA _ -25L.5 488.3
Depreciation and impairment 23 -343.8 -325.4
2. FLEETAND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING < operating result 5053 1628 Attributable to
ARRANGEMENTS Unrealized changes in foreign currencies of fleet averhaul provisions 137 12.2 ‘14 Owners of the parent company -558.4, 95.0
3. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS Fair value changes of derivatives where hedge accounting is not applied 137 -0.2 1.3
4. CONSOLIDATION Sales gains and losses on aircraft and other transactions 137 0.8) 0.2 1 Revenue declined by 73.2% as compared (o year 2019
5. OTHERNOTES Changes in defined benefit pension plans 1371382 132.8] The year 2020 was heavily impacted by the COVID-I9 pandemic which led to a significant decrease in demand and passen-
’ Restructuring costs 137 -14.9| -3.0 ger revenue. The decline in revenue is also seen in the negative operating result of -464.5 million euro. The operating result
6. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Operating result 4605 160.0 includes a posilive one-off effect of 132.8 million euro relating to changes in defined benefit pension plans. The reduced fly-
P' - g - s ing also led to a significantly lower jet fuel consumption than anticipated, which is why Finnair discontinued hedge account- |
Financial income 31 38.7) 4.8 ing for majority of its fuel and foreign currency hedges. As a result, the financial expenses include a net cost of 135.8 million |
BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND Financial expenses 31 -255.2 -83.6 euro relating to the discontinued jet fuel and foreign currency hedges.
Exchange rate gains and losses 3.1 26.6 12.7 -
AUDITOR’S REPORT Share of results in associates and joint ventures 44 -0.9
Result before taxes -654.4; 93.0
Income taxes 51 131.1 -18.4
Result for the period -523.2 74.5
Attributable to
Owners of the parent company -523.2 745
Earnings per share attributable to
shareholders of the parent company, EUR
Basic earnings per share 39 -0.51i 0.09
Diluted earnings per share 39 -0.51] 0.09
- Highlights
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, REVIEW OF THE REPORT OF THE FINANCIAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
THE YEAR 2020 BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT cOnsolidated balance Sheet
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT EUR mill. Note 2020] 2019 :uz::i;l.wb o Note 2020} 2019
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ASSETS Q - i
Non-current assets _Equity to owners of the parent
Fleet 21 1,440.3 1,533.3 Share capital 75.4, 75.4
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET Right-of-use fleet 22 772.5 736.4 Other equity 821.2 890.9
Fleet total 2,212.7, 2.269.7 Equity total 896.6) 966.4
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT Other fixed assets 2.1 185.3 178.4 Non-(u.rre.r!tlliahilities
Right-of-use other fixed assets 22 145.0 141.1 Lease liabilities 22,33 913.6
Other fixed assets totat 330.2 319.5 33 477.3
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY Pension assets. 1.3.82 31.8 1382 77.1
Other non-current assets 25.1 39.5 Provisions and other liabilities 136 1611 156.9
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TS Deferred tax assets 5.1 84,8, Oeferred tax liabilities 5.1 64.3
1 OPERATING RESULT Non-current assets total 2,684.7 2,628.7 Non-current liabilities total 2,154.2 1,689.1
Current assets Current liabilities
2 FLEETAND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING Receivables related to revenue 57.5 1606 tease liabilities 22.33 1356 140.4
ARRANGEMENTS Inventories and other current assets 68.1 80.2 Other interest-bearing liabilities 33 51.5) 43.5
3. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS Derivative financial instruments 12.4] 55.7 Provisions 136 20.0] 17.2
4. CONSOLIDATION Other financial assets 358.3; 800.8 Trade payables 24.8, 84.7
S, OTHERNOTES Cash and cash equivalents 465.3 1519 Derivative financial instruments. 38 . 389
s Current assets total 961.8| 1,249.2 Deferred income and advances received 124 133.6 552.7
G PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENT: Assets total 3,606.5] 3,779 Liabilities related to employee benefits 1381 707 119.4
Gther liabilities 135 59.8 2257
BOARD OF DIRECTORS' PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND Current liabilities total 595.7, 1,222.4
Liabilities total 2,749.9! 2,911.5
AUDITOR'S REPORT _Equity and liabilities total 3,646.5 3,877.9

Highlights

G Financial position and equity remail

resulting from the flight canceliations.

1g as a result of

plan

Finnair’s equity and cash funds remained strong as a result of its refinancing plan put in place to help overcome the COV-
10-19 pandemic. The refinancing plan included raising new equity financing from a share issue, adding new interest-bearing
debt, entering into two new sale and leaseback transactions for A350 aircraft and receiving export credit support for one
A350 aircraft. Current liabilities were significantly reduced as a result of refunds of prepaid ticket purchases to customers

The net impact from pension fund term amendments and pilots’ early retirement announcements led to a significant de-
crease in the Group's pension obligations and the Group recognized a pension asset related to the affected pension plans. In
addition. Finnair recognized a net deferred tax asset resulting from the significant losses caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.
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4 REVIEW OF THE REPORT OF THE FINANCIAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
THE YEAR 2020 BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT Consolidated cash flow statement
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT EUR mill. 2020) 2019 E:R mill. — 2020] 2019
Cash flow from operating activities ange in cash flows 310.5 -174.1
OF COMPREHENSIVE (NCOME Result before taxes 6544 93.0  Liquid funds, at beginning 48L7] 6558
Depreciation and impairment 343.8] 325.4 Change in cash flows 3105 -174.1
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET Items affecting comparability -130.8) 2.8 Liquid funds, at end* 792.2; 481.7
Financial income and expenses 189.9) 66.1 L
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT Share of results in associates and joint ventures 0.9 * Liquid funds
_Comparable EBITDA -251.5) 488.3 EUR mill. I 2020 2019
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY Change in provisions 0.8, 29.5 Qther financial assets i 358.3 800.8
Employee benefits 12.04 10.6 Cash and cash | 465.3 151.9
Other adjustments 0| 15 Cashfunds | 8237 952.7
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | Non-cash transactions 13.4 a5 Other current financial assets (maturity over 3 months) i -315 -470.9
1 OPERATING RESULY Changes in trade and other receivables 112.3 334 Liquid funds [ 792.2} 481.7
2. FLEET AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING Changes in inventories 4.6! 2.2 Changes in equity and liabilities arising from financing activities are disclosed in the
ARRANGEMENTS Changes in trade and other payables -672.0] 46.9 note 3.3 Financial liabilities and in the note 3.9 Equity-refated information.
Changes in working capital -555.2] 78.1
3. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS “Financial expenses paid, net 2434 S5 B The Group's iiquidity remained strong as a result of the refinancing activities
4. CONSOLIDATION Income taxes paid, 64 110 The COVID-19 pandemic had a significant negative impact on Finnair's operating cash flow in 2020. The net cash flow from |
- — negative due to thy and refund payments to customers resulting from the flight |
5. OTHERNOTES Net cash flow from operating activities -1,043.1) 564.5 Finnairs total liquid funds at year-end remained strong as a result of the refinancing activities which are seen |
6. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS in the positive net cash flow from financing activities and divestments of fleet and other lixed assets.
Cash tlow from investing activities o
BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND Investments in fleet :300.7, 4531
Investments in other fixed assets -24.7 -25.2
Divestments of fleet and other fixed assets 221.1 1.3
AUDITOR'S REPORT Lease and lease interest payments received 16.1 16.3
_Change in other current financial assets {maturity over 3 months) 439.9 -53.4
Change in other non-current assets 0.0 0.8
Net cash flow from investing activities 3516 -513.2
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from loans 872.8
Loan repayments -218.0) -42.0
Repayments of lease lial -134.9] -132.2
Share issue 511.7
Share issue costs R
Hybrid bond repayments -200.0}
Proceeds from hybrid bond 200.0{
Hybrid bond interests and expenses -18.5 -15.8
Acquisitions of own shares 0.5
Dividends paid -35.0
Net cash flow from financing activities 1,001.9 -225.4
B = Highlights
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V4 REVIEW OF THE REPORT OF THE FINANCIAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY

THE YEAR 2020 BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Other restricted Hedging reserveand  Unrestricted equity
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT EuR mill Share capital funds __other ocl items funds _Retained earnings Hybrid bond Equity total
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Equity 1Jan 2020 75.4 168.1 -6.7 256.1 275.2 198.2 966.4)
Result for the period - 5232
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET Change in fair value of hedging instruments -23.9
Actuarial gains and losses from defined benefit plans 1105
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT Transfation differences - 07
comprehensive income for the period -35.1 -523.2
Share issue e R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY Share issue costs
Proceeds from hybrid bond
NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Hybrid bond repayments .
1. OPERATING RESULT Hybrid bond interests and expenses { -14.6
2. FLEET AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING Share-based payments 06
ARRANGEMENTS Equity 31 Dec 2020 L 75.4 168.1 -41.8 759.5 -262.6
3. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS
Other restricted Hedging reserveand  Unrestricted equity
4. CONSOLIDATION EUR mill. Share capital N other OCI items funds _ Retained earnings Hybrid bond Equity total
5. CTHERNOTES Equity 1 Jan 2019 754 168.1 -27.2 255.2 248.7 198.2 918.5
6. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Result for the period 74.5 745
Change in fair value of hedging instruments 60.7 60.7
" BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND Actuarial gains and fosses from defined benefit plans -40.2 -40.2
Comprehensive income for the period 205 74.5 95.0
AUDITOR'S REPORT H:/t?nd bond interests and expenses -12.6 2126
Dividend -35.0 -35.0
Acquisitions of own shares 0.5 -0.5
Share-based payments 0.9 0.9
Equity 31 Dec 2019 75.4 168.1 6.7 256.1 275.2 198.2 966.4
B equity ratio at 24.6% in 2020 (24.9%) 1
The COVID-19 pandemic had a significant negative impact on the the Group's consolidated result for the period and its equity. The equity decreased to 896.6 million euros from last year level (966.4) with the main contributor being the negalive net result
of -523.2 milfion euros (74.5). As part of its refinancing plan, Finnair completed a rights issue increasing the Group’s equity by 502.9 million euros, which allowed it to maintain sirong equity position ar the year-end 2020. The proceeds from hybrid bond and
hybrid bond repayments shown in the above table refate to a refinancing of an eariier outstanding hybrid note. As a result of the extreme circumstances under the COVID-19-pandemic and in accordance with the decision made at the Annual General Meet-
ing held in May 2020, no dividends relating to year 2019 were paid out during 2020 (35.0). ‘
Finnair hedges against jet fuel price fluctuations with forward contracts and options according to its risk management policy decscribed in note 3.5 Management of financial risk. The negative fair value changes of hedging instruments amounted to -239 {
million {60.7). At the end of the year 2020, the price of jet fuel was lower than at year-end 2019, which contributed to the negative change of the fair value hedging reserve. Changes in hedging reserve and other OCI {other comprehensive income) items are
presented in detail in note 39 Equity-related i i J
Highlights
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Accounting principles

i How should Finnair's accounting principles be read? !
| Finnair describes the accounting principles in conjunction with each note with the aim of providing an enhanced understand-
ing of each accounting area, The basis of preparation is described as part of this note at a general level, while the principles
more directly relaled to a specific note are attached to the corresponding note. The Group focuses on describing the ac-
counting choices made within the framework of the prevailing IFRS policy and avaids repeating the actual text of the stand-
ard, unless Finnair considers it particularly important to the understanding of the note’s content, Refer to the table below
{ to see which notes, accounting principles and iFRS standards are related.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

REMUNERATION
REPORT

SUSTAINABILITY

STATEMENT APPENDIX

Basis of preparation

Finnair Plc’s consolidated financial statements for 2020 have been prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union, and they comply with the IAS and IFRS
standards and respective SIC and IFRIC Interpretations effective on 31 December 2020. The notes to the consolidated
financial statements also comply with Finnish accounting and corporate faw. Changes applied in accounting principles in
2020 and future periods are described in the below section Changes in accounting principles.

The 2020 consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on eriginal acquisition costs, except for
financial assets recognised through profit and loss at fair value and derivative contracts measured at fair value.
Financial statement data is presented in millions of euros, rounded to the nearest hundred thousand euro. The sum of
the individual figures may differ from the total shown.

Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the consolidated financial statements

The year 2020 was extremely challenging for the global aviation industry which has suffered severely from the COVID-19
pandemic and the continued spread of the virus. Airfines across the world, including Finnair, were faced with sudden
lack of demand at the end of first quarter 2020 due to the strict travet restrictions imposed by the governments and
were forced to significantly cut down their capacity. Finnair's capacity, measured in ASK's (Available Seat Kilometres),
was down by -72.6 per cent as compared to 2019. The total ASK's in 2020 were 12,937 million (47.188). The sudden loss
of demand for air passenger trave! had a significant, adverse effect on Finnair's financial and operating performance
resulting in unprecedented reduction in passenger volumes, revenue and profitability. Finnair's sales in 2020 totalled
to 829.2 million euro (3.097.7), while the number of passengers decreased by 76.2% to 3.5 million (14.7). The impact of
lower sales is seen in the negative operating result of -464.5 million euro (160.0). while Finnair was abte to significantly
reduce its variable operating expenses, its result for the period remained negative due to the inflexibitity embedded

in certain costs refating to lease and depreciation expenses, aircraft mai e as well as certain ini i
property and IT expenses. Also the derecognition of fuel hedges from other comprehensive income to the financial

expenses had a material, negative impact of 135.8 million euro (0) on Finnair's profitability in 2020. On the other hand,
there was a 132.8 million euro positive one-off effect relating to certain amendments made to Finnair’s pension fund
terms and pilot's early retirement announcements. The loss for the period amaunted to -523.2 million euro (74.5).

The Group’s total non-current iabilities increased 0 2,154.2 million euro (1,689.1) mainly because of withdrawai of
the 600 million pension premium loan and the receipt of export credit financing in excess of 100 mitlion euro which
were both part Finnair's refinancing ptan resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. The above mentioned pension fund

Accounting principle Note Nr. IFRS
_Segment reporting Segment information 11 IFRS 8
Revenue recognition, other income
and trade receivables Operating income 1.2 IFRS 15, IFRS 9, 1FRS 7.
Provisions and contingent liabilities Provisions 136 IAS37
_Employee benefits and share-based payments _ Employee benefits 138 IAS19.IFRS 2
Pensions Pensions 1382 1AS19
Tangible and intangible assets Fleet and other fixed assets 2.1 1AS 16, IAS 36, 1AS 38
Leases Leasing arrangements 22 IFRS16
Impairment of assets Depreciation and impairment 23 1AS36
interest income and expenses ncial income and expenses 3. IFRS 7,145 32
_Financial assets Financial assets 32 IFRSY,IFRS7
Cash and cash equivalents Financial assets 32 IFRSO.IFRS?
Financial Habilities Financial liabilities 33 __IFRS9,IFRS7
Derivative contracts and hedge accounting Derivatives 38 IFRS9,IFRS7
Eq idend and treasury shares Equity-related information 39  IAS32,1A533
Consolidation principles of subsidiaries Subsidiaries 42 IFRS10 term
Non-controlling interests and transactions
with non-controlling interests Subsidiaries 4.2 IFRS10
investments in associates
Investments in associates and joint ventures and joint ventures 44 IFRS11,1AS28
Related party disclosures Related party transactions 45 1AS24
tncome tax and deferred taxes Income taxes 51 _ 1AS12

Company information

Finnair Group engages in worldwide air transport operations and supporting services. The Group’s parent company is
Finnair Pic, which is domiciled in Helsinki at the registered address Tietotie 9, Vantaa. The parent company is listed on
the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Stock Exchange.

The Board of Directors of Finnair Plc has approved these financial statements for publication at its meeting on 17
February 2021. Under Fintand's Limited Liability Companies Act, shareholders have the option to accept, or reject the
financial statements in the Annual General meeting of the shareholders, which will be held after the publication of the
financial statements.

and pilots’ early retirement announcements led to the significant decrease in the Group’s pension
obligations. The Group's current liabilities decreased to 595.7 million euro {1,222.4) mainly because of refunds of
prepaid ticket purchases to customers. The refunds of ticket purchases were increased during the pandemic as many of
Finnair’s flights were cancelled. in total, Finnair refunded customers 464 million euro during the year 2020. The Group
recognized a net deferred tax asset of 84,8 million euro (deferred tax liabitity -64.3) in its consolidated batance sheet,
resulting from the significant losses generated during the year. Despite the negative impact of the loss on equity, the
Group managed to maintain its equity balance at 896.6 million euro (966.4) with the help of the share issue finalized in
1uly, 2020. The equity increase from the share issue totalled to 502,9 million euro.

The sudden drop in sales revenue and the refunds of ticket purchases resulted in a significant decrease in operating
cash flow during the year, with the cash flow from operating activities being reduced to -1,043.1 million euro (564.5).
Finnair's liquid funds at the end of the period totalled to 792.2 million euro (481.7) due to the significant, positive
financing cash flow of 1,001.9 million euro (-225.4) resulting from the various refinancing activities carried out during the
year. In addition to the abovementioned withdrawal of the pension premium loan and the completion of the share issue,
activities that contributed into the strenghtening of the cash funds included three aircraft financing transactions relating.
to the A350 aircraft and the refinancing of the 200 million euro hybrid loan.

Further detail on the Group's financial figures can be found in the following notes: revenue and operating expenses.
(note 1.2 and 1.3), deferred income and advances received (note 1.2.4), pensions (note 1.3.8.2), aircraft financing
transactions in notes 2.1, 2.2 and 3.3}, derivatives and jet fuel hedges in notes 3.1 and 3.8, changes in liabilities and
equity {(notes 3.3 and 3.9} and income taxes (note 5.1).
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The COVID-19 pandemic has also had an impact on the critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty. This
have been dislosed in more detail in the below section Critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty.

Board's assessment of Finnair as a going concern

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on the going cancern assumption. The Finnair
Board of Directors has assessed the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern based the Group’s ability to meet
its obligations as they fall due at least 12 months after the financial statements are issued. The Board of Directors®
assessment is based on the Group's latest three-year business plan approved by the Board of Directors. Due to the
current uncertainty embedded in the economic environment and the difficulty in forecasting the ultimate duration
and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board of Directors have reviewed three different scenarios prepared

by the management that cover a period of 36 months from January 2021 to December 2023. The abovementioned
scenarios have been sensitised to reflect differences an the expected beginning of the recovery. Under all the three
scenarios, Finnair will be able to meet its obligations as they fall due at least 12 months after the date that the financial
statements are issued.

The main differences between the scanarios relate to the timing of the demand recovery, unit revenue development
and development of customer demand. In the optimistic scenario, the demand recovery is expected to materially
startin fune 2021 and in July 2021, Finnair expecls to operate around 60% of its capacily (measured in available seat
kilometres) as compared 1o 2019. In the base case scenario, which is considered as the most probable of the three,
the recovery is expected to materially s:art in August 2021 and the capacity would be around 70% of the 2019 levels
in September 2021. In the pessimistic scenario, the start of the recovery would be expected to materially take place in
October 2021 and the capacity to remain below 80% of the 2019 levels in November 2021. Under each of the scenarios,
the business is expected to return to the operational levels (measured in available seat kilometres) comparable to
2019 in year 2023. All of the management forecast scenarios are based on the development of passenger demand and
capacity levels that depend on the impl2mentation of the vaccination programs, lifting of travel restrictions and global
acceptance of vaccine passports. It is assumed in all scenarios, that the unit revenue (RASK) will remain below the 2019
levels throughout the period of the business plan due to lower passenger volumes and lower share of corporate travel.
in the base case scenario, the passenger load factors and thus atso the unit revenue would recover slower in 2021 than
in the optimistic scenario. but faster than in the pessimistic scenario. At the same time, the committed cost saving
program included in the scenarios wifl decrease unit costs. Flight related variable expenses depend on the planned
capacity, whereas aircraft maintenance investments are assumed to stay rather constant between all scenarios.

In 2020, Finnair took immediate and decisive action to mitigate the negative impacts refating to the COVID-19
pandemic by adjusting its operations and targeting both temporary and permanent cost reductions. The temporary
measures include temporary layoffs of 2mployees. limiting spending only to the mandatory and compliance driven
items and the temporary grounding of a large part of its fleet in order to accommodate its cost base to lower level of
operations until the demand for flying returns again. On 28 October 2020, Finnair announced that it is targeting 140
miltion euro in permanent cost base reductions (as compared to year 2019) by 2022. As part of the mentioned cost
savings program, Finnair has finalized significant co-operation negotiations which resulted in a reduction of ca. 600
jobs.

In addition to the operational measures, Finnair responded quickly in order to secure adequate funding to support
its liquidity. Finnair's refinancing plan included e.g. raising 500 miilion euro of new equity through a rights issue,
drawdown of 600 million euro pension premium loan, refinancing of the company’s outstanding 200 million euro
hybrid note, three refinancing transact'ons related to A350 aircraft and rescheduling of future aircraft deliveries to
fater periods.

As a result of the aforementioned actions, Finnair's liquidity position remained strong and as at 31 December
2020. the Group held liquid funds of 792.2 million euro (481.7). The cash funds including other current financial assets
{maturity over 3 months} totalled to 823.7 million euro (952.7). The Group management and the Board of Directors
continue to pay close attention to the Group’s cash position considering the challenging dynamics in its current
operating environment that are negatively impacting the Group's cash flows. Based on Finnair’s current estimate {base
case scenario), the covenant terms related to Finnair's undrawn 175 million euro revolving credit facility are estimated
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to be possibly breached during the second quarter of 2021. The credit facility is not in use as at the date of preparation
of the financial statements and Finnair's financing during the going concern assessment period is not dependent on
the existence of the facility. Finnair plans to initiate negotiations with the syndicate banks with respect to covenant
amendments. The maturities of the Group’s interest-bearing liabilities are presented in note 3.3. and information about
the existing covenants, changes in hedging policies and management of liquidity risk is described in notes 3.4, 3.5 and
38.

The main identified uncertainties relating to the management estimates relate to the eventual duration of
the COVID-19 pandemic as well as the timing-of the expected demand recovery which depends an the timing and
effectiveness of the vaccination programs. availability of a vaccine passport solution, lifting of the travel restrictions
and increased competition all of which cannot be known with certainty at the time of the publication of the financial
statements. These events are not in the sphere of Finnair management's influence. The management has been
required to apply material judgement relating to the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and make estimates about the
effectiveness and realization of the vaccination programs as well as the time and speed of the demand recovery for air
passenger travel. This again is heavily impacted by the actions of the governments in many parts of the world and the
time that it takes to get the pandemic under control.

Despite of the abovementioned uncertainties, Finnair's management has at its disposal other mitigating measures
that are within the sphere of its influence and with which it believes it will be able to meet its obligations for at least 12
months after the date the financial statemenits are issued. These include, in addition to the abovementioned 140 million
euro savings plan, Finnair management’s plzn to continue to actively seek additional financing and cost adjustment
opportunities, postponement of capital and maintenance investments as well as continuance of structural changes and
temporary ost savings, including e.g. temporary layoffs.

Inaddition, to ensure adequate funding and sufficient liquidity, and to strengthen its financial position, Finnair has
announced on 16 December 2020 that the State of Finland is preparing to make a hybrid loan of up to 400 millien euros
available to Finnair. The hybrid loan is expected to be finalized during the first quarter of 2021. The final decision on the
possible financing arrangement is still subject to a decision by the Government Plenary session. The hybrid loan also
requires an approval by the EU Commission. In addition, Finnair is planning to refinance its existing 200 million euro
senior unsecured bond which matures in March 2022.

Considering the above-mentioned circumstances and uncertainties, as well as the already realized and planned
measures to mitigate the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board of Directors has conciuded that the assessment
does not cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and that conseguently, the Group
continues to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing these consolidated financial statements. The
Board of Director’s conclusion is based on the information available as at the date of the issuance of the consalidated
financial statements and an assessment conducted based on the information assuming, that the company is able to
conduct its adjusted business operations according to the plan and to maintain sufficient financing for period of at least
12 months after the date that the financial statements are issued. The management and the Board of Directors have
also considered events and developments tzking place after the balance sheet date and concluded that there is no
material impact on the scenarios approved by the Board of Directors and the going concern assessment of the Group.

Despite the various mitigating measures implemented by Finnair, the upcoming months will continue to be
significantly affected by decreased demand for air travel resulting in lower revenues and weaker financial performance
for a duration that is currently uncertain. Skould future events or conditions cause the Group to be unable to continue
its operations in accordance with the Board of Director’s current assessment, using the going concern principle may
prove to be no longer justified and the carrying values as well as the classification of the Group's assets and liabilities
would have to be adjusted accordingly.

of i i and balance sheet
1AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements standard does not define ‘operating result’, The Group has defined it as the
net amount of operating income and expenses, including revenue and other operating income, less operating expenses,
such as employee benefits, fuel costs, maintenance expenses, fease payments for aircraft and depreciations. Exchange
rate differences and realised changes in fair values of derivatives are included in the operating result if they arise from
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items related to business operations: otherwise. they are recognised in financial items. The operating result excludes
financial items, share of results from associates and joint ventures and income taxes.

The consolidated income statement includes, in addition to the operating result, comparable operating result
and comparable EBITDA which are presented to better reflect the Group’s business performance when comparing
results to previous periods (see also below, presentation on aiternative performance measures). The comparable
operating result does not include capital gains and losses. changes in the vaue of foreign currency denominated fleet
maintenance reserves, changes in the unrealised fair value of derivatives, a one-off item refating to changes in defined
benefit pension plans or restructuring costs. The basis for this is explained in more detail in note 1.3.7 Items excluded
from comparable operating result. Comparable EBITOA is a common measure in the airline business which aims to
reflect comparable operating result excluding capital cost. Therefore, comparable EBFTDA is calculated by excluding
depreciations from the comparable operating result.

In the consolidated balance sheet, assets and liabilities are classified as current when they are expected to realise
within 12 months or when they are classified as liquid funds or as financial assets or liabilities classified at fair value
through profit or loss. Other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets or liabilities. Interest-bearing
fiabilities include loans from financial institutions, bonds, loans taken for aircraft financing (JOLCO-loans & export credit
support), lease liabilities and commercial papers. Interest-bearing net debt is the net amount of interest-bearing assets
and liabitities and cross-currency interest rate swaps that are used for hedging the currency and interest rate risk
arising from Interest-bearing loans.

Presentation of alternative performance measures

Finnair uses alternative performance measures referred to in the European Securities Markets Authority (ESMA)
Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures to describe its operational and financial performance. to provide
a comparable view of its business and to enable better comparability relative to its industry peers. The alternative
performance measures do not replace IFRS indicators. Finnair's alternative performance measures reported in the
financial statements are comparable operating result and EBITDA (defined above). Comparable operating result is
reconciled in the note 1.3.7 Items excluded from comparable operating result.

Finnair applies consistent principles when excluding items from comparable operating result. The main principles
are described in the above section ‘Presentation of consolidated income statement and balance sheet’ and in more
detail in the note 1.3.7 Items excluded from comparable operating result. The calculation principles of key ratios are
also defined in The report of the Board of Directors, in section Calculation of key ratios.

Critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty
The ion of IFRS financial requires Group 10 make certain estimates, assumptions
and judgements in applying the accounting principles that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabil as well
as income and expenses. The application of the accounting policies prescribed by IFRS require making estimates and
assumptions relating to the future where the actual outcome may differ from the earlier estimates and assumptions
made. in addition, management discretion has to be exercised in applying the accounting principles especially when
the IFRS has alternative accounting, valuation or presentation methods. The estimates and assumptions made are
based on past experience and management’s best estimate of future events and other factars, that are believed to be
reasonable given the current circumstances. The estimates and associated assumptions are continuously evaluated and
any changes therein are reflected in the period that the changes occur.

The COVID-19 pandemic has increased the level of uncertainty relating to the near- and long-term development
of the economy and its impact on Finnair’s future operating environment. Despite significant actions taken by the
governments to contain the virus, it is difficult to forecast how long it takes to bring the global pandemic under control.
Given the unpredictability of the duration and the reach of the pandemic, its impact on Finnair's future profitability,
financial position and cash flows may eventually differ from the current management estimates and assumptions made.
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In 2020, Finnair adopted the value in use model as its primary internal method of measuring the recoverable
amount of the assets. In the comparison period ending 31.12.2019, Finnair was principally using the fair market value
less cost to self in its impairment review. The decision to change the approach was made because of the deemed impact
of the COVID-19-pandemic on the accuracy of the market prices resulting from lower transaction volume and the impact
of the distress situations on realized prices.

Inorder to consider the increased uncertainty in its estimates and assumptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic,
Finnair management has considered three different forecast scenarios incorporating possible variations of the
expected timing of the recovery begin based on its best estimate at the time. These scenarios are discussed in more
detail in the earlier section of the notes called Board's assessment of Finnair as a going concern. Further, in order to
consider the increased uncertainty also in its impairment testing performed at the year-end, Finnair is applying the
expected cash flow approach which incorporates expectations about all forecast scenarios instead of relying on justa
single. most likely, cash flow estimate.

Information about the estimates and judgement exercised by management in applying the Group’s accounting
principles and the areas where estimates and judgements have biggest impact on the financial statements are
highlighted in the following table Critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty.

H The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. Assessment of the going concern [
! is made based on management estimates about future events and other information that is available to the management

and the Board of Directors at the time of the assessment. The main identified critical estimates and sources of uncertainty
related to the assessment are presented earlier in this note in section Board's assessment of Finnair as going concern. The
identified main critical estimates and sources of uncertainty related to separate sections of the financial statements are |
presented in connection to the financial items considered to be affected and attached to the corresponding note. The table |
below shows where to find more information about those estimates and uncertainties. B |

Critical accounting estimates and sources of Note number Note

Finnair Plus Customer Loyalty Program 12 Operating income
Maintenance reserves of the fleet 136 Provisions

Pension obligations 1382 Pensions

Leasing arrangements 2.2 Leasing arrangements
Impairment testing of the fleet and other fixed assets 23 Depreciation and impairment
Derivative contracts and hedge i 38 Derivatives

Deferred taxes 5.1 Income taxes

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



vy

J

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

‘CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
‘CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 OPERATING RESULT

2. FLEETAND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING
ARRANGEMENTS

EN ‘CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS

4. CONSOLIDATION

5. OTHERNOTES

6. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND

AUDITOR'S REPORT

8= Content of the section

\ccounting principles

REVIEW OF
THE YEAR 2020

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Changes in accounting principles

New and amended IFRS standards and IFRIC interpretations
The changes in the IFRS standards effeczive from periods beginning 1 January 2020 included mainly amendments or
improvements to current standards and did not have an effect on Finnair financial statements.

Other standards issued that are effective from periods on or after 1st of January 202 mainly include amendments
and improvements to current standards that are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s C

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX
1 Operating result

B Operating result includes notes related to revenue and operating result from the point of view of income statement and bal-
ance sheet. B

1.1 Segment information

financial statements.

Changes in presentation of Consofidated income statement, balance sheet and cash flow statement

Finnair has adopted a minor change in the ion of its. i income and changed the
description of the line item ‘Staff cost to ‘Staff and other crew related costs” in order to better describe the nature of
the line item. The change was initially applied in Finnair's half year report published on 24th July 2020. In addition,
Finnair has renamed two line items presented on its consolidated cash flow statement as at the year end 2020 in order
to better describe the nature of those line items. The line item formerly described as ‘Divestments of fixed assets’ was
renamed to ‘Divestments of fleet and other fixed assets’ and the line item ‘Net change in financial assets maturing after
more than three months' was renamed to ‘Change in other current financial assets (maturity over three monthsy.

The content of the line items remain unzhanged and the change has no impact on the comparability between the
periods.

4
B\ Segment reporting

|
Operating segments are reported in 2 manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating deci- |
sion maker. The chief operating decision maker. who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of |
the operating segments, has been identified 35 the Group's Execulive Board. Segments are defined based on Group's busi- |
ness areas. Group has one business and reporting segment: Airline busines: |

The Finnair Executive Board, defined as the chief operative decision maker according to IFRS 8 Segment reporting,
considers the business as one operating segment. Therefore, segment information is not reported.

The revenue by product and geographical area is presented in the note 1.2.1 Revenue by product and traffic area. The
division is based on the destination of Finnalr fiights. Finnair operates international and domestic routes, but the assets
are almost solely owned in Finland. The fleet composes the major part of the non-current assets (see note 2.1 Fleet and
other fixed assets). The fleet is owned or leased by Finnair's Finnish subsidiary and the aircraft are operated flexibly
across different traffic (geographicat) areas. More details about fleet management and awnership can be found in the
management report in the section “Fleet”.

During the financial year Finnair transported 3.5 million passengers (14.7), which was 76.2 per cent less than in
2019. The significant drop in passenger demand was largely due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the following strict
travel restrictions imposed by the governments, which have been used to help curb the global spread of the virus. The
sudden drop in demand at the end of the first quarter continued to be followed with exceptionally low levels of demand
lasting throughout the year and was particularly detrimental to Finnair's financial performance. With the significant
decline in passenger volumes, Finnair was required to adapt its operations by reducing its fiight capacity and targeting
both temporary and permanent cost savings. The effects on revenue and operating expenses as well as the related
receivables and liabilities are presented in more detail in the following notes 1.2 and 1.3.

Due to the wide scale of customers and nature of the business, sales to any individual customer is not material
compared to Finnair's total revenue.

1.2 Operating income

B The operating income section includes both income statement and balance sheet notes that relate to revenue. The
aim is to provide a more coherent picture of income related items affecting Finnair's result and financial position. Trade
receivables and deferred income containing mainly prepaid flight tickets and travel tour services are presented in
connection with this section, because those are an essential part in revenue recogaition. B

[ E¥Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when goods or services are delivered. Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration received
or receivable, net of discounts and indirect taxes.

Passenger revenue includes sale of flight tickets. and is recognised as revenue when the flight is flown in accordance with
the flight traffic program. Recognition of unused tickets as revenue is based on the expected breakage amount of tickets re-
maining unused in proportion to the pattern of rights exercised by the passenger.

Sales price is allocated to a flight ticket and points in Finnair Plus’ Customer Loyalty Program. Finnair loyalty customers can
earn Finnair Plus Points from tickets o servizes purchased, and use the earned points to buy services and products offered
by Finnair or its cooperation partners. The points earned are measured at fair value and recognised as a decrease of reve-
nue and debt at the time when the points-earning event (for example, flight is flown) is recognised as revenue. Fair value is
measured by taking into account the fair value of those awards that can be purchased with the points and the customer se-
lection between different awards based on historical customer behaviour. In addition, the fair valuation takes into account
the expiry of the points. The debt is derecognised when the points are used or expire.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT Customer for defays or is a variable in lhe contract and itis recognised as an | 2019
adjustment to revenue. Share, % of
Ancillary revenue includes sale of tickel refated services, like advance seat reservations, additional baggage fees as well | ’ y North | revenue by
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT as different service fees, and sale of goods in the aircraft. The service revenue is recognized when the flight is flown in ac- | EUR mill. Asia___ Atlantic Europe _ Domestic_Unallocated Total praduct
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME cordance with the flight traffic program. since it is cansidered as a contract modification instead of separate revenue trans- Passenger revenue 1,083.6 179.1 997.9 1814 37.8 2479.8 80.1
action, The sale of goods is recognized when the goods are delivered to the customer. " "
Cargo revenue is recognized when the cargo has been delivered to the customer. Ancilary and retal evenue 54.8 111 451 52 0.0 L] 57
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET Tour operations revenue includes sale of flight and hotel considered as separate performance obligations, which are rec- Cargo 156.8 13.8 329 13 73 212.1 6.8
o%m;fd as;hzservlte is dedhv{er?]dl deto cou semic bath . ! - Travel services 329 13.0 183.6 0.1 229.5 7.4
ublic subsidies increased sfightly due to COVID-9 pan Jemic, but they were not material in overall. Subsidies are recog- T
otal 1,328.2 2171 1,259.5 187.9 1050 3,007.7
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT | Nised as ather operating income. & o <hare s of revense =
—————— by traffic area 429 7.0 40.7 6.1 34
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY rade receivables B
Finnair 1.2.2 Revenue by currenc!
IFRS 9. Finnair has chosen to apply a simplified credit loss matrix for trade recewables as trade receivables do not have a ggnm- Eur mil v v 030! 2019
cant financing component. Accordingly, me credit ioss allowance is measured atan amount equal to me hfeume expeﬂed credit mill. 20] L
INANCIAL Y
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F losses. The mss mode i d- and ra(es based Iasses EUR L 456.0} 1.626.5
1. OPERATING RESULY The lifetime i IPY e1a 351.4
2. FLEET AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING aging bucket and an ewe((ed default rate. The changes in expecred credit losses are recugmsed in other operating expenses. n ! CNY. 500 2114
ARRANGEMENTS - - usp 295 147.4
B Finnalr Plus Customer Loyalty Program SEK 27.0 101.5
3. CAPITALSTRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS Valualion and revenue recognition related 10 Finnair Plus debl requires management judgment especially related to fair valu- KRW. 27.1 80.3
4. CONSOLIDATION ation of points and timing of revenue recognition refated to points expected to expire. The fair value of the point is defined by Other currencies 783 5790
allocating the point to award selection based on historical behaviour of customers, after which the fair value of each award is T + * X
5. OTHERNOTES otal ! 829.21 _ 3,007.7
6.
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of the points. These points are then fair valued a the balance sheet.
ier behaviour relating to the expiry of the point asaresult of the
COVID-I9 pandemic, which has led to low number of passenger flights and less recent activity of Finnair Pius members. This
leads Finnair to have less recent data available that can be used as a basis of the estimates and thus increase the fevel of un-
certainty about the expected customer behaviour and the point expiry rates in the future. 8

1.2.1 Revenue by product and traffic area

2020
Share, % of
revenue by
EUR mill. Domestic Totaf product
Passenger revenue 5281 637
A ry and retail revenue . 62.3 7.5
Largo
Travel services 61.1 7.4
Total 170 3098 ..308 8292
Share, % of revenue
by traffic area 44.5 57 374 87 3.7

The division of revenue by traffic area is based on the destination of the Finnair flight.

Passenger revenue, ancillary and retail revenue as well as travel services decreased significantly following the COVID-19
related trave! restrictions and decrease in passenger demand. Cargo revenue decreased less than the other products due
10 the relatively high demand for cargo-only flights. The total revenue decreased by 73.2% from prior year.

During financial year 2020, Finnair conducted repatriation flights for the Ministry for Foreign Affairs of Finland to
assist travellers in returning from abroad to Finland and cargo flights for National Emergency Supply Agency to deliver
protective equipment to Finland.

The hedging policies against foreign exhange rate fluctuations are described in note 3.5 Management of financial risks.

Revenue bridge by product

€million

3,097.7 -,95L.7

139
-—

344

-168.4
=

§ 3
&g L
& o
& &
& &

Revenue hridge by trafficarea

€million

3,097.7 -958.9

1702

3 9496

5.5
= 743 8292
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1.2.3 Receivables related to revenue
EuR mill. 20 2019
Trade receivables 37.4 108.9
Accrued income 201 518
Total 57.5 160.6

The decrease in revenue related receivables during 2020 results from the decrease in passenger demand and the
related revenues. The fair value of trade receivables do not materially differ from balance sheet value.

2020 2019
Trade Probabilityof  Expected Trade Probabilityef  Expected
Aging analysis of trade receivables, not collecting, i not collecting,

i EUR mill. % EUR mill. EUR mill. % EUR mill.
Not overdue 33.0 0.3% 0.1 108.5 0.3% 0.4
Qverdue less than 60 days 0.2 0.2% 0.0 -14 13% 0.0
Qverdue more than 60 days 4.6 0.8% 0.0, 18 1.4% 0.0
Total 37.4 0.3% 0.1 108.9 0.4% 0.4

During the financial year, the Group has recognised total 0.0 million euros (0.3) of credit losses from trade receivables
including received payments relating 12 previously recognised credit losses. Regardless of uncertainty caused by
COVID-19 pandemic. trade receivables do not contain significant credit risk because of diversity in the customer basis.
The maximum exposure to credit risk 2t the reporting date is the carrying amount of trade receivables. The Group does
not hold any collateral as security related to trade receivables.

Trade recelvables by currency

2020}
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Deferred income and advances received includes prepaid, yet unflown flight tickets and package tours, for which the
departure date s in the future. The Finnair Plus liability is related to Finnair’s customer loyalty program, and equals the
fair value of the accumulated, unused Finnair Plus points.

Deferred revenue on ticket sales and advances received for tour operations decreased sigaificantly in 2020 due to
the travel restrictions, reduced demand and flights cancellations fotlowing the pandemic. In total, Finnair refunded its
customers 464 million euros relating to the flight cancellations. The debt balance related to the Finnair Plus loyalty
program increased as the fair value of the point defined by historical behaviour of customers increased slightly and the
expiry of points was prolonged due to the exceptional circumstances for the benefit of customers, who have not been
able to use earned points in a normal manner during COVID-19 pandemic. The balance of other items increased as a
result of customers being offered gift vouchers in exchange of cancelled flights.

1.3 Operating expenses

B The operating expenses section includes the income statement and balance sheet notes related to operating
expenses, aiming to provide a better overview of business operations and related expenses. Maintenance provisions
of leased aircraft that inherently relate to aircraft overhaut costs are included in this operating expenses section. Also
accrued expenses, such as fiabilities related to jet fuel and traffic charges, are presented in this section. In additicn,
items related to employee benefits are presented at the end of this section in a separate note 1.3.8. Employee benefits.
Itincludes the different forms of benefits received by Finnair employees, including share-based payments and
pensions, their effect on staff costs and balance sheet as well as information on management remuneration, Bl

Finnair's operating expenses decreased notably less than the decline in revenue, due to the inflexibility embedded
in certain costs relating to lease and depreciation expenses, aircraft mai as well as certain inis i
property and IT expenses. Finnair was able to significantly reduce its variable operating expenses directly linked to the
lower level of flying and reduced operational activity.

Finnair has introduced significant cost adjustment initiatives due to the effects of COVID-19 pandemic to Finnair’s

EUR il 2019, gperations, such as temporary layofs and certain amendments to Finnair's pension fund terms, These are presented
EUR 133 486 detailed in note 1.3.8.
Y 5.7 9.9 Depreciation and impairment increased mainly due to impairment recognised in connection with aircralt part-outs
CNY 3.7, 5.6 and two aircraft sale and leaseback agreements. These are presented more detaited in note 2.3.
KRW 34 36
HKD 2.2 49
NOK 2.1 3.7 Operating expenses included in
THB 1.9 1.7 operating result
UsD 1.6 113 .
SEK 0.9 37 Emition
Other currencies 0.7 15.8 3500
Total 37.4) 1089 3000 —-202k3
B B 2500 W Staffandother crewrelated I Sales, markeling and
1.2.4 Deferred income and advances received o5t ibuti
2000 —} —— 8 Fuel costs. change -66% 3 Passenger and handling
EUR mill. [ 20 2019 1500 _@ 14229 0 Capacityrents, change 319 Services. change -65%
Deferred revenue on ticket sales 55.7) 451.2 O Aircraft ials and hange o
Loyalty program Finnair Plus 519 133 1000 overhaul, change -43% an &
- - B Traffic charges, change -66% - PTOPErty. (T and ather
Advances received for tour operations 3.4 45.4 500 — expenses, change -17%
Other items 22,5 127
Total 133.6 552.7 2019 2020
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= Accounting principles

The auditor's fees of KPMG Oy Ab included fees of 519 thousand euros for audit and 3 thousand euros for auditor’s
statements. Non-audit services to entities of Finnair Group were 285 thousand euros in total during the financial year
2020. These services included mainly capital markets services and retocations services. 205 thousand euros of auditor’s
fees and 118 thousand euros of other fees were related to the rights issue and the hybrid bond issue and these were
recognized directly in equity.

In 2019 auditor was PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy and its non-audil services were 128 thousand euros, which included
auditors statements 58 thousand euros and other services 70 thousand euros.

REVIEW OF THE REPORT OF THE FINANCIAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
THE YEAR 2020 BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX
1.3.1 Operating expenses by currency 1.3.4 Inventories and other current assets
EUR mill. 2020 2019 EUR mill, 2019
EUR .. 8750 1,694.6 Inventorles 27.4
usp 510.7] 1,0733 Receivables from sublease contracts 13.2
Other currencies 87.2] 2234 Aircraft materials and overhaul 4.9
Total 1,472.9] 2,991.3 Capacity rent receivables 10.0
Interest and other financial items 0.3
The hedging policies against foreign exchange rate fluctuations are described in note 3.5 Management of financial risks. Jet fuels 45
. N VAT receivables 5.0
1.3.2 Passenger and handling services Other items 108
EUR mill. 2020 2019 Total 80.2
Ground and cargo handling expenses _..80.9 206.2
Exper?ses for tour operations . ..218 1203 1.3.5 Other liabilities
Catering expenses _.2L2 74.0 —
Other passenger services 38.7 76.3 EUR mill. 20201 2019
Total 168.6 476.7 Jet fuel and traffic charges _15.6, 96.9
Interest and other financial items .58 106
Expenses related to passenger and handling services reduced as a result of the lower operating volumes caused by the Aircraft materials and overhaul R %4 6.9
pandemic. Liabilities for tour operations i .15 13.7
Income tax liabilities i 30
1.3.3 Property, IT and other expenses Other items. 1 31.9 94.5
Total L 59.8! 225.7
EUR mill. 2020, 2019 other liabilities decreased significantly as a result of the pandemic, as it mainly includes liabilities relating to variable
IT expenses ... 694 75.4 operating expenses such as jet fuel and traffic charges, aircraft materials and overhaul as well as tour operations for
_Properly expenses 184 22.0 which tfhe;mhuun1§ adrg !grgt‘e:v c.orr_?}am: with the actuat operational volumes. Other items consists of several items,
Other expenses 21.9 35.0 none of which are individually significant.
Total 109.7) 1324 1.3.6 Provisions
Praperty. IT and other expenses mainly consist of fixed costs. Provisions. } )
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as the result of a past event, the
Audit fees in other expenses ! fulfitment of the payment obligation is probable, and a refiable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. The
) amount to be recognised as provision corresponds to the management’s best estimate of the expenses that will be neces-
EUR mill. 2019 sary to meef the obligation atthe end of the reporting period.
Authorised Public Accountants PwC d aircraft and their engi 10 the redelivery i inthe l
Auditor's fees 0.3 1f at the time of redelivery, the condition of the aircraft and its engmes dnﬂers from Iheagreed redelwerv condman Finnair needs
= ~ toeither mainiain the awtraft 50 that it meets the agreed he iessor. To fulfit
Tax advising e 0 0.0 he Group has recognised ai y mai i engine
Other fees 0.2 0.2 lite limited part, landing gear, auxiliary power unit and other jision is defined as a differ-
Total T 0.8] 0.5 ence between the current condition and redelivery condition of these maintenance components. The provision is accrued based
. - : raft overhaul

on flight hours flown until the next
statement. The provision is reversed at the maintenance event or redelwerv The price of the flight hour depends on the market
price development of the maintenance costs. Estimated future cash flows are discounted to the present value. The maintenance
market prrce> are mainly denominated in US dollars, which is why the amnunt of maintenance provision changes due tocurren-
the dollar. Th lised ch: n in changes in exchang f fleet overhauls.
n\e final check and painting required at redehverv are considered unavm jable maintenance costs that reafise when the air-
craftis redelivered to the lessor. irrespective of the time or flight hours. The counterpart of the provisionis recorded in the book
value of the right-of-use asset at the commencement of the lease. Respectively, costs depending on the usage of the aircraft
are not considered as part of the right-of-use asset cost, but these are recognised according to the pringiples presented above. |
Restructuring provisions are recognised when the Group has prepared a detailed restructuring plan and has begun toim- |
plement the plan or has announced it. B B

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



J

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 OPERATING RESULT

2. FLEET AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING
ARRANGEMENTS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS
CONSOLIDATION

OTHER NOTES

PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o on oW

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND

AUDITOR'S REPORT

ritical accounting estimates

THE YEAR 2020

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

REVIEW OF THE REPORT OF THE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

B Maintenance reserves of the fleet

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

REMUNERATION
REPORT

SUSTAINABILITY

STATEMENT APPENDIX

Further, unrealised fair value changes of derivatives where hedge accounting is not applied. are not included in the

tenance events and valuation of maintenance costs occurring in the future. The future maintenance costs and thelr fiming
are dependent on, for example, how future traffic plans actually realise, the market price development of maintenance costs
and the actual condition of the aircraft at the time of the maintenance event. The ultimate duration of COVID-19 pandem-

ic may have impact on the level of futue maintenance expenses, which could cause the actual outcome to difer from the |
estimates currently made. B |

]
The measurement of aircraft maintenar ce provisions requires management judgement especially of main- ;
|

[< operating result, as the business transactions which they are hedging are recognised to the comparable
operating result only when they occur. The treatment of realised gains and losses on these derivatives is described in
the note 3.8 Derivatives.

In addition to above, gains and losses on aircraft and other transactions, certain changes in defined benefit pension
plans and restructuring costs are not included in the comparable operating result. Gains and losses on transactions
include sales gains and losses as well as other items that can be considered to be directly related to the sale of the
asset. Changes in defined benefit pension plans include amendments made to Finnair’s pension fund terms relating to

Alrcraft Alreraft pension index increment removals and pilots' early retirement announcements. Restructuring costs include termination
; maintenance Other maintenance Other and other costs that are directly related to the restructuring of operations.
EuRmill. __ provisien  provisions|  2020|  provision  provisions 2019 The table betow demonstrates, which income statement items included in operating result the items affecting
Pravision at the comparability have affected.
_beginning of period 166.3 310 1694 132.2 1.0 133.2
Praovision for the period 254 27.2 526 61.6 6.6 68.2
— - 2020 2019
Provision used -18.3 -6.7 5.0 317 -5.7 373
= - - { Comparable Comparable
Provision reversed -1.3 -10.6 v";ll 9] ! Operating Items affecting uneranng‘ Operating Items affecting operating
Pravision for right- EUR mill, | result _comparability resull result _comparability result
of-use assets redelivery 2.1 2.1 0.1 0.1 Revenue V... 892 }!29.2 3,097.7 3,097.7
Reclassifications . 1.1 L1 Sales gains on aircraft i
_Unwinding of discount 09 . .09 2.7 27  2ndothervansactions | Ce 02 -02
Exchange rate Other operatingincome| ~_ 48.4_ 484l 56.4 564
differences [12.2 -12.2) 1.4 1.4 Qperating expenses .
Total 162.8 13.0 175.8 166.3 3.1 169.4 Staff and other crew
related costs | _..-163.9 ..2835 -536.6 19 -534.7
Of which non-current 1536 220 155 1518 0.4 1522  Fuelcosts 2328 ‘2327 :686.0 o1.3 -687.3
Of which current 9.2 10.8 200] 14.5 2.7 172 Lapadityrents 893 -130.2 :130.2
Total 162.8 13.0 175.8 1663 3.1 169.4  Aircraft materials
and overhaul BetX

Non-current aircraft maintenance provisions are expected to be used by 2032. Other provisions include mainly items
related to restructuring actions due to COVID-19 impacts, which are expected to be used mainly by the end of 2021.
Provision for the period and provision used relating to aircraft maintenance provision were significantly lower due
to decreased flight operations during COVID-19 pandemic. Provision reversed in other provisions is mainly related Lo
restructuring actions, which were originally estimated to be higher lized as a resuit of perati

In balance sheet. non-current provisions and other liabilities 161.1 (156.9) million euros includes, in addition to
provisions, other non-current liabilities 5.2 (4.7) million euros, which mainly consists of received lease deposits.

1.3.7 Items excluded from comparable operating result
Comparable operating result aims to provide a comparable view on business development between periods. Therefore,
items affecting comparability are excluded from the comparable operating result. The principles related to income
statement presentation and principles related to usage of alternative performance measures are described under the
section Notes to the consolidated financial statements. Calculation principles of alternative performance measures are
also defined in The report of the Board of Directors, In the section Calculation of key ratios. The detailed content of items
affecting comparability and the reasoning behind excluding those from comparable operating results is described below.
Unrealised exchange rate di €s of US dollar i aircraft provisions are excluded from
comparable operating result. These exchange rate effects are included in the comparable operating result onfy when
the maintenance event or redelivery occurs and the exchange rate differences realise over a long period of time.
Finnalr provides for fulfilling maintenance obligations related to leased aircraft according to the principles described in

the note 1.3.6. Provisions.

Traffic charges -
Sales, marketing and

distribution costs -172.1 -172.1
Passenger and

handling services -476.7 -476.7
Sales losses on aircraft

2nd other transactions L. 01 .01

Property, IT and

other expenses Losnmus 18 -109.7] -132.7 03 -132.4
_EBITDA . 1207 -130.8 2515 486.2 2.1 488.3
Depreciation and

impairment L 3438 . -3438 -326.2 0.8 -325.4
_Operating result -464.5 -130.8 -595.3 160.0 2,8 162.8 *

Staff and other crew refated costs include items affecting the Group's result positively by 119.7 million euro. This
consists of a 132.8 million euro positive one-off effect relating to amendments made to Finnair’s pension fund terms.
and pilots’ early retirement announcements as well as termination benefit costs of 13,1 million euro. These were mainly
related to the cost saving measures and structural changes taken as a response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



v

J

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. OPERATING RESULT

2. FLEET AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING
ARRANGEMENTS.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS.
CCONSOLIDATION

OTHER NOTES

PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o ow s w

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND

AUDITOR'S REPORT

Accounting principles

REVIEW OF
THE YEAR 2020

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1.3.8 Employee benefits

1.3.8.1 Employee benefit expenses and share-based payments

Share-based payments
Finnair provides a number of share-based compensation plans for its employees. under which the Group receives servic-
es from employees as consideration for share-based payments. Regarding share-based incentive plans for key personnel,
the awards are paid only if performance critefia set by the Board of Directors is met. Share-based savings plan for employ-
ees (FlyShare) requires the employees to remain in Finnair's service for the defined period. but payment does not depend
onany performance criteria.
The

| for sh isod

the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. Share -based payments that are settled net of taxes are considered in their
entirety as equity-settled share-based payment transactions. The reward is valued based on the market price of the Fin-
nalr share as of the grant date, and recognised as an employee benefit expense over the vesting period with corresponding
entry in the equily. income tax paid to tax authorities on behalf of employee is measured based on the market price of the

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

REMUNERATION
REPORT

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX

relfated restructuring costs of 1.9 million euros. Total staff costs including items affecting comparability amounted to
163.9 million euros (536.6). The costs decreased. as capacity was cut significantly due to COVID-19 pandemic and Finnair
commenced the majority of temporary layoffs in April 2020.

1 2020, Finnair established a new long-term Rebuild incentive program for the personnel. As part of the program.
employee can earn a cash reward equals to one month base salary, when the target set by the Board of Directors are
met. A maximum of two months’ base salary can be paid when targets are exceeded. The possible reward is paid during
third quarter 2023. The program is available to those employee groups which have agreed to actions related to staff
cost savings. In 2020, the cost recognised for the Rebuild incentive established for personnel was 2.2 million euros
excluding social security costs. The performance criteria are the same as those of the Rebuild incentive plan established
for the Executive Board, which is described in the section Share-based payments of this note.

Transfer to Personnel Fund
Finnair has a Personnel Fund that is owned and controlled by the personnel. A share of Finnair’s profits is allocated to
the fund. The share of profit allocated to the fund is determined based on the targets set by the Board of Directors. The

Finnair share at the delivery date and recognised as a decrease in equity. Il (he reward includes the portion seltled in cash,
itis accounted for asa i tion. The liability based
on the market price of the Finnair share at the balance sheet date and accrued as an employee benefit expense for service
period with corresponding entry in the liabilities until the settlement date.

Termination benefits
fits are payable when is terminated by the Group befare the normal retirement date, or when-
ever an employee accems vulun(arv redundancv in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits
whenit i committed when it has a detailed formal plan 10
terminate the emplcymem of myrem emp|oyees witl hom possmlllty of wwmﬂrawal In the case of an offer made to encourage
voluntary f ted to accept the offer.
Accounting pnncnples related to pension henems are des:nbed in the note 1.3.8.2 Pensions.

Staff and other crew related costs

of the performance share plan (LTI) are not members of the Personnel Fund. Personnel Fund is obliged
to invest part of the bonus in Finnair Plc’s shares. In 2020, no profit was not allocated to the fund because the set
performance criteria were not met. In 2019, 1.5 million euros were allocated to the fund.

Liabilities related to employee benefits

EUR mill. 2019
Holiday payments 789
Other employee related accrued expenses 405
Liabilities related to employee benefits 119.4

Other employee related accrued expenses mainly include witholding tax and accrued expenses related to social

euro. These items are mainly related to the cost saving measures and co-operation negotiations resuiting from the
COVID-19 pandemic that ended in October 2020. In 2019, staff costs in items affecting comparability included personnel

EUR mill. 2019 security costs and remunerations. Liabilities refated to employee benefits decreased due to ongoing temporary layoffs,
Wages and salaries T 3714 summer holidays in th.e middle cff temporary IavoffsAand»cancnllnq short-term |ncenlive§ for the financial year 2020:
—*—‘Deﬁned Contribution schemes [ 63.4 In addl:lgn, restructuring provisions related to termination benefits (see note 1.3.6 Provisions) amounted to 8.1 million
Defined benefit schemes 112 euros (17).

Pension expenses total 74.6

Other social expenses 16.7

Salaries, pension and social costs 462.7 The President and CEO and Executive Board remuneration
_Operative staff related costs 42.8

Leased and outsourced crew 162 President e President i

Other personne refated costs 130 yhousang Topimanmerseavd| _Total2020] TopiMammer - Soard Total20ms
Total 5387 Fived pay 725 1,865, 2,590 752 2,078 2,830
Staff costs included in items affecting comparability 19 Short-term incentives —7" 7 217 385 602
_Total staff and other crew related costs in income statement 536.6 Fringe benefits 15 99 114 17 58 75
At Finnair, the total safary of personnel consists of fixed pay, allowances, short- and long-term incentives, fringe vTe—rminalZon benefits ) 832 832
benefits and other personnel benefits. Short-term incentives for the financial year 2020 were cancelled due to the Share-based payments 132 568 700 263 390 653
implementation of the sav‘mgs program resulting from the wndemic. ms-t;lumrv)' 100 le 410 138 239 576

Staff costs in items aﬂecnr?g‘cumparabiliw include items effecting ur} the Eroup:s result positively by 119,7.mill¢:nn Pensions (voluntary, = - -

euro. This consists of 1328 ml!hon euro_posirive one-off net effect relating to certain amendn‘!enls made to Finnair's defined contribution) a7 47 50 50
pension fund terms and pitats’ early retirement announcements as well as termination benefit costs of 13.1 miltion Total 281 2,887 3,868 1386 231 5618

* Statutory pensions include Finnair's share of the payment to Finnish statutory “Tyel” pension plan.
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The potential reward will be delivered in Finnair shares. The shares are delivered to the participants during the year
following the performance period, except for the new Rebuild incentive where the performance period ends in June
2023 and the reward is delivered in the same year.

The payout oppartunity is defined in the beginning of each plan in relation to the participants annual base salary.
For the plans commencing during 2013-2016, the payout opportunity is defined in a fixed euro amount. In the plans
commencing in 2017-2020 as well as in the new Rebuild incentive plan, the payout opportunity s defined as a fixed
share amount and therefore changes in the share price during the performance period impacts the value of the payout
opportunity. If the performance criteria set for the plan are met at the target level, the incentive paid in Finnair shares
to the President and CEO or other member of the Executive Board participating in the plans will be 30% of his or her
annual base salary in the plans commencing 2013-2016 and 20% in the plan commencing in 2017 and a total of 180% in
the Rebuitd incentive plan. If the performance criteria set for the plan are met at the maximum level, the inceative paid
in Finnair shares will be 60% of the participant’s annual base salary and a totat of 360% in the Rebuild incentive pfan.
The maximum leve! for incentives for other key personnel is 20-50% of the person's annuat base salary. As a result
of the rights issue in 2020, the share allocations for the ongoing 2018-2020, 2019-2021 and 2020-2022 plans were
adjusted 5.5-fold in order for the earning opportunities to retain their value.

According to the rules of the share plans commencing in 2017-2020, the maximum combined vatue of all variable
compensation (including both short- and long-term inceatives) paid to an individual participant in any given calendar
year may not exceed 120% of the participant’s annual gross base salary. The amounts of shares paid are stated before
tax. The number of shares delivered will be deducted by an amount corresponding to the income tax and transfer
tax payable for the incentive at the time of payment. In the Rebuild incentive plan, the amount corresponding to tax
payable at the time of payment is first deducted from the gross reward defined as shares. The net reward is delivered in
a combination of cash and shares in a proportion decided by the Board of Directors.

The performance criteria applied to the plans 2015-2017 and 2016-2018 are Return on Capital Employed (ROCE,
50% weight) and Total Shareholder Return (TSR, 50% weight). The performance criteria applied to the plans 2017-2019
and 2018-2020 are earnings per share (EPS, 50% weight) and revenue growth (50% weight). The performance criteria
applied to the plan 2019-2021 are earnings per share (EPS, 50% weight), revenue growth (16.7% weight) and unit cost
with constant currencies and fuel price (CASK, 33.3% weight). The performance criteria applied to the plan 2020-2022
are earnings per share (EPS, 509 weight) and unit cost with constant currencies and fuel price (CASK, 50% weight).

In the Rebuild incentive, the performance criteria are set for the whole 3-year period as well as for three 12-month
mid-term periods. The performance criteria for the first mid-term period (7/2020-6/2021) are comparable EBITDA,
gearing, Lost Time Injury Frequency and €O, emissions (measured through fuel efficiency). The criteria for the whole
3-year period, is cash flow from operating activities which functions as a multiplier (0-2) for the whole program. This
means that the threshold level needs to be reached in order for any reward to be paid.

The target levels and maximum levels set for the criteria are based on the long-term strategic objectives set by the
company’s Board of Directors. Criteria are monitored against the performance on a quarterly basis. The performance
criteria of the plan for 2017-2019 were met at 194% level while the target was at 100% and the maximum earning leve!
at 200%. In the comparison period, the performance criteria applied to the 2016-2018 plan was met at 187% level.

The total expense for the share-based payments is recognised over the vesting period, which is 4-6 years in the
plans commencing 2013-2016 and three years in the plans commencing 2017-2020 and in the Rebuild incentive plan.
For the plans commencing 2013-2016, the compensation is measured during performance period in cash, and only
after performance period at grant date translated into shares. In the plans commencing 2017-2020 and in the Rebuild
incentive plan the grant date is at the beginning of period and the ion is measured in shares.
The expense recognised for 2020 amounted to 0.6 million euros (1.2). The amount expected to be transferred to the tax
authority to settte the employee’s tax obligation is 6.0 million euros (2.1). The cost related to share-based payments is
recognised in staff and other crew related costs and unestricted equity funds, except the cash-settled portion of the
Rebuild incentive plan in liabilities related to employee benefits.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX
Rebuild
2015-2017 2016-2018 2017-2019 2018-2020 2019-2021 2020-2022 2020-2023 Total
17Dec  10Feb  7Feb 15Feb 14Feb  7Feb  90ct
Grant date 2014 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2020
Grant price, euros* 13196 1.1970 0.6685 14272 1.1914 1.0478 0.3948
Number of persons at the
end of the reporting year 1 1 0 29 30 47 9
Expenses recognised for
the financial year. LTI's
total {million euros) 0.0 0.1 0.4 -0.5 0.1 0.0 0.7 0.6
of which share-
settled (net of taxes) 0.0 0.1 04 -0.5 -0.1 0.0 04 0.4
of which cash-settled 0.3 0.3
Liability related
to LTP's total 0.3 03
Shares granted,
million shares** 0.2 0.3 05 0.6*"" 107 1.5% 19.0 23.0

*Grant price until plan granted on 7 February 2020 has been adjusted by a bonus efement included in the rights issue in 2020.

** Atthe end of the performance period of 2015-2017 and 2016-2018 plans, the vested euros were iranslated into shares, and
granted and delivered. In 2017-2019, 2018-2020, 2019-2021, 2020-2022 and 2020-2023 Rebuild plans shares are earned during
vesting period, from the beginning of the program.

=+ As a result of the rights issue in 2020, the share allocations for the ongoing 2018-2020, 2019-2021 and 2020-2022 plans were
adjusted 5.5-fold in order for the earning opportunities to retain their value. These plans were cancelled for the CEO and Executive

FlyShare employee share savings plan 2013 onwards

Finnair offers an annually commencing share savings plan for its employees. Commencing of each plan is subject to the
decision of Finnair's Board of Directors. The first plan commenced in 2013, and for the time being there are three plans
ongoing. The objective of the plan is to encourage employees to become shareholders in the company, and to thereby
strengthen the employees’ interest in the development of Finnair's shareholder value and reward them in the long-
term.

Each plan consists of one year savings period followed by two year lock-up period. Through the plan, each eligible
Finnair employee is offered the opportunity to save part of his or her salary to be invested in Finnair shares. The
maximum monthly savings are 8% and the minimum 2% of each participant’s gross base salary per month. Shares are
purchased with the accumulated savings at the market price quarterly, after the release of Finnair's interim reports.

Finnair awards 110 bonus shares (was 20 prior the share issue in 2020) to each employee that participates in the
plan for the first time, and continues savings at least the first three months of the plan. The bonus shares are delivered
in October each year, and the effect is recognised as expense for the period. The plan lasts for three years, and Finnair
awards each participating employee with one share for each two shares purchased and held at the end of three-year
period. The awarded bonus ard additional shares are taxable income for the recipient. The number of shares delivered
will be deducted by an amount corresponding to the income tax and transfer tax payable for the shares at the time of
payment. The cost related to additional shares delivered is ised as expense during vesting period.

The expense recognised for FlyShare employee share saving plans in 2020 amounted to 1.3 million euros (L1). The
amount expected to be transferred to the tax authority to settle the employee’s tax obligation is 0.7 million euros (1.1).
The cost related to employee share saving plans is recognised in staff and other crew related costs and unrestricted
equity funds.
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1.3.8.2 Pensions Defined benefit pension plans.
T P —— EUR mill : 2020/ 2019
X Defined benefit and defined contribution plans ——— —
Pension plans are classified as defined benefit and defined contribution plans. Payments made into defined contribution Items recognised in the income statemen:
pension plans are recognised in the income statement in the period to which the payment applies. Typically defined ben- Current service costs. N 10.4
eflt plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or Past service cost 0.9
more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. Current service cost is the present value of the post employ- ‘Amendments -
ment benefit, which is earned by the employees during the year and il is recognised as staff and other crew related costs. —— - -
The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respeci of defined pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit Service cost total, recognised in staff costs 11.2
abligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated Net interest expenses 0.2
annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obliga- = - "
tions is determined by discounting the estimated future cash flows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that Total included in the income statement 11.5
are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid. and that have terms to maturity imating to the -
terms of the related pension obligation. Actuarial gains and I ising from experience adjustments and changes in ac- Amounts recognised through other income
warial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. if e 1 T -
fair value of plan assets is higher than oresent value of funded obligations, the net amount is presented as pension assets _Experience adjystment on plan obligation 3.2
in the Group's balance sheet. & Changes in financia! actuarial assumptions 93.1
Net return on plan assets -39.7

B pension obligations Amounts recognised through other c income total 50.2
The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis us- H
ing a number of assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension obligations. = - T
The note below includes a description of exposure to most significant risks and a sensitivity analysis on impacts of changes Number of persons involved, pension fund __ | _.4448 4.865
in actuarial assumptions. B Number of persons involved, other defined benefit plans [ 159 168

Description of pension plans at Finnair .
The statutory pension cover of th I of th p's Finnish has been arranged in a Finnish pension
insurance company. The statutory pension cover is a defined contribution plan. The Group’s foreign sales offices and
subsidiaries have various defined contribution plans that comply with local rules and practices. CEO has no valuntary
pension plan. At the end of 2020, the voluntary pension plan of one member of the Executive Board is arranged in
a pension insurance company. The reti'ement age for this member is 63 years. These pension schemes are defined
contribution schemes. Other (voluntary) pension cover of the Group’s domestic companies has been arranged mainly
through Finnair Plc’s Pension Fund. in which the pension schemes are defined benefit plans. These pension plans
cover old age pensions, occupational disability and survivors' pensions. The pension fund is fully funded in accordance
with the provisions of Finnish law. 600 Finnair pilots have, in addition to the voluntary pension arranged in Finnair
Pension Fund, special defined benefit pension scheme. This scheme applies only to pilots who work past 58 years of
age. Voluntary pensions of pilots recruited in 2015 or later are defined contribution schemes arranged through Finnish
insurance company, except for the occupational disability benefit, which is a defined benefit plan arranged through the
Finnair Pension Fund.

10 2020, amendments refated to pension index increment removals were done, which lowered pension obligations
significantly. As a result of the amendment, there is no more inflation risk.

Exposure to most significant risks

Volatility of plan assets: Some of the plan assets are invested in equities which causes volatility but one in the long run
expected to provide higher returns than corporate bends. The discount rate of plan obligations is defined based on the
interest rates of corporate bonds.

Changes in bond yield: A decrease in corporate bond yields increases plan obligations due to the fact that the
pension obligation is discounted to net present value with a rate that is based on corporate bond rates. This increase in
plan obligations is partiaily mitigated by a corresponding increase in the value of corporate bonds in plan assets.

Life expectancy: The most significant part of the provided pension benefits relate to old age pensions. Therefore, an
increase in the life expectancy rate results in an increase of plan obligations.

Items recognised in the balance sheet

EUR mill. T

Pension

Present value of funded y
Fair value of plan assets L

Pension assets (+) / pension obligations () in the batance sheet

Pension assets 31.8 million euros in 2020 indudes 31.0 million euros related to defined benefit plans insured through the
pension fund and 0.9 millicn euros related to other defined benefit plans. Pension obligations in 2020 inciudes 1.5 million
euros related to other defined benefit pfans. Pension obligations in 2019 includes 77.0 milli refated to defined
benefit plans insured through the pension fund and 0.1 million euros related to other defined benefit plans. The change
during 2020 mainly relate to the changes in Jefined benefit plans (net impact of the saving of 150.7 milfion euros from
Finnair's pension fund index increment remcvals and the cost of 179 million euros from pilots’ early retirement).

Changesin pension obligations

EUR mill, [ 2020] 2019
Fair value of pension obligations al 1 January [ 5232 435.1
Current service costs .10 9:1
Past service cost ... 179 0.9
Amendments -150.7
Interest expense 38, 7.4
Expense recognised in income statement .. r112.0; 17.4
Changes in actuarial assumptions . 225 93.1
Experience adjustment on plan obligation a2 3.2
Remeasurements recognised through 0CI ..183 89.9
Benefits paid i -19.0] -19.3
Net present value of pension obligations [ 405.5 523.2
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Changes in plan assets 2 Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing arrangements
EUR mill. 2020 2019
Fair value of plan assets at | January 446.1 418.1 B Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing arrangements includes notes particularly related to the aircraft fleet. Notes
Administration expenses -0.5 1.2 related to the aircraft operated by the Group are combined in this section so that the general view of the fleet is easier
Interest income 3.2 7.2 to understand. In addition to owned aircraft, the notes cover leased aircraft under different kinds of aircraft lease
Items recognised through profit and loss 27 6.0 arrangements. @
Acturial gain {loss) on plan assets 5.2] 39.7
\tems recognised through 0CI 5.2] 39.7 The assets _uwnedvand leased by Finnair consist mostly of aircraft operated by Finnair and Norra. In 2020, the number
Contributions paid 08 16 of owned aircraft is 45 {47) and leased 38 (36).
Benefits paid -19.0! -19.3 FLEET
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 435.8; 446.1
Plan assets are comprised as follows % Onined, 45 Lease, 38
% 2020} 2019
Listed shares 188 22.8 a 7‘ 7( 7( 7( 7( 7(7( 7( 7( 7( 7( 7( 7( x X X ?( 7(
Debt instruments 56.6, 52.2 =
2z
P 422 2 AAAAAAAAA | AAAAAAAKA
E3 ot
Omelr 6 5.8 g HAAAAARAAK HAAANAAARNA
Total 100.0; 100.0 s % % % % %
Plan assets of the pension fund include Finnair Plc shares with a fair value of 1.1 mitlion euros (0.8) and buildings used
by the Gsoup with a fair value of 18.2 million euros (19.7). -
3
Defined henefit plans: principal actuarial assumptions § x x x x X x x x x x * x x x * x x x
2019 g XXAX XX
Discount rate % 0.87% H
Inftation % 110% WA50(6)  BA3Z0(E) WAL WAR0O0)  WA3NE)
Annual rate of future salary increases % 1.60% 0 E190N, ediz) O ATRN )
Future pension increases % 1.40% lorra operated (12) jorra operated (12)
Estimated remaining years of service 9 Eleet in Finnair balance sheet
Sensitivityanalysis ) ) ) ) o EUR mill. 2020] 2019 change
The sensitivity analysis describes l.he effectofa c‘hange f" actua.nal assumptions on t.ne net defined benefit obligation. The Advances paid for aircraft 1177 117.8 0.0
analyses are based on the change in the while holding all other constant. The method used is the "
. " . o o Owned aircraft 1,322.5 1,415.6 -93.0
same as that which has been applied when measuring the defined benefit obligation recognised in the batance sheet.
Right-of-use fleet 7725 736.4 36.1
Sensitivity Fleet total 2,212.7 2,269.7 -57.0
Impact when Impact when Fleet sublease receivables 337 47.0 -13.2
. increase in decrease in Fleet lease liabilities 854.0 901.7 -A7.7
: Change in assumplh‘m, ass:mnlinl;, ==
Actuarial EUR milk. UR mill. %
Discount rate % 0.25% -10.8 -2.8% 11.4 2.9% Depreciation for the period of owned aircraft 184.1 171.2 -12.9
Annual rate of future Depreciation for the period of right-of-use fleet 107.2 106.1 -1.0
salary increases % 0.25% 2.8 0.7% 2.7 -0.7% Impairment for the period related to owned aircraft 8.2 -8.2
Life expectancy at birth 1 year 9.9 2.5%

According to Finnish legislation, the pension fund needs to be fully funded. Finnair does not expect to pay contributions.
to the pension fund in 2021. The duration of defined benefit obligation is 11 years. The duration is calculated by using a
discount rate of 0.25%.
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The number of operated aircraft remained unchanged during the period. Two new A350 aircraft were delivered based
on the existing agreement between Finnair and Airbus. As the demand for passenger flights was significantly decreased
due to COVID-19, not alt of the fleet was used in its full capacity. As at the balance sheet date, 54 out of Finnair's 83
aircraft were kept at Helsinki-vantaa airport and maintained in such a condition that they are flight-ready. Three wide-
body aircraft and 26 narrow-body aircraft were not actively used in the operations and were temporarily stored in
Prague or Southern france, where the climate is more suitable for storing of the aircraft. This represents approximately
17% of the year-end carrying value of the total fleet amounting to 350 million euros. All temporarily stored aircraft are
expected to be used in their full capacity within next two to three years.

Finnair responded to the COVID-19 pandemic with several aircraft refinancing transactions with the aim of improving.
the Group's financial position and by decreasing costs of the aircraft not actively used. In December 2020, two older
A319 aircraft were retired early and preparations for dismantling of the aircraft were started. These aircraft have
some components that Finnair is able t2 keep as spares for its own maintenance operations and thus, reduce future
maintenance costs. Some of the parts were sold or are expected to be sold and the rest will be recycled. In addition.
two A350 aircraft were re-financed by sale and leaseback arrangements and the aircraft were transferred from owned
to leased aircraft. One additional A350 aircraft was re-financed through a finance lease arrangement which transfers
the ownership of the aircraft back to Finnair when fully paid. In the balance sheet, this aircraft is presented as part of
Finnair's owned aircraft and the loan as interest-bearing liability. Further detail on these transactions is presented in
notes 2.1-23and 3.3,

More detailed information regarding the owned aircraft is found in note 2.1 and regarding the leased aircraft in note
2.2. Bepreciation and impairment are presented in more detail in note 2.3.

2.1 Fleet and other fixed asset

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

E¥Fleet and other fixed les lossif |
applicable. Fleet includes aircraftand a rmn prepayments. The arumsmon costof amart is allccaled to the aircraft frame,
cabin engines and maintelace include heavy main-

tenance, C-checks, APU (auxiliary power unit) restorations, landing gear overhauls and hrust reversers of aircraft frames.
aswell as performance restoration and maintenance of life limited parts of engines. Alr:ran frames and engines are depre-
ciated over the useful life of the aircraft. Th are depreciated during the ycle. Cab-
in components are depreciated over their expected useful life. Significant modifications of own or leased alrcraft are capi-
1alised as separate items and depreciated over their expected useful life, which in the case of leased aircraft cannot exceed
the lease period. Replaced components are derecognised from the balance sheet.

Advance payments for aircraft are recorded as fleet fixed assets. Interest costs related to advance payments are capital-
ised as acquisition cost for the period at which Finnair is financing the manufacturing of the aircraft. Hedging gains or loss-
es related to the fair value changes of firm, USD nominated purchase commitments for aircraft are recognised in advance
payments. Advance payments, realised foreign exchange hedges and capitalised interests are recognised as part of the air-
craft acquisition cost once the aircraft is delivered and taken to commercial use.

Other fixed assets include rotable aircraft spare parts, other fixed assets and their prepayments. Other fixed assets are de-
preciated during their expected useful life.

Intangible assets mainly include computer software, connection fees and goodwiil. Connection fees and goodwil! are not
depreciated.

Gains and losses on disposal of tangible and intangible assets are included in the items affecting comparability.

useful life and residual value
Depreciation of fleet and other fixed assets is based on the following expected economic lifetimes:
- New aircraft and engines as well as ight simulators (other equipment) on a straight-line basis as follows:
- Airbus A350 fleet, over 20 years toa residual value of 10 %
- Airbus A320 and Embraer fleet, over 20 years to a residual value of 10 %
- Airbus A330 fleet, over 18 years (o a residual value of 10 %
-~ Turboprop aircraft (ATR fieet), over 20 years to a residual value of 10 %
+ Heavy maintenance, C-checks, APU and landing gear restorations ar\d thrust reversers of aircraft frame, aswell as perfor-
mance maintenance and life limiied parts of the engines, on a straight-line basis during the peri
« Cabin components, over 7-20 years

~ Rotable spare parts and components, over 15-20 years to a residual value of 10 %

REMUNERATION
REPORT

SUSTAINABILITY

STATEMENT APPENDIX

- Buildings, over 10-50 years from the time of acquisition to a residuat value of 10 %
« Other (angible assets, over 3-15 years
+ Computer software, over 3-8 years

The residual values and estimated usefu! lives of the assets are assessed al each closing date and if they differ significantly
from previous estimates, the depreciation periods and residual values are changed accordingly. Due fo the COVID-19 pan-
demic the fleet has not been used in its full capacity, and therefore Finnair has paid additional attention to the review of use-
ful lives and residual values of the fleet assets. Changes made as a result of the review were not significant due to the rela-
fively long useful life of the fleet assets.

Assets held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered |
principally through a sale transaction, a sale is considered highly probable and expected to take place within the next twelve
months. Assets classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. Assets
classified as held for sale are no longer depraciated.

Impairment

The Group reviews its fleet and other fixed assets for indication of impairment on each balance sheet date. Impairment foss
is recognized if an asset's recoverable amount is below its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is determined as the
higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to s2ll or its value in use. The recoverable amount is defined for a cash generating.
unit, and the need for impairment is evaluated at the cash generating unit level. The value in use is based on the present
i value of the expected net future cash flows cbtainable from the asset or cash-generaling unit. tndividual assets are exclug-
i ed from the cash generating unit if they no fonger are held for service or are intended 10 be sold, and are tested for impair-

ment based on their fair value less costs 1o s2l. testing. including the critical ting estimates. Ources
of yr\(ﬁrr\alnl‘{_i[!hreven( in the calcufations, is described in more detail in note 2.3. & |
Fleet 2020
EUR mill. , Aircraft __ Advances Total
_Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2020 L 24607 178 25785
Additions i 2044 _ 470 2914
Disposals ] -306.5 _ -306.5;
Currency hedging of aircraft acquisitions [ . 324
Reclassifications 75.2 <795
Transfer to assets held for sate —_— R
_Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2020 2,473.8 112.7
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1 Jan 2020 ' -1,045.2 : .
Disposals . .86.2 R
Depreciation for the financial year ! -184.1
_Impairment for the financial year ! 8.2 _
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31 Dec 2020 { -1151 3,
_Book value 31 Dec 2020 ! 1,322.5 117.7 1,440.31
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’ REVIEW OF THE REPORT OF THE FINANCIAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
THE YEAR 2020 BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT Additions to owned aircraft include the acquisition of two new A350 aircraft. Disposals are related to sale and leaseback In addition to the aircraft rotable parts included in the other fixed s, Finnair's include bl
arrangements of ane new and one older A350 aircraft. The reclassifications refate to the capitalization of the aircraft aircraft parts amounting to 19.2 million euros (23.1). Other equipment includes 3.3 million euros of assets related to
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT o L the time of the ion of the two new A350 aircraft on Finnair's balance sheet. The cureency retired A319 aircraft, that Finnair is expecting to sefl but that are not classified as held for sale as the sale is not deemed
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME hedging of aircraft acquisitions is described in notes 3.5 Management of financial risks and 3.8 Derivatives. Impairment highly probable within 12 months. Intangible assets mainly include computer software, connection fees and goodwill. The
for the financial year is presented in more detail in the note 2.3 Depreciation and impairment. goodwill included in intangible assets amounted to 0.5 million euros (0.5).
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET Fleet 2019 Other fixed assets 2019
EUR mill. Alrcraft_ Advances Total . Aircraft  Buildings _Other  Intangible
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT ‘Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2019 2.082.2 1204 2.202.7 EUR mill rotable parts andland __ equipment assets Advances Total
“additions 3107 760 3867 ‘:-‘: 7;-‘: 3‘;-‘; 5;‘: :: 2 Z‘;:
Disposals 9.7 9.7 - - - = 9 = -
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY - - — Disposals -15 -0.4 -89 -10.6 214
Currency hedging of aircraft acquisitions -1 -1.1 —_— - -
ereET— Currency hedging of
Reclassifications 77.6 77.6 00 _aircraft acquisitions
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Transfer to assets held for sale Reclassifications o2 o1 o e o2
1. OPERATING RESULT _Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2019 2,460.7 1172.8 2,578.5 Transfer to assets held for sate 0.1
2. FLEET AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING _Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2019 50.1 75.6 96.8 516 7.1
ARRANGEMENTS Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1 Jan 2019 -882.4 -882.4
Disposals 8.5 8.5 Accumulated depreciation
3. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS —_ N .
oATioN Depreciation for the financial year -171.2 1712 2ndimpairment 1 Jan 2019 -30.7 6.8 -27.) 314 :96.0,
4 consou Impairment for the financial year ~ELSP—QSB_£F P 06 04 6.9 106 186
5. OTHERNOTES P —— " - epreciation for the
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31 Dec 2019 1,045.2 1,045.2 financial year 33 18 83 113 247
6. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS P
Impairment for the
_Book valye 31 Dec 2019 1,415.6 1178 15333 financial year -0.8 08
BOARD OF DIRECTORS' PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND Accumulated depreciation
Other fixed assets 2020 _and impairment 31 Dec 2019 334 8.2 -28.5 -32.8 0.0 -102.9
! Aircraft  Buildings Other  Intangible b
AUDITOR'S REPORT EUR mi Lrotableparts ___andland__equipment assels ___Advances Totall " Book value 31 Dec 2019 168 67.4 68.3 18.8 7.1 178.4
501 75.6 96.8 51.6 71, 2812 T
1.7 17.3 2.8 4.7 26.4
0.4 3.0 04 .38  Capitalised borrowing costs
: - o Advances .
- - B . B i EUR mill. 2019; 2020! 2019; 2019
s ________ | w_o_ 46 . 13 4S5 .24;  Bookvalue 1 Jan 1530 a3 3.6, 18.8
Trans.le.r to assets held for sale | Additions 3.3 3.9 3.9
_Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2020 525 _ 75.6 115.7 55.3 7.2 306.3 Disposals L) n i
v r——— SRR - e - Reclassifications i 4.8 3.2! 4.8 3.2
Accumulated depreciation Depreciatio 17 r 09! i i K
and impairment 1 Jan 2020 334 82 285 _ -328 1029,  -Depreciation 09 09, . : - ; 09
Disposals 03 4.9 05 5.7 i - ;
Depreciation for the ! _Book value 31 Dec 18.6] 17.6 2.8 4.3 218 219
financial year -2.8 -1.6 9.5 -9.9 -23.8; - ;
—l_l;\PBiﬂ\'IErlf Tor the H 1 2020, borrowing costs of 3.3 million eures (3.9) were capitalised in tangible assets related to the Airbus A350
financial year i investment program. Finnair uses a quarterly effective interest rate to calculate the capitalised borrowing costs, that
Accumulated depreciation represents the costs of the loans used to finance the investment. The average yearly interest rate in 2020 was 4.29%
and impairment 31 Dec 2020 | -35.8 -9.8 -33.1 -42.3 -121.0; (5.24%). The general borrowings used fo fund the acquisition of capital assets are included in the calculation of the
capitalisation rate.
—— . . . . P
_Book value 31 Dec 2020 { 16.7 65.8 82.6 13.0 7.2 185.3
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Respectively. costs depending on the usage of the aircraft are not considered as part of the rlgm of use assel cost.

At the end of 2020 or 2019, Finnair did not hold any assets or liabilities for classified as held for sale in acc with

IFRS 5.

Pledged assets and other restrictions on fixed assets

Finnair does not have fixed assets pledged as a security for bank loans. Fleet assets include three A350 aircraft
financed with JOLCO-foans and three cwned A330 aircraft and one A350 aircraft where the legal title is transferred to
Finnair after loans are repaid. More details on these arrangements are presented in the note 3.3. Financial liabilities.

Investment commitments

Investment commitments as at the end of the year totalled 429 million euros (730) and it includes firm aircraft orders,
other aircraft related investments as well as committed maintenance investments. In response to the decrease in
passenger demand caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, Finnair agreed with Airbus to postpone its three future deliveries
of A350 aircraft to later periods in order to improve its near-term liquidity position and to be able to manage its
capacity better. The amount of the total commitments fluctuates between the order and the delivery date of the aircraft
mainly due to EUR/USD exchange rate changes and escalation clauses included in airline purchase agreements. The
exact amount of the commitments in relation to each aircraft is only known at the time of the delivery.

2.2 Leasing arrangements

i

Finnair the lease liability when there is a lease modification that changes the scope of a lease or the consider- |
ation for the fease. that was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease. including changes in lease payments | |

| resulting from a change in indices and rates used in variable aircraft lease payments, The amount of the remeasurement of i
the lease liability is generally recognised as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. However, if the carrying amount of the }
right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease liability. the remaining

| measurement is recognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, right-of-use assels are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciations and accumulated
impairment losses. The assets are depreciated with a straight-line method from the commencement date 1o the shorter of
end of useful life of the right-of-use asset and the end of Iease term. However, if the lease transfers ownership of the asset
10 Finnair by the end of & if the cost of the right: reflects that Finnair will exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated from the commencement date to the end of useful life of the asset.

At Finnair aircraft lease contracts contain the interest rate implicit in the lease, even if the aircraft lease agreements do not
clearly define the interest rate implicit in the lease. Since the fair values of the aircraft are provided publicly by third parties,
Finnair is able to calculate the implicit interest rate for each qualifying aircraft operating lease. The rate implicit in the lease
is defined as the rate that causes the sum of the present value of the lease payments and the present value of the residual
value of the underlying asset at the end of the fease to equal the fair value of the underlying asset. The implicit interest rate
is determined by each aircraft lease contract separately. !

For other lease contracls at Finnair, an implicit interest rate cannot be The inc ing rate
is therefora used and by each class of based on estimate.

Aircraft lease contracts are usually denominared in foreign currency (US dollars) and the foreign currency lease liabilities
are revalued at each balance sheet date to the spot rate. The lease payments (lease payments made) are accounted for as
of the lease liability and s interest expense.

B The Group as lessee
| Finnair assesses whether a contract that relates to tangible assets is. or contains, a lease in accordance with the IFRS 16.
Lease agreements for tangible assets, where the contract conveys the right 10 use an identified asset for a period of time in
i exchange for consideration, are classified as leases.

‘The lease term is the non-cancellable period for which a lessee has the right to use an underlying asset, together with botl
periods covered by an option to extend the lease if Finnair is reasonably certain to exercise (hat option; and periods coveret
by an option to terminate the lease if Finnair is reasonably certain not to exercise the option.

The lease recognition requirements are not applied to short-term leases, where at the commencement date, the lease
| term is 12 months or less and does not contain a purchase option. Finnair considers the lease period to be the period that is
enforceable. Hence, for contracts where the contract term is non-fixed and Finnair has the right to terminate the contract |
without the permission from the other party with no more than an insignificant penalty and there are no other indications
that the contract is enforceable, Finnair classifies these contracts as short-term. The lease recognition requirements are also |
not applied to leases that are not material to Finnair.

For short-lerm leases and immaterizl leases to which these exemptions are applied, the lease paymenis are recognised
as an expense on either a straight-line basis over the lease term, or on another systematic basis if that basis is more repre-
| sentative of the pattern of Finnair's benefit.

At the commencement date of a leas2, Finnair recognises both a right-of-use asset and a lease liability.

The lease liability is the present value of future fease payments. Al Finnair, lease payments for aircraft leases contain typ-

ically payments that depend on interest rates and indices, that are included in the measurement of the lease payments in-

cluded in the measurement of the leasz liability, using the interest or index rate at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, comprising

- the amount of the initial measurement of the lease Nability;

+ any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any incentives received:

ny initial direct costs incurred by Firnair: and

+ an estimate of costs to be incurred by Finnair in restoring the assets to the condition required by the terms and conditions

of the lease.

Finnair is obliged lo return leased aircraft and their engines according to the redefivery condition set in the lease agreement.

If at the time of redefivery. the condition of the aircraft and ils engines difers from the agreed redehverv condiiion, Finnair

needs to either maintain the aircraft so 1t it meets the agreed Y settle n cash

The maintenance costs can be divided into Lwo main groups:

1) costs that are incurred independent of the usage of the aircralt / leasing period and

2) costs that are incurred dependent on the usage of the aircraft / leasing period

The final check and painting required at redelivery are considered unavoidable maintenance costs that realise when the

aircralt is redelivered to the lessor, irrespective of the time or flight hours. The counterpart of the provision is recorded in
the book vatue of the right-of-use asse! at the commencement of the fease.

h
d

The Group as lessor

Agreements, where the Group is the lessor, are accounted for as operating leases, when a substantial part of the risks and
rewards of ownership are not transferred to the lessee. The assets leased under operating lease are included in the tangible
assets and they are depreciated during their useful life. Depreciation is calculated using the same prmcmles asthe tangible
assets for own use. Under the provisions of certain aircraft lease the lessee is requil y periodic mainte-
nance reserves which accumulate funds for aircraft maintenance. Advances received for mamrename are recognised as li-
ability, which is charged, when maintenance is done. The rents for premises and aircraft are recognised in the income state-
ment as other operating income over the lease term.

Agreements. where the Group is the lessor, are accounted for as finance leases, when a substantial part of the risks and
rewards of ownership are transferred o the lessee. Finnair recognises assels held under a inance lease in its statement of
financial position and presents them as a receivable at an amount equal to the net investment of the lease.

Finnalr subleases aircraft and a small amount of ground equipment, where by reference to the head lease. the lease term
is for the majority of the remaining economic fife arising from the right-of-use asset (i.e. the lease term of the sublease cor-
responds closely to the lease term of the head lease) and therefore these are classified as finance leases. At the commence-
ment date, for the subleases. a net investment (lease receivable), equaling to the present value of lease payments and the
present value of the unguaranteed residual value. is recognised. The proportion of the right-of-use asset subleased is derec-
ognised from the balance sheet and the difference between the right-of-use asset and the net invesiment is recognised in
the profit or loss, in szles gains and losses. Subsequently, the lease payments received are accounted for as repayments of
{ the lease receivable and as Interest income. {

Sale and leaseback
n saleand Veaseba:k nansachons

f-use asset arising
of the asset lh:n relates tothe nghtof use relamed bv the
Group. Auordmglv, anaw re:ogmses only the amount of any gain or loss that

| impairment \
‘The Group reviews its leased assets for indication of impairment on each balance sheet date. Impairment loss is recognized |
if the recoverable amount is below its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is defined for a cash generating unit, and |
the need for impairment is evaluated at the cash generating unit level. Recaverable amount is determined as the higher of
the asset’s fair value less costs to sell or its value in use. The value in use is based on the present value of the expected net
future cash flows obtainable from the asset or cash-generating unit. Individual assets are excluded from cash generating
unitit they no longer are held for service or are intended to be sold, and are tested for impairment based on their fair value |
less costs to sefl. Impawmem testing. including the critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty inherent in the
calculations, is described in more detail in note 2.3.
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H = Critical accounting estimates

The Group teases aircraft, premises and other fixed assets, for which the lease liahility is recorded on the balance sheet.
The lease agreements have different terms of renewal and include index-linked terms and conditions. The Group was
operating 29 leased aircraft at the end of the year with lease agreements of different tenors. The leased aircraft, that
Finnair is subleasing to other operators is shown in the table below.

REVIEW OF THE REPORT OF THE FINANCIAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
THE YEAR 2020 BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX
[ B Leasing arrangements T "] rinancelease receivables, Group as lessor
| Determining the interest rate and lease term used in discounting the Jease payments, estimating the redefivery obligations | Aircraft
1 of aircraft leases and the classification of sublease agreements to operating and financial feases require managemen dis- | EUR mill B 2019
\ cretion in interpretation and application of accounting standards. - - :
| less than 12 months 14.2] 13.2
| The COVID-19 pandemic did not have a significant impact on the leasing arrangements of the Group, neither did it significantly 13-24 months I 15.2" 14.2
| increase the amount of discretion related to abovementioned crilical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty. The 25-36 months T4l 152
pandemic did not, for example. have significant impact on the estimated lease terms as extension options are usually not = =
considered in the initial lease term determination. Additionally, the impact of contracts terminated early during the period 37:48 months 4.3
was not significant. The carrying value of the right-of-use assets are tested for impairment as part of cash generating unit Total 33.7! 47.0
La( fhe balancf S,hef‘ date. More details i present ﬂ" the note 2.3.8 — Subleases include sublease arrangements of 9 aircraft that are classified as finance leases.
Right-of-use assets 2020 Leasing arrangements in profit and loss
Buildings and Other EUR mill. [ 2019
EUR mill, Aircraft land ___equipment Total Senreciation rE— Y
expense 1ght-oi- - 2
Book value 1 Jan 2020 7364 1240 17.1 8775 lm‘e’ms' - O e - ey
P e - i -68.
additions 167.5 26 33 1733 20 - +
- Interest income on sublease receivables 3.7
Shanges in covas 2L 2L2 B0, BTE gychange rare changes of lease iabliies 187
Disposals 0.1 0.1 0.0 09 20e ges o a3 : :
Depreciation for the financial year -107.2 143 -6.2 -1277]  Hedsing result of lease liabilities } 31.1
Boak value 31 Dec 2020 772.5 1338 11.2] 917.5) Short-term wet leases . -26.6
. N . . - Short-term office rents | 3.7
Additions to right-of-use assets in 2020 are mainly related 10 two sale and leaseback arrangements of A350 aircraft variabl hase traficand - - i 1
which were part of the Group’s refinancing plan in response to the pandemic. The changes in contracts relate to ariable purchase traffic and cargo capacity rents . 1103.2
changes either in the scope, or consideration, of leases. Gains and losses on sale and leaseback transactions . X
Totat -248.3' -315.4
Right-of-use assets 2019
Buildings and Other Operating expenses include costs related to short-term and capacity based rental agreements, that are not material
EUR mill. Aircraft land equipment for the Group or do not contain a lease according to IFRS 16, and are therefore not recognised in the balance sheet. In
_Book value i Jan 2019 8343 153.6 10.7 the income statement, the short-term wet leases and variable purchase traffic and cargo capacity rents are included
Additions. 10.0 5.3 13.9 in capacity rents and the short-term office rents are included in property, IT and other expenses. Losses related to safe
“Changes in contracts 18 34 0.5 and Ieasev:va:k transactions are classified as impairment in profit and loss. Total cash outflow relating to leases was
Toisposals 151 R -284.5 million euros (-317.5).
Depreciation for the financial year -106.1 -16.4 -6.9 .. sheet Groupaslessee
Book value 31 Dec 2019 736.4 124.0 17.1 5
— ____ Premises rents . QOtherrents
. EURmill. ! 2020 2019 2020 2019
Lease liabllitles _less than one year Lo 25 3.0 11 2.3
Buildings and land O(hergguipmen( 1-5 years . 6.3 6.5 0.6; 0.8
EUR mill. L 2 2020, 2019 more than § years : 8.5 7.8 0.0!
less than one year Total ! 17.3 17.2 18! 31
-5 years 499 S89.
_more than 5 years 88.1¢ 03] Off-balance sheet lease commitments are short-term lease agreements and other lease agreements for which the
Total 854.0 901.7 150.8 135.0! 11.5 17.3 underlying asset is of low value or contracts that do not contain a lease according to IFRS 16. Therefore, these contracis

are not recognised as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the balance sheet. The most significant item in the
premises rents is the right-to-use a test cell, which is excluded from the lease liabilty on the basis that it is not for the
exclusive use of Finnair. Other rents include IT equipment leases, that are not material.

66

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



v

J

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
‘CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. OPERATING RESULT

THE YEAR 2020

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

REVIEW OF

Off-balance sheet lease receivables, Group as lessor

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

REMUNERATION
REPORT

Impairment testing

The Group reviews its fleet. other fixed assets and other non-current assets for indication of impairment on each balance
sheet date. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating unit is determined as the higher of value in use and the
fair value less cost to sell. Impairment loss is recognized if an asset’s recoverable amount is below its carrying amount. The
amount is defined for cash generating unit, and the impairment is evaluated at the cash generating unit level.

Starting in 2020, Finnair has adopted the value in use model as its primary method for determining the recoverable amount
of the assets. The change in the selected approach was due to the deemed impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the accura-
<y of the market prices resulting from the lower transaction volume and the impact of the distressed situations on realized

A % ¢ t

ending 31 December 2019, Finnair was using the fair market value less cost o sell approach

Aircraft Buildings and land
EUR mill, 2020 2019 2020 2019 EYimpairment testing
less than 12 months 132 27.0 2.1
13-24 months 132 219 2.
25-36 months 9.2 9.7 2.1
37-48 months 5.1 2.1
49-60 months 2.1
more than 60 months 11.9 prices. s
Total 35.6; 63.8 22.4 as the primary method in its impairment testing. &Y
The Group has leased 15 owned aircrait as well as premises with irrevocable lease agreements. These have

different terms of renewal and other index-linked terms and conditions.

2.3 Depreciation and impairment

2. FLEETANDOTHER s ]
ARRANGEMENTS

EN ‘CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS

4. CONSOLIDATION

5. OTHERNOTES

6. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EUR mill

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND

AUDITOR'S REPORT

ccounting principles
ritical accounting estimates

Depreciation of assets is determined based on their expected useful life or maintenance cycle and residuat value. The de-
preciation for all assets is calculated using straight-fine method. The depreciation is started when the asset is available for
use. Depreciation is ceased when the asset is either classified as held for sale or derecognised. The useful life and residual
value for assels are described in more detail in the note 2.1. 8

Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of own fleet

ise fleet

ion of other tangible assets
Depreciation of other right-of-use assets
Amortisation and depreciation
Impairment of aircraft

_Impairment

Total
Impairment of goodwill*

Total depreciation and impairment in income statement . 343.8

*The impairment of goodwill recognized in 2019 was classified as an item aflecting comparability.

Depreciation and impairment include both planned depreciations on fixed assets as well as impairment. In comparison
102019, the planned depreciation incr2ased due to two new A350 aircraft that were delivered during the period.
Impairment recognized during the period is related to aircraft arrangements made as a response to COVID-19
pandemic. An impairment of 4.4 millicn euro was recognised in connection to sale and leaseback arrangements of two
A350 aircraft and an impairment of 3.8 million euro in connection with early retirement of two A319 aircrait.

| Blimpairment testing of the fleet and other fixed assets

i The ion of the calculations used for impais testing require significant management judgement and the use of

| management estimates. These estimates are based on budgels and forecasts, which already inherently contain some de-

i gree of uncertainty. The level of uncertainty is further increased in the current COVID-I9 environment. where for exampte,
the eventual duration of the pandemic as well as the timing of the expected recovery of the passenger demand is not known
in advance. Thus the actual outcome may differ from the current management estimates and assumptions made. The main
factors requiring significant management judgement in impairment testing include ultimate duration of the pandemic and
the speed of demand recovery, unil revenue development and cost of jet fuel. In addition, the value in use calculation is sen-

| sitive to changes in EBITDA margin, terminal growth rate and discount rate. The key assumptions used and the related sen-

i sitivities are described in more detail below.

In order to consider the increased uncertainty in its estimates and assumptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the

! management has considered three different forecast scenarios incarporating plausible variations of the expecied timing of

| the recovery begin based on its best estimate at the time. In the optimistic scenario, the demand is expected to materially

| startin June 2021. In the base case scenario, which is considered the most probable of the three. the recovery is expected

i 1o malerially start in August 2021. In the pessimistic scenario, the demand recovery is expected to materially start in Octo-
ber 2021. These scenarios are discussed in more detail in the beginning of the notes, in the section Board's assessment of

1 Finnair as a going concern. In order to consider the possibifity of various outcomes also in its impairment testing performed

‘ at the year-end 2020, Finnair is applying the expected cash flow approach which incorporates expectations about all three

L

forecast scenarios instead of relying on just a single, most likely. cash flow estimate. The determination of the probabilities
used for each of the senarios requires the use of significant management judgement and is based on the management’s best
estimate at the time. The expected cash flow approach used in Finnair's year-end impairment testing is described in more
detail below in this note. B

During the period 2020, Finnair has reviewed quarterly whether indications for impairment exist. Finnair considers
various adverse economic and business implications resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic as indications of possible
impairment and therefore, impairment testing has been carried out as at the balance sheet date. Such indicators.
include the unprecedented global market disruplion, the negative impacts of the pandemic on the Group’s own
operating environment as well as the adverse impact of the currently extremely low passenger demand on the Group's
financial performance and low capacity utifization rates.

The impairment review is carried out at the level of a cash-generating unit ('CGU'). Finnair is a network carrier with
highly integrated fleet operations and it considers all its fleet (including right-of-use fleet) and other closely related
assets as one CGU. The intangible assets with indefinite useful life, including goodwill, have been identified to belong to
the aircraft CGU for impairment testing pitrposes. At year-end 2020, the amount of goodwill in Finnair's balance sheet
amounted to 0.5 million euro (0.5) and the other intangible assets with indefinite useful life to 1.7 million euro (1.7).
Assets that are held for sale are excluded from CGU and reviewed separately for i i The cash i
has been tested for impairment using value in use model based on which the recoverable amount of the CGU exceeds its
carrying value at the balance sheet date. The recoverable amount of the CGU as at 31.12.2020 was 2,897.3 miliion euros
based on expected cash flow approach as described below, and the carrying value of the assets was 2,498.3 million
euros.

unit
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The value in use measurement is based on discounted cash flow model where the cash flow are based on of the key

the latest management forecast, covering a five year period. The cash flows beyond the five-year period are projected
toincrease in line with management’s long-term growth assumptions. in order to consider the uncertainty caused by
the current COVID-19 pandemic and the future outlook, Finnair is utilizing the expected cash flow approach which is
using multiple, probability-weighted cash flow projections based on the three different forecast scenarios prepared
by the The scenarios and ilities allocated to each scenario have been reviewed and approved by
the Board of Directors. When the ilities, the has reflected on the uncertainty related
to the COVID-19 vaccination timetable, lifting of the travel restrictions and other factors affecting the demand. The
optimistic scenario, where the demand recovery is expected to materially start in June 2021, is considered to have a
probability weight of 5%. The base case scenario, where the recovery is expected to materially start in August 2021, is
considered to have a 55% probability. The pessimistic scenario with the start of the recovery taking place in October
2021, is given a probability weight of 40%. Under each scenario, the business is expected to return to operational levels
{measured in available seat kilometers) comparable to 2019 in year 2023.
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v used in review

Dec 31,2020 Sep 30,2020 June 30, 2020]
Discount rate (post-tax long-term
weighted average cost of capital). % 82 84 84
Discount rate (pre-tax, derived from the long-
term weighted average cost of capital), % 9.3 9.5 9.8
Long:term growth rate. % —— 2.4 2.4
Fuel cost range per ton (USD) 540-610 500-615 520650

Key assumptions used in the impairment review are presented in the table above. The assumptions are the same for all
scenarios.

The discount rate used is based on the weighted average cost of capital (WACC), which reflects the market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to Finnair's business. Both pre-tax and post-tax discount
rates are presented above. The increased uncertainty refated to the COVID-19 is considered through the multiple
scenarios and the expected cash flow approach used in impairment testing rather than in discount rate.

EBITDA and estimated business th are based on 's best of the speed of recovery from
the current COVID-19 pandemic as well as the future market demand and environment, which are benchmarked against
external information sources, such as fong-term average growth estimates for industry.

Fuel price is based on hedge-weighted fuel price based on forward curve, estimated fuel consumption based on
planned flights and the historical data of fuel consumgtion for each aircraft type.

Due te increased uncertainties related to the use of key assumptions and management estimates, the Group has
prepared a sensitivity analysis to reflect, how the results of the impairment test would react to the changes in key
assumptions and management estimates. The sensitivity analysis considers changes in one assumption at a time,
whereby the other assumptions are kept unchanged. The results of the sensitivity analysis reflect the sensitivity of the
recoverable amount based on expected cash flow model. The uncertainty related to the timing of the recovery from
COVID-19 pandemic Is taken into account in the calculation by using multiple forecast scenarios and the expected cash
flow approach in impairment testing.

The table below shows the changes required to decrease the difference between the recoverable amount and the
carrying value of the assets to zero.

Change|
EBITDA margin % -1.0 %:p|
Discount rate % +0.9 %-p;
Terminal growth rate % :1.0%p)
Fuel cost, % change in cost teve! 15 %)
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3 Capital structure and financing costs
3.1 Financial income and expenses
@ The notes related to financial assets. liabilities and equity have been gathered into the capital structure and financing costs-

section in order to give a better overview of the Group’s financial position. The nate “Earnings per share " has been added to
the equity section. B
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Other financial expenses inctude revolving credit facility and guarantee fees as well as interest and penalties related to
taxes.

3.2 Financial assets

Financial assets
In the Group, financial assets have been classified into the following categories according to the IFRS 9 standard “Financial

| Blinterest incame and expenses

| Interest income and expenses are reccgnised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. interest ex-
| penses related to the financing of signilicant investments are capitafised as part of the asset acquisition cost and depreciat-
| ed over the uselul life of the asset.

| More detailed information about financial assets can be found in Note 3.2 and about interest bearing lizbilities in Note 3.3.8

" amortised cost and fair value shrough profit and loss. The classification is made at the time of the original ac-
quisition based on the objective of the busir ess model and the characteristics of contractual cash llows of the invesiment,
or by applying a fair value option. All purchases and sales of financial assels are recngmsen on the trade date.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss include such assets a: in bonds and y funds.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss have mainly been acquired to obtain a gain from short-term changes
in market prices. All those derivatives that do not fulfil the conditions for the application of hedge accounting are classilied
as financial assets ai fair value through profit and foss and are valued at fair value in each financial statement. Realised and
unrealised gains and losses arising from chaages in fair value are recognised in the income statement in the period in which
they arise. Financial assets recognised at fair value through profit and loss, as well as those maturing within 12 months, are

In Finnair Group, unquoted shares are valued at their acquisilion price in the absence of a reliable fair value.

indebt securities are measured at amortised cost, but only when the objective of the business model is to hold
the asset to collect the contractual cash flows and the asset’s contractual cash flows represent only payments of principal
and interest. Financial assets recognised at amorlised cost are valued using the eifective interest method, Financial assels
valued at amortised cost include trade receivabtes and security deposits for aircraft operating lease agreements. Due to the
nature of short-term receivables and other receivables, their book value is expected to be equat to the fair value.

of lmamat assers takes piaze when the Group has lost its contractual right o receive cash flows or when it |
has i the risks and rewards outside the Group. i

{ Finnair Group recognises impairment provisions based on lifetime expected credit losses from trade receivables in accord-
{ ance with IFRS 9. Finnair has chosen to apgly a simplified credit loss matrix for trade receivables as trade receivables do
{ not have a significant financing_component. Accordingly. the credit loss aliowance is measured at an amount equal (o the
fifetime expected credit losses. The expected credit loss model is forward-looking, and expected default rates are based on

| historical realised credil losses. The lifetime expected credit loss aliowance is calculated using the gross carrying amount of
ing trade receivables in each aging bucket and an expected default rate. The changes in expected credit losses are

| recognised in other expensesin inc on the credit loss pr ontrade

EUR mil. 2019

Finangial income from discontinued hedges included in current assets.
Interest income on leases 3.7

Gains on instruments held at FYPL 0.4

Interest from assets held at amortisec cost 0.1

Other interest income 0.4

Other financial income 0.2

Dividend income 0.0

Financial income total 4.8 N
— of financial assets

ancial expenses for discontinued hadges X

Imaresl on feases -58.1 -68.5

Other financial expenses 1193 -5.5

Interest expenses for liabilities measured at amortised cost 9.5 -9.6

financial expenses total _ -255.2 -83.6 bles can be found in the note 1.2
Foreign exchange gains and losses 26.6| 12.7

Financial expenses, net -189.9; -66.1

In the effectiveness testing of the Group's hedge accounting, both cash flow and fair value hedging were found to be
effective at year end 2020 after discontinuing part of the hedges. Thus, as in the comparison year 2019, no inefficiency
is included in the financial items for 2620. The COVID 19 pandemic has had a negative impact on Finnair’s business
during the year 2020; as a result, Finnair has the ication of hedge ing to the majority of its
hedges related to jet fuel price risk and foreign exchange risk. The discontinued hedges are shown in profit and loss
instead of other compherensive income. Financial income and expenses includes an identical amount of profit and
loss for fair value hedging instruments and for hedged items resulting from the hedged risk. In 2019, other financial
expenses include the recovered interest on a loan to Nordic Regional Airlines in the amount of 1.8 million euros that
was written down in 2014.

1n 2020, foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in financial expenses consist of a net realised exchange loss of
50.2 and a net i hange gain of 76.7 million euro. In the financial year 2020, Finnair recognized
an expense of 168.3 million euro from discountinued hedges and 32.5 million euro as a gain. During the year 2020,
3.3 million euros of interest expense was capitalised in connection with the A350 investment program (2.2). More
information about the capitalised interest can be found in note 2.1 Fleet and other fixed assets.

Receivables related (o fevenue.

The impairment model does not apply to financial investments, such as bonds and money market funds. included in other

| financial assets as those are measured at fair value through profit and loss under IFRS 9. which already takes into account
expected credit losses. With respect to the assets measured at amortised cost. Finnair is actively following such instruments

| and witlrecognise impairment through prolit and loss if there is evidence of deterioration in credit quality.

| casnand cash eguivalents
| Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash reserves and short-term bank depcs\ts wuh maturity ol iess than three months. For-
! | eign ted 10 euro using th X! s on the closing date. 8
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3.2.1 0ther current financial assets Non-current liabilities
EUR milk. 2020 2019
EUR mill. 2020} 2019 Loans from financial institutions, non-current 599.0
Commercial paper, certificates and bonds 385 J0LCO loans and other 312.2 277.6
Money market funds 358.3 7623 Bonds Y 199.6
Total 358.3 800.8 Lease liabilities 880.6. 913.6
— Interest-bearing liabilities total .. 1,991 1,390.8
_Ratings of ies Non-interest-bearing liabilities 5.2 4.7
BBB 14.0 Total 1,996.8 1,395.5
BB 5.0
Unrated 3583 781.8 Current interest-bearing llabilities
Total 3583 8008 curmin. T 2019
As of 31 December 2020, investments in instruments issued by unrated counterparties mostly include investments in JOLCO loans and other 51.5 435
money market funds of 358.3 million euro. Lease Jiabilities 135.6 140.4
The Group's financial asset investments and risk management policy are described in more detail in Note 3.5 Total 187.2 183.9

Management of financial risks. The IFRS classifications and fair values of the financial assets are presented in Note 3.6
Classification of financial assets and liabilities.

3.2.2 Cash and cash equivalents

EUR mill. 2019
Cash and bank deposits 151.9
Total { 1519

The items include cash and bank deposits realised on demand. Foreign currency cash and bank deposits have been
valued using the closing date mid-market exchange rates. The reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents is illustrated
in the notes of the consolidated cash flow statement.

3.3 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities
Finnair Group's financial liabilities are classitied into two different classes: amortised cost and fair value through profit and
loss. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value on the basis of the'original consideration received. Transaction
costs have been included in the original book value of financial liabilities. Thereafter, all non-derivative financial liabilities
are valued at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities are included in long- and short-term
fiabilities, and they can be interest-bearing or non-interesi-bearing. Loans that are due for payment within 12 months are
presented in the short-term liabilities. Foreign currency loans are valued at the mid-market exchange rate on the closing
| date, and translation differences are recognised in the financial items.
{ Accounts payable are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
| interest method.
| Derecognition of financial fiabilities takes place when the Group has fulfilled the contractual obligations.

Finnair's interest-bearing liabilies increased significantly during the financial year as a result of the refinancing
transactions carried out by the Group in response Lo the COVID-19 pandemic. The long-term loans from financial
institutions grew as a result of the 600 million euro pension premium loan. Finnair has received a 540 million

euro guarantee for the loan from the state of Finland and the remaining 60 million euro has been guaranteed by a
commercial bank. Non-interest-bearing liabilities mainly include leases and maintenance resesves related to the aircraft
leased to other airlines.

The Group's lease liabilities include two new lease agreements for A350 aircraft as a result of the completion of two
sale- and leaseback transactions during the financial year. JOLCO loans and other include the JOLCO loans (Japanese
Operating Lease with Call Option) for three A350 aircraft and Export Credit Support for one A350 and three A330
aircraft. The transactions are treated as {oans and owned aircraft in Finnair's accounting.

Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term |ease| }
borrowings borrowings _lease liabilities liabilities Total!
Total liabilities from financing
activities, 1 January 2020 43.5 477.3 140.4 913.6
_Repayments -174.9 -43.1 -134.9
Acquisitions. 175.0 697.8 3.1 170.1
Decreases -4.1
_Foreign exchange adjustments -20.7 -9.8 -58.3
Reclassification between short-
term and long:term liabilities 8.0 -8.0 39 -3.9
Other non-cash movements 7.7 2.0 1.9
Total liabilities from financing [ W
activities, 31 December 2020 51.5 1,111.0 135.6 880.6; 2,178.7
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Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term lease
borrowings borrowings _lease liabilities liabilities

Total liabilities from financing

activities, 1 January 2019 100.5 514.2 125.1 1,0343(
Repayments -61.0 -42.2 -132.2
_Additions 83
_Foreign exchange adjustments 1.9 6.8 5.7 13.0
Reclassification between short-

term and long-term liabilities 2.1 2.1 9.7 9.7
QOther non-cash movements 0.6

Total liabilities from financing

activities, 31 December 2019 43.5 477.3 140.4 913.6 1,574.8]
Maturity dates of interest-t headng finarcial

liabilitfes 31 Dec 2020 EUR mi 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Later
10LCO loans and other, flxed interest 289 14.5 434
JOLCO loans and other, variable interest 515 409 353 364 774 82.2 L 3237
Loans from financial institutions,

variable interest 300.0 300.0

Bonds, fixed interest 200.0

_Lease liabilities, fixed interest 964 1023 950 929 1373 147.1
Lease liabilities, variable interest 39.2 41.5 43.8 46.0 353 139.3
Interest-bearing financial liabilities total  187.2 684.7 474.1 175.2 278.9 383.1
_Payments from currency derivalives 8659 363

Income from currency derivatives -826.3 -33.2

Commodity derivatives 44.4 0.2

Trade payables and other liabilities 84.5

Interest payments 65.3 63.5 50.1 323 41.8 61.2
Yotal 421.0 7516 524.2_ 207.5 320.8 444.3
Maturity dates of interest- bearmglmanual

liabilities 31 Dec 2019 EUR mi 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Later
JOLCO loans and other. fixed interest 45.0{
JOLCO loans and other, variable interest 43.6 453 346 292 303 96.6
Bonds, fixed interest 200.0

Lease liabifities, fixed interest 94.6 95.7 99.4 91.2 88.7 182.9
_Lease liabilities, variable interest 45.9 519 504 532 470 153.2
Other loans 0.1

Interest-bearing financial liabilities total __183.9 192.9 384.5 173.6 166.0 477.7
Payments from currency derivatives 1,759.5 254.5

Income from currency derivatives -1,787.0 -257.9
_Commodity derivatives 169 L7

Trade payables and other liabilities 989.9

Interest payments 82,5 732 64.0 54.4 44.2 141.2
Total 1,245.8 261.0 4485 228.0 210.2 618.9 3,012.: 3
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The interest rate re-fixing period is three months for variable interest loans and six months for variable interest tease
liabilities. The bonds maturing do not include the amortised cost of 0.2 miltion euros paid in 2017 and due in 2022.
JOLCO loans do not include the amortised cost of 3.3 miflion euros paid on 2016 and due in 2025 and loans from
financial institutions do not include 1.0 millian euros paid as arrangement fee from the pension premium loan in 2020.
Therefore, the total amount of interest-bearing financial liabilities differs from the book value by the amount equal

to the amortised costs. The COVID-19 pandemic impact on Finnair's business has also increased the interest bearing
liabilities in 2020 in comparison to 2019. Thz increase mainly consists of the 600 million euro pension premium loan
that was fully drawn during 2020, and aircraft related sale and leaseback agreements, and export credit support
received in connection with the refinancing of one A350

The currency mix of interest-bearing liahitities is as follows:

EURmill. 2020} 2019
EUR 994.5] a12.8
usD _._L1268] 10963
Py 573 65.3
HKD 02 0.4
SGD 0.0] 01
Total 21787] 15748

The weighted average effective interest rate on interest-bearing liabilities was 3.3% (4.5%).
Interest rate re-fixing period of Interest-bearing liabllitles

Up to 6 months
6-12 months

15 years

More than 5 years
Total

Maturity dates of interest-bearing financial liabilities

€million

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Later

W 50LCO-loans and other, fixed interest

W 30nds, fixed interest
W J0LCO-loans and other, i

ies, fixed i LTt inancial institutions,
variable interest

B Lease liabililies, variable interest
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state aid refating to Finnair's refinancing
The European Commission has concluded that the State of Fintand's guarantee of Finnair's pension premium loan

up 10 EUR 540 million, which was approved by the European Commission on 18 May 2020, and the State of Finland's
participation in the rights offering are so closely linked that they must be regarded as an overall transaction that
constitutes State aid within the meaning of Article 107(1) of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union.
Under the Commission's decision, the Company has agreed to certain conditions foltowing the offering, which include,
among other things, a ban on acquisitions, restricting the Company from acquiring a stake of more than 10 per centin
competitors or other operators in the same line of business, including upstream or downstream operations for a period
of three years from the offering.

As aresult of the restrictions based on the Commission's decision, the remuneration of each member of Finnair's
management will not go beyond the fixed part of his/her remuneration on 31 December 2019. For persons becoming
members of the management on or after the rights issue, the applicable limit of the remuneration for such new
member will be benchmarked to the remuneration of comparable managerial positions and areas of responsibility in
Finnair applied on 31 December 2019. Finnair will not pay bonuses and other variable or i
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denominated in foreign currencies and jet fuel price risk, in accordance with the hedge accounting principles of IFRS 9.
Hedge accounting compliant fair value hedges of Finnair Group consist of interest rate hedges of the issued bond and
fair value hedges of firm aircraft purchase commitments.

Fuel price risk in flight operations

Fuel price risk refers to the uncertainty of the cash flows and financial performance arising from fluctuations in the
fuel price. Finnair hedges against jet fuel price fluctuations using jet fuel forward contracts and options. The Jet Fuel
CIF Cargoes NWE index is used as the underlying asset of jet fuel derivatives, since over 60 per cent of Finnair's fuel
purchase contracts are based on the benchmark price index for Northwest Europe jet fuel deliveries.

Finnair applies the principle of time-diversification in its fuel hedging. According to the risk management policy, the
hedging horizon is two years. The risk management policy states that hedging must be increased during each quarter
of the year, so that the hedge ratio is more than 60 per cent for the first six months, and thereafter a lower hedge ratio
appties for each period. However, due to the COVID-19 pandemic and its impacts on Finnair's business a temporary

elements during the three fiscal years 2020-2022 to the members of the management.

Further, Finnair is committed to publishing information about the use of the aid received within 12 months from the
date of the offering and thereafter pericdically every 12 months, for a period of three years. tn particular, this should
include information on how the company’s use of the aid received supports its activities in line with EU objectives and
national obligations linked to the green and digital transformation, including the EU objective of climate neutrality by
2050.

Currently, the State of Finland and Finnair are preparing to make up to 400 million euros available to Finnair in the
form of an unsecured hybrid loan. The final decision on the possible financing arrangement is subject to a decision by
the Government Plenary session, which wifl also confirm the final terms and conditions of the loan. The hybrid loan
requires approval by the EU Commission.

3.4 Contingent liabilities

regarding hedging ratios was implemented. The temporary amendment description can be found from
below. Due to hedging. the fuel cost per period is not as low as the spot-based price when prices fall, but when spot
prices rise, the fuel cost rises more slowly.

The hedges of jet fuel consumption are treated as cash flow hedges in accounting, in accordance with the hedge
accounting principles of IFRS 9. During 2020, Finnair has hedged the jet fuel price risk in its entirety, without separating
itinto underlying risk components, such as crude oil price risk. However. Finnair has used proxy hedging for certain
layer components of its jet fuel consumption. as described below.

In the hedging of jet fuel price risk. Finnair Group desi layer ¢ of its jet fuel as hedged
items. The layer companents are defined as jet fuel consumption linked to different jet fuel price benchmarks. The first
layer is defined as jet fuel purchases based on the Jet Fuel CIF Cargoes NWE index, with consumption linked to other
price benchmarks, notably Cargoes FOB Singapore, representing other layers. Since the Jet Fuel CIF Cargoes NWE index
isused as ying of all jet fuel derivatives, they are desi as proxy hedges for consumption based on
other price benchmarks. Therefore, ineffectiveness may arise if the correlation between the NWE index and the price
benchmark for the underlying consumption is not high enough for the fair value changes in the hedged item and the
hedging instrument to be exactly offsetting. Any ineffectiveness resulting from overhedging or insufficient correlation is

EUR mill, 2020 2019
Guarantees on behalf of group companies 32.1] 79.6
Total 321 79.6

3.5 Management of financial risks

Principles of financial risk management

The nature of Finnair Group's business operations exposes the company to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange,
interest rate, credit, liquidity and commodity price risks. The Group’s policy is to limit the uncertainty caused by such
risks on cash flow. financial performance, balance sheet items and equity.

The management of financial risks is based on the risk management policy prepared by the Financial Risk Steering
Committee and approved by the Board of Directors. The policy specifies the minimum and maximum levels permitted
for each type of risk. Financial risk management is directed and supervised by the Financial Risk Steering Committee.
Practical i of risk policy and risk have been ized to the parent
company’s treasury department.

In the management of foreign exchange, interest rate and jet fuel the company uses different derivative instruments,
such as forward contracts, swaps and options. At inception, derivatives are designated as hedges of highly probable
cash flows (cash flow hedges), hedges of firm orders (hedges of the fair vatue of firm commitments) or as financial
derivatives where the hedging relationship does not qualifying for hedge accounting (economic hedges). Finnair
Group implements cash flow hedging through foreign exchange hedging of highly probable forecasted sales and costs

in fair value changes in derivatives and changes in exchange rates of fleet overhauls.

Treasury policy temporary amendment

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic impacts to Finnair’s business, Finnair’s hedging operations regarding foreign exchange
currencies and jet fuel price risk were also impacted. Demand disappearing as a result of COVID-19 pandemic meant
that the amount of underlying risk was significantly reduced from forecasted amounts forcing Finnair to discontinue
applying hedge accounting to majority of its hedges in foreign exchange and jet fuel. Since the uncertainty remains.
when the traffic and recovery will start to materialize post COVID-19 pandemic Finnair’s board of directors approved a
temporary amendment to the treasury policy. The amendment reduces the lower bound of hedging ratios in balance
sheet position, cash flow position and jet fuel price risk position to zero per cent for the whole hedging period. However,
for balance sheet position the target hedging ratio will be 50 per cent. For the cash flow position and jet fuel position
the objective of the amendment is to avoid being on an over hedged situation if the recovery does not materialize due
to the COVID-19 pandemic and for the balance sheet position the objective is to reduce cash flow risk in short-term. The
amendment is in force until treasury policy is reviewed during 2021
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Hedged price Notional amount Maturity minimum hedging ratio to zero percent until the treasury policy Is reviewed during 2021. Even though the policy does.
Timing of the notional and hedged price $/tonne (tonnes} under1lyear 1to2years not require hedging of smaller currency flows, it is allowed., in which case the layered hedging strategy is partially
31 December 2020 _ _ . applied. although no minimum hedging ratic is specified.
Jet fuel cansumption priced with NWE index 527.7 237,423 227.423 10.000! The investment position inciudes all foreign currency denominated aircraft investments for which a binding
Jet fuel consumption priced with SING index 6098 2577 25717 |  purchaseagreement has been signed as well as commitments for sale and leaseback transactions in the next four
31 December 2019 years, According to its risk management policy, Finmair Group hedges 50-1009 of its aircralt investment exposure. New
- - - - hedges of in aircraft are made zs an IFRS 9 fair value hedge of a firm commitment.
tet fuel consumption priced with NWE index :::i 9:i2?§ 7:11?2 231,000 Balance sheet exposure consists of foreign currency denominated financiai assets and liabilities, as well as other

Jet fuel consumption priced with SING ‘ndex

‘The average hedged price of the instruments hedging highly probable jet fuel purchases is calculated by taking into account
only the hedging (bought} leg of collar option structures, and therefore represents the least favorable hedged rate. The most
favorable rate, calculated by including only the sold leg of callar option structures, is 527.7 US dollars per tonne for NWE con-
sumption. and 609.8 US dollars for SING consumption. Options excluded from hedge accounting are excluded in both cases.

At the end of the financial year, Finnair had hedged 67 per cent of its forecasted fuet purchases for the first six months
of 2021 and 33 per cent of the purchases for the second half of the year. In the financial year 2020, fuel used in flight
operations accounted for approximately one quarter of Group's turnover. At the end of the financial vear, the forecast
for 2021 is approximately one quarter of the Group’s turnover. On the closing date. a 10 per cent rise in the market price
of jet fuel - excluding hedging activity - increases annual fuel costs by an estimated 15 million euro. On the closing date
- taking hedging into account - a 10 per cent rise in fuel lowers operating profit by around 8 million euro.

Due ta the COVID-19 pandemic impacts to Finnair’s business, Finnair's hedging operations regarding foreign exchange
currencies and jet fuel price risk were 2lso impacted. Demand disappearing as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic meant
that the amount of underlying risk was significantly reduced from forecasted amounts forcing Finnair to discontinue the
majority of its hedges in foreign exchange and jet fuel.

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk means the uncertainty in cash flows and financial performance arising from exchange rate
fluctuations. Finnair Group’s foreign exchange risk mainly arises from fuel and aircraft purchases, divestments of
aircraft, aircraft lease payments, aircraft maintenance, overflight royaities and foreign currency revenue, About 55
per cent of the Group's revenue is dencminated in euros. The most important foreign revenue currencies are Japanese
yen (7 per cent, percentage of revenue, Chinese yuan (6 per cent), US dollar (4 per cent) and Swedish krona (3 per
cent). Approximately 40 per cent Group's operating costs are denominated in foreign currencies. The most important
purchasing currency is the US dollar, which accounts for approximately 35 per cent of all operating costs. Most
significant dollar-denominated expensas are fuel costs. The largest investments - aircrait and their spare parts - are
also mainly made in US dolfars.

The risk management policy divides the foreign exchange position into three parts, namely exposure to forecasted
cash flows, balance sheet position and investment position.

The cash flow expesure mainly consists of sales denominated in a number of different currencies and dollar-
denominated expenses. Forecasted jet fuel purchases, aircraft materials ang overhaul expenses and traffic charges
form a group of similar items that are hedged with the same hedging instrument. The purpose of currency risk hedging
- for cash flow exposure - is to reduce the volatility of cash flows and comparable operating result due to fluctuating
currency prices. This is done using a layered hedging strategy for the two biggest sources of currency risk and utilising
diversification benefits of the portfolic of various currencies. The contracts are timed to mature when the cash flows
from operating expenses are expected to be settled. The hedging limits are set only for the main contributors to
currency risk: the Japanese yen and the US doflar basket consisting of the US dollar and the Hong Kong dollar. For
both of these, the hedging horizon is two years, which is divided into four six-month periods. In order to achieve time
diversitication, the minimum hedge ratio for the ctosest six-month period is 60 per cent with a decreasing slope ending
at zero per cent for the fourth six-month period. Currently there is a temporary amendment in force that reduces the

foreign currency balance sheet items, such as provisions, trade receivables, trade payables and assets
held for sale. Finnair Group hedges 75-100% of net positions in foreign currency denominated financiat assets and
financial liabilities exceeding 10 MEUR. However, the amendment to the treasury policy fowers the minimum hedging
ratio to zero per cent for bafance sheet position, but target ratio is set to 50 per cent.

At the end of the financial year, Finnair had a hedge level for net aperating cash flows of 42 per cent in the
UsD-basket and 44 per cent in JPY for the coming 12 months, and hedge levels of 4 per cent and 2 per cent for 2022,
respectively. On the closing date - excluding hedges - a 10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar against the euro has
a negative impact on the 12-month result of around 27 million euro and a 10 per cent weakening of the Japanese yen
against the euro has a negative impact on 12-month of around 11 million euro. On the closing date - taking hedging into
account - a 10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar weakens the result by around 10 million euro and a 10 per cent
weakening of the Japanese yen weakens the result by around 5 million euro. In the above numbers, the USD-basket
risk also the Hong Kong doliar, which histarizal correlation with the US dollar is high. Hedge levels for balance sheet
position at the end of the financial year were 53 per cent for USD and 92 per cent for Japanese yen. On the closing date
- excluding hedges - a 10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar against the euro has a negative impact on the result of
around 115 million euro and a 10 per cent st-engthening of the Japanese yen against the euro has a negative impact of
around 6 million euro. On the closing date - taking hedging into account - a 10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar
weakens the result by around 44 million euro and a 10 per cent strengthening of the Japanese yen weakens the result
by around 0.5 million euro.

Maturity
Timing of the notional Notionalamount  Less than L
EUR mill. 31 December 2020 {gross} year __1to2years
usp 1,100.7 973.6 127.1
JPY 2706 265.7 5.0

Cross-currency interest rate swaps are inctuded in the nominal amount calculation.

Foreign exchange P&L exposure
EUR mill. 31 December 2020

Net forecasted operating cash flows, next z4m

Net operating cash flow hedges, next 24m

Weighted average exchange rate of hedging instruments against the euro
_Foreign exchange exposure from operating cash flows after hedging, next24m |  399.1  -1,138.6)

JPY___USD-basket

The average exchange rate of the instruments hedging highly probable forecasted sales and purchases
denominated in foreign currencies is calculated by taking into account only the hedging (bought) leg of collar
option structures, and therefore represents the feast favorable hedged rate. The most favorable rate, calculated by
including only the sold leg of colfar option structures, is 1.17 for USD contracts and 118.42 for JPY instruments.
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Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk means the cash flow, financial performance and balance sheet uncertainty arising from interest rate
fluctuations. In Finnair Group, the interest rate risk is measured using the interest rate re-fixing pericd. If necessary,
interest rate derivatives are used to adjust the interest rate re-fixing period. According to the risk management policy,
the mandate for the investment portfolio’s interest rate re-fixing period is 0-12 months and for interest-bearing

Foreign exchange exposure from balance sheet items after hedging -434.6) liabilities 36-72 months. On the closing date, the investment portfolio’s interest rate re-fixing period was approximately
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 3 months and il 50 months for i bearing liabilities. On the closing date, a one percentage point rise
Foreign exchange investment expostre ininterest rates increases the annual interest income of the investment portfolio by approximately 7.1 millien euros and
EUR mill. 31 December 2020 the interest expenses of the loan portiolio by approximately 4.3 million euros. The situation as of December 312020 is
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT Net investment position a ion of conditions the year given the current market environment.
Net hedges of investment position T 180.4 »Fumre I_ease agreemvemvs expose the group to interest rate risk, as the interest rate is one compo_nent of the le_ase
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY Weighted average exchange rate of hedging instruments against the euro 114 prlc:.ﬂTherl‘n;emsl rate is lixed when the lease payments start. f necessary, the group can hedge this exposure with
Foreign exchange exposure from investment position after hedging -155.1 cash flow hedges. _
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - " N " Maturity
Timing of the national and hedged price range Notional amount  Lessthan 1
1. OPERATING RESULY ::Ir;i'&“ Ie;t]hg:g: "?:El}ezxg;;sure v uso-basket EUR mill. 31 December 2020 (gross) year 1to2years
2 FLEET AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING Net forecasted operating cash flows, next 24m 7229  -18521 Inierest rats derivetines 2860 1894 208
ARRANGEMENTS _Net operating cash flow hedges, next 24m -319.8 836.7 Cross-currency interest rate swaps are included in the nominal amount calculation. Finnair has not entered into any
3. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS weighted average exchange rate of hedging instruments against the euro 125.2 117 interest rate derivatives on whichit is paying a fixed rate.
4. CONSOLIDATION Forelgn exchange exposure from operating cash flows after hedging, next 24m 403.1 -1,015.4 .
5. OTHERNOTES Credit risk N . . N
Foreign exchange balance sheet exposure The Group is exposed to counterparty risk when investing its cash reserves and when using derivative |ns_irumems.
6. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EUR mill, 31 December 2019 PY usD. The credit risk is managed by only making contracts with financially sound domestic and foreign banks, financial
Net balance sheet items 69.3 1.092.6 institutions and brakers, within the framework of risk management policy for counterparty risk limits. Liquid assets
BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND Net hedges of balance sheet items 6.4 907.7 are also invesr_efj irf n'!nney rnarkel (unds. bonds and (on}mercial papers iss\_:ed by feig:.led :ompanies: a((ording to
_weigh(em;ange rate of hedging instruments against the euro 1213 112 Company-sp: |b:‘||m¢lsA This way, r|§k expesu‘re to any single counterparty is not significant. Change§ in the fair value
- - - . = of Group | arises from changes in FX and interest rates, not from credit risk. The Group’s credit risk exposure arises
AUDITOR'S REPORT _Foreign exchange exposure from balance sheet items after hedging 2.9 “184.9  from other current financial assets presented in note 3.2.1, cash and cash equivalents presented in note 3.2.2, trade
receivables presented in Note 1.2.3 and derivatives presented in note 3.8.
Foreign exchange investment exposure
EUR mill. 31 December 2019 usp Liquidity risk
Net investment position -668.0 The goal of Finnair Group is to maintain good liuidity. Liguidity is ensured by cash reserves, bank account limits, tiquid
Net hedges of investment position 336.5 money market investments and cemmitted credit facilities. Counterparties of groups’ long term loans are solid financial
_Weighted average exchange rate of hedging instruments against the euro 1.20 institutions with good reputations.
Foreign exchange exposure from i position after hedging 3315 ‘The COVID-19 pandemic dig not impact the basic principles of Finnair’s liquidity risk management. However, the
—= pandemic has increased the financing risk and due to high uncertainty relating to the duration of the pandemic,
Finnair executed several financing transactions in order to secure liquidity levels. These transactions consisted of:
withdrawing the 175 million euro revolving credit facility which has been since repaid in September 2020, securing the
600 million pension premium loan, rights issue of net proceeds over 500 million euro, refinancing the existing 200
million euro hybrid bond and aircraft transactions in the form of two sale and leasebacks in excess of 200 mittion euro
and one export credit support transaction in excess of 100 million euro. In addition to the aforementioned financing
transactions, Finnair also negotiated a waiver of its financial covenant of adjusted gearing in the revolving credit
facility. Currently, the State of Finland and Finnair are in the process of preparing to make up to 400 million euros
available to Finnair in the form of an unsecured hybrid loan. The final decision on the possible financing arrangement
is subject fo a decision by the Government Plenary session, which will also confirm the final terms and conditions of the
loan. The hybrid loan requires approval by the EU Commission.
The Group's cash funds funds were 823.7 million euro at the end of financial year 2020. Finnair Pic has a domestic
commercial paper program of 200 million euro, which was not in use as of the closing date. tn addition, Finnair has an
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unused 175 million euro committed revolving credit facility. The credit facility includes a financial covenant based on
adjusted gearing. The covenant level of adjusted gearing based on the original facility agreement is 175 per cent. Due to
the COVID-19 impact, Finnair negotiated a waiver in May 2020 of the adjusted gearing covenant with the lending banks.
The waiver removed the adjusted gearing covenant fully until either end of the year 2020 or when rights issue would
be completed. Thereafter the adjusted gearing covenant level will be 225 per cent until June 2021, from tuly 2021 until
June 2022 adjusted gearing covenant will be 200 per cent and from July 2022 onwards 175 per cent. At the closing date
the figure was 153.2 per cent. The maximum level set by the Board of Directors based on the adjusted gearing covenant.
Ouring the financial year 2020 Finnair managed to maintain adequate liquidity in spite of the impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic on Finnair's underlying business, executing several financing transactions, which are described
in the above paragraph. These transactions had several impacts on Finnair's financial position: first, Finnair has 28
per cent more interest-bearing liability on its balance sheet in comparison to the financial year 2019. Second, during
the financial year 2020, Finnair's gearing rose significantly compared to financial year 2019; in 2019, the gearing was
64.3 per cent whereas at the end of financial year 2020 the gearing was 153.2 per cent. Third, despite being below the
covenant tevels defined in the revolving credit facility, based on Finnair's current estimate, the covenant terms related
to Finnair's undrawn 175 million eura revolving credit facility are estimated to be possibly breached during the second
quarter of 2021. Therefore, Finnair plans to initiate negotiations with the syndicate banks with respect to covenant
amendments.
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EUR mill.

31Dec 2020
Financial assets
Receivables

Other financial assets
Trade receivables and other receivables
Derivatives

Cash and cash equivalents

Hedge accounting  Fair
items.

value through
profitand ioss

Amortised cost

Baok vz|uel

Book value total

Fair value total

Financiat fiabilities

ARRANGEMENTS ) [ (r,e rew.very from the COVID-19 @ndemic (a‘ke_s significantly longer than currently expected, Finnair's available Interest-bearing labil - - ““ 62‘.6‘ - 0 62»‘61
financing options may be more expensive, more limited, or both. " T — T . " H
3. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS Lea§e liabilities N 10162 1,016.2!
4 CONSOLIDATION Capital management Derivatives | LS U RPSURRI £ 2
s OTHERNOTES The aim of Finnair's capital management is to secure the access to capital markets at all times despite volatile business Trade payables and other liabilities 84.5 845
) environment, as well as support future busine: Through maintaining optimal capital structure Group Book vatue total | _..... 81 536 2,263.2 . 23629,
6. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS also aims to minimize the cost of capital and maximize the return on capital employed. The capital structure is |
influenced via, for example, dividend distribution and share issues. The Group can vary and adjust the level of dividends Fair value total [ Ta61 “Ts36 120897 T 13aae
sooaroaaTos orosuonTeowoek | P MAs e meni c is e le a e cron s
3 policy is to pay on average at least EUR mill. items profit and loss __ Amortised cost Book value
one third of the earnings per share as dividend during an economic cycle. 31 Dec 2019
AUDITOR'S REPORT The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on Finnair's business and therefore the balance sheet has aiso ~
been impacted. During the 2020 Finnair executed financial transactions to strengthen its balance sheet 1o mitigate F‘"a'_'ml assets
the COVID-19 pandemic impacts and to maintain a healthy adjusted gearing ratio. The main two transactions that Receivables 33 33
were executed during the year 2020 were the rights issue and hybrid bond refinancing. The rights issue resulted in net Other financial assets 800.8 800.8
proceeds of approximately 501 millior: euro to the company and the hybrid refinancing of 200 million euro enabled Trade receivables and other receivables 240.9 240.9
Finnair to further to mitigate the impzcts of COVID-19 pandemic on Finnair's balance sheet. Derivatives 54.4 1.2 55.7
The development of the Group's capital structure is continuously monitored using the adjusted gearing. When Cash and cash equivalents 151.9 151.9
catculazingad}usled gearing, adjusted interest-bearing net debt is divided by the amount of shareholders’ equity. The Baok value total 54.4 802.0 396.0 1,252.5
Group's adjusted gearing at the end of 2020 was 153.2 per cent (64.3).
Sensitivity analysis of the fair value reserve Fair value total 544 802.0 396.0 12525
If the price of Jet fuel CIF NWE had been 10 per cent higher, the balance of the reserve would have been 6.6 million
euro (50.7) higher. Correspondingly. a 10 per cent weaker Jet fuel CIF NWE price would have reduced the reserve by Financial liabilities
6.6 million euro (52.0). In terms of the US dollar, a 10 per cent weaker level would have lowered the balance of the fair Interest-bearing liabilities 5208 520.8
value reserve by 99 million euro (58.4) and a 10 per cent stronger dollar would have had a positive impact of 5.2 million Lease liabilities 1,054.0 1,054.0
euro (61.7). In terms of Japanese yen, 3 10 per cent stronger yen would have had a negative impact of 5.1 million euro Derivatives 29.4 95 38.9
(20.7), and a 10 per cent wegk_er level would hav_e increased the palan(e of fhe_iairvalue reserve by 4.6 million euro Trade payables and other tiabilities 999.6 999.6
(.]9'0)' The effect of.change in interests to th§ fair value Feserve in own equity is ot material. The enclosed sensitivity Book value total 29.4 o5 2.570.4 26133
figures do not take into account any change in deferred tax liability (tax assets). E— -
_Fair value total 29.4 9.5 1527,9 1566,8
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In this note interest rate derivatives (currency and interest-rate swaps) are included in derivatives. Item Receivables
mainly includes USD-denominated security deposits for leased aircraft. Trade payables and other liabifities include:
trade payables and other interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing liabilities.

Derivatives are valued at fair value, with further details in the fair value hierarchy. Financial assets valued at fair
value are money market funds (fair value hierarchy level 1) and bonds, or commercial papers (fair value hierarchy level
2). Loans and receivables are mainly current and the book value is equivalent to the fair value, because the discount
effect is not significant. The current portion of loans valuad at amortised cost, excluding bonds, is 187.2 million euro,
and the book value is equivalent to the fair value, because the discount effect is not significant. The issued bond makes
the most significant part of the loans valued at amortised cost. The senior bond maturing in 2022 was quoted at
98.584, which explains the difference between book value and fair value. The valuation principles of financial assets
and liabilities are outtined in the accounting principles. The valuation principles of financial assets and liabilities are
outlined in the accounting principles.

Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities valued at fair value

Fair values at the end of the reporting period

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX

3.7 Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

EUR mill. T 2019
Derivative assets gross amounts ) 12.4] 55.7
Amounts of financial assets presented in the balance sheet L2 55.7
Enforceable master netting agreement ! -11.8! -223
Derivative assets net amount e 334

. i

EUR mill. i ! 2019
Derivative liabilities gross amounts T 997 -38.9
Amounts of fin: lities presented in the balance sheet | 99.7! -38.9
Enforceable master netting agreement ! 11.8‘\ 22.3
Derivative liabilites net amount -87.9; -16.6

EUR mill. 31Dec zqzﬂ Level1l Level2 For the above financial assets and liabifities, subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar
Assets. arrangements, each agreement between the Group and the counterparty allows net settiement of the relevant financial
Financial assets at fair value : assets and liabilities when both parties choose to settle on a net basis. In the absence of such mutual decision, firancial
Securities held for trading. .. 3583 358.3 assets and liabilities will be settled on a gross basis. However, each party of the master netting agreement, or similar
agreement, will have the option to settle on a net basis in the event of default of the other party. Depending on the
terms of each agreement, an event of default includes faifure by a party to make a payment when due, failure by a
Currency derivati 8.6] party to perform any obligation required by the agreement (other than payment), if such faiture is not remedied within
"~ of which in cash flow hedge accounting, T T periods of 30 to 60 days after notice of such failure is given to the party, or bankruptcy.
Commodity derivatives 3.8) L
- of which in cash flow hedge i 3.2] 3.8 Derivatives
Total .. ..370.8) 3583 = . S
- - |8 cts and hedge accounting ‘
_Liabilities . | According to its risk management policy, Finnair Group uses foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity derivatives to
Finangial liabitities at fair value '\ reduce the exchange rate, interest rate ang commodily risks which arise from the Group’s balance sheet items. currency de- i
_Derivatives - oo ] nominated purchase ag anticipated currency purchases and sales as well as future jet fuel purchas- |
Currency and interest rate swaps and options 18 8 1 es. ltis the Group's poicy not to enter into derivative financial contracts for specufative purposes. . |
Currency derivatives 125 5 ‘ The derivatives are initially recognised as well as subsequently valued at fair value in each financial statement and inter- |
. | . . " ;
~ of which in fair value hedge accounting 138 ) im report. The Ia»r_ v_a\ues or_ the derivatives are ba;ed onthe valug at which the instrument cou]d be exchange_d between !
e e e e - e | knowledgeable, willing and independent parties, with no compulsion to sell or buy in the sales situation. The fair values of |
- of which in cash flow hedge accounting . 150 150 derivarives are determined as follows: ;
_Commodity derivatives o484 484 | Tnefairvalues of all derivatives are calculated using the exchange rates, interest rates, volatiities and commodity price |
- of which in cash flow hedge accouati 173 17.3 | quotations on the closing date. The fair values of currency forward contracts are calcufated as the present value of future
Total 99.7 99.7 cash flows. The fair values of currency options are calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair values

During the financial year, no significant transfers took place between fair value hierarchy Levels 1and 2.

The fair values of hierarchy Level 1are fully based on quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets of the same
assets and liabilities.

The fair values of Level 2 instruments are, to a significant extent, based on input data other than the quoted prices
included in Level 1, but still mainly based on directly observable data {price) or indirectly observable data (derived from
price) for the particular asset or liability.

On the other hand, the fair values of Level 3 instruments are based on asset or liability input data that is not based
on observable market information (unobservable inputs). The fair values are based on confirmations supplied by
counterparties, based on generally accepted valuation models.

of interest rate swap contracts are calculated as the present value of future cash flows. The fair values of cross-cusrency in- |
terest rate swap contracts are calculated as the present value of future cash flows. The fair values of interest rate options.
are calculated using generally accepted option valuation models. The fair values of commaodity forward contracts are calcu- |
lated as the present value of future cash flows. The fair values of commodity options are calculated using generally accept-
ed option valuation models. i
The Group uses credit valuation adjustment for cross-currency interest rate swaps as the malurities of these derivalives :
; are long. The credit valuation adjustment is not done for the rest of the derivatives as the maturities for these are short and
! the impact would not be material. Credit risk management is described in more detail in note 3.5.
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value are presented in the financial statements according to the original
| classilication of the derivative. Gains and losses on derivatives qualifying for hedge accounting are recognised in accordance
[ with the nature of the risk being hedged. At inception, derivative contracts are designaied as hedges of future cash Hows,
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hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities and binding purchase contracts (cash flow hedges or fair value
hedges) or as derivatives not meeting tne hedge accounting criteria or to which hedge accounting is not applied (economic
hedges). Hedging of the fair value of net investments of foreign units or embedded derivatives have not been used.

At the inception of hedge accounting. Finnair Group documents the economic refationship and the hedge ratio between
the hedged item and the hedging instrument, as well as the Group's risk management objectives and the sirategy for the in-
ception of hedging. At the inception of hedging, and at least at the time of each financial statement, the Group documents
and assesses the effectiveness of hedge relationships by examining the past and prospective capacity of the hedging instru-
ment to offset changes in the fair value of the hedged item or changes in cash ffows. The values of derivatives in a hedging
relationship are presented in the balance sheet item Short-term financial asset and Habilities.

Finnair Group implements the IFRS hedge accounting principles in the hedging of future cash flows (cash flow hedging).
The principles are applied to the price and foreign currency risk of jet fuel, the foreign currency risk of lease payments and
the foreign currency risk of highly probable fuiure sales and costs denominated in foreign currencies. The IFRS fair value
hedge accounting principles are applied to the hedging of foreign exchange and interest rate risk of aircraft.

The change in the fair value of the effective portion of derivative instruments that have been designated and qualify as
cash flow hedges are recognised in comprehensive income and presented within equity in the fair value reserve, 1o the ex-
tent that the requirements for the appiication of hedge accounting have been fuifilled and the hedge is effective. The gains
and losses, recognised in the fair value reserve, are transferred to the income statement in the period in which the hedged
item is recognised in the income statement. When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. or the
criteria for cash flow hedge accounting are no longer fulfilied. but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur,
the cumulative gain or loss at that pirt remains in the hedge reserve and is recognised in accordance with the above pol-
icy when the transaction occurs. If the underlying hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place. the cumulative
unrealised gain or loss recognised in the hedge reserve with respect o the hedging insirument is recognised immediately
inthe consolidated income statement.

The effectiveness of hedging is tested on a quarterly basis. The effective portion of hedges is recognised in the fair value
reserve of other comprehensive income, from which it is transferred to the income starement when the hedged item is re-
alised or, in terms of investments, as an acquisition cost adjusiment.

Fair value hedging is implemented on firm orders of new aircraft, and in order to hedge the fixed interest rate bond. The
binding purchase agreements for new aircraft are treated as firm commitments under IFRS, and therefore, the fair value
changes of the hedged part arising from foreign currency movements are recognised in the balance sheet as an asset ilem,
and corresponding gains or losses recognised through profit and loss. Similarly, the fair value of instruments hedging these
purchases is presented in the bafance sheet as a liability or receivable, and the change in fair value is recognised in profit
and loss.

‘The gain or loss related to the effective portion of the interest rale swap, which hedges the fixed interest rate bond, is rec-
ognised as financial income or expenses in the income statement. The gain or loss related to the ineffective portion is rec-
ognised within other operating income and expenses in the income statement. The change in the fair value attributable to
the interest rate risk of the hedged fixed interest rate loans is recognised in the financial expenses in the income statement.

If the hedge no longer meets the crit2ria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item,
for which the effective interest methot is used, is amortized to profit or loss over the period to maturity.

Finnair Group uses ¢ross-currency interest rate swaps in the hedging of the interest rate and foreign exchange risks of for-
eign currency denominated loans. Cross-currency interest rate swaps are excluded from hedge accounting, and herefore the
fair value changes are recognised in derivative assets and liabilities in the balance sheet, as well as in the financial income
and expenses in the income statement. The fair value changes of the loans are simultaneously recognised in the financial
income and expenses. Realised foreigr exchange rate differences. as well as interest income and expenses. are recognised
in the financial income and expenses against the exchange rate dilterences and interest income and expenses of the loan.

Finnair Group uses jet fuel swaps {forward contracis) and options in the hedging of jet fuel price risk. Unrealised gains and
losses on derivatives hedging jet fuel, which are designated as cash flow hedges and fulfil the requirements of IFRS hedge
accounting, are recognised in the hedging reserve within other comprehensive income. Accrued derivative gains and loss-
es, recognised in sharehalders’ equity, are recognised as income or expense in the income statement in the same financial
period as the hedged item is recognised in the income statement. If a forecasted cash flow is no longer expected 1 occur,
and as a result the IFRS hedge accounting criteria are not fulfilled, the fair value changes and the accrued gains and losses
reported in shareholders’ equity are transferred to the items affecting comparability in the income statement. Changes in
the fair value of jet fuel swaps and opt'ons excluded from hedge accounting are recognised in fair value changes in deriva-
tives in the income statement. while realised result is presented in fuel costs.

For forward and option contracts, an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and the hedging instrument
the hedging instrument and hedged item are expected to move in opposite directions because of the same underlying risk.
This is true (or all hedge relationships except for the SING consumption hedged with NWE hedges (as described in section
3.5). In that case, the underlying is diffzrent, but the underlying hedged item (SING) and the hedge (NWE) have a historical
orrelation of 0.99. Therefore, it can be classified as a refationship where the underlying and the hedge are economically

closely related. Ineffectiveness on fuel derivatives can also arise from timing differences on the notional amount between
the hedged instrument and hedged item, significant changes in credit risk of parties to the hedging relationship and chang-
es in the total amount of the hedged item, for instance if the underlying fuet consumption forecast is not accurate enough, !
that can result in overhedging. However, as Finnair usually hedges less than 1009, the risk of overhedging is insignificant. (
Finnair has established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for hedging relationships. i

Finnair uses forward contracts and options to hedge its exposure to foreign currency denominated cash flows. The hedg-
es of cash flows denominated in foreign currencies are treated as cash flow hedges in accounting, in accordance with the
hedge accounting principles of IFRS 9. Unrealised gains and losses on hedges of forecasted cash flows qualifying for hedge
accounting are recognised in the hedging reserve in OCI, while the change in the fair value of such hedges not qualifying for |
hedge accounting is recagnised in Fair value changes in derivatives and changes in exchange rates of fleet overhauls in the |
income statement. The change in fair value recognised in the hedging reserve in equity is transferred to the income state-
ment when the hedged transaction is realised. Forward points are included in the hedging instrument and in the hedge re- |
lationship. Potential sources of ineffectiveness include changes in timing of the hedged item, significant changes in credit
risk of parties to the hedging relationship and changes in the total amount of the hedged item, for instance if the underly-
ing cash flow forecast is not accurate enough, that can result in overhedging. However, as Finnair usually hedges less than
1009, the risk of overhedging is insignificant. Realised profit or loss on derivatives hedging JPY-denominated operating |
cash tiows is presented in revenue, realised profit or oss on derivatives hedging a group of similar USD costs is propartion-
ally recognised in corresponding expense lines, while prafit or loss on derivatives hedging cash flows denominated in other |
currencies is presented in Other expenses.

The hedge ratio is defined as the relationship between the quantity of the hedging instrument and the quantity of the |
hedged item in terms of their relative wesgrmng with currency hedging, hedge ratio is typically 1:1. For forward and option i
contracts, an economic refationship exists between the hedged item and the hedging instrument as there is an expectation |
that the value of the hedging instrument and the value of the hedged item would move in the opposite direction because
of the common underiying.

Changes in the fair value of interest rate derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting are recognised in financial income
and expenses in the income statement. Changes in the fair value as well as realised gain or loss on forward contracts used
10 hedge foreign currency denominated balance sheet items of Finnair Group are recognised in financial expenses. Changes
in the fair value and realised result of hedges of assets held for sale are recognised in ltems affecting comparability.

Cost of hedging

At Finnair, the time value of an option is excluded from the designation of a financiat insirument and accounted for as a cost

of hedging. Upon initial recognition, Finnair defers any paid premium in the cost of hedging reserve within other comprehen-

sive income. The fair value changes of the time value are recognised in the cost of hedging reserve within other comprehen-

sive income, The premium wil be uansferred to the consolidated income statement in the same period that the underlying

transaction affects the for transaction-related hedges. As of 31 December 2019, Finnair has
deferred premiums only on lmnsacnun related hedges.

Impact of COVID-19 to hedge accounting and derivatives

Oue to the COVID-19 pandemic impacts te Finnair’s underlying business, the hedging operations regarding foreign exchange
currencies and jet fuel price risk were also impacted. Demand disappearing as a result of COViD-19 pandemic meant that the
amount of underlying risk was significantly reduced from forecasted amounts forcing Finnair to discontinue hedge account-
ing on majority of its hedges in foreign exchange and jet fuel that were under hedge accounting. The discontinued hedg-
1 esare shownin prull( and loss instead of equity. The realized and unrealized gains or losses from discontinued hedges are i
Lshuwn in Imanclal income and expenses

‘ B perivative contracts and hedge accounting.

Finnair accounts for its cash flow hedges of forecasted foreign currency denominated purchases and sales and future jet
fuel purchases in accordance with the IFRS 9. Under the hedge accounting principles, a forecast transaction can be desig-
nated as a hedged item anly if that transaction is considered as highly prabable. The evaluation of probability is based on
the management forecasts about the future level of Finnair’s operations and cash flows. Such forecasts require the use of
management judgement and assumptions, which inherently contain some degree of uncertainty that is further increased
under the existing COVID-19-pandemic. Should the expected circumstances or outcome change in the future, the manage-
ment would need to reassess whether a hedged forecast transaction is still highly probabie to occur. This could be the case if,
for example, the expected recovery and thus the expected jet fuel consumption levels would not realize as expectad. Should
the forecast transaction no longer be highly probable, it would no fonger qualify as an eligible hedged item and hedge ac- \
counting would need to be discantinued. Should it no longer be expected to occur at all, the balance of the cash flow hedge | |
| feserve included in other comprehensive income would need to be reclassified to profit or loss. @ J
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ey
| 2020 | 2019 Hedged items in hedge relationships
i Positive Negative Pasitive Negative .
! Nominal fair Fairnet| Nominal  fal faic  Fair net ;"‘;““:"x":f":i‘: o changesin Changes in
EUR mill. | value values values value| value values values value e ey Uineitem in fair value of fair value of
] " 8¢ the statement the hedged the hedged
Currency - ma:g‘:;’::""‘;: of inancial ~ itemusedfor  item used for
Operational cash flow hedging Carrying amount of ° positionin  calcufating hedge ~ calculating hedge
(forward contracts) 2684 42 -131 889244 236 59 17.6 th(vihgeﬂged flem ot o o hichthe inelectivenes,  nerectivenes,
y n ged item previous previous
Operational cash flow hedging, 31 December 2020 Assets Liabilities _Assets Liabilities __is included months onths
bought options. . 805_ 00 . 0.0 2015 3.3 33 ‘Cash flow hed,
_Operational cash flow hedging, sold options | 743 . D 8 8 _—.eges
Fair value hedging of aircraft acquisiti 180.4 138 -138] 3365 190 _-04 186 Jet fuel price risk
Hedging of lease payments M FT’E‘”"‘E" jet N
“Hedge accounting items total 603.7_ 43 -288 2451 73 uel purchases 612.7 :29:3
Foreign exchange risk
Operational cash flow hedging - Forecasted sales
(forward contracts) 1739 .41 - and purchases. 304.4 210
Operational cash flow hedging, - Lease payments -33.2 1.7
bought aptions 203 01 .ol Fair value hedges
_Operational cash flow hedging, sold options 203 00 -0.0! Foreign exchange risk
Balance sheet hedging (forward contracts) { 267.1 0.1 -0.4] 775.1 01 94 93 ‘Non-current
_items outside hedge accounting total 481.6 4.4 0.7) 7751 01 -94 -93 - Aircraft acquisitions 13.8 13.8 assets 32.4 324
Currency derivatives total 10853 86 -325 -238(24616 470 168 305 patings of derivative counterpartics
4 . R i ol
Commodity derivatives ] EUR mill. L 2020, 201
173 -14.2]898 215 3 Better than A . -18.9
o 07 o7 A : -54.1 232
T BE 0505 888 L -14.21 6.5
7173 -14.2 69 -220 -151  Total ; -87.2 16.8
Jet fuel forward contracts. tonnes 1336000 06 -31.1_-30.5 through profit and loss
_Sold options, jet fuel. tonnes I e EURmill 2019
items outside hedge acco; total -31.1  -30.5 Jet fuel hedging Fuel costs 55
- —— RV Hedging of lease payments Financiat expenses 8.1
ty deri | -A8.4__ -44.6 BT -
~Commodity derivatives tota - AR A Operational cash flow hedging Fuel costs 25.0
Jrrency interest rate swaps ) 188 -188 _g_perat na: cas: ::cw :eg Alr;'ran:\azenals and overhaul 3:
outside hedge accounting total 2860 0.0 -18.8_-188 Operational cash flow hedging Traffic charges 3.
- T -1 - - — _Operational cash flow hedging, Revenug -10.8
e PR & Expenses of hedge items total 24.1
Interest rate derivatives total _-18.8_ _-18.8 11 Jet fuel hedging. T To
PP e e e 7 s Discontinued Jet fuel hedging Financi
I’:amll‘a ":25 o('a)l ir value of hedging insts It 3112 zz;zo is pres’emed 'n;hes t of fi o ) positi thi B Balance sheet hodging Fivan 272
* Positive (negative) fair value of g instruments as of 31.12.. 1 i tatement of financial position in the B TT—— ry "y .
item derivative financial instruments within current assets (derivative financial instruments within current fabilties). Due tothe  -Discontinued foreign currency hedging _ Financial expenses
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on Finnair's business, Finnair discontinued hedge accounting for majarity of its hedges which Cross-currency interest rate swaps financial expenses 5.1
resulted in having fewer hedges outstanding if comparing to year 2019. Finnair has also adopted a temporary amendment to the Expenses of items outside hedge. ing total 43.2

treasury policy reducing the minimum hedging ratios to zero percent until the treasury poticy is reviewed during 2021.
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3.9 Equity-related information Number of shares 2020} 2019
e Number of shares in the beginning of the financial year 127,583,802] 127,487,107
B shareholders’ equity Rights issue 1,279.265.150,
The r:om\l;nl v;lzua of sx;$7h§%>eev\ r-‘ccgm's‘ed n& the share calpua’i belorﬁ a:sar':\e!;vgmeen: elg 012: :;;lcrl‘egl?‘l ﬁ‘seg((;acltlg:i‘ Purchase of own shares -148,000
registered on arch re isst rofit and gams on sale of own share ad been I i e i
funds before the change in the Limited Liability Company Act in 2006. Shares granted from the share-honus scheme 2017-2019 269.774
‘The subscription proceeds from the 2007 share issue and 2020 rights issue less transaction costs after taxes as well as Shares granted from the share-bonus scheme 2016-2018 L 149,894
share-based payments according to IFRS 2 have been recognised in the unrestricted equity funds. Shares granted from FlyShare employee share savings plans 111.879] 111.452
Hedging reserve and other OCl items include changes in the fair value of derivative instruments used in :ash Nuw nedgmg " — RPN -
in addition to actuarial gains and losses related to defined benefit pension plans, cost of hedgi Paper shares forfeited from the joint account to Finnair’s book-eatry account e ol 726,651
The acquisition cost of repurchased owned shares less transaction costs after taxes is charged to equity until the shares Number of shares at the end of the financial year 1,407,230,605; 127,583,802
are cancelled or reissued. The consideration received for sale or issue of own shares is inciuded in equity. o kol 269913
The dividend proposed by the Board af Directors is not deducted from distributable equity until decided at the Annual Own shares held by the parent company . — 6 552213
General Meeting. Total number of shares at the end of the financial year 1,407,401.265[ 128,136,115

The hybrid bond is to all senior debt. The hybrid bond does not con-
fer shareholders’ rights, nor daes it dllute lhE holdings ol sharena!ders Finnair is not required Lo redeem the hybrid bond
atany iime and they are not redeemable on demand of the holders of the hybrid bond. Interest expenses are debited from
retained earnings on cash basis net of tax. In the calculation of earnings per share, interest and lransaction expenses of the

hybrid bond are included in lhe earnings for the financial year

The COVID-I9 pandemic and measures undertaken by Jocal and national authorities to prevent the further escalation
of the pandemic represent a unique challenge for Finnair. The negative shock caused by the pandemic to the global
economy has resulted in a significant dzterioration of macroeconomic conditions in the markets in which Finnair
operates, with a sudden and material reduction in the demang for the company's services, reinforced by travel
restrictions imposed by public authorities around the world.

Finnair is determined to continue or its long-term strategic path despite temporary adjustments related to the
COVID-19 pandemic, and aims to ensure that the company remains a competitive airline company also in the future.
The company’s management believes that air traffic will, upon expiration of the COVID-19 pandemic related travel
restrictions, still be a growth business, in which Finnair targets sustainable, profitable growth, supported by a strategy
based on a geographical itive advantage and hip structure.

To achieve the goals of the company despite the exceptional circumstances, Finnair considered that it is prudent to
seek to strengthen its balance sheet in these conditions and te lay a foundation for the successful execution of its long-
term strategy, ensuring that the company is viable in a post-crisis environment. The rights issue was undertaken as part
of Finnair's recapitalization plan, which has been carried out during 2020 and will continue in 2021.

Finnair decided to raise equity because of the challenging situation caused by the COVID-19 pandenic and this
transaction was part of Finnair's refinancing plan in response to the COVID-19 pandeic. In Finnair's rights offering.
atotal of 1,416.635,293 new shares were subscribed for in the Offering. corresponding to approximately 110.7 per
cent of the offer shares, and the Offering was oversubscribed. A total of 1,253,946,070 offer shares were subscribed
for pursuant to the exercise of subscription rights. The remaining 25,319,080 offer shares subscribed for without
subscription rights were allocated in the secondary subscription in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
offering. The subscription price was EUR 0.40 per offer share. Finnair received gross proceeds of approximately EUR
512 million euro from the rights issue.

The European Commission has concluded that the State of Finland's guarantee of Finnair's pension premium loan up
to EUR 540 million euro, which was approved by the European Commission on 18 May 2020, and the State of Finland's
participation in the rights offering are so closely linked that they must be regarded as an overal! transaction that
constitutes State aid within the meaning of Article 107(1) of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union. More
detailed information about state aid and remedies included can be found in section 3.3 Financial lia

Finnair PIc's share capital, paid in its entirety and registered in the trade register, was at 75,442,904.30 euros at the
end of 2019 and 2020. The shares have no nominal value. During the year 2020, Finnair transferred a total of 111,879
shares to FlyShare participants and a total of 269.774 shares to participants in Finnair's share-based incentive scheme
2017-2019.

Group's hedging reserve and other OC items

Line item
Amounts Unreatised aifected in
reclassitied gains and losses Discontinued hedges profit or loss
toprofitor  recognised in reclassified to because of the
EUR mill. 2020 loss o i 2019 ificati
Jet fuel price hedging -14.2 735 -214.8 142.3 -15.1 Fuel costs
Lease
payments
Hedging of lease payments | 1.7 1.7 foraircraft
Revenue and
_Operating cash flow hedging | -16.3 271 6.5 19.6 cost lines*
Lease
Hedging of interest related payments
to future lease payments. -5.0] 0.7 -5.7  foraircraft
The actuarial gains and
losses of defined benefit plan -22.5 131 9.4
Translation differences -0.7 0.7
Cost of hedging reserve A 0.1 -0.4
Tax effect 10.5 8.6 19
Total -41.8) 55.4 -226.3 1358 6.7

*Forward and option contracts hedging forecasted sales and purchases denominated in foreign currencies are hedges of a group
of similar hedged items, and the amounts reclzssilied from OCI to PAL are proportionally allocated (o different cost lines based on
the realised cost amounts. Amounts reclassified to revenue and different cast lines are specified in the table “Derivatives realised
through profit or loss” in sectlon 3.8,
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Maturity dates of fair values recognised in the hedging reserve The exercise price in the rights offering in 2020 was less than the fair value of the shares immediately before the
EUR mifl, 202t 2022 2023 2024 2025 Later| Total) exercise of rights. A bonus element included in the rights issue effected an the number of outstanding shares before
Jet fuel price hedging 14.0 0.2 14.2 the righ}ls issue‘in the c'altulation of basic and diluted earning‘s per share, The im'\" v.alue per share rNas EUf? 390 a{m
Operating cash flow hedging 82 1 102 ex-rights fair value per share was EUR 0.72. The fair value per share divided by theoretical ex-rights fair
— N value per share results in bonus element multiplier 5.43.
Hedging of interest related
to future lease payments 0.7 0.7 -0.7 -0.7 -0.7 216 -5.0}
The actuarial gains and losses EUR mil. [ 2020 209
of defined benefit plan 22,5 -22.5 Result for the financial year, EUR mill. -523.2 745
Cost of hedging reserve -0.4 { -0.4) Hybrid bond interest, EUR mitl, -17.9! -15.8
Tax effect 9.1 06 0.1 0.1 0.1 03] 10.5 costs paid related to redemption of the hybrid bond issued in 2015 -1.4)
Yotal -36.6 2.4 0.5 0.5 0.5 2] -avg) Fransaction costs of the hybrid bond issued in 2020 -2.5)
Tax effect 4.4 3.2
Adjusted result for the financial year -540.7] 61.9
Hybrid bond
The COVID-19 pandemic and measures undertaken by local and national authorities to prevent the further escalation Weighted average number of shares, mill. pcs 1.052.0) 692.6
of the pan:emic re“pr:?ent a ur!';f:ue lcr(;allle:vge ft?r Fin'nair. The negati_ve sh(:‘gf.caus-e(::v(he :a'nd‘emi'c‘.u:‘t:e gl?bal Basic earnings per share, EUR 0.51 0.09
econamy has resulted in a significant deterioration of macroeconomic conditions in the markets in which Finnair - -
operate:. with a sudden andgma!erial reduction in the demand for the company’s services, reinforced by travel Diluted earnings pec share. EUR 051 009

restrictions imposed by public authorities around the wortd. Finnair considered that it is prudent to seek to strengthen
its balance sheet in these conditions and to lay a foundation for the successful execution of its long-term strategy,
ensuring that the company is viable in a post-crisis environment and decided to refinance its outstanding 200 miflion
euro hybrid bond.

Shareholders’ equity {after equity belonging to the owners} includes a 200 million euro hybrid bond that was issued
during the third quarter of 2020. The hybrid bond coupon is fixed at 10.25 per cent per year for the first three years,
and thereafter fixed, at 15.25 per cent per year. Finnair can postpone the interest payment if it does not distribute
dividends or any other equity to its sharehotders. The bond has no maturity date, but the company has the right to
redeem it in three years and on every interest payment date thereafter. The overall hybrid bond net position recognised
in equity is 197.5 million euro, due to issuing expenses. The hybrid bonds are unsecured and in a weaker preference
position than promissory notes. A holder of hybrid bond notes has no sharehotder rights. At the same time when the
new hybrid bond was issued Finnair tendered the old hybrid bond issued in 2015, The aggregate principal amount of
the otd hybrid bond validly tendered by the holders for purchase pursuant to the tender offer was 157.8 million euro in
conjunction of the new issue and the remaining 42.2 million euro was tendered according to the terms and conditions in
fourth quarter of the 2020.

Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share figure is calculated by dividing the result for the financial year attributable to the parent
company’s shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the financial year. The resuit for
the financial year is adjusted for the after-tax amounts of hybrid bond interests regardless of payment date, transaction
costs of the new hybrid bond issued and premium paid, when a hybrid bond is redeemed. When calculating the earnings
per share adjusted by dilution, the weighted average of the number of shares takes into account the diluting effect
resulting from changeing into shares all potentionally diluting shares. Finnair has not granted any options.

Dividend

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual Genera! Meeting that no dividend is paid for 2020. In accordance with
the proposal of the Board of Directors, the Annuat General Meeting on 29 May 2020 resolved that no dividend be paid
based on the balance sheet adopted for the year 2019.A dividend for 2018 of 0.274 euro per share, amounting to a total
of EUR 35.0 million, was decided in the Annual General Meeting on 20 March 2019. The dividend was paid on I April
2019.

Finnair Pi¢'s distributable equity

EUR mill.

Hedging reserve

Unrestricted equity

Retained earnings at the end of financial year
Result for the financial year

Distributable equity total

80
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4 Consolidation

H Notes under the Consolidation section include a description of the general consolidation principles and methods of
consolidation. The aim of the section is to provide an overall picture of the group's structure and principles applied in
preparing consolidated financial statements and classifying ownership interests. In addition, notes include information
about subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures held, acquired or sold by the group. B

4.1 General consolidation principles

Consolidation

Consolidation, the consofidation methed and classilication of ownership interests depends on whether Group has power
1o control or jointly control the entity or have significant influence or other interests in the entity. When Group has

the power to control the entity, it is cansolidated as a subsidiary in the group according to principles described in the
note 4.2 Subsidiaries. When Group has joint control or significant influence over an entity but does not have power to
control, entity is accounted for by using equity method according to principles set in note 4.4 Investments in associates
and such joint ventures. If Group does not have power to control nor significant influence in the entity, its ownership
interests are classified as financial assets available for sale and accaunted for according to principles described in the
note 3.2 Financial assets.

Translation of foreign currency items
Items included in each subsidiary's financial statements are measured in the currency that is the main currency of the

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

REMUNERATION
REPORT

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX

4.2 Subsidiaries

Consolidation principles of subsidiaries

Finnair PIc’s consolidated financial statements include the parent company Finnair Plc and all of its subsidiaries. Subsidiar-
ies are defined as companies in which Finnair has control. Contro! exists when Finnair has rights to variable returns from its
involvement wilh the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Usually Finnair has
power over the entity when it owns more than 50% of the votes or where Finnair otherwise has the power to govern the fi-
nancial and operating policies. The acquired idiaries are inciuded in i financi: from the day
the Group has conirol, and disposed subsidiaries until the control ceases.

Acquired and established companies are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Accordingly.
quired company's identifiable assets, liabilit es and contingent I s air value on the date of acqui
‘The excess between purchase price and fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets is recognised as goodwill.

All inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless there is evidence of impairment related to the transferred asset. The account-
ing principles of subsidiaries have been changed 1o correspond Group's accounting policies.

iling interest and lions with lling interest
Non-controlling interests are presented within the equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, separated from equity attrib-
utable 1o owners of the parent. For each azquisition the non-controlling interest can be recognised either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquirer's net assets. The carrying amount of non-controlling
interests is the amount of the interests at initial recognition added with the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent
changes in equity. B

operating environment of each subsidiary (“functional currency”). The financial have been
presented in euro, which is the parent company’s functional and currency. Transacti i in
foreign currencies in group companies are translated into functional currency by using the exchange rate at the date
of the transaction. Receivables and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies and are outstanding on the
closing date are translated using the exchange rate of the closing date. Exchange rate differences are recognised in the
income statement.

Foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is not euro are translated into euro by using average rate for the
financial year. Balance sheets are translated by using the closing rate for the financial period. Translation differences
arising from the elimination of acquisition costs of foreign subsidiaries are recognised in other comprehensive income.
when foreign subsidiary is sold, the differences are recognised as part of the sales gain or loss.

Group Group
ownership %_Name of the company ownership %
.100.0] Balticport Oil, Estonia
100.0; Amadeus Finland Oy. Finland L
100.0] Oy Aurinkomatkat - Suntours Ltd Ab, Suomi|
. ...100.0] Aurinko U, Estonia ’
. _.._100.0; Matkayhtymd Oy, Finland

10_0:0' FTS Financial Services Oy, Finland

100.0! Finnair Business Services 00, Estonia

Name of the company

Finnair Cargo Oy, Finland

Finnair Aircraft Finance Oy, Finland
Finnair Technical Services Oy, Finland
Finnair Engine Services Oy. Finland
Finnair Kitchen Oy, Fintand
Kiinteistd Oy Lentokonehuolto,
Northport Oy, Finland

inland

Finnair Kitchen Oy was merged into Finnair Trave! Retail Oy on 31 December 2020. At the same time the company name
of Finnair Travel Retail Oy was changed to Finnair Kitchen Oy.

000 Aurinko was liquidated on 23 November 2020.
4.3 Acquisitions and disposals

There were no business acquisitions or disposals during 2020 and 2019.
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4.4 Investments in associates and joint ventures

Associates are companies in which the Group generally holds 20-50 per cent of the voting rights or in which the Group
has significant influence but in which it does not exercise control. Companies where the Group has joint control with anoth-
er entity are considered as joint veniures. The Group’s interests in associated companies and jointly conirolled entities are
accounted for using the equily method. The investment in associates and joint ventures include goodviill recognized at the
time of acquisition. The Group reco i ion results in associates and joint ventures in the in-
come statement. When the Group's share of losses in an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the as-
saciate or joint venture, the Group does not recagnise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations on behalf of the as-
sociate or joint venture. |

Results from the transactions between the Group and iis associates are recognised only to the extent of unrelated inves- |
tor's interests in the associates. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that |
the investment in the assaciates is impaired. In case of such indications, Group calculates the amount of impairment as the |
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value. The impairment is recognised in share
of results in associates and joint ventures.

Accounting policies of assotiates or joint ventures have been changed where necessary to correspond with the accounting
policies adopted by the Group. If financial statements for the period are not available, the share of the profit of certain as-
sociated or joint venture companies is included in the consolidated accounts based on the preliminary financial statements
or latest available information. &

The Group's share of the result, asset items and liabilities of assotiates and joint ventures is presented below.

2020]

EUR mill. 2019
At the beginning of the financial year = 2.5] 33
Disposals 0.9
At the end of the financial year 2.5

There were no changes in 2020. During 2019, the balance sheet value of Nordic Regional Airlines was revalued,
resulting in a decrease in the share of assets and liabiities of joint operations. More information on transactions with
associated companies and joint ventures can be found in the note 4.5 Related party transactions.

Information on the Group's associates and joint ventures 31 Dec 2020

profit/  Halding
Domicite Assets _Liabilities L

EUR mill.
Sweden 1032 1047 _

Nordic Regional Airlines AB .
Suomen oy’ Finland 19.9 1.4

*The presented figures for 2020 are preliminary and unaudited.

Revenue

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX
Information on the Group's associates and joint ventures 31 Dec 2019
profit/  Holding
EUR mill. Domicile Assels Liabilities _ Revenue 1085 %
_Nordic Regional Airlines AB Sweden 169.5 169.0 106.8 -3.4 40.00
Suomen limailuopisto Oy* Finland 19.4 12 10.5 0.1 49.50

* The presented figures have been adjusted according to the final and audited financial statements of 2019.

The associated company owned by Finnair, Suomen ltmailuopisto Oy, is an unlisted company and is not considered
material compared to Finnair’s operations. The result of associated companies and joint ventures for 2020 was -1.7
(:3.3) million euros, of which Finnair's share was 0.0 (-0.9) million euros.

Suomen llmailuopisto Oy

Suomen limailuopisto Oy {the Finnish Aviation Academy) is a vocational special purpose aviation school owned by
Finnair Oyj (49.5%), Finnish Government (49.596) and the City of Pori (1%). Finnair is not entitled to company’s results
nor net assets, but net results are invested in the development of the school's curriculum.

Nordic Regional Airlines AB

Nordic Regional Airlines AB (Norra) operates mainly purchased traffic for Finnair. The owners (Finnair 40% and Danish
Air Transport 60%) have joint control over the entity. In the balance sheet of Finnair, Norra has been classified as a joint
venture.

4.5 Related party transactions

Related parties of the Finnair group includes its subsidiaries, management, associated companies and joint ventures.
and Finnair pension fund. Subsidiaries are listed in the note 4.2 and associates and joint ventures in note 4.4. Refated
party transactions include such operations that are not eliminated in the group’s consolidated financial statement.
The State of Finland which has control over Finnair owns 55.9% (55.8%) of Finnair’s shares. Ouring financial
year 2020 the State of Finland participated in the rights issue in proportion to its holding by 286.1 million euro and
guaranteed Finnair's pension premium loan up 1o 540 miffion euro. The European Commission concluded that these
transactions, in combination, constituted state aid within the meaning of Article 107(1) of the Treaty on the Functioning
of the European Union. The conditions relating ta the state aid approval are described in the note 3.3. All the
transactions with other government owned companies and other related parties are on arm’s length basis, and are on
similar terms than transactions carsied out with independent parties.
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The following transactions have taken place with associated companies, joint ventures and Finnair pension fund:

EUR mill. 2020 2019
Sales of goods and services —

Associates and joint ventures 28.4 27.0
Pension fund 0.4 0.7
Employee benefits

Pension fung __.21s, 10.3
Purchases of goods and services

Associates and joint ventures 88.2] 107.8
Pension fund 2.5

Financial income and expenses

Associates and joint ventures
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5 Other notes

B Other notes include all such notes that do not specifically relate to any previous subject matters. B

5.11ncome taxes

The lax expense for the period includes current and deferred tax and adjustments (o previous years’ taxation. Tax is X
recognised in the income statement, excepi to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income |
or other equity items. Deferred taxes are calculated for temporary differences between accounting and taxation using the |
valig tax rates for future years at the closing date.

Deferred taxes are calculated for temporary differences between accounting and taxation using the valid tax rates for fu-
ture years at the closing date. Deferred tax asset is reccgnised to the extent tha realisation of the related tax benefit through
future profits is probable. Temporary differences arise mainly from sales of tangible assets and depreciation, right-of-use
assets, lease liabilities and tax losses. Deferred tax is r2cognised for foreign subsidiaries’ undistributed earnings only when
related tax effects are probable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted when they are levied by the same taxing authority and Finnair has a fegally
right to set off the balances. Y

Employee benefits, non-current receivables from pension fund and non-current liabilities to pension fund are related
to defined benefit pension plans in Finnair pension fund. These are described more detailed in the note 1.3.8.2.
Management remuneration is presented in note 1.3.8. Management has not been granted any loans and there have not
been any other transactions with management.

More information on associated companies and joint ventures can be found in the note 4.4.

Finnair pension fund

The Finnair pension fund in Finland is a stand-alone legal entity which mainly provides additional pension coverage

1o Finnair's personnel in the form of dfined benefit plan, and manages related pension assets. The assets include
Finnair's shares representing 0.1% (0.1%) of the company’s outstanding shares. Real estate and premises owned by the
pension fund have been mainly leased to Finnair. In 2020 and 2019 Finnair did not pay any contributions to the fund.
The pension obligation of 77.0 million 2uros at the end of 2019 was changed to the pension assets of 31.0 million euros
at the end of 2020, as the terms of Finnair pension fund were amended relating to pension index increment removals.
More information on pensions can be found in the note 1.3.8.2.

Pension fund 0.6}
Receivables

Non-current receivables from associates and joint ventures 19.6] 337

Non-current receivables from pension fund 31.0) Boeferred taxes
Current receivables from associates and joint ventures 15.9) 234

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities to associates and joint ventures 3.6) 3.6

Non-current lfabilities to pension fund o 77.0

Current liabilities to associates and jgint ventures 2.1 1.0

of deferred tax asset is based on management estimates and require the use of management judgement in or-
der 10 assess whether there will be sufficient taxable profits flowing to the company in the future. The expectations used in
the calculation are based on the latest maragement forecasts at the reporting date and use assumptions that are consist-
ent with those used elsewhere in the financial statements. Due lo the current uncertainty embedded in the economic en
ronment and the difficulty in forecasting the ultimate duration and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the management has
considered alternative forecast scenarios that have been sensitised to reflect plausible variations relating 1o the expected
recovery begin of the Finnair business. The scenarios I ave been discussed in more detail early in the beginning of the notes
innair expects to be able to use the tax losses well in ad-

section under Board's assessment of Finnair as a going concern.
vance of 10 years expiry date under all of the forecast scenarios.

Income taxes

EUR mill.

Taxes for the financial year
Current tax

Adjustments recognised for current tax of prior periods . .4\ 0.1
Deferred taxes 134.5] -13.8
Total 1311 -18.4

In 2020. Finnair Aircraft Finance Oy recognized an adjustment for prior year deferred taxes, which caused additional
payable taxes of 3.4 million euro refating to the financial year 2019.
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The reconciliation of income taxes to theoretical tax cost calculated at Finnish tax rate

EUR mill. 2020 2019
Result before taxes 654.4 93.0
Taxes calculated using the Finnish tax rate 20% 1309 -18.6
Different tax rates of foreign subsidiaries 0.1 -0.1
Tax-exempt income 0.3 0.6
Non-deductible expenses -0.2] 0.4
Adjustments recognised for taxes of prior periods 0.1 0.1
Income taxes total 131.1 -18.4
Effective tax rate -20.0%; 19.8%

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The Group has evaluated the nature and classification of deferred tax assets. Based on the evalvation, deferred tax
assets and liabilities levied by the same taxing authority met the requirements for offset eligibility in accordance with
1AS 12 standard. The deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown net on the balance sheet.

Changes in deferred taxes during 2020:
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Changes in deferred taxes during 2019:

Recognised Recognised in
intheincome shareholders’
EUR mill. 2018 statement equity 2019
ODeferred tax assets and liabilitities
Confirmed losses 0.1 232 32 0.0
Defined benefit pension pfans 33 2.0 10.0: 15.3]
Property, plant and equipment -100.1 -16.3 -116.4]
Leases 218 8.9 30.7
valuation of derivatives at fair value 15.1 -15.2 0.0
Other temporary differences 12,1 -5.0 -0.9 6.1
Total -47.6 -13.8 -2.9 -64.3.

5.2 Disputes and litigation

Finnair reports only cases of which the interest is material and that are not insured. As of 31 December 2020 there were
no such disputes pending.

5.3 Events after the closing date

0n 26 January 2021, Finnair has announced that the Board of Directors of Finnair approved a new individual
@ share plan covering the years 2021-2023. Within the plan, the participants have the opportunity to earn

Finnair's taxable result was highly negative in year 2020 as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on its
operations and financial performance and the Group has recognized a deferred tax asset of 84.8 million euro. The
estimated amount of confirmed tax losses after the 2020 taxable result totals to approximately 707 million euros. The
tax losses to be confirmed for the year 2020 will expire in 10 years and Finnair expects that these can be used against
its future taxable results. The assessment is based on Finnair's latest management forecasts that consider different
plausible scenarios relating to the start of the recovery. Finnair would be able to use the tax losses well in advance of 10
years expiry date under all of the forecast scenarios. This is based on both the expected future profits and allowed tax
planning methods available to Finnair. In 2019, Finnair recognized a deferred tax liability balance of 64.3 million euro.
Distributing retained earnings of foreign subsidiaries as dividends would cause a tax effect of 0.2 millien euros (0.2).

Finnair shares as a long-term incentive reward if the performance targets set by the Board of Directors are achieved.
The potential share rewards will be delivered to the participants in the spring of 2024. The pfan applies to some
70 persons, and it is also described in a stock exchange release, in the Remuneration Statement 2020 and on the

Recognised Recognised in

intheincome shareholders’
EUR mifl. 2019 statement equity
Deferred tax assets and liabilitities
Confirmed losses 0.0 135.6 59
Oefined benefit pension plans 153 -24.1 2.6
Property, plant and equipment -116.4 325
Leases 30.7 -13.6
Valuation of derivatives at fair value 0.0 6.0 company's website.
Other temporary differences 6.1 4.2
Total -64.3 134.5 145

0n 17 February 2021, Finnair announced that it has completed a lease financing arrangement for its next A350 aircraft
delivery where it will assign the purchase of the Airbus A350 aircraft to a third party. and then leases it back for its own
operation. The aircraft is expected to be delivered to Finnair in the second quarter of 2022. The operating lease period
is a minimum of 12 years, including a storage period expected to commence in the fourth quarter of 2021, concurrent
with the aircraft's sale. The total positive cash effect of the arrangement for Finnai in 2021-2022 is in excess of 100
million US doltars compared to a situation in which the aircraft had been purchased and owned by Finnair.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 6 Parent company financial statements Finnair Plc balance sheet
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT Finnair PIc income statement EUR mill wote[ 2020 2019
ASSETS
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME f— Note 0] 2010 A ————
Revenue 62  7919]_ 29358 Intangible assels 611 40.9
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET Other operating income 6.3 841 84.5 _Tangible assets 6.12 82.5
Operating income . 876.0 3,020.4 Investments
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT — Holdings in group undertakings 2905
Materials and services 6.4 574.3 14319 :?t:“m:““g '“‘;’?“ﬁ s - gi
- er shares and similar rights of owr ership B .
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY Staff expenses - 6.5 S 3507 Loan and other receivable: 6.14 15
Depreciation and reduction in value 6.6 18.4] 15.1 ~
Other operating expenses 67 22 12y £13 4442
—_— - = P Total non-current assets 568.3
P NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | g0 2rin expenses 3015 -elnoncurentasse
1 OPERATING RESULT Correntaneets A
2. FLEET AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING Operating profit/loss N 4.9 Deferred tax assets 6.15 147.4} 0.0
ARRANGEMENTS Current recel 6.16] 3035 887.6
3. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS Financial income and expenses 68 -11.1 securities 6.47: . _3583 800.8
o consoLIDATION Cash and bank equi 6.18] 4642 149.7
) Profit/lass before appropriations and taxes 6.1 Total current assets 1. L2734 1,838.1
- OTHER NOTES —_—
B 6 PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Appropriations o9 906 1 TOTAL ASSETS 2,406.3
BOARD OF DIRECTORS' PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND Income taxes 6.10 1418 28 {9»——“'(“ ANDLIABILITIES
Equity,
— Share capital 75.4
AUDITOR'S REPORT Profit/loss for the financial year 221 Share premium account 24.7
Other reserves
Unrestricted equity funds 258.7
Legal reserve 147.7
Hedging reserve 33
Retained earnings. 153.4
Profit/loss for the financial year 22.1
Total equity 685.3
Accumulated appropriations 26.0
Provisions 1570
Liabilities e
Non-current liabilities 6.22] 10021 401.8
Current liabilities 6.237 4753 1.136.2
Total liabilities 1,538.0
"EQUITY AND LIABILITIES TOTAL [ " 22638] 24063
85
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT Finnair Plc cash flow statement Notes to Finnair Plc financial statements
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT EUR mill. 2020] 219 6.1 Accounting principles

OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Cash flow from operating activities
Result before appropriations

6.1 General
Finnair Plc is the parent company in Finnair Group, domiciled in Helsinki, Finland. Financial statements are prepared in

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET Depreciation 15.L accordance with accounting principles required by Finnish law.
Other non-cash transactions 35.4
Financial income and expenses 12.2 Foreign currency items
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT Changes in working capital 62.9 Business transactions in foreign currencies have been valued using the exchange rate at the date of transaction.
Interest and other financial expenses paid -20.9 i and liabitities on the balance sheet date are valued using the exchange rate on the balance sheet date.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY Received interest and other financial income 1.2 Advances paid and received are valued in the balance sheet using the exchange rate at the date of payment. Exchange
tncome taxes paid -10.6 rate differences on trade receivables and payables are treated as the adjustments to turnover and other operating
Cash flow from operating activities 99.1 expenses. Exchange rate differences on other receivables and fiabilities are entered under financial income and

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —_— - T - expenses.
1. OPERATING RESULT

Cash flow from investing activities

Derivative contracts

2 FLEETAND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING Investments in intangible and tangible assets 1239 221 According to its risk management policy, Finnair uses foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity derivatives to
ARRANGEMENTS Change in loan and other receivables 180.6 -249.5 reduce the exchange rate, interest rate and commodity risks which arise from the Finnair's balance sheet items, currency
3. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS Received dividends .00, 0.0 i purchase icil currency i purchases and sales as well as future jet fuel
4. CONSOLIDATION . Cash flow from investing activities 156.7, -271.7 purchases. The balance sheet exposure is hedged only at group level, except for Finnair Aircraft Finance that has hedged
it . The combined entity-level exp forall p companies differs from the ip-level exposure
5. OTHERNOTES - : ¥ i e
Cash flow from financing activities by the amount of intercompany items. Therefore, the balance sheet position and contracts hedging it are presented
6 PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS “purchase of own shares o5 only in note 3.5. of the Group financial statements. Similarly, the foreign currency cash fiow exposure is only hedged at
R the Group level to take advantage of the neiting effect, and is presented in note 3.5 of the Group financial statements.
Proceeds from loans 7750 ivati lued using the rates on the balance sheet date according to Accounting Act 5:2a §.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS' PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND Loan repayments and changes T 395 fhatie ontracts are valu g on nce : g gACt5:23 8.
g e are initially at original cost (fair value) in the balance sheet and subsequently
Proceed trom share issues SLLT valued at fair value in each financial statement and interim report. The fair values of the derivatives are based on the
AUDITOR'S REPORT Proceeds from hybrid bong I 200.0 value at which the instrument coutd be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing and independent parties, with no
Hybrid bond repayments -200.0, compulsion to sell or buy in the sales situation. The fair values of derivatives are determined as follows:
Dividends paid ! -35.0 The fair values of all derivatives are calculated using the exchange rates, interest rates, volatilities and commodity
Received and given group contributions | . B 34'_1 48.3 price quotations on the closing date. The fair values of currency forward contracts are calculated as the present value
Cash flow from financing activities 52.4 of future cash flows. The fair values of currency options are calculated using the Black-Schotes option pricing model.
- The fair values of interest rate and currency swap contracts are calculated as the present value of future cash flows.
= - i \ The fair values of interest rate options are calculated using generally accepted option valuation modets. The fair values
_Change in cash flows 128, 1202 ot commoity forward contracs are calculated as the present vaiue of future cash flows. The fair values of commodity
i options are catculated using generally accepted option valuation models.
Change in liquid funds R Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value are presented in the financial statements according to the
Liquid funds, at beginning ..950.4; 1,070.6 original classification of the derivative. Gains and losses on derivatives qualifying for hedge ing are i
_Change in cash flows. 9] 1202 in accordance with the underlying asset being hedged. At inception, derivative contracts are designated as future
Liquid funds, at end 822.5 950.4 cash flows hedges, hedges of binding purchase contracis (cash flow hedges or fair value hedges) or as derivatives not

meeting the hedge accounting criteria or to which hedge accounting is not applied (economic hedges). Hedging of the
fair value of net investments of foreign units or embedded derivatives have not been used.

At the inception of hedge accounting. Finnair documents the economic refationship and the hedge ratio between
the hedged item and the hedging instrument, as well as the company’s risk management objectives and the strategy
for the inception of hedging. At the inception of hedging, and at least at the time of each financiat statement. Finnair
documents and assesses the effectiveness of hedge relationships by examining the past and prospective capacity of
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the hedging instrument to offset changes in the fair value of the hedged item or changes in cash flows. The values of
derivatives in a hedging relationship are presented in the balance sheet items current assets and current liabilities.

Finnair implements the IFRS hedge accounting principles in the hedging of future cash flows (cash flow hedging). The
principles are applied to the foreign currency risk of foreign currency denominated purchases and sales, the price risk
of jet fuel purchases and the price risk of electricity.

The change in the fair value of the effective portion of derivative instruments that fulfil the terms of cash flow
hedging are directly recognised in the fair value reserve of other comprehensive income, to the extent that the
requirements for the application of hedge accounting have been fulfilled. The gains and losses, recognised in fair value
reserve, are transferred to the income statement in the period in which the hedged item is recognised in the income
statement. When an instrument acquired for the hedging of cash flow matures or is sold, or when the criteria for
hedge accounting are no longer fulfi.led, the gain or loss accrued from hedging instruments remains in equity until the
forecast transaction takes place. However, if the forecasted hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain
or loss accrued in equity is immediately recognised in the income statement.

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets have been classified into the following categories: amortised cost and fair value through profit and
loss. The classification is made at the time of the original acquisition based on the objective of the business model

and the contractual cash flows of the investment. All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the
trade date. Liabilities are recognised at acquisition cost. Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss as well

as assets and liabilities maturing within 12 months are included in current assets and liabilities. Investments in debt
securities are measured at amortised cost, but only when the objective of the business model is to hoid the asset to
collect the contractual cash flows and the asset’s contractual cash flows represent only payments of principal and
interest. Financial assets recognised at amortised cost are valued using the effective interest method. Financial assets
valued at amortised cost include trade receivables, deferred charges and security deposits for aircraft operating lease
agreements. Due to the nature of short-term receivables and other receivables, their book value is expected to be equal
to the fair value. Derecognition of financial assets takes place when Finnair has lost its contractual right to receive cash
flows or when it has substantially trasferred the risks and rewards outside the company.

Finnair recognises impairment provisions based on lifetime expected credit losses from trade receivables in
accordance with IFRS 9. Finnair has chosen to apply a simplified credit loss matrix for trade receivables as trade
receivables do not have a significant financing compenent. The expected credit loss model is forward-locking, and
expected default rates are based on historical realised credit losses. The lifetime expected credit loss allowance is
calculated using the gross carrying amount of oulstanding trade receivables in each aging bucket and an expected
default rate. The changes in expected credit losses are recognised in other expenses in the consolidated income
statement. The impairment model dces not apply to financial investments, such as bonds and money market funds.
included in other financial assets as those are measured at fair value through profit and loss under IFRS 9, which
already takes into account expected credit losses. With respect to the assets measured at amortised cost, Finnair
is actively following such instruments and will recognise impairment through profit and loss if there is evidence of
deterioration in credit quality.

Fixed assets and depreciation
« Buildings, 10-50 years from the time 5f acquisition 1o a residual value of 10 %.
+ Other tangible assets, over 3-15 years

Research and development costs
Except for major software development costs, research and development costs are expensed as they occur. Research
and development of aircraft, systems and operations is conducted primarily by the manufacturers.
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Leasing
Lease payments for aircraft are significant. Annual lease payments are treated as rental expenses. Lease payments due
in future years under aircraft lease contracts are presented as off-balance sheet items.

Appropriations

The difference between total and planned depreciation is shown as accumulated appropriations in the balance sheet
and the change during the financial year :n the income statement. Appropriations contain alse given and received
group contributions.

Income taxes
Income taxes in the income statement include taxes calculated for the financial year based on Finnish tax provisions,
adjustments to taxes in previous financial years and the change in deferred taxes.

Pension schemes

The mandatory pension cover of the company's domestic employees has primarily been arranged through a Finnish
pension insurance company and other additional pension cover through the Finnair pension fund or a Finnish pension
insurance company. Since 1992, the pension fund has no longer accepted employees other than pilots for additional
pension coverage. The Finnair pension fund’s pension obligation is fully covered with respect to additional coverage.
Pension fund liabilities are presented in the notes to the financial statements.

Provisions in the balance sheet and enterad as expenses in the income statement comprise those items which the
company is committed to covering through agreements or otherwise in the foreseeable future and which have no
corresponding revenue and whose monetary value can be reasonably assessed.

The company is obliged to return leased aircraft at the required redefivery condition. To fulfil these maintenance
obligations the company has recognised grovisions based on flight hours flown during the maintenance period.

6.2 Revenue by business area

EUR mill. 2020 2019
Revenue by division
791.9 2,935.8
Passenger revenue .. 5614 2,587.8
Ancillary services 131.0
Cargo revenue. 178, 217.0
Distribution of turnover by market areas based on flight routes, % of turnover
Finland 6%
Europe 38%
Other countries. 55%]| 55%
Total 100% 100%
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6.3 Other operating income 6.7 Other operating expenses
EUR mill. { 2020] 2019 EURmIlL i 2020) 2019
Aircraft lease income 28.0] 28.1 Lease payments for aircraft L8426 419.3
Other rental income 23.5) 26.1 Other rents for aircraft capacity . 892 129.6
Other income Y 304 Office and ather rents 313
Total 84.1] 845 Traffic charges . 3313
Sales and marketing expenses 161.8
Other expenses X 144.4
. N Total .2 1217,
6.4 Materials and services 22l 12177
Audit fees in other expenses
EUR mill. 2020 2019 EUR mill. 2020 2019
Materials and supplies o Authorised Public Accountant: [ _keMG PwC
Ground handling and catering expenses 1166 323.6 Auditor’s fees 02
Fuel costs 2327 687.3 Tax advising 09
Aircraft materials and overhaul .. 1656 288.3 Dllhcrfees 92
1T expenses 115! 197 ol 04
Other items L 48.0 1131
Total [ 574.3 1,431.9 6.8 Financial income and expenses
EUR mill. 2020] 2019
6.5 Staff costs Interest income
From group companies, 70 106
EUR mill, " 2020 2019 From other companies
‘Wages and salaries 168.9) 286.6 Net gains on debt instruments held mandatorily at FVPL 0.4
- 27"3 49'5 Other interest income 0.5
Pension expenses 27, . Fotal 115
Other social expenses 12,5 147
Total 1837 350.7 Gains on disposal of shares 11
Salary ang bonus expenses of Chief Executive Officer - Interest expenses _ —
and Members of the Board of Directors To other companie: 285 237
Chief Executive Officer and his deputy 19 14 Jotal o 285 -23.7
" i
Board of Directors . 0.4] 04 “Dther financial income. ?
From other companies .
_Personnel on average 4,852 4.796 Financial income from discontinued hedges ... 320
Other { 09
- I Total ! 32,0 0.9
6.6 Planned depreciation and amortisation m =
Other financial expenses. 7-
EUR mill. To other companies
On other long-term expenditure Financial expenses for discontinued hedges
0n buildings K m‘;}“e' 'g-;
On other equipment A -0..
Total Exchange gains and losses :0:2
Financial income and expenses total -189.8' -11.1
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 6.9 Appropriations 6.12 Tangible assets
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT EUR mill. 2020) 2019 Tangibleassets 2020
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Change in depreciation difference 5.0] -1.0 [ Y
i Tbuti 189.6) . Other Advances
?Et‘el'“d group contribution T :: i EUR mill Land _Buildings _equipment paid| Tota
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET LS - - Acquisition cost 1 January 0.7 54.3 43.6 5.1]
6.101 t Additions 13.9 6.6(
B ncome taxes i T
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT Disposals -3 -4.5
Acquisition cost 31 December 0.7 54.3 54.5 7.2
EUR mil,
N EQUITY inanci
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQ Income fax for the financial year Accumulated depreciation Ljanuary o0 52 Teo oD
Change in deferred taxes Disposals 16
NOTES TO THE CONSOL 1AL Total Depreciation and reduction in value -1.0 -25
1. OPERATING RESULT . Accumulated depreciation 31 December 0.0 6.3 -17.0 0.0
2. FLEET AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING 6.11 Intangible assets
ARRANGEMENTS Book value 31 December 0.7 48.1 375 7.2 93.5
EUR mi. 2020] 2019
3. CAPITALSTRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS -
Other long-term expenditure The share of machines and equipment in the
4. CONSOLIDATION Acquisition cost 1 January 77.8 66.2 book value of tangible assets 31 December 39.9%
5. OTHERNOTES Additions 7.9 216
6. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Additions from merger 0.1 2019
posals 0.3 1102
BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND Acaquisition cost 31 December 854 77.8 ) other  Advances
- EUR mill. Land  Buildings _equipment v Total|
. Accumutated depreciation 1 January -37.0; -34.0 Acquisition cost 1 January 0.7 54.7 9.1
AUDITOR'S REPORT Disposals 03 8.8 Additions 0.0 3.2
Depreciation and reduction in value -13.4 4117 Additions from merger 317
Accumulated depreciation 31 December -50.1 -37.0 Oisposals -0.4 0.3
Acquisition cost 31 December 0.7 54.3 43.6
Book value 31 December 35.3 409
Accumulated depreciation 1 January 0.0 44 44 0.0 -8.8!
Intangible assets Total 31 December 35.3 409 Disposals 0.2 0.3 0.6
Depreciation and reduction in value -1.0 0.7 1.7
Depreciations from merger 0.0 -113 -113
Accumulated depreciation 31 December 0.0 -5.2 -16.0 0.0 213
Book value 31 December 0.7 49.1 27.6 5.1 82.5)
The share of machines and equipment in -he |
book value of tangible assets 31 December 31.0% i
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EUR mill. { 2020 2019 EUR mill. 2019
Group companies T From group companies
Acquisition cost 1 January 440.6) 447.3 From other companies 1.5
Additions 200.0] Total 15
Disposals from merger 6.7
Book value 31 December 640.6| 440.6 6.15 Deferred tax assets
Associates and joint ventures ~
Acquisition cost 1 January 2.5 2.5 EUR mill. 2019
Book value 31 December 2.5] 2.5 Deferred tax assets 1 January 17.3
From result for the financial year .19
Shares in other companies From temporary differences 0.2
Acquisition cost 1 January 0.4 0.4 From valuation of derivates at fair value -15.7
Book value 3L.12. 0.4] 0.4 Offset against deferred tax liabilities 0.1
Deferred tax assets 31 December 0.0
Share of . .
parent 6.16 Current receivables
Assoclates and joint ventures company %
Suomen limailuopisto Oy. Finland 4950 EUR mill. [ 2000} 2019
Nordic Regional Airlines AB, Sweden 40.00 Short-term receivables from group companies
Shareof Trade receivables 15 216
Share of parent Group contribution receivable 189.6. 341
Group companies mmp‘:‘ﬂ: comparu\z Accrued income and prepaid expenses 15 53
Finnair Cargo Oy, Finland 100.00 Kiinteistd Oy Lentokonehuolto, Finland 100.00 Other receivables 8.5 $05.4
Finnair Aircraft Finance Oy, Finland 100.00_Amadeus Finland O, Finland 9so0 ol 202:1 4604
0y Aurinkomatkat - Suntours - — — 1
Northport Oy, Fintand 100.00 Ltd Ab, Finland 100.00 Short-term receivables from associates and joint ventures {
Finnair Technical Services Oy, Finland 100.00 FTS Financial Services Oy, Finland 100.00 Trade receivables 0.1 0.0
Finnair Engine Services Oy, Finland 100.00 Finnair Business Services 0. Estonia 100.00 Prepaid expenses 7.2 9.9
Finnair Kitchen Oy, Finland 100.00 Total 7.3 10.0
Finnair Kitchen Oy. Fintand was merged 10 Finnair Travel Retail Oy. Finland on 31.12.2020. At the same time the company hame of Short-term receivables from others
Finnair Travel Retail Oy was changed to Finnai Kitchen Oy. Trade receivables % e
Prepaid expenses 40.8] 583
Derivative financial instruments 12.4 339
Other receivables 3.3] 16.6
Total 89.0] 2113
Short-term receivables total 303.5 887.6
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 6.17 Investments Distributable equity
_ EUR mill. 2020) 2019
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT EUR mill. - 2020 2019 Hedging reserve -19.8
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Short-term investments at fair value [ 358.3 800.8 Unrestricted equity funds 772.0] 258.7
Retained earnings 175.5 153.4
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 6.18 Cash and bank equivalents Profit/loss for the financial year +566.0] 221
Total 361.7 434.2
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT EUR mill. . _ [ 2020) 2019
Funds in group bank accounts and d2posits maturing in three months [ 464.2 149.7 N .
6.20 Acc appropriations
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY . . —
6.19 Equity EUR mill. 2020 2019
Accumulated depreciation different .| .
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ccumulated depreciation difference | January 26.0) 224
un- Change in depreciation difference -5.0 3.6
1 ‘OPERATING RESULT Sh_are N res(rn:l_ed B . — —
Share  premium tegal  Hedging equity  Retained Equity] Accumulated depreciation difference 31 December 21.0, 26.0
2. FLEET AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING EUR mill. capital account reserve reserve funds  earnings total 1
- Py .
ARRANGEMENTS Equityll.2020 0 | 754 247 @ 147.7 33 __ 2587 175.5 685.3| Accumulated appropriations total 21.0} 26.0
3. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINARCING COSTS Change in fair value of
_equity instruments =231 -23.1
4. CONSOLIDATION Share issue 5117 51170 .21 Pr
5. OTHERNOTES Share-based payments 1.6 16,
6. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS . Result for the financial year 5660 5660  eurmill. 2020 2019
Equity 31.12.2020 754 24.7 147.7 <198 7720 -390.5 _° 609.5, Provisions 1 January 157.0! 121.0
BOARD OF DIRECTORS' PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND un- Provision for the period 36.4 78.1
Share restricted i 25 B
Share  premium legal  Hedging  equity Retained  Equity Provision used 252 435
AUDITOR'S REPORT EUR mill. capital account reserve reserve funds _eamings _total Exhange rate differences -12.2 1.4
Equity 31.12.2019 5.4 24.7 147.7 -59.6 256.5 188.8 633.6 Provisions 31 December 155.9 157.0
Change in fair value of Of which long-term 141.7 140.1
equity instruments 62,9 62.9 Of which short-term 14.2 16.9
Share-based payments 2.2 2.2 Total 155.9; 157.0
Purchase of own shares -0.5 0.5
Dividend -34.9 -34.9 . . N
Result for the finandial year 221 221 Long-termaircraft maintenance provisions are expected to be used by 2032.

w

Equity 31.12.2019 75.4 24.7 147.7 .3 258.7 175.5 685.3
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6.22 Non-current liabilities Accruals and deferred income 2020] 2019
unflown air transport revenues 55.7, 450.7

EUR mill. 2020 2019 Jet fuels and traffic charges 15.6 96.9

Loans from financial institutions 600.0) 0.0 Holiday payment liability 44.0 64.1

Bonds. 200.0] 200.0 Lovalty program Finnair Plus 52.0] 43.9

Hybrid loan 200.0) 2000 Derivative financial instruments 666 291

Deferred tax liability total 0.0 0.1 Other items 83.8 157.1

Other liabilities 2.1 17 Total 317.6) 8417

Total 1,002.1 401.8

Maturity of interest-bearing liabilies 6.24 Collateral, contingent liabilities and other commitments
1-5 years 800.0 200.0
after 5 years | 200.0 2000 EUR mill. o] aw

Total 1 1,000.0) 400.0 Guarantees and contingent liabilities

0n behalf of group companies 321 79.6
6.23 Current liabilities Total 321 796

FUR mill, m Aircraft lease payments -

Curvent liabilities 0 group companies | Within one year B 377.0
Trade payables 728 263 After one year and not later than 5 years 1,215.8 1,285.7
‘Accruals and deferred income 8.8 17.5 Later tha 5 years 507.01 5439
Group bank account liabilities 107.2 121 ol 2,0007] 22065

Total 138.5 225.9 Parent company has leased the aircraft fleet from the fully owned subsidiary.

Current liabilities to associates and joint ventures EUR mill. | 2020} 2019
Trade payables 0.0 0.1 Other lease payments ! |
Accruals and deferred income. 0.3] Within one year 27.5) 30.2

Totat 03 0.1 After one year and not later than 5 years 87.0 91.5

Later than 5 years 1624 130.9
Current liabilities to others Total 276.9) 252.6
Trade payables 238 745 -
Accruals and deferred income 308.5 824.2 Pension obligations
Other liabilities 4.2, 115 Total obligation of pension fund 345.9] 350.0
Total 3365, 9102 Non-mandatory benefit covered -345.9 -350.0
Total 0.0 0.0
Current liabilities total 475.3 1,136.2
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 6.25 Derivatives 6.26 Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 2020 2019 Fa:r value hierarchy of financial asiels anld I;ahllltles vatued at fair value
| Positive  Negative Positive  Negative Fair values at the end of the reporting perlo
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME | Nominal i fair  Fairnet] Nominal ar i it net
‘E:UR milk. g § value values values value! value  values values value EURmill. [~ Sibeczos0] Levell Level2
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET - “l"r'e':" erlval h"e: - Financial assets at fair value L !
Jet fuel currency hedging : . T — i
Operational cash flow T Securities held for trading 404.6! 404.6
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT _hedging (forward contracts) | 268.4 4.2 9204 236 59 176 _ -
Operational cash flow _Derivatives
_hedging, bought optiens 805 .00 0.0} _ 201.5 33 3.3 Currency derivatives ... 85 8.5
R i Ll L Operational cash flow | - of which in cash flow hedge accounting . 43, 43
_hedging, sold options . 783 -9 -9 2018 1.0 1.0 C i vati 38 38
1AL Hedge i - of which in cash flow hedge accounting T sl 3.2
NOTES TO THE CONSOL items total | 4233 43 -150_ -107) 13274 268 69 199 r—_—-«‘g 90 008 124
1. OPERATING RESULT Tota .417.0; . X
—_——y - i
2. FLEET AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING Operational cash flow | - o - -
ARRANGEMENTS _hedging (forward contracts) | 1739 41 -31____ 10 ;'“‘_*""_i”—'i"""'es at fair value R
Operational cash flow ervaves }
3. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS hedging, boughtoptions | 203 0.1 0.1 Currency 18.1
ECRINE, JOUSTLOBUIONS ) .. - e o O o -
4. CONSOLIDATION Operational cash flow i - of which in cash flow hedge accounting, 15.0]
S, OTHERNOTES _hedging soldoptions | 20.3 0.1 __00) Commodity derivatives 48.4]
g Balance sheet hedging - of which in cash flow hedge accounting : 17.3"
6. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS _(forward contracts) | .57 0o 00 Total L 66.6!
Items outside hedge i
accounting total 220.4 3.2 11
BOARD OF DIRECTORS' PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND S e SOE P . )
R . 6.27 Fuel price risk in flight operations
Currency derivativestotal | _ 643.5 85 $181 _  -9.6] 1,327.4 26.8 -6.9 19.9
AUDITOR'S REPORT [ VPN Timing of the notional and hedged price
Commodity derivatives - Maturity
Jet fuel forward
Hedged price Notional amount
_contracts, tonnes | 240,000 3.2 . 173 -14.2| 898,000 6.2 -15.3 31 Dec 2020 4 /tonne (Gonnes)  under 1year Lto2years
Bought options, jet " - - ~
fuel, tannes . - 57.000 07 Jet fuel (onsummfon prfced w!ll\ NWE |lnﬂex 527.7 237,423 227,423 10,000
Sold options,jet fuel, tonnes | o . {57000 Jet fuel consumption priced with SING index 609.8 2577 2.577
Hedge accounting | isk
items total 32, 173 -142 69 220 s orelenexchangeris
= N : Maturity
- e exchange rate
Jet fuel forward Timing of the notional ging
contracts, tonnes 336,000 0.6 311 -30.5; EUR mill. instruments National amount
t fuel, tonnes R o 42,000 0.1 01 31 Dec 2020 agalnst the euro {gross) _Less than 1year 1to 2 years
Items outside hedge usp 1.14 430.5 3999 305
accounting total 0.6 -31.1 -30.5, -0.1 -0.1 JPY 120.20 213.1 208.1 50
Commodity derivatives total| 3877 as4ase 69 221 152
“Derivatives total * - 124 666 -542 339 291 48
* Positive (negative) fair value of hedging instruments on 31 Dec 2020 is presented in the statement of financial position
in the item derivative assets within current assets (derivative liabilities within current liabilities).
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’
——— PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Finnair Plc’s distributable equity on 31 December 2020 amounts to 361,672,701.47 euros, of which the net result for the
financial year 2020 is -566,008,349.96 euros.

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that no dividend be paid based on the balance sheet to
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY be adopted for the financial year, which ended on 31 December 2020, and the result be retained in the equity.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | Signing of the Report of the Board of Directors and the Financial Statements
1. OPERATING RESULT

2. FLEET AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS AND LEASING Helsinki, 17 February 2021
The Board of Directors of Finnair Plc

ARRANGEMENTS

3. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS / W C %

4. CONSOLIDATION Jiino \/{’(QW' Q

S, OTHERNOTES . - N
1ouko Karvinen Tiina Alahuhta-Kasko Calm Barrington

6. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND %Qﬂg &2_59\ %sé,-«

Montie Brewer Mengmeng Du Jukka Erfund
AUDITOR'S REPORT
A S
Henrik Kjellberg Maija Strandberg Jaana Tuominen
Topi Manner

President and CEO of Finnair Plc
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SUSTAINABILITY
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Au D I T 0 R s R E P 0 R T (This document is an English translation of the Finnish auditor’s report. Only the Finnish version of the report is legatly binding.)

To the Annual General Meeting of Finnair Pic

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Finnair Plc {business identity code 0108023-3) for the year ended
December 31, 2020. The financial statements comprise the consolidated balance sheet. income statement, statement
of comprehensive income, statemen: of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and notes, including a summary of
significant accounting policies, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, income statement, statement of cash
flows and notes.

In our opinion

- the consofidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the group’s financial position, financial performance
and cash fiows in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU

« the financial statements give a true and fair view of the parent company's financial performance and financial position in
accordance with the laws and i overning the ion of financial in Finland and comply with
statutory requirements.

Our opinion is consistent with the additional report submitted to the Audit Committee.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland. Our responsibilities under good auditing
practice are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report.

We are independent of the parent company and of the group companies in accordance with the ethical requirements.
that are applicable in Finland and are relevant to our audit, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.

In our best knowledge and understanding, the non-audit services that we have provided to the parent company
and group companies are in compliance with laws and regulations applicable in Finland regarding these services, and
we have not provided any prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5(1) of regulation (EU) 537/2014. The
non-audit services that we have provided have been disclosed in note 1.3.3 to the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. The materiality is determined based on our
professionai judgement and is used to determine the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate
the effect of identified misstatements on the financial statements as a whole. The level of materiality we set is based
on our of the magnitude f mit that, indivi or in aggregate, could reasonably be expected
to have influence on the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. We have also taken into account
misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion are material for qualitative reasons for the users of
the financial statements.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming ou- opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
The significant risks of material misstatement referred to in the EX Regulation No 537/2014 point (c) of Article 10(2) are

included in the description of key audit matters below.

We have also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls. This includes consideration of whether
there was evidence of management bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

HOW THE MATTER WAS IN THE AUDIT

Financial position and funding arrangements
(Refer to Accounting pringiples for consolidated financial

and Notes 3.3 and 3.5)

Resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic the Group
has incurred a net toss of € 523 million and negative
operating cash flow of € 1,043 miltion. Liquid funds
amounted to € 792 million and the interest-bearing
liabilities were € 2,184 million. .

The refinancing plan executed during the financial
year included severai significant funding arrangements
and refinancing transactions.

As disclosed in the accounting principles to the
financial statements due to the current uncertainty
embedded in the economic environment and the
difficulty in forecasting the ultimate duration and impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board of Directors have
reviewed three different scenarios prepared by the
management. According to the assessment of the Board
of Directors Finnair will be able to meet its obligations
under all three scenarios as they fall due at least 12
months after the date of the issuance of the financial
statements.

We assessed the terms of the financing agreements and
the impacts on classification and recognition in refation
to accounting principles and accounting standards
applied in the consolidated financial statements.

We obtained an understanding of the financial
forecasting process. We analyzed, amang others,
cash flow forecasts based on different scenarios, the
reliability of the data underlying the forecasts and
whether effective implementation of management plans
is reasonable.

We challenged the appropriateness of key
assumptions used in the cash fiow forecasts that require
significant management judgement.

We evaluated the sensitivity calculations prepared by
the management to test the headroom for the Group to
be able to cenduct its adjusted business operations.

In addition, we assessed the appropriateness of the
disclosures provided on the financing arrangements and
financial position.
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THE KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW THE MATTER WAS IN THE AUDIT THE KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW THE MATTER WAS IN THE AUDIT
Fleet valuation Alrcraft maintenance provision
(Refer 1o Accounting pringiples for financial and Note 2) (Refer to Accounting principles for financial and Note 1.3.6)

The Group has awn aircraft and right of use aircraft
with total carrying value of € 2.213 milfion representing
61 of total consolidated assets. The aircraft-related
depreciation charge was € 291 million. As a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic, part of the aircraft fieet has been
grounded and several aircraft refinancing transactions
were completed with an impairment of € 8 million.

The evaluation of the expected useful life of the
components of the aircraft, the expected residual
value, impairment of existing aircraft and assessment
of whether onerous contract exists related to the future
committed aircraft purchases requires a significant
degree of management judgement.

The valuation of the fleet is considered as a key
audit malter due to the significance to the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position, and due
to management judgement and inherent uncertainty
increased by pandemic involved in forecasting future
cash flows.

We assessed the reasonableness of assumptions

made for useful lives, components and residual values
regarding owned and leased aircraft and reconciled
these assumptions against carrying vatues of aircraft
components and associated depreciation recorded in the
income statement.

Our audit procedures, with the involvement of KPMG
valuation specialists, included testing the integrity
of the calculations and the technical model. We have
challenged the assumptions used in impairment testing
and their reasonableness by reconciling against external
market data. scenarios approved by the Board of
Directors and our own views.

Furthermore, we considered the potential impact of
uncertainties related to COVID-19 on the assumptions
within management’s cash flow estimates. We
performed our own sensitivity analyses over the key
assumptions used.

We assessed the appropriateness of the related
disclosures.

Deferred passenger revenue

(Refer principles for ¢ financial

and Note 1.2.4)

The deferred passenger revenue amounted to € 134
million. Passenger ticket sale is presented as deferred
income in the consolidated statement of financial
position from the point of sate until the flight is flown
and the sale is recognized as revenue. Recognition of
unused tickets as revenue is based on the expected
breakage amount of tickets remaining unused. The
points earned in the customer loyaity program are
measured at fair value and recognised as a decrease of
revenue and debt at the time when the points -earning
event is recognised as revenue or when the points
expire. COVID-19 pandemic has increased the fevel of
uncertainty about the expected customer behaviour.

Large volumes of transactions flow through various
computer systems from the date of sale untii revenue
is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or
toss. The recording process is complex, which gives rise
1o inherent risk of error, in determining the amount and
timing of the revenue recognition.

Timing and accuracy in the recording of passenger
revenue is therefore determined as a key audit matter in
our audit of the financial

We obtained an understanding of revenue recognition
process. We used data analytics tools for identifying
revenue flows and risks in revenue recogaition of ticket
sales and focused our audit on key risks identified.
Further, we used data analyses in testing deferred
revenue of unflown tickets.

We evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of key controls over revenue recognition.

We tested the mathematical accuracy and input data
of the calculation used to recognize revenues from the
breakage mode.

We also analysed the assumptions used in the
revenue recognition of the customer loyalty program.

We tested a sample of passenger revenue recognized
as well as a sample of unused tickets in the deferred
revenue.

The Group operates aircrafts which are owned or

held under lease agreement. The Group is obliged to
return leased aircraft and their engines according to
the redelivery condition set in the lease agreement.

To fulfil these maintenance obligations, the Group

has recognised airframe heavy maintenance, engine
performance maintenance, engine life limited part and
other material maintenance provisions which amounted
10 €163 million.

We obtained an understanding of the process by which
the lease agreements are analysed and recorded in the
maintenance model and by which the variable factors
within the provision are estimated.

We evaluated the appropriateness of the maintenance
provision model and challenged the key assumptions of
maintenance provision model such as expected timing
and cost of maintenance checks.

We obtained and inspected a sample of asset lease

The of aircraft mai o
requires management judgement especially related
to timing of maintenance events and valuation of
maintenance costs occurring in the future. The future
maintenance costs and their timing are dependent on, for
example, how future traffic plans realise, the market price
development of maintenance costs and the actual condition
of the aircraft at the time of the maintenance event.

We identified aircraft maintenance provision as a
key audit matter due to the inherently complex model
and management judgement incorporated in the
assumptions used in the calculation.

to evaluate the completeness of the
restoration and return liabilities for obfigations at the
redelivery at the end of the lease.

We tested the input data and mathematical
accuracy of the calculations as well as recalculated the *
maintenance provision by using data analysis tools.

1n addition, we performed retrospective analysis on
the accuracy of the provision.

Defined benefit pension plans

(Refer to Accounting principles for financial

and Note 1.3.8.2)

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of
defined pension plans is the present value of the defined
benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period

fess the fair vatue of plan assets. The net defined benefit
{pension) asset amounted to € 32 million.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated by
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit
method and based on actuarial assumptions. The
present value of the defined benefit obligations is
determined by discounting the estimated future cash
flows using interest rates of high-quality bonds with
consistent maturities. In the financial year, amendments
related to pension index increment removals decreased
pension obligations by € 151 million.

The plan assets are valued at fair vafue involving use of
judgment in particular relating to unlisted investments.

We considered valuation of the defined benefit
obligation and plan assets as a key audit matter in the
audit of the Group due to materiality of the related
balances, material changes in the terms of pensions ang
judgments involved in these estimates.

With the assistance of KPMG pension specialist,

we assessed the appropriateness of the actuarial
assumptions used in calculating the defined pension
benefit obligation.

We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
methods, estimates and judgements used by
management to value the assets.

We tested the valuation of the plan assets related to
defined employee benefit plans by testing a sample of
listed equity holdings against prevailing market prices at
closing date.

Related to unlisted investments we have created
independent expectation based on the nature of the
investment, historical purchase price and publicly
available information on similar investments and
compared that to the management valuation.

In addition, we assessed the appropriateness of the
related disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. OPERATING RESULT
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial Statements
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the ion of i financial

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

REMUNERATION
REPORT

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX

We aiso provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical

that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
€U, and of financial statements that give a true and fair view in acc ith the faws and ions governing the

ion of financial in Finland and comply with statutory The Board of Directors and the
Managing Director are also responsible for such internal contro! as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for
assessing the parent company’s and the group's ability to continue as a going concern, disctosing, as applicable,
matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. The financial statements are
prepared using the gaing concern basis of accounting unfess there is an intention to liquidate the parent company or
the group or cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our abjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our apinion.

2. FLEET ASSETS
ARRANGEMENTS

3. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS

4. CONSOLIDATION

5. OTHERNOTES

6. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROPOSAL ON THE DIVIDEND

P AUDITOR'S REPORT

assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
good auditing practice wifl always detect a material mi when it exists. Mi can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with goed auditing practice, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive 10 those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resuiting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal contral.
Obtain an understanding of interna! control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the parent
company's or the group’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.
Conclude an the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the going concern
basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cas: significant doubt on the parent company’s or the group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the refated disclosures in the financial or, if such discl i to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the parent company or the group to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events so that the financial statements
give a true and fair view.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audi: evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the group to express an opinion on the ¢ i financial Weare ible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

are

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

regarding i and with them all and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our audito-'s report unless law or regufation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse c of doing so would y be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

other Reporting Requirements

Information on our audit engagement
‘We were first appointed as auditors by the Annual General Meeting on May 29, 2020, and our appointment represents a
total period of uninterrupted engagement of one year.

Other Information

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are for the other it The other i
comprises the report of the Board of Directors ang the information included in the Annual Report, but does not include
the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, We have obtained the report of the Board of Directors and
the Annual Report prior to the date of this auditor's report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is malerially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. With respect to the report of
the Board of Directors, our responsibility aiso includes considering whether the report of the Board of Directors has
been prepared in accordance with the applicable taws and regulations.

In our opinion, the information in the report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the information in the
financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the applicable laws
and regulations.

If. based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, we conclude that there is a mater al misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Other opinions

We support that the financial and the c financiat should be adopted. The proposal
by the Board of Directors regarding the treatment of distributable funds is in compliance with the Limited Liability
Companies Act. We support that the Members of the Board of Directors of the parent company and the Managing
Director should be discharged from liability for the financial period audited by us.

Helsinki, 17 February 2021
KPMG OY AB

Kirsi Jantunen
Authorized Public Accountant, KHT
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Regulatory
framework .

THE YEAR 2020

REVIEW OF

Finnair PIc (“Finnair” or “the Company"”) is
a Finnish public limited tiability company
domiciled in Helsinki. Finnair is the uiti-
mate parent of Finnair Group, and its
shares are listed on Nasdaq Helsinki Stock
Exchange. The State of Finland is the
majority owner in Finnair with 55.9% of the
shares as of 31 December 2020.

Corporate governance at Finnair is based
on Finnish laws and the Company's Articles
of Association. Finnair complies fully with
and has prepared this corporate govern-
ance statement in accordance with the
Finnish Corporate Governance Code 2020.
This corporate governance siatement is
issued separately from the Board of Direc-
tors’ report, and it has been reviewed by
the Audit Committee of Finnair's Board of
Directors.

Finnair prepares consolidated financial
statements and interim reports in accord-
ance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), the Finnish
Securities Markets Act as well as the Finan-
cial Supervision Authority's regulations
and guidelines and Nasdaq Helsinki's rules.
The Company's financial statements are

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
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prepared in accordance with the Finnish
Companies Act, Accounting Act, Securities
Markets Act, and the opinions and guidelines
of the Finnish Accounting Board. The audi-
tor’s report covers the consolidated financial
statements and the parent company's finan-
cial statements.

This corporate governance statement and
other information to be disclosed in accord-
ance with the Finnish Corporate Governance
Code 2020, the Company’s financial state-
ments, the Board of Directors’ report, the
auditor's report, the Company’s Articles of
Association and its published policies are
available at Finnair's website.

The Finnish Corporate Governance Code
2020 is available on the website of the
Securities Market Association.
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Regulatory framework for Corporate Governance at Finnair

External framework

Internal framework

.

Finnish Companies Act
Finnish Securities Markets Act
Market Abuse Regulation (MAR)

* Finnish Corporate Governance Code

2020

Regulations and guidelines issued by
the Financial Supervisory Authority
and by Nasdaq Helsinki

Code of Conduct

Charters of the Board of Directors and
its Committees

Charters of Internal Audit and

Risk & Compliance

Policies, Standards, Rules, and Manuals

i
Articles of Association 1
|
i
|
|
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Governing bodies

THE YEAR 2020

REVIEW OF

The governing bodies of Finnair pursuant to
the Companies Act and the Articles of Asso-
ciation are the General Meeting of Share-
holders, the Board of Directors (the “Board™)
and the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEQ").

The roles of the governing bodies are
described below.

General Meeting of Shareholders
The ultimate authority in Finnair is vested
in the General Meeting of Shareholders. An
Annual General Meeting (the “AGM") must
be held each year by the end of May.

The competence of the General Meeting

of Shareholders is set out in the Compa-
nies Act and in Finnair's Articles of Associa-
tion. The AGM shall annually decide on the
following matters:

- adoption of the financial statements and
the cor financial st;

the use of the profit shown on the
balance sheet

the discharging of the Members of the
Board and the CEO from liability

the appointment of the Members of the
Board and their remuneration

election of the Chairman of the Board
from among the Members

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

« the election and remuneration of the
auditor.

The Board convenes the General Meetings
of Shareholders by publishing a notice no
earlier than three months and no later than
three weeks before the date of the meeting
and always at least nine days before the
record date of the meeting. The notice shall
be published as a stock exchange release
and on Finnair’s website.

Each shareholder who is registered on the
record date as a shareholder in the Compa-
ny’s public register of shareholders, main-
tained by Euroclear Finland Oy, has the right
to participate in the General Meeting of
Shareholders. A holder of nominee-regis-
tered shares that wishes to participate in the
meeting has to register temporarily in the
register of shareholders. Furthermore, in
order to attend the meeting, a shareholder
must register for the meeting in the manner
defined in the notice convening the meeting.
A shareholder has the right to have a matter
falling within the competence of the General
Meeting of Shareholders addressed by the
meeting, if the shareholder so demands

in writing from the Board by the date
announced on Finnair's website.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX
GOVERNING BODIES OF FINNAIR
-
Shareholders
[
A R | 1
Shareholders’ 1_ General Meeting of _; Auditor
Nomination Board [ Shareholders L
People and Remuneratioﬂ_{ Board of U Audit
Committee J i Directors 1 ‘ Committee

The minutes of the Genera! Meeting of Share-
holders and the voting results, if any, shall be
made available to shareholders on Finnair's
website within two weeks of the meeting.

2020 Annuat General Meeting

Finnair's AGM 2020 was held at the head-
quarters of the Company in Vantaa on 29
May 2020. The Board of Directors of the

Company decided by virtue of Section 2,
Subsection 3 of the temporary legislative act
290/2020 to limit the spread of the Covid-19
pandemic approved by the Finnish Parlia-
ment on 24 April 2020 (“Temporary Act”),
that the Company’s shareholders and their
proxy representatives could participate in
the meeting and exercise shareholder rights
only through voting in advance as well as
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by making counterproposals and asking
questions in advance. A total of 238 share-
holders, representing 66.6 per cent of the
shares and voting rights of the company,
participated by voting in advance. No coun-
terproposals or questions were presented
by shareholders.

Present at the meeting were Chairman of
the Board of Directors Mr. Jouko
Karvinen, member of the Board of Direc-
tors and Chairman of the Audit Committee
Mr. Jukka Erlund, Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Topi Manner, General Counsel Mr, Sami
Sarelius, IR Director Mr. Erkka Salonen
(remote access), Chairman of the General
Meeting Mr. Manne Airaksinen, person

to confirm the minutes and to verify the
counting of votes Ms. Vuokko Rajamadki,
the responsible auditor appointed by the
Company's audit firm Mr. Markku Katajisto
and the new responsible auditor candidate
Ms. Kirsi Jantunen. In addition, the repre-
sentative of the Company’s annual general
meeting registration and voting service
provider Euroclear Finland Oy, Jarkko
Heinonen, attended by telephone.

REVIEW OF
THE YEAR 2020

Auditor

The Annual General Meeting 2020 elected
KPMG Oy Ab as the Company’s new auditor,
and Ms. Kirsi Jantunen acted as the auditor
with principal responsibility.

The audit fees paid in 2020 zmounted to 0.5
million euros, and the fees for other services
rendered amounted to 0.3 million euros.

Shareholders’ Nomination Board
The AGM 2013 decided to establish a perma-
nent Shareholders’ Nomination Board. The
term of the Nomination Board continues
until further notice.

The purpose and task of the Nomination
Board is to prepare and present to the AGM
- and if necessary, to an Extraordinary
General Meeting - proposals on the compo-
sition and remuneration of Board of Direc-
tors. In addition, the task of the Nomination
Board is to seek potential future candidates
for Board members. The Nomination Board
shall forward its proposals to the Company's
Board of Directors by 31 January each year.

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
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The Nomination Board consists of four
members nominated annually. The Compa-
ny's three largest shareholders appoint
three of the members, and the current
Chairman of the Board serves as the fourth
member. The Nomination Board appoints
its chairman from among its members. The
Company’s largest shareholders entitled to
appoint members to the Nomination Board
are determined on the basis of the regis-
tered holdings in the Company’s share-
holder register held by Euroclear Finland
Oy as of the first working day in September
each year. In the event that a shareholder
does not wish to exercise their right to
appoint a representative, such right passes
to the next largest sharehoider.

The members of the Nomination Board
are not remunerated by Finnair for their
membership in the Nomination Board. The
members’ expenses are reimbursable in
accordance with the Company’s expense
policy. In addition, the Nomination Board's
costs of using external experts shall be
borne by the Company.

The Charter of the Nomination Board is
available at the Company website.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

STATEMENT

2019 Nomination Board

The 2019 Nomination Board consisted of the

representatives of the first, third and fourth

largest shareholders as at the first working day
in September 2019, i.e. the State of Finland,

Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company and

Etola Oy (through its subsidiaries Tiiviste-Group

Oy and Etra Invest Oy), and of the Chairman of

the Board. The composition of the 2019 Nomina-

tion Board was the following:

+  Ms. Minna Pajumaa, b. 1963, Senior
Financial Counsellor, Government
Ownership Steering Department (Chairman)
Mr. Timo Sallinen, b. 1970, Senior Vice
President, Investments, Varma Mutual
Pension Insurance Company
Mr. Mikael Etola, b. 1977, Managing Director,
Etola Oy
Mr. Jouko Karvinen, b, 1957, Chairman of the
Board of Finnair.

The Nomination Board convened once in 2019
and the participation rate was 100%. On 27
January 2020, the Nomination Board submitted
to the Board its proposals for the 2020 AGM
that was planned to be held on 18 March 2020
but which was postponed due to the Covid-19
containment measures. On 5 May, the Nomi-
nation Board submitted its complementary
proposal for the 2020 AGM that was held on
29 May 2020. The proposals are available at
Finnair's website.
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2020 Nomination Board

The 2020 Nomination Board consisted of the

representatives of the first, third and fourth

largest shareholders as at the first working day
in September 2020, i.e. the State of Finland,

Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company,

varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company, and

of the Chairman of the Board. The composition of
the 2020 Nomination Board was the following:

+  Ms. Minna Pajumaa, b. 1963, Senior
Financial Counsellor, Government
Ownership Steering Department (Chairman)

«  Mr.Esko Torsti, b. 1964, Head of Cross

Asset Allocation, limarinen Mutual Pension

Insurance Company

Mr. Timo Sallinen, b. 1970, Senior Vice

President, Investments, Varma Mutual

Pension Insurance Company

Mr. Jouko Karvinen, b. 1957, Chairman of the

Board of Finnair.

The Nomination Board convened three times
and the participation rate was 100%. On 26
January 2021, the Nomination Board submitted
to the Board its proposals for the 2021 AGM to
be held on 17 March 2021. The proposals are
available at Finnair's website.
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Board of Directors

REVIEW OF
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The Chairman and the Members of the
Board are elected by the Annual General
Meeting. According to the Articles of Asso-
ciation, the Board consists of the Chairman
and a minimum of four and a maximum of
nine other members. The Board elects a
Vice Chairman from among its members.
The term of the office of the members of
the Board ends at the close of the first AGM
following their election.

According to the Companies Act, the Board
represents all shareholders of Finnair and
has the general duty to act diligently in
the interests of the Company. The Board

is accountable to the shareholders for the
appropriate governance of the Company
and for ensuring that the operations of the
Company are run adequately.

The accountability for the Company's
governance pertains specifically to the reli-
ability of the financial reporting and to the
efficiency of the Company's internal control
and risk management systems. The main
features of the internal control and risk
management systems are described later in
this Corporate Governance Statement. The
Board has extensive general competence

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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in the governance of the Company as its
competence covers all matters that are not
within the powers of other governing bodies
of the Company.

The main duties of the Board of

Directors:

« approve the Company's strategic
targets and monitor the
achievement of strategic targets

« ensure the administration of the

Company and the appropriate

organisation of its operations

confirm the values and top-leve!
policies of the Company

+ monitor and ensure the
appropriateness of the accounting,
financial administration and risk
management

+  approve significant strategic
matters, business plans,
partnerships and other decisions
exceeding the limits of the CEQ’s
decision-making power

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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decide on guarantees and other
commitments for external parties’
liabilities

appaint and dismiss the CEO and
other members of the Executive
Board, as well as evaluate their
performance and determine

their remuneration, also attend

to the succession planning of the
management

establish and regularly evaluate the
Company's personnel policies and
its compensation systems

evaluate its own work on an annual
basis

prepare and approve the charters
of the Board of Directors and

its Committees and confirm the
charters of the Internal Audit and
Risk & Compliance

The Charter of the 8oard of Directors
is available on the Finnair's Corporate
Governance website.

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



REVIEW OF
THE YEAR 2020

Members of the
Board in 2020

Montie Brewer
=

b. 1957, BA (Business Administration).
Member of the Finnair Board of Directors since
2018

Main occupatlol
Board professional
Key positions of trust:

Member of the Board of Directors of Allegiant

Travel Company

Maija Strandberg
+

b.1969, M.Sc. {Econ)
Member of the Finnair Board of Directors
since 29 May 2020

Main occupatio

Senior Financial Counsellor Prime Minister’s office,
Government Ownership Steering Department

Key positions of trust:

Member of the Board of Directors and Chairman
of the Audit committee of Nordic Morning Group.

Member of the Board of Directors of Vapo Oyj

i
|

THE REPORT OF THE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS

Jouko Karvinen
o

b.1957. M. Sc. (Tech.}

Chairman of the Finnair Board of Directors since
March 2017 and member of the Board since March
2016

Main occupation:
Board professicnal
Key positions of trus

Member of the Foundation and Supervisory Boards
of IMD Business Schoo, Lausanne, Switzerland

Mengmeng Du

b. 1980, M. Sc. {Econ.), M. Sc. {Computer science)
Member of the Finnair Board of Directors since
2017

Main occupation:

Digital advisor, board professianal

Key positions of trus!

Member of the Board of Directors of Skandia,
Netonnet Group and Claes Ohlson

Jaana Tuominen

b. 1960, M. Sc. (Eng.).
Member of the Finnair Board of Directors since
2014

Main occupation:
Advisor

Key positions of trust:
Chair of the Board of Directors of the
Confederation of Finnish Industries (EK)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

Tilna Alahuhta-Kasko
4+

REMUNERATION
REPORT APPENDIX

ol
b. 1981, M. Sc. {Econ.), CEMS MIM.
Member of the Finnair Board of Directors since
2019
Main occupatiol
President & CEOQ of Marimekko Corporation
Key positions of trust:
Jukka Erfund
e

b.1974, M. Sc. (Econ.), eMBA.
Member of the Finnair Board of Directors since
2019

Main occupati

Executive Vice President, CFQ, of Kesko Oyj

Key positions of trust:

The Chair of the Tax and Economic Policy
Committee of Finnish Commerce Federation,
Member of the Economy and Tax Committee

of Confederation of Finnish Industries EK, and
Member of the Supervisory Board of varma Mutual

Pension Insurance Company (until 22.10.2020)

SUSTAINABILITY

Colm Barrington
[ 1} a

b.1946, M. Sc. (Econ.)
Vice Chairman and member of the Finnair Board of
Directors since 2017

Main occupation:
CEQ and Director of Fly Leasi
Key positions of trust:

Member of the Board of Directors of
Hibernia REIT Plc

Henrik Kjellberg

0.1971. M. Sc. (Econ.).

Member of the Finnair Board of Directors since
2018

Main occupation:

CEO of Awaze

Key positions of trust:

Committees
= Audit Committee

ER = Peaple and Remuneration Committee
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Members of the Board and their
independence

The 2020 Annual General Meeting held

on 29 May elected Mr. Jouko Karvinen as
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Ms.
Tiina Alahuhta-Kasko, Mr, Colm Barrington,
Mr. Montie Brewer, Ms. Mengmeng Du,

Mr. Jukka Erlund, Mr. Henrik Kjellberg, Ms.
Maija Strandberg and Ms. Jaana Tuominen
as other members of the Board. The Board
elected Mr. Colm Barrington as its Vice
Chairman.

Finnair complies with applicable require-
ments regarding independence of the Board
of Directors according to Finnish laws and
regulations as well as according to the
Finnish Corporate Governance Code. The
Board considers all the members elected

by the shareholders, except for Ms. Maija
Strandberg and Mr. Jukka Erlund, to be inde-
pendent of the Company and independent

in relation to the Company’s major share-
holders according to the Code. Ms. Maija
Strandberg is considered dependent on the
Company's significant owners as she is a civil
servant of the government of Finland. Mr.
Jukka Erlund was considered dependent on
the Company until 30 June 2020 because

BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS

Piia Karhu, Finnair’s Senior Vice President
in Customer Experience and a member of
the Executive Board until 30 June 2020, is
a member of Kesko Corporation’s Board
of Directors and Jukka Erlund is the Chief
Financial Officer of Kesko Oyj.

The ownership of the Directors
and companies controlled by them
in Finnair

At the end of 2019 and 2020, neither the
members of the Board of Directors nor

any companies under their control held

any shares or share-based rights in any
company within Finnair Group.

The Committees of the Board

The Board delegates some of its functions
to the Audit Committee and to the People
and Remuneration Committee. The Board
appoints the Committee members and their
Chairs from among the members of the
Board. The minimum number of members is
three in both Committees.

Each Committee meets regularly under
their respective charters. The Commit-

tees report on their work regularly to the
Board but they do not have decision-making

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX

Number of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings in 2020
and the attendance rate of the members

People and

Board of Audit Remuneration

Member Directors Committee Committee

Jouko Karvinen 16/16

Tiina Alahuhta-Kasko 16/16 99
Colm Barrington 16/16 g
Montie Brewer 16/16 n

Mengmeng Du 16/16 99

Jukka Erlund 16/16 ”n 7t
Henrik Kjellberg 16/16 n

Maija Strandberg (member since 29 May) 8/8 n

: Jaana Tuominen 16/16 99

In addition to the sixteen meetings, the board made decisions six times without convening.

powers independent from the Board, except
where expressly authorised by the Board.
Copies of the Committees’ charters are
available on Finnair’s website.
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The diversity principles of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors has determined its diversity principles for the use
of the Shareholders’ Nomination 8oard when preparing proposals on the
composition of the Board to the General Meeting of Shareholders.

The diversity principles of the Board of Directors are:

The Board as a whole must have sufficient expertise and experience

to conduct the duties carefully and effectively, taking into account the
quality, scope and international nature of the Company’s operations, the
Company's strategic targets and changes in the business environment
and society.

The members of the Board must be capable of cooperating with the other
members and the managzment.

The members of the Board should have training and experience that
complement each other and experience from industries that are
important for the Company.

The members should havz experience of Board work and conducting
managerial duties in business or other areas of society.

The Board shall have at least 40 per cent both men and women. The
composition should show diversity also in terms of the age distribution,
length of service and cultural background.

Sufficient continuity should be ensured in reforming the composition of
the Board, but the continuous term of any member may not exceed 10
years.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX

The diversity of the Board of Directors

NATIONALITY

B 70:1% B 60-69:33% M Finland: 56% W Sweden: 22%
O s0-59:11% W 40-49:33% ] us:n% W reland: 1%
30-39: 11%

GENDER TENURE

B Men:56% B women: 44% W tyear:nu% W 2-3vears:44%
(] 4-5years:33%° @ morethan5 years: 11%

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



Audit Committee

THE YEAR 2020

REVIEW OF

The Audit Committee assists the Board in
matters relating to financial reporting and
control in accordance with the duties speci-
fied for audit committees in law and in the
Finnish Corporate Governance Code.

The Audit Committee monitors and eval-
uates the Company’s reporting process of
financial statements and the efficiency of
the internal control and risk management
systems as well as the internal audit. The
Committee monitors the statutory audit and
evaluates the independence of the auditor.
In addition, the Audit Committee monitors
the efficiency of the Company’s compliance
systems.

Pursuant to the Finnish Corporate Govern-
ance Code, the members of the Audit
Committee shall have the qualifications
necessary to perform the responsibilities
of the committee, and at least one of the
members shall have expertise specifically in
accounting or auditing.

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
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The main duties of the Audit

Committee:

monitor the financial position of the

Company

monitor and assess the financial

reporting process

monitor and assess the efficiency of

the Company's internal control and

risk management systems as well as

internal audit

< monitor the statutory audit of the
financial statements

« monitor and assess the
independence of the statutory
auditor, and particularly the
provision by auditor of non-audit
services to the Company

- prepare the Board's proposal for

resolution on the election of the

auditor and its remuneration

review the auditor's and internal

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

STATEMENT

auditor's plans and reports
monitor and assess agreements and
transactions between the Company
and its related parties with respect
to compliance with the governance
and disclosure requirements of the
same

review the Company’s corporate
governance statement

prepare the Board's decisions on
the Company’s risk management
policies

monitor the processes and risks
relating to cyber security

prepare the Board's decisions

on significant changes in the
accounting principles or in the
valuations of the group’s assets
assess the efficiency of the
Company’s compliance systems
maintain contact with the auditor

REMUNERATION

SUSTAINABILITY

REPORT APPENDIX

In addition to the Committee members, the
CEOQ, the CFO, the auditor, and the General
Counsel as secretary to the Committee
attend the Committee meetings. Other exec-
utives attend the meetings as invited by the
Committee.

Audit Committee in 2020

In 2020, the members of the Audit
Committee were Jukka Erlund (Chair), Colm
Barrington, Montie Brewer and Henrik Kjell-
berg. The Audit Committee met seven times
in 2020 and its attendance rate was 100%.
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The People and Remuneration Committee

assists the Board in matters pertaining .
to the compensation and benefits of the

CEO and other senior management, their

performance evaluation, appointment .
and successor planning. The Committee

assists the Board also in establishing and .
evaluating the Company’s compensa-

tion structures and other personnel poli- .
cies. Pursuant to the Board's authorisa-

tion, the Committee reviews and confirms .

the achievement of targets for short-term
incentives and approves the payment of

the incentives to the CEO and other senior .
management.

The main duties of the People
and Remuneration Committee: .
The Committee prepares the following
matters for the Board:
« the key principles of the Company's
compensation policies and practices
» compensation, pension, benefits
and other material terms of
the contract of the CEO and the
Executive Board members

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

CEO’s and the Executive Board
members’ incentive and retention
plans

CEO's and the Executive Board
members’ performance reviews
nominations of the CEO and the
Executive Board members
composition and responsibilities of
the Executive Board

CEQ’s and the Executive Board
members’ succession planning and
leadership development
assessment of the people strategy
and key development initiatives
equity-based incentive plans

the remuneration policy for the
Company’s governing bodies
annual remuneration reporting
based on the recommendations of
the Finnish Corporate Governance
Code for listed companies

The CEQ, the SVP People and Culture, and
the General Counsel as secretary to the
Committee attend the Committee meetings.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION
STATEMENT REPORT

People and Remuneration
Committee in 2020

After the AGM of 29 May 2020, the Board
elected the following members to the
People and Remuneration Committee:
Jaana Tuominen as the Chair, and Meng-
meng Du, Tiina Alahuhta-Kasko and Maija
Strandberg as members. Between 1 January
and 29 May 2020, Jaana Tuominzn acted
as the Chair of the Committee and Meng-
meng Du and Tiina Alahuhta-Kasko acted
as members. Additionally, the Chair of the
Audit Committee, Jukka Erlund, attended
one meeting of the People and Remunera-
tion Committee. The Committee met nine
times in 2020 and the attendance rate was
100%.

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX
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Finnair's corporate structure
Finnair's core airline activities are oper-
ated in the Group's parent company, Finnair
Plc, whereas technical services, travel
services (package tours), catering services
and financial business services are runin
wholly owned subsidiaries. Finnair busi-
ness is considered one operating segment,
consisting of the Commercial and Customer
Experience, and Operations units. The
shared functions in Finnair’s Group admin-
istration are Finance, People and Culture,
Digital Services, Strategy, Communica-

COMPANY MANAGEMENT

Reports to Board’s
Audit Committee
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tions, Legal Affairs, Risk & Compliance, and
Internal Audit.

The CEO

The CEQ is appointed by the Board. The
CEO manages the Company’s operations in
accordance with guidelines and instructions
issued by the Board. The CEQ acts as the
Chairman of the Executive Board.

The Board determines the CEQ's compen-

sation and sets his short- and long-term
incentive targets. The main contents of the

Reports to Board's

Board of Directors ‘—] Audit Committee

“Internal audit

Executive Management

Commercial and Customer Experience, Operations, Digital Services, People and Culture,
Finance, Strategy, Communications, Legal Affairs

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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CEO's contract, including his compensation
and benefits, are described in the Remuner-
ation Statement and on Finnair's corporate
governance website.

Mr. Topi Manner, M.Sc. (Econ.), b. 1974, has
been the CEO of Finnair since 1 January
2019. Prior to joining Finnair, Manner had
along career in management positions

at Nordea, the largest financial group in
the Nordic countries, where he worked

as a member of Nordea's Group Execu-
tive Management and as Head of Personal
Banking.

The CEO belongs to Finnair's short- and long-
term incentive programs, described in more
detail in Note 1.3.8 to the financial state-
ments and in the Remuneration Statement.

Executive Board

The Executive Board of the Company is led by
the CEQ, and it comprises the senior manage-
ment responsible for Finnair commercial and
customer experience activities, operations,
digital services, finance, people and culture,
strategy, communications and legal affairs.

REMUNERATION
REPORT

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX

The Executive Board members are
appointed by the Board, which also deter-
mines their remuneration.

The Executive Board assists the CEQ in

the strategy implementation, coordinates
group-wide development projects and
defines policies that guide the Company’s
activities. The Executive Board members
report to the CEO and their main task is to
lead the daily operations of their respective
units or shared functions.

Executive Board subsets

The governance structure contains two
Executive Board subsets which are the
Investment Steering Board and Safety

Review Board.

The Investment Steering Board acts as the
forum for preparing investment decisions
for the Executive Board’s approval as well
as exercises delegated powers to approve
investments below a given threshold. The
Investment Steering Board is headed by the
Chief Financial Officer.

108
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Finnair has a Safety Review Board that

is responsible for reviewing the Compa-

ny's safety policy and assessing the safety
performance against the safety policy and
objectives. The Safety Review Board reviews
the effectiveness of the flight safety, secu-
rity and compliance management systems
relating to safety, and ensures that appro-
priate resources are allocated to achieve
the targeted safety performance. The Safety
Review Board is headed by the SVP Opera-
tions and it convenes at least four times per
year.

Management Board

The Finnair Management Board is prin-
cipally a communication and co-opera-
tion forum designed for the personnel’s
participation in the Company’s governance
processes, especially with regard to matters
that affect the personnel. The Manage-
ment Board discusses the implementation
of the Company'’s strategic objectives and
development projects that affect Finnair’s
personnel as well as business plans and
financial performance of the Group, the
operational quality and customer satisfac-

BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS

tion. The Management Board comprises the
Executive Board members, certain senior

s and the repr atives of all
personnel groups. In 2020, the Finnair
Management Board met six times.

Corporate Governance in Finnair
subsidiaries

For major subsidiaries, the members of

the boards of directors are selected from
individuals belonging to Finnair's senior
management and, in selected subsidi-
aries, also from representatives proposed
by personnel groups. The subsidiaries of
Finnair are presented in the Financial State-
ments 2020 under Note 4.2.

Governance principles in key
partnerships and outsourcings
Finnair has equity partnership in Nordic
Regional Airlines Oy through Nordic
Regional Airlines AB (Finnair's owner-
ship 40 per cent as at 31 December
2020). 60 per cent of Nordic Regional
Airlines AB is owned by Danish Air Trans-
port (DAT), Nordic Regional Airlines Oy is
a Finnish regional passenger airline oper-

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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ating ATR turboprop and Embraer 190
aircraft. Its route network is designed to
provide convenient feeder connections to
Finnair's European and long-haul routes.
Finnair's influence over the governance of
the Company is based on shareholding and
contractual rights.

Finnair procures certain important oper-
ational services from strategic partners,
such as the ground handling and cargo
terminal handling services in Helsinki hub
from Swissport Finland Ltd, and the engine
and component services from SR Technics,
Lufthansa Technik and Rolls Royce. In the
area of IT and mobile services Finnair part-
ners with Amadeus, I8M and Apple, among
others. The cost and quality targets of these
agreements have been determined so as
to correspond at least to a good general
market level.

Finnair participates in joint businesses with
certain airlines belonging to the oneworld
alliance. These joint businesses seek to
improve competitiveness and efficiency

in a manner benefitting the passengers.

REMUNERATION
REPORT APPENDIX

SUSTAINABILITY

Finnair’s influence in the joint businesses is
based on contractual arrangements. Deci-
sions by the joint businesses are sought to
be made unanimously.

All Finnair's service providers are expected
to comply with Finnair’s Supplier Code

of Conduct. Finnair aims to secure in its
supply contracts the rights to audit the
Supplier's governance and security meas-
ures.

Finnair’s Code of Conduct and Supplier
Code of Conduct are available on Finnair’s
website.
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Executive Board
members in 2020

Tomi Pienimaki
b. 1973, Or. Tech, M.Sc. (Eng.),
M.Sc. {Econ.)

| Main occupatios

Chief Digital Officer as of
1October 2019

Key positions of trust:

Member of the Board of Directors,
Router Group Oy

Ppiia Karhu

{member until 30 Jun 2020)

b. 1976, Dr. Business Administration
Main occupation:

SVP Customer Experience from
1 March 2016 until 30 June 2020

Key positions of trust:

Member of the Board of Directors,
Kesko Oyj 2018-

Shareholding 31 December 2020:
16,250

REVIEW OF

Topi Manner

b. 1974, M.Sc. (Econ.)
Main occupation:

CEQ as of 1 January 2019

V_ice Chairman,

Finland Chamber of Commerce
Member of the Board of Directors,
Elisa

Member of the Board,

Service Sector Employers Palta
Shareholding 31 December 2020:
674,068

Sami Sarelius

1 b 1971, LM

ain occupation:

| SvP and General Counse! as of
20 August 2010

d Key positions of trus!

Shareholding 31 December 202
225,000

"1 Arjasuominen

(member until 31 Oct 2020)
i b.1958, MA, e-MBA
! Main occupation:
SVP Corporate Communications
and Corporate Responsibility
from 14 March 2011 until
31 0ctober 2020
Keypositionsoftrust:
Member of the Board of Directors,
Shareholding 31 December 2020:
163,339

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Nicklas llebrand

b. 1980, M.5c. {Computer Science)

Main occupatio

SVP Strategy as of 1 May 2019

Key positions of trust:

Chairman of the Board of Directors,
Nordea Hypotek AB 2016~
Shareholding 31 December 2020:

105,705

i Jaakko Schildt

i b.1970, B.5¢. (Eng ), MBA
| Main occupaf
SVP Qperations as of 1 March 2016

Key positions of trust:

Chairman of the Board, Nordic
Regional Airlines Oy

Member of the Board of Directors,
Finnish Aviation Academy Oy
Member of the Board of Directors,
Kallioinen Yhti6t Oy

shareholding 31 December 2020:

127,005

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION
STATEMENT REPORT

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX

Johanna Karppi [ Ole Orvér

. 1968, LLM, (trained on bench) | b. 1966, Degree in Market
Main occupation:

Economics
SVP People & Culture as of Main occupation:
10ctober 2019

Chief Commercial Officer as of
Key posittons of trusf

1May 2019
Key positions of trus!

Shareholding 31 December 2020: N
16,115 . Sharehalding 31 December 202
87.682

Mika Stirkkinen
b. 1968, M.S¢. (Econ.)

| Piivyt Tallquist

b. 1970, M.Sc. (Econ.)

Chief Financial Officer (CFQ) as of
1July 2019, interim Chief
Key positions of tru:
Member of the Board of Directors,
Nordic Regional Airlines Oy
Shareholding 31 Decemher 202 Shareholding 31 December 202¢
235680 00000000 4939

SVP Communications as of
1 November 2020

Key positions of trust:

The CEQ's and the Executive Board
members' direct and indirect
shareholdings in Finnair as at 31
December 2020 are shown in the
tahle above.

ne
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Shareholders

The ownership profile of Finnair Plc
remained unchanged in 2020 as regards
name-registered shareholder. The largest
shareholder at the end of the year was the
Government of Finland, holding 55.90% of
the shares and votes, followed by mutual
pension insurance company limarinen
(2.63%) , mutual pension insurance
company Varma (2.55%), and Keva (1.70%).
The ownership of nominee-registered
shareholders almost halved from last year,
and was 7.39 % at year-end. The number

of shareholders increased from 27,029 to
85,590 between 1 January and 31 December
2020.

Finnair Plc issued 1,279,265,150 new shares
in its Rights Issue in June 2020.

The shareholders’ Annual General Meeting
was hetd on 29 May 2020.

Subsidiaries

Finnair Kitchen Ltd merged into Finnair
Travel Retail Ltd as of 31 December 2020. In
connection with the merger, Finnair Travel
Retail Ltd's name was changed to Finnair
Kitchen Ltd.

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Auditor

on29 May 2020, the Annual General
Meeting elected KPMG Oy Ab as the Compa-
ny's auditor for the year 2020.

Board of Directors and

the Executive Board

The composition of the Board of Directors
changed in 2020 as one new member was
elected by the Annual General Meeting.
In 2020, the Board of Directors and the
Executive Board focussed on resizing the
Company, mitigating the negative impact
of the Covid-19 pandemic on different areas
of business, ensuring liguidity, as well as
defining the Company’s post-pandemic
rebuild plan.

The composition of the Executive Board
changed in 2020 as the SVP Customer Expe-
rience position was discontinued on 30 June
2020.

Management Board

The Management Board's composition
changed in 2020 as some of the personnel
groups replaced their representatives.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

REMUNERATION
REPORT

Internal Control and Risk
Management

Adherence to the Three Lines of Defence
model - with a clear division of roles and
responsibilities with respect to internal
control and risk management - was further
strengthened in 2020. In the second Line

of Defence the Risk & Compliance function
acts as a control function that is responsible
for developing and maintaining the internal
Control Framework and Risk Management
Framework as well as for monitoring the
implementation of the policies, iules, proce-
dures and key controls within the frame-
works.

Internal Audit

Internal audit, the independent assur-
ance function in the third Line o Defence,
performed audits according to the annual
plan approved by the Audit Committee of
the Board of Directors and performed also
assignments requested by the manage-
ment.

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



Main features
of the internal
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management
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Based on the limited liability companies act
the management of the Company shall act
with due care and promote the interests of
the Company. The Board of Directors shall
see to the administration of the Company
and the appropriate organisation of its oper-
ations. The Board is responsible for the
appropriate arrangement of the control of
the Company accounts and finances. The CEO
shall see to the executive management of
the Company in accordance with the instruc-
tions given by the Board. The CEO shall see
to it that the accounts of the Company are in
compliance with the law and that its finan-
cial affairs have been arranged in a reliable
manner.

Internal control and risk management activi-
ties are an integral part of the management’s
overall duty to ensure that the Company
achieves its business objectives. Through
efficient systems of internal control and risk
management, deviations from objectives
can be prevented or detected as early as

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
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THE ROLE IN THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

External audit

N

Three lines of defence

Business units and group functions
Day to day control and risk management activities.

First line of
defence

Risk & Compliance
Qversight and continuous improvement of the internal control and risk management
environment.

Second line of
defence

AY
N
Internal Audit
Assessment of control environment, day to day control and risk management
activities, and overall maturity of the internal control and risk management system.

Third line of

defence

The Board of Directors

Reasonable assurance of the achievement of Company’s strategic and operational
objectives, reliability of financial and operational reporting, as well as compliance
with laws, regulations and internal policies.

Ultimate

responsibility

SUSTAINABILITY

possible, The Board of Directors is respon-
sible for monitoring and evaluating the effi-
ciency of the Company's internal control and
risk management systems.

Finnair’s Internal Control Framework is the
defined set and structure of the Compa-
ny's internal policies, rules, procedures and
key controls. The framework is systemati-
cally developed and maintained to ensure

the efficiency of the internal control system.

The Internal Control Framework is designed
to ensure effective and efficient operations,
adequate identification, measurement and

mitigation of risks, prudent conduct of busi-

ness, including safeguarding of assets,
sound administrative and accounting
procedures, reliability of financial and
non-financial information both externally
and internally, and compliance with laws,

12
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regulations, supervisory requirements and
with Finnair’s internal polici2s and rules.

The primary governance principle is adher-
ence to the Three Lines of Defence model,
with a clear division of roles and responsi-
bilities with respect to internal control and
risk management. A proper Three Lines of

Defence governance ensures that the segre-

gation of duties is defined and established
between risk management and risk control.
- Inthe first line of defence, the business
organisation and shared functions are
risk owners, and thus responsible for
conducting day-to-day centrol and risk
management activities iri accordance
with the Internal Control Framework.

In the second line of defence, Risk &
Compliance acts as a control function
that is responsible for developing

and maintaining the Internal Control
Framework and Risk Management
Framework as well as for monitoring the
implementation of the pelicies, rules,
procedures and key controls within the
frameworks.

in the third line of defence, Internat
Audit performs audits and provides the

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Board of Directors with an independent
assessment of the overall effectiveness
and maturity of the internal control and
risk management systems.

Internal control and risk
management systems in relation
to financial reporting

The systems for internat control and risk
management of financial reporting are
designed to provide reasonable assurance
about the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles,
applicable laws and regulations, and other
requirements for listed companies. Internal
control and risk management of financial
reporting at Finnair can be described in
accordance with the COSO framework which
consists of the five components: control
environment, risk assessment, control activ-
ities, information and communication, and
monitoring.

Control environment
The controf environment constitutes the
basis for Finnair's internal control system.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The control environment encompasses

the culture and values as well as a clear

and transparent organisational structure.
Finnair’s Internal Control Framework is a
fundamental element in the control environ-
ment and consists of the Code of Conduct,
Finnair Policies, Standards, Rules, and
Manuals, as well as the related key controls.

For the proper functioning of the internal
control and risk management of financial
reporting, clearly defined roles and respon-
sibilities are critical. The risk owners in the
first line of defence - i.e. business units,
Finance organisation as well as certain
other shared functions - are responsible for
the risk management activities, whereas
Risk & Compliance, being a control func-
tion in the second line of defence, facilitates
the identification and evaluation of risks,
assists the first line of defence in defining

the controls, and monitors the i a-

REMUNERATION
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Risk assessment

Risks are continuously identified and
analysed as part of the risk management
process. Risk management is an integral
part of running the business. Performing
risk assessments as part of the business
activities improves the relevance and
quality of risk assessment. Main respon-
sibility for performing risk assessments
regarding financial reporting risks lies with
the business organisation and shared func-
tions, i.e. the first line of defence. Processes
related to financial reporting are subject to
on-going risk assessment by the business
controllers, financial controllers and other
shared service staff as part of their activi-
ties.

Consistent with the Three Lines of Defence
model, the role of Risk & Compliance func-
tion is to develop and maintain the Finnair
Risk Framework.

tion of controls and risk management activ-
ities. In the third line of defence. Internal
Audit provides the Board of Directors with
an assessment of the overall effectiveness
of the governance, risk management and
control processes.
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Control activities

Financial reporting manuals and instruc-
tions have been prepared to be followed
across the organisation. The manuals and
instructions outlining the content and
schedule for the reporting aim to increase
the overall controllability of the financial
reporting process and ensure that finan-
cial statements fulfil the requirements set
in the IFRS standards and other applicable
requirements.

Risks related to financial reporting are
managed through controls aiming to
provide reasonable assurance that the
information of interim reports and year-end
reports are correct and that they have been
prepared in accordance with legislation,
applicable accounting standards and other
requirements for listed companies.

Control activities are applied in the busi-
ness processes and, from the finan-

cial reporting perspective, they ensure
that errors or deviations are prevented

or detected and corrected. Controls in
tinancial reporting pertain to the initia-
tion, recognition, measurement, approval,
accounting and reporting of financial trans-

THE REPORT OF THE
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actions as well as disclosure of finan-

cial information. The general IT controls
support the financial reporting controls

in areas like access controt and back-up
management. Responsibilities are assigned
in the Finance function ensuring that
analyses of the business performance,
including analyses on volumes, revenues,
costs, working capital, and asset values are
performed in accordance with the control
requirements.

Information and communication

The Finance organisation is responsible
for ensuring that the financial reporting
manuals and instructions are up-to-date
and that changes are communicated to the
relevant units and functions. The process
owners of the main finance processes are
responsible for informing about upcoming
changes in International Accounting Stand-
ards, new accounting principles and other
changes in reporting requirements.

The key principles of Finnair’s Disclosure
Policy regarding disclosure to the stock
markets are reliability, openness, consist-
ency and fairness. Finnair publishes press
and stock exchange releases without undue

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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THE KEY COMPONENTS AND ROLES IN CONTROL PLANNING, IMPLEMENTATION AND

MONITORING

—_—

Reports
audit ——
findings Feuorts
internal
| control
status
—

Audit J 1Cnmplian(e
L .

Board of Directors

Confirms Company values,

Code of Conduct and

i top-level policies
1
1 }
| Reviews Company values,
Executive Board { Code of Conduct and
— top-level policies,
approves other policies
Policy owner e ——
implements policy and key
T i controls derived from the
—_—— i policy, identifies risks and
develops controls
Key control owner
3
Standard, rules, manual Implements standards,
owner by rules and manuals
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delay and makes them available to the
markets and all principat stakeholders
simultaneously.

Monitoring and improvement

The business units and shared functions
regularly assess the maturity of their
control activities. The control function -
Risk & Compliance - facilitates the identifi-
cation and evaluation of risks, assists busi-
ness units and shared functions in defining
the controls, and monitors the implemen-
tation of controls and risk management
activities.

The design and effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems

are also assessed as part of the audits

by Internal Audit. Audit results, correc-
tive actions and their status, are regularly
reported to the Executive Board and to the
Audit Committee.

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit is established by the
Board of Directors, and its responsibilities
are defined by the Audit Committee of the
Board as part of their oversight responsi-
bility.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS

Internal audit, the independent assur-
ance function in the third Line of Defence,
performed audits according to the annual
plan approved by the Audit Committee of
the Board of Directors and performed also
assignments requested by the manage-
ment.

The mission of Internal Audit in Finnair is to
provide independent, objective assurance
and consuiting services designed to add
value and improve the organisation’s opera-
tions. Internal Audit helps the organisation
to mitigate factors that might undermine its
business objectives by bringing a system-
atic, disciplined approach to evaluate and
improve the effectiveness of risk manage-
ment, control and governance processes.

Related party transactions

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

family members and entities controtled
directly or indirectly by them, as defined in
IAS 24, are related to Finnair. Major share-
holders with more than 20 per cent owner-
ship of shares or of the total voting rights
in the Company, are included in related
parties. Finnair has defined procedures in
place for identifying related party transac-
tions.

In relation to any transaction with the
Company the related parties must obtain
permission in advance. The permission can
be given by the Executive Board, or if the
permission concerns the CEQ or a member
of the Board of Directors, by the Board of
Directors. The person concerned may not
participate in discussing the matter on the
Executive Board or the Board of Directors
or participate in preparations, decisions or

Related party transactions arer by
the Finnish Companies Act and the Corpo-
rate Governance Code issued by the Securi-
ties Market Association, as well as in the 1AS
24 Related parties. Finnair related parties
include the subsidiaries, associated compa-
nies and joint ventures. Also, the members
of the Board of Directors, the CEO and other
members of the Executive Board, their close

imp ion of the matter on behalf of
the Company.

In addition, the members of the Execu-
tive Board and the Board of Directors are
required to file an annual report of trans-
actions conducted by them or their related
parties with Finnair during the financial
period, as well as of transactions antici-

REMUNERATION

SUSTAINABILITY
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pated for the next period. The permission
and notification procedures only apply to
negotiated transactions. Hence, they do
not apply to service or product purchases
available on normal commercial terms or to
normal employee discounts.

Significant transactions between Finnair
and its related parties are announced with a
stock exchange release in accordance with
the rules of Nasdaq Helsinki. Information

on transactions with related parties is also
provided in note 4.5 to the financial state-
ments and they have been carried out at
market prices.

Managers' transactions and key
insider management procedures
Inside information within the Company and
transactions on Finnair financial instru-
ments by persons discharging manage-

rial responsibilities in the Company or their
closely related persons are managed in
accordance with the Market Abuse Regu-
lation (MAR}) and the insider guidelines

of Nasdaq Helsinki and of the Company.
The Company’s insider rules also apply to
employees in the so-called informative core
of the Company.
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The Company maintains a list of persons
discharging managerial responsibili-

ties in Finnair (managers), including their
closely related persons and entities, who
must notify the Company and the Finan-
cial Supervisory Authority of their trans-
actions on the Company's financial instru-
ments within three business days of the
execution of the transaction. The Company
must disclose these transactions in a stock
exchange release within two business days
from having received the notification of the
transaction. The Company’s managers are
the members of Finnair's Board of Directors
and of the Executive Board.

The Company’s managers and employees

in the so-called informative core of the
Company are bound by a closed window

on trading, which begins 30 days before

the release of interim or annual results

and continues until the end of the release
date. The Company may also impose other
trading restrictions and grant exemptions in
accordance with its insider rules.

Company must give an advance notice

to the Company before the execution of

a planned transaction. In addition, they
can request an advance assessment of
the legality of a planned transaction. The
advance notice obligation and advance
assessment opportunity are intended to
reduce the risk of trading during a closed
trading window or at a time when the
Company has undisclosed inside informa-
tion. Giving an advance notice does not
affect the responsibility of the Company's
managers and employees in its so-called
informative core regarding the abuse of
inside information.

The disclosure policy of the Company
requires, in accordance with the Market
Abuse Regulation (MARY), that the Company
discloses any inside information it may have
as soon as possible. However, the disclo-
sure may be delayed if the requirements
specified in MAR are met, The identifica-
tion of inside information and decisions
regarding the disclosure or delay of disclo-
sure are made by the Company’s Disclo-

The Company’s and employ

sure C i which is comprised of

in the so-called informative core of the

the members of the Executive Board. The

Disclosure Committee assesses the Compa-
ny's information typically twice a month
and otherwise whenever necessary. If the
Company defays the disclosure of inside
information, it establishes a project-spe-
cific insider ist and enters the persons with
access to the relevant information on the
insider list.

The person responsible for insider issues
within the Company is the General Counsel.
Finnair's insider rules are available at the
Company’s website.
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Directors’
Remuneration
Report 2020

REVIEW OF
THE YEAR 2020

This Report presents the remuneration

paid to members of the Board of Directors
and the CEO of Finnair during 2020. Remu-
neration paid to members of the Executive
Board is described on Finnair.com website.
The report has been prepared based on the
Finnish Corporate Governance Code 2020
and it complies with the requirements of the
£U’s Second Shareholder Rights Directive.

Introduction

Year 2020 was an exceptionally chal-
lenging year for Finnair due to the Covid-19
pandemic and its’ impact on Finnair’s busi-
ness. This had a major impact also on remu-
neration for the CEO, Executive Board
members and all employees at Finnair. As
incentive payouts are based on previous
years' performance, the pandemic's impact
on paid variable compensation was not

yet visible in 2020. The STl and LTI payouts
in the beginning of 2020 were based on
2019 performance (STI plan) and 2017-2019
performance (LTI plan).

CEO Topi Manner together with other Exec-
utive Board members voluntarily cut their
base salaries by 15% for a 6-month period

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

during 2020. Also the Board of Directors
voluntarily cut their annual fees by 15 %
starting June 2020 until the 2021 Annual
General Meeting.

The European Commission issued on 9
June 2020 a state aid decision regarding
the participation of the State of Finland

in Finnair's Rights Offering finding such
participation compatible with the EU state
aid rules under the Treaty on the Func-
tioning of the European Union Article
107(3)(b). Under the Commission’s deci-
sion, the Company agreed to certain condi-
tions following the Rights Offering, which
inctude, among other things, limitations
on management remuneration for a period
from June 2020 till the end of 2022. These
limitations resulted in Finnair not being
able to implement the STl and LTI struc-
tures as described in the Directors’ Remu-
neration Policy. To comply with the defined
limitations, Finnair cancelled ongoing
2020 ST as well as 2018-2020, 2019-2021
and 2020-2022 LTI plans for the CEO and
Executive Board members and launched a
new performance share plan for the CEO
and Executive Board members for the

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

period 7/2020-6/2023. At the same time,
a rebuild incentive plan for personnel was
launched that is based on the same period
and target setting.

Development of remuneration 2016-2020
Annual fees for the Board of Directors were
last changed in 2020 and before that, in
2008. The average paid remuneration to the
Board of Directors in the table below has
mainly varied from year to year depending
on the amount of Board and committee
meetings held during each year. The total
amount paid to the Board has increased as
the number of Board members increased
from 7 to 8 in 2018 and from 8 to 9 in 2020.
The Annual General Meeting held on 29 May
2020 decided to increase the annual board
fee by three percent for the Chair and by
one percent for the other members. The
Board decided to forego the increases and
additionally cut their current annual fees by
15% until the 2021 Annual General Meeting.
A significant share of the CEO's remuner-
ation is based on performance and vari-
able pay. As the performance targets for
short- and long-term incentives are linked
to Finnair's business results, this develop-

REMUNERATION

SUSTAINABILITY

REPORT APPENDIX

ment is reftected in the performance-based
rewards paid to the CEO. Remunera-

tion of the CEO increased strongly during
2016-2018 mainly due to increased vari-
able remuneration reflecting the compa-
ny’s improved financial performance.

2018 CEO remuneration includes both CEQ
Pekka Vauramo’s and interim CEO Pekka
Vihahyyppd's remuneration. CEO Topi
Manner joined Finnair on 1 January 2019,
and hence did not receive any short- or
long-term incentives during 2019 based
on previous years’ performance. The CEO's
variable compensation paid in 2020 was
based on 2019 (STI) and 2017-2019 (LTI)
performance.

Average paid remuneration of employees
have been impacted by a number of factors
during the past 5 years. In 2020, the exten-
sive temporary lay-offs decreased the paid
average remuneration per employee (all
employees, including active (at work) and
inactive (leave of absence)). Paid average
remuneration per active employee on

the other hand increased as the tempo-
rary lay-offs were extensive in operative
employee groups where the salary fevel is

18
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lower than average. The other main items Financial performance 2016-2020
impacting average remuneration over time The development of Finnair’s business
are CLA-based annual salary increases, performance impacts the CEQ’s perfor-
personnel incentive plan payouts as well as mance-based variable compensation. During
the volume of recruitments and retirements 2016-2018 both Finnair’s business results
(especially in those employee groups where and the CEOs remuneration increased
remuneration structures are heavily based strongly. The challenging year 2020 will
on seniority). be visible in paid variable compensation in
2021.
Paid total remuneration 2016-2020
Member 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
Chair of the Board 71968 77907 89308 74,223 82.800
Deputy Chair of the Board 52,365 55984 70,500 51,367 67,029
1 Other members of the Board, average 46,102 43,878 53,873 49,982 54,613
CE0 1,125,233 769.205 1456,648 1241910 992,886
Topi Manner Topi Manner Pekka Vauramo Pekka Vauramo Pekka Vauramo
1.1-31.10.2018
123714
Pekka Vahahyyppa
49.-3112.2018
Finnair employees (active employees), a‘}erage' 66,072 57608 56,131 62,880 59766
Finnair emptoyees (active and inactive 33835 54,852 53,333 59,866 56,557

employees), average**

* Average salary is calculated by dividing the total paid salaries with the a

of active (at work)

** Average salary is calculated by dividing the total paid salaries with the average number of all employees (m(luﬂes bmh Acwe 13[ wurk) and inactive (leave of absence) workers) during the year.
Temporary lay-olfs have a significant impact on average paid remuneralion of all employees.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Financial performance 2016-2020

Revenue

€ million
3,500
3,000
25500

2.000 — I —|
1,500 — |
1,000 — |

500 —|

Comparable operating result

€million
300
200
100
0
-100
200
300
-400
500
-600
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Paid remuneration of the Board of Directors in 2020
The fees for Board of Directors were paid in cash.
Board meetings Committee meetings
(participated/total (participated/total Meeting fees

Members 1.1.-31.12.2020 Annual fees' number of meetings) number of meetings) in total® Taxable benefits? Total

louko Karvinen (Chair) 55.845 16/16 0/o 14,400 1723 71968

Colm Barrington (Deputy Chair) 29,565 16/16 " 22,800 52,365

Mengmeng Du 27,375 16/16 99 21,000 48,375

Jaana Tuominen 29,565 16/16 99 17400 46,965

Montie Brewer 21375 16/16 n 21,600 48,975

Henrik Kjellberg 27375 16/16 Vi 24,600 48975

Jukka Erlund 29.565 16/16 8/8 15,000 44,565

Tiina Alahuhta-Kasko 27375 16/16 99 15,600 42975

Members 29.5.-31.12.2020

Maija Strandberg 14,875 8/8 " 7,800 22,675

Annual fees are expressed at the annual level but paid in monthly instalments. Annual fees were cut by 15% starting Sune 2020 5o that the impact for the whole year 2020 was approximately 9%.
The cut continues until 2021 Annual General Meeting.

‘Taxable benefits include Finnair stafl tickets. The members of the Board and their spouses have a right to use stalf tickets in accordance with Finnair's stalf ticket rule.

Meeting fees include fees paid during the year regardless of which year the meeting has been held. In the financial statement meeting fees are reported based on atlended meetings and therefore
the figures can be different.

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX
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Paid remuneration of the CEO in 2020

CEO 2020 CEO 2019
Remuneration paid, euros per year Topi Manner Topi Manner
Base Salary' In total, euros 724,866 751,597
Employee benefits? in total. euros 14,821 17488
Short-term incentives based on 2019 based on 2018
performance: performance:
In total, euros 216727 0
as 9 of paid base salary 28% 0%

Long-term incentives

based on 2017-2019

based on 2016-2018

performance: performance:

Key personne! LTI, monetary and share reward. euros 168,819 0

Fly Share, monetary and share reward, euros 0 120

Intotal, euros 168,819 120

as 9% of paid base salary 2% 0%

Supplementary pensions In total, euros 0 0
REMUNERATION PAID IN TOTAL 1,125,233 769,205

' Base salary includes holiday bonus.

2 Benefits include car. phone. siaif tickets and possible voluntary health insurance. . B
3 CEO Topi Maaner joined Finnair on 1 January 2019. and hence did not receive any short- or long-term incentives based on previous years' performance.

STATEMENT

The 2020 short-term incentive as well as
2018-2020, 2019-2021 and 2022-2022 long-
term incentive plans were cancelled for the
CEO due to the limitations set by the Euro-
pean Commission. Hence, there are no due
short or long-term incentive payments that
will be paid during 2021.

During 2020, a new 3-year performance
share plan was launched for the CEO and
the Executive Board members. The program
contains a three-year performaace period
(7/2020-6/2023). The potential rewards will
be delivered to the participants in a pre-de-
termined proportion of shares and cash
after the end of the performance period
and the rewards are at the participants’ free
disposal after delivery. To comply with the
restrictions set by the European Commis-
sion, the program structure differs from the
STiand LTl incentive structures described

in the Director’s Remuneration Policy but
the maximum annual incentive opportunity
remains within the 120% cap defined in the
Policy.

REMUNERATION
REPORT
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The pandemic’s impact on paid vari-

able compensation was not yet visible in
2020 as ST) and LTi payouts were based
on 2019 performance (ST plan) and 2017-
2019 performance (LTI plan). The 2019 ST
performance (based on a variety of finan-
cial and non-financial measures) for the
CEOQ was slightly below target level and
hence resulted in and ST! payout equaling
28% of annual base salary. The 2017-2019
EPS and revenue performance significantly
exceeded set targets and resulted in LTI
payout equaling 22% of paid annual base
salary. For CEO Topi Manner the LTI payout
was pro-rated to the length of his service
during the performance period.
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GR1400 Social

INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER'S
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REVIEW OF
THE YEAR 2020

Reporting Principles

This Sustainability Appendix is integrated
into the Annual Report and together they
form Finnair’s sustainability reporting. This
appendix has been prepared in accord-
ance with the GRI Standards: Core option
and Global Compact’s Communication

on Progress (CoP). The report covers the
parent company and all Finnish subsidi-
aries. The descriptions and information
presented in the Annual Report provide an
overview of the operations sustainability
context, while this appendix provides the
reader with more detailed information and
figures for the reporting year. The priorities
of the report are based on the materiality
analysis described on GRI-tzble Row 102-47
list of Material Topics.

Finnair group does not report on the oper-
ations of foreign subsidiaries, because they
are deemed not to be of key significance in
terms of the group’s sustainability issues
as minor operators. Any exceptions to this
should be mentioned separately in connec-
tion with each indicator. Finnair does not
report on outsourced operations, either.
The business units and subsidiaries covered
by the report are listed in the adjacent
table.

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION
STATEMENT REPORT

The information of the report has been
collected from the group’s internal statistics
systems and from various subcontractors.
In terms of measurement and calculation
methods, the GRI topic-specific accounting
principles have been adhered to whenever
the available data have so allowed. If some
other measurement or calculation method
has been used, this shall be mentioned in
connection with the key figure concerned.
The figures have been presented in time
series when this has been appropriaie and
retiably possible.

There have been no significant changes

in the data compared with the previous
report. Small amendments have been
made to provide reader with even more
reliant comparable data between reporting
periods.

Changes pertaining to Finnair’s organisa-
tional structure and the calculation of finan-
cial statement data are described in more
detail in connection with Finnair's financial
key figures.

SUSTAINABILITY
APPENDIX
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Human rights & Labour

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY

STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX

Global Compact; Communication on Progress -report

Environment

Principle 1: Businesses should support and respect the protection of internationally proclaimed human rights;
Principle 2: Make sure that they are not complicit in human rights abuse;

inci he elimination of all forms of forced and compulsory labour; and

Principle 5: The effective abolition of child labour.

Principle 7: Businesses should support a precautionary approach to environmental challenges;
Principle 8: Undertake initiatives to promote greater environmental responsibility; and
Principle 9: Encourage the development and diffusion of environmentally friendty technologies.

Practical actions Finnair's human rights management is described in the Finnair Code of Conduct, The
Supplier Code of Conduct, and the company’s personnel management principles. The
company aims 1o prevent any violations of human rights and the use of forced or child
labour both within its own operations and its supply chain.

Sustainability Appendix: 102-16. 103

Practical actions Finnair’s goal is to be an engaging leader in the field of environmental responsibility.
Finnair strives being a pioneer in evaluating, reducing and reporting environmental
impacts. Company is also committed complying with current environmental legislation,
but its environmental work aims at exceeding statutory requirements.

Modern aircraft are always more fuel-efficient and silent than previous-generation
aircraft, and hence Finnair's most significant environmentat action has been
continuous, ongoing investments in a modern fleet.

Sustainability Appendix: 102-1, 103, 300 series (Environmental Topics)

Labour
ASSURANCE REPORT

Principle 3: Businesses should uphold the freedom of association and the effective recognition of the right to

collective bargaining; Anti-corru ption

Practical actions Freedom of association and the collective right Lo negoliate on occupational issues are - N h inst al . " " "
recognised as fundamental rights in Finland. There is a long tradition of trade union Principle 10: Businesses should work against all forms of corruption, including extortion and bribery.
:c‘:,';;[zh':‘iu‘:z:;‘:;::‘i:mm:;'fﬂ'ﬂg::;: c‘:l?eﬁ:‘:;c:ig:;;tli,:::l::lnvi‘e:‘:[:i:r::i:im Practical actions Anti-corruption policies are outlined in Finnair's Code of Conduct and Supplier Code of

vy iy h Conduct as well as in the Rules for Anti-Bribery. Corporate Hospitality and Hosting of

employee groups are part of normal practice. Al Finnair employees have the right and Public Ofcils, Receiing and Gang of biibe sty protioed at Fnair.
opportunity to agree on terms of employment collectively. The group’s Conflict of Interest Guidelines cover the identification and avoidance of
The terms of employment of management employees are agreed on locally. Personnel conflicts of interest and related conduct.
and management remuneration principtes are described in the Remuneration .
statement. Sustainability Appendix: 103, 2052, 2061
Sustainability Appendix: 103, 407

Principle 6: The elimination of discrimination in respect of and ation. N .

| tation and Measurement of Outcomes

Practical actions Equality and non-discrimination are embedded in the Finnair values. and Finnair - - - - -
is committed to providing its customers, personnel and partners with equal Practical actions Finnair has a Whistleblowing line cafled Finnair Ethics Hetpline in use. through which
opportunities. Finnair does not discriminate based on gender, age, ethnic or national both internal and externat stakehalders can repert on concerns for ethical business
origin. nationality, language, religion, conviction, opinion, health, disability, sexual conduct. . X ’
orientation or other personal attributes or circumstances. During 2020 no magenal incidents of material misconduct were notified through the
Finnair offers everyone equal opportunities for recruitment, work performance, career Finnair Ethics Helpline nor were there any investigations ongoing in the company.

i i i the equal pay principle based on the
Finnish Equality Act and gives both men and women equal opportunities for balancing Annual report p 25, Non-Financial Performance
work and family life. Sustainability Appendix: 102-17, 300 & 400 series (Social & Environmental topics)
The working group for equality frequently updates the Equality and non-discrimination
plan published internally and externally.
Sustainability Appendix: 103, 406
Company’s Equality and Non-discri Plan
124 ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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E 102: Organisation Profile

102-1 Name of the organisation

Finnair Pic

102-2 Activities, Brands, Products and Services

Annual Report pages 6-11

102-3 Location of the Headquarters

Tietotie 9, Vantaa, Fintand

102-4 Location of the Operations

Annual Report pages 50, 18, 6-9

102-5 Ownership and Legal Form

Annual Report pages 30, 50

102-6 Markets Served

Annual Report page 10

102-7 Scale of the Organisation

Annual Report pages 10-14, 23-24
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Annual report, pages 23-24, Non-Financial Performance

Number of employees

Share of females, %

Share of permanent contracts, %

» GRI102 General disclosure Emelovees e 7% %
GRI 103 Management approach Management 73 34% 100%
GRI 200 Economic Executive Board 9 22% 100%
GRI 300 Environmental Board of Directors 9 44% 0%
GRI 400 Social
Distribution of employee groups, %
INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER'S
ASSURANCE REPORT 2020 2019
Employee Group Share from total, % Share of females, % Share from total, % Share of females, %
Cabin Crew 38 89 32 89
Pilots 15 3 14 3
White Collar Employees 14 44 15 44
Ground services and Finnair Kitchen 11 59 14 64
Abroad 7 70 9 72
Technical Services 7 5 7 7
Technical Employees 3 13 3 13
Aviation Employees 2 81 3 82
Management 1 34 1 35
Travel Guides 1 76 1 85
Travel Agency Staff 1 95 1 924
Indicators on personnel are based on active employment relationships as at 31 December 2020 and are derived from company’s HR system.
The figures exclude dormant employees and Aurinkomatkat Baltic subsidiary {(number of personnef on 31 December 2020).
126
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' 102-9 Supply chain

A report of the organistaion’s supply chain can be found under the chapter 103 Management Approach.

102-10 Signifi changes to the isation and its supply chain

Annual Report pages 28, 25

102-11 Precautionary Principle of Approach

Finnair has signed the Global Compact initiative, according to Principle 7 of which we support a precautionary approach to environmental challenges. To apply this approach, Finnair has an Environmental Policy in place and has included
systematic risk assessment, management and communication in its environmental management system. All environmental objectives, targets, impacts and promotion are managed and continuously developed through Finnair’s
Environmental Management System (EMS).

102-12 External initiatives

UN Global Compact

UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights

UN Women's Empowerment Principles

Finnish It's Society’s C¢ il 2050 (UN Agenda2030}
Nordic Network for Electric Aviation

|ATA's 25by2025

IATA resolution against modern slavery and human trificking
Diversity Charter Finland (by FIBS)

wildlife Transport Taskforce: Buckingham Palace Declaration
Helsinki Beclaration

Feasibility study on producing P2X fuel

102-13 Membership of associations

Airlines for Europe (A4E)

International Air Transport Association (IATA)
Glabal Compact Finland Netwark

Climate Leadership Council (CLC)

Nordic Initiative for Sustainable Aviation (NISA)
Finnish Business & Society (FIBS)

Nordic CEOs for Sustainable Fture

127
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[ 102: strategy I

102-14 from senior decision-maker

Annuat Report, pages 3-4, CEO Review
Annual Report, pages 6-9, Business Model and Operational Environment

The sustainability strategy is geared at preserving the license to operate from key stakehalders and contributing ta the good reputation and long-term shareholder value of Finnair. it also helps protect Finnair from the downside risk that
breaches of environmental regulations, climate change, human rights abuses or governance issues, such as corruption, can bring to a company.

102-15 Key impacts, risks, and opportunities (comprehensive)

Annual Report, page 9, Value creation

Annual report, page 6, Megatrends

Annual report, pages 33-36, Risk management

Company’s website: nanc

Foz: Ethics and integrity
102-16 Values, principles, standards, and norms of behaviour

Annual report page 9, Value creation model.

Finnair's corporate sustainability is reflected in its purpose, strategy, mission, vision and values of commitment to care, simplicity. courage and working together. Sustainability is integral to all Finnair operalions, as stated in its strategy's
target: Sustainable, profitable growth, The target of Finnair’s sustainability strategy is to reduce the enviranmental impact and increase the financial and social return for society.

The Finnair Code of Conduct and Finnair Supplier Code of Conduct lay the foundation of how the company conducts its business responsibly, in all areas. The values, Codes of Conduct and policies implemented thereunder set the standard
for Finnair and its employees across the jurisdictions and environments in which the company operates.

The key areas of the strategy fall under the following themes: Environment, Social and Economic. Finnair is committed to complying with international and nationai legislation in its operations and the ethical business principles laid out in
the Code of Conduct, as well as continuously developing its sustainability performance. The most significant environmental aspects are the combustion of fuel. aircraft noise, energy usage in corporate facifities and waste generation. The
most important social responsibility areas concern safety, personnel and customers, as well as ethical business conduct and responsible sourcing.

Finnair respects the UN Universal Declaration on Human Rights and the core ¢ ions of the {ILO). Finnair has also signed the United Nation’s Global Compact initiative and as required by the Global
Compact principles, the company aims to prevent any viclations of human rights and the use of forced or chdd Iabnur both within its own aperations and its supply chain. Finnair has been reporting on its corporate responsibility pursuant
to the GRI G4 reporting guidelines since 2015 and from 2018 have followed the GRI standard framework.

102-17 Mechanisms for advice and concerns about ethics (comprehensive)

Finnair conducts its business in a responsible way and in accordance with its Code of Conduct. In order to protect the company and our business, all employees with knowledge of suspected violations of the Jaw, misconduct or fraudulent or
unethical conduct in violation of the Code of Conduct are encouraged to raise the concern and report it in accordance with the reporting procedures provided. Primarily, all employees are encouraged to raise concerns and report possible
violations through normal reporting procedures. Supporting this, Finnair has a Whistieblowing line called Finnair Ethics Helpline in use, through which both internal and external stakeholders can report on conceras for ethical business
conduct. All reports through the Ethics Heipline are received and handled directly by the Compliance function.

The identity, or anonymity as the case may be, of the person raising concerns will be protected and Finnair has a strict policy of non-retaliation against anyone raising a concern in good faith. Third party that hosts Ethics Helpline will
never disclose voice-files, IP addresses or phone numbers, unless authorities are involved. The right of non-retaliation is guaranteed under the Finnair Code of Conduct and violation of this right will not be tolerated. Filing a report wili not,
however, automatically result in immunity for misconduct.
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LIOZ: Governance j

102-18 Governance structure

Finnair's management system is aimed to create value for all its stakenolders by bridging the world in a sustainable and safe manner.

A detailed description of Finnair governance mode! can be found from Company internet pages: finnair.c nance

102-19 Delegating Authority (comprehensive)

The company management structure can be viewd on the Company’s website: https://i finnair.c

102-20 Executive-level ibility for Economic, and Social Topics (comprehensive)

The executive-tevel responsibilities and reporting structure can be viewed on the company’s website: https://i finnair.

102-30 Effectiveness of risk management processes

The internal control and risk management system at Finnair - corporate-wide coverage, hence 100% of operations - is the following:

Finnair’s Internal Control Framework is the defined set and structure of the company’s internal policies, rutes, procedures and key contros, including those in place in the area of inability. The is { developed
and maintained to ensure the efficiency of the internal control system. The Internal Controf Framework is designed to ensure eifective and efficient operations, adequate identification, measurement and mitigation of risks, prudent conduct
of business, including safeguarding of assets, sound administrative and accounting procedures, reliability of financial and non-financiat information both externally and internally, and compliance with laws, regulations, supervisory
requirements and with Finnair’s internal policies and rules. The Finnair Internal Control Framework covers the whole Finnair group, and thus all operations. The primary governance principle is adherence to the Three Lines of Defence
model, with a clear division of reles and responsibilities with respect to internal control and risk management. A proper Three Lines of Defence governance ensures that the segregation of duties is defined and established between risk
management and risk control.

102: Stakeholder engagement 1

102-40 List of stakeholder graups

Stakeholder groups are fisted in a table presented in 102-43; approach to stakeholder engaement,

102-41 Collective bargaining agreements

Annuat Report, pages 23-27, Non-Financial Performance
Employees can agree on their terms of employment through collective bargaining in countries in which that is the local practice. Finnair does not limit its employees’ rights to participate in trade union activities. Senior management
constitutes an exception to this, as its terms of employment are agreed on locally or individually.

102-42 (dentifying and selecting stakeholders

An open and transparent dialogue with various stakehotder groups provides the basis for an activ i ion and

process. We pro-activaly provide and gather information through social media, print, and other
forms of communication medias.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



J

SUSTAINABILITY
REPORTING PRINCIPLES

GLOBAL COMPACT COMMUNICATION
ON PROGRESS REPORT (CoP)

GRI CONTENT INDEX

» GRI102 General disclosure
GRI103 Management approach
GRI 200 Economic
GRI 300 Environmental
GRI 400 Social

INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER'S
ASSURANCE REPORT

REVIEW OF THE REPORT OF THE FINANCIAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY
THE YEAR 2020 BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENTS STATEMENT REPORT APPENDIX
102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement

Stakeholder Group  Topics Channels

Customers Travel experience, customer service issues, product quality, on-time performance, Surveys, research, written feedback, Finnair website, social media, customer events, customer
emissions and noise reduction, safety, recycling, responsible sourcing, service encounters at every stage of the journey. messages to Finnair Plus customers,
responsible tourism. corporate responsibility projects via Finnair Plus. Finnair mobile app, Blue Wings inflight magazine, In-flight Entertainment sysiem (IFE).

Personnel Occupational health and wellheing at work, equality, diversity and inclusion, target setting, Intranet, internal blogs, theme weeks, Yammer, personnel events, WeTogether@Finnair-
Code of Conduct and ethical issues. saietv and security, changes to improve profitability, Wellbeing at Work -survey, n:cupanonal health services, performance evaluation and
values and business practices, increasing trust, reducing environmental impact on planning, dit h labour isations. Leadership forum.
the job, corporate responsibility in partnerships, changes affecting personnel.

Shareholders Market environment and competitive landscape, the company’s operations,

and investors

corporate responsibility, goals, reporting, strategy and financial position.

Stock exchange bulletins under periodic and ongoing disclosure obligation:
interim reports, financial statements, report of the Board of Directors. Corporate
Governance Statement. Annual General Meeting; investor, analyst and media
meetings and events; corporate website: Carbon Oisclosure Project.

Aviation sector Safety, emissions and noise reduction, emissions reduction schemes, air traffic management, Membership in IATA and A4E: cooperation forum for sustainable tourism;
biofuel and supply chain development, sustainable tourism, economic impacts of the sector. membership in oneworld alliance; Joint Businesses; cooperation with Finavia and

other airport operators; sector seminars and working groups; manufacturers.

Authorities and Competitiveness, market access, safety, emissions trading and reduction Dlaloguewxm local, na!mnal EU-level authormes and governments: dialogue

government schemes. air traffic management, supply chain responslmmv, reporting, emnomlc and authorities in and overftight countries, events
contribution of aviation, impact of and noise, and other cooperation with the Finnish Consumer Agency, Flight Safety Authority
and irregularities, biofuels, employee relallnns‘ the Transport Code. (Traficom), embassies and other relevant Finnish and foreign actors.

NGOs. Greenhouse gas emissions and environmental impact reduction. public health Cooperation with the WWF, Finnish Association for Nature Conservation, UNICEF,
measures, human rights, disaster relief, wnld!:ie protection, common m(eres( projects Finnish Red Cross, Cancer Society of Finland and other NGOs. Membership in the
for and supply chain ¢ Carbon Disclosure Project and the Climate Leadership coalition, Commitment

2050 -cooperation, Science Based Targets initiative -cooperation.

Research, Greenhouse gas emissions and envi ranmenlal impact reduction, common interest projects Finnair website, social media, customer events and cooperation projects.
for and supply chain

Innovation Partners

Suppliers Cooperation efforts to reduce emissions and other environmental impacts, monitoring Contractual cooperation, Finnair procurement guidelines and Supplier Code of Conduct.
of responsibility and business ethics everywhere in the value chain.

Media Company strategy and business, Finnair products and network, dally operations irregularities, Press releases, press conferences, visits by reporters, press trips, interviews, Finnair
investments, emissions reduction, personnel relations, financial sustainability, economic contribution media desk calls and emails, websites social media, Blue Wings magazine.
of aviation, ethics, cooperation projects with NGO, trends in travel and traffic, biofuels, emissions
trading and reduction schemes, noise, impact of aviation on local economy and mobiity.

General public Customer service, product quality, fabour relations, economic contribution Communications via media, websites, email and lectures; social media
of aviation, ethics, emissions reduction, presence in local economies, including blogs, Facebook, Twitter and Sina Weibo.
cooperation projects with NGOs, corporate citizenship.

102-44 Key topics and concerns raised
Key Topics of the stakeholder groups are listed in a table presented in 102-43; approach to stakeholder engaement
130
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Annual report pages 81-83, Consolidation

GRI CONTENT INDEX — - -
» GRI102 General disclosure 102-46 Defining report content and topic Boundaries

GRI103 Management approach Finnair has performed materiality analysis to identify the key economic, environmental and social values and impacts in Finnair's value chain as well as impacts on business and stakeholder decision making. The materiality analysis issues

. have been identified through an analysis of industry trends, legislation, sustainability reporting guidelines, the reporting of peer companies and issues highlighted by various stakeholders. Priorities have been given for the identified

GRI 200 Economic sustainability topics based on their business impact and stakeholder interest. The material topics defined, as a result of the materiality analysis. have been grouped under four themes and have been used as the basis for 2020 reporting.

GRI 300 Environmental Finnair's sustainability focus areas, material topics, and related GRI standards and boundaries can be found in the table below (102-47).

GRI 400 Social 102-47 List of material topics

FOCUS AREA MATERIAL TOPICS GRI TOPICS TOPIC BOUNDARIES

INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER'S

Ethical business and responsible sourcing
ASSURANCE REPORT

Ethics and integrity

Code of Conduct Environmental compliance

Socioeconomic compliance

Ethical business and responsidle sourcing Anti-corruption and bribery Anti-corruption Finnair's own operations, partners and supply chain

Compliance with anti-competition reguiations Anti-competitive behaviour

Supplier social assessment
Supply chain sustainability

Human rights assessment

Environmental

Energy Fuel efficiency Energy intensity

Noise Flight noise

Protection of the natural environment Biodiversity Biodiversity
Climate change mitigation

Emissigns Renewable fuels f«:&i?&fﬂ"ﬁéﬂ?ﬁﬁ;’;ﬂ? ¢ Finnair's own operations, supply chain, indirect
Offsetting impacts on gas emissions and biodi

Reusing products

Reducing waste
Waste Effluents and waste
Reducing disposable plastics

Recycling of marerials
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FOCUS AREA MATERIAL TOPICS GRI TOPICS TOPIC BOUNDARIES
+ Social
Employee experience Employment

Employee brand image

Labour/management relations

Employee well-being

Occupational health and safety

. Caring for our employees — Finnair's own operations
GRI 200 Economic Working conditions Training and education
GRI 300 Environmental N Diversity and equal opportunity
GR1400 Social Equality -
Human rights assessment
Flight safet Stakeholder engagement
INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER'S 8 i g3g
ASSURANCE REPORT Customer experience Customer health and safety
Respecting our customers Equality Marketing and labelling Finnair's own operations and customers
. Customer privacy
Responsible use of customer data -
Human rights assessment
Stakeholders Stakeholder engagement Finnair’s own operations, society
Public policy and local communities
Economic
Economic performance [ . N
Economic impact Economic responsibility I - — | F:'nglaw SIOW::,;DE':;EIOHS,SUCIQIV
| | Indirect economic impacts | ang local communities
132
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102-48 Restatements of information

THE REPORT OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

REMUNERATION
REPORT

SUSTAINASILITY
APPENDIX

In 2020 restatements have been made to the 2019 figures concerning the facilities’ energy consumption and emissions. Also, 2019 Scope 3 emissions have been amended to include ground vehicles indiect emissions. More detailed
information on these minor changes are provided under the sections on the indicator in question.

102-49 Changes in reporting

There has been no significant changes in the material topics in year 2020

102-50 Reporting period

1 January-31 December 2020

102-51 Date of most recent report

February 2020

102-52 Reporting cycle

Annually

102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the report

Finnair strategy, Finnair Pic, Tietotie 9, 01053,
e-mail: Finnair.comms(at)finnair.com

102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance with the GRI Standards

This sustainability appendix has been prepared in accordance with the GRI Standards: Core option

102-55 GRI content index

The easy-to-navigate index of this GRI appendix content is implemented with a table of contents in the left margin.

102-56 External assurance

Sustainability Appendix pages 153-154
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

GLOBAL COMPACT COMMUNICATION [ 103: Management approach ]
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103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary
103-2 The management approach and its components

GRI CONTENT INDEX 103-3 Evaluation of the management approach
GRI 102 General disclosure Annual report, pages 6-9, Business model and operational environment
Annual report, pages 19-21, Strategy
» GRI103 Management approach Annual report, pages 23-27, Non-Financial Performance

GRI 200 Economic
GR1 300 Environmental
GRI1400 Social Company Internet pages:

General Management Principles

Sustainability Management
INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER'S
Finnair's purpose is to create value for all its stakeholders by bridging the world in a sustainable and safe manner. Finnair's standpoint in sustainability is reflected in its purpose, strategy, mission and values. Sustainability
ASSURANCE REPORT is integral to all Finnair operations. Finnair sustainability strategy’s target is to reduce the environmental impact and increase the financiaf and social return for society. The material topics of sustainability fall under the
following themes: Ethical business, Social, Economic and Environment. Sustainability at Finnair concerns everyone and we strive to incorporate the sustainability topics equally in all our processes and product design.

ETHICAL BUSINESS
Human Rights and Code of Conduct

Finnair is committed to comply with international and national legistation in its operations, as well as the ethical business principles laid out in the Code of Conduct and the Sustainable Development Goals
(SDG) set by The United Nations General Assembly. The Code of Conduct applies to all Finnair personnel and alf locations. Further, Finnair's Supplier Code of Conduct provide clear prlncnples to ensure e.g.
ethical purchasing and zero-tolerance for corruption. The company requires that its suppliers comply with ethical standards that are essentially similar to those that Finnair compties with in its own operations.
Finnair is working to further integrate sustainability and ethical business conduct into all business processes. Finnair’s Code of Conduct includes an anti-corruption section according to which the receiving
and giving of bribes is strictty prohibited. Preventing corruption is everyone’s responsibility at Finnair, including the heads of business operations, compliance function and the internal audit.

Finnair respects the UN Universal Declaration on Ruman Rights and the ¢ ions of the i Labour lization (ILO). The company has signed the United Nation's Global Compact initiative and
as required by the Global Compact principles, the company aims to prevent any violations of human rights and the use of forced or child labour both within its own operations and its supply chain.

Public affairs and lobbying

Aviation is a strictly regulated industry. Therefore, it is i important for Finnair to pamnpate in d|§cnssmns and decision- makmg regarding its operating conditions. It is part of the company’s growth strategy 1o aim towards seturmg adequate
traffic rights. Finnair pursues its interests in an ethically manner by its views, and expertise. The company does not pressurise or support palitical decision-makers in any way in pursuing
its interests. The legality and ethicality of lobbying activities is controlled as part of the company’s general supervision and audit processes. The aim of Finnair's lobbying activities is to maintain relationships concerning relevant policy

and to participate in refevant negotiations and the operations of advocacy organisations. When lobbying on various civil aviation and industry regulation issues. Finnair typically cooperates with various organisations and chambers

of commerce. Finnair is an active member of various aviation industry organisations, such as A4E and 1ATA, but also in the Confederation of Finnish Industries (EK), and its sub-associations and in several chambers of commerce.

Communications

Finnair aims at open, honest and timely communications. In line with these principles, Finnair's communications are also in compliance with regulations governing listed companies and limited
liability companies, as well as the obligations of the Finnish Act on Cooperation within Undertakings and the cammunications guidelines of the State Ownership Steering Department.
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Finnair takes different perspectives into consideration and respects all stakeholders’ views of its operations. Finnair's internal communications are based on reciprocity. Every employee has the duty to communicate
matters related to their area of responsibility to the relevant target groups. Those in supervisory roles have a further duty to communicate goals, operations and results to their own work community and ¢reate a work
environment that enables genuine constructive discussion. The company systematically develops its communication channels to enable more efficient communications and to facilitate constructive discussion.

Ethics Helpline

Finnair has a Whistlebtowing line called Finnair Ethics Helpline in use, through which concerns for ethical business conduct can be raised. This is open for both internal and external stakeholders.

During 2020 no material incidents of material misconduct were notified through the Ethics Helpline nor were there any investigations on-going in the company.

ECONOMIC RESPONSIBILITY

Finnair has substantial direct and irdirect financial implications on Finland’s national and local economies. Aviation is a significant industry for Finnish saciety and the national economy. The accessibility created
by airline traffic is a necessity for Finland's global competitiveness and its economic impact is considerable: aviation is estimated to account for 3.5-4 per cent of GDP, employment and tax revenue.

Finnair's objective is to create sustainable economic added value by producing flight services profitably, cost-competitively and in harmony with the needs of the environment
and society. Sustainable operations are the cornerstone of profitable business activity, and Finnair considers the effects of its operations on society.

Finnair's Board of Directors set the company's financial targets which are provided with investors. As a public limited company. Finnair is committed to earning a profit for its shareholders, The company’s
profit distribution principles are expressed in Finnair's dividend policy. Finnair's financial reporting aims to transparently provide intormation about Finnair’s financial position and development.

In financial reporting, Finnair applies the rules relating to listed companies as well as international financial reporting standards. Most of Finnair's operational activities are based on the official
regulations and are subject to official supervision. Within the group, the legality and acceptability of operations is monitored as part of Finnair's general control and audit processes.

ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

Finnair's goal is to be an engaging leader in the field of envi ifity. Finnair's envi ibili is based on the principle of continuous and systematic
improvement. The company has identified the key environmental aspects of its operations, their impacts, risks and opportunities involved, and set targets related to them.

Finnair shall enforce circular economy principais and poflution prevention hierarchy in its functions; prevent, reduce, reuse, control. Finnair Group is committed to the airline industry’s common goal of carbon
neutral growth from 2020 onwards. to halve the carbon net emissions by 2025 compared to the 201 level, and fly carbon neutral by the end 2045. Finnair strives being a pioneer in evaluating, reducing
and reporting environmental impacts. Company is also committed complying with current envi legislation, but its envi work aims at exceeding statutory requirements.

The biggest environmental impact of an airline is its aircraft engine air emissions. Another easily observed impact is aircraft noise at the areas susrounding airports, Other material envi impacts arise from common company
operations, including different waste streams and corporate buildings’ energy Finnair consid aspects and impacts in all its flight and ground operations. In addition to solutions around energy use
that reduce the environmental impazt, Finnair's trategy includes also the i i f circular economy principals and the preservation and promotion of natural diversity, known as biodiversity thinking.

Finnair participates actively in civil aviation environmental committees as well as in industry workgroups in Finland and the Nordic countries, promoting the reduction of the aviation sector’s environmental load. An open dialogue
with different stakeholders, continuaus development of operations according to the latest available information and being active in i new are the pr for

Finnair report on environmental impacts regularly as part of the annual reporting and as a part of the Carbon Disciosure Project (CDP). Company also
communicate directly with various parties about its operations and gladly answers any questions arising from its stakeholders.

All the above-mentioned environmental objectives, targets. impacts and promotion are managed and continuously developed through Finnair's Environmental Management System (EMS). The system complies with 1ATA Environmental
Assessment Program (IEnvA) Stage 2 and IS0 14001. IEnvA is an environmental management system developed by 1ATA specifically for airfines, which helps the company to make use of the best practices in the industry.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Finnair’s operations is by nature very diverse and in many ways hlghly technical. Company organisation and partners are present in dozens of countries around the globe and are subject toa
wide range of laws and regulations. The core areas of the company's social responsibility include safety, care for our employees and customers, and supply chain management.
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Safety

Safety is at the core of all Finnair’s operations. Flight safety and giving priority to it are part of ail decision-making at every stage. Finnair has implemented a Safety Management System (SMS) through which it continuously develops the
safety performance of the operations. It covers all aspects of flight safety: policy. risk training and ct for the entire personne! and subcontractor chain, continuous compliance evaluation of operations and
the assessment of the potential impact of new factors in the operating environment. official regulations and standards set the minimum standards for Finnair's safety management, which the company aims to exceed in all areas.

One of the central elements in Finnair’s safety system is the safety reporting concerning the entire staff. The company encourages its personnel and subcontractors to actively report any
events they come across that could potentially compromise safety. Each report is analysed, classified and assessed for risk, followed by necessary corrective or preventive actions. The
person submitting the report will be notified of the outcome of the investigation. Atongside subjective observations, Finnair extensively monitors and analyses objective indicators, such as
flight data. Ongoing monitoring and analysis enable a transparent risk level in al) areas, which in turn enables prompt action on any indication of altered safety level.

Events that seriously jeopardise safety are extremely rare and almost without exception an impartial safety investigation is launched on each such event. Serious incident investigations

are coordinated by public officials (Safety Investigation Authority) or. if the authorities elect not to investigate the event, Finnair will conduct its own internal safety investigation, The

safety investigators always carry out the investigation independently and the company’s management has no opportunity to influence the investigation outcome.

A strong safety culture, objective monitoring of the company’s own operations, continuous development and implementing improving measures as well as open dialogue with the authorities guarantee safe and high-quality airline operations.
Personnel Experience

A core part of Finnair’s social responsibility invalves taking care of its employees and their working conditions. Finnair personnel management policies cover all aspects of social responsibility that have been
identified as material. The impacts affecting the personnel and the warking conditions are managed as based on the respective national regulations. Finnair values, guidelines and policies.

Finnair does not discriminate based on gender, age, ethnic or national origin, nationality, language, religion, conviction, opinion, health, disability, sexval orientation or other
personal attributes or circumstances. Finnair does not condone harassment in the work community. Repomng infractions is employee’s basic right and the company is determined
1o take steps to intervene in all cases brought to its knowledge. Every employee is responsible for acting in a way no one is accorded unequal status.

Finnair offers equal opportunities to everyone with regard to recruitment, work performance, career ion and Finnair i the equal pay principle based on the Finnish Equality Act and gives both
men and women equal opportunities for batancing work and family fife. In 2011, Finnair signed the United Nations Women's Empowerment Principles, which give guidance on the empowerment of women in the workplace,
marketplace and community. Year 2019 Finnair signed on an aviation initiative 25by2025, pledging that by 2025 we will have either 25% or women in all work groups or a 25% improvement in the gender equality.

Finnair complies with procedures jointly agreed by the employer and I for th iate conduct, and conflicts. Finnair has also promoted the prevention culture and processes
of easily accessible services. The procedures are based on the Finnish Act on Occupational Safety and Health and complies with the model recommended by the Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Kealth.

Leadership and competencies are developed on an individual, team, unit and isation leve!. Learning and solutions are typically either adopted by the entire personnel
or tailored for specific development needs within a unit. They may also be aimed at developing professional skills, based on official requirements or in support of personal development.
Development needs in teams and the organisation are identified and the wellbeing and commitment of the personnei are regularly monitored through a personnel survey.

Finnair has employee wellbeing high on the agenda. Company's People & Culture rcadmap covers all the aspects of employee welibeing: Leadership and Management, People development,
Strategic resource management, Compensation and Benefits and driving Workability. In workability area sick teave development and means to improve early pensions due to workability
reasons have been top on the agenda and Occupational health and safety has kept on building even more safe working environments at all Finnair locations.

At Finnair, the Finnair Health Services unit is ible for the of { health care services. Finnair Health Services focus on preventive care. The model of early caring and the occupational ability
risk management system provide two examples of preventive health care gmdehnns The operational and service quality of Finnair Health Services is based on the European Foundation for Quality Management's EFQM
Excellence Modet. The quality system is used to ensure that Finnair Health Services meets the requirements for good occupational health care practice in both aviation health care and aviation medicine services.

Freedom of association and the collective right to negotiate an occupational issues are recognised as fundamental rights in Finland. There is a long tradition of trade union activity in the company. Labour market culture in the
company has been constructed in such a way that the organisation of workers and collective negotiations between the company and employee groups are part of normal practice. All Finnair employees have the right and opportunity
to agree on terms of employment collectively. The terms of employment of management employees are agreed on locally. Personnel and management remuneration principles are described Remuneration statement.
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Customer Experience

Finnair is committed in transporting customers, their baggage and cargo to appointed destinations safely, smoothly and punctually. The most material product responsibility aspects in the Finnair Group operations are flight
safety, health safety. one-time-performance, food safety, responsibility for individual customers, and responsibility for the cargo carried. The aviation industry consists of regulated value chains comprised of multiple suppliers of
products and services. As an airfine and service company at the top of this value chain, Finnair creates added value for the customers by providing them with a variety of product and service choices together with its partners.

Customers must be able to trust in the fact that they will be cared for throughout the entire service chain. Finnair has the responsibility for the customers’ overall quality experience, although some services are produced by its
partners rather than the company itself. Therefore, Finnair pays increased attention to the selection of its partners and they are required to comply with Finnair's quality assurance policies and ethical guidelines. Monitoring and
supervision of customer service is based on regular auditing, customer feedback and customer satisfaction surveys, as well as external measurements. Finnair's partners” operations are afso continually evaluated. Monitoring is
systematic and is based on set targets and evaluating performance. Finnair continuously develop these processes and assess the passibilities to use new technologies to improve the customer experience and operational efficiency.
At Finnair, situations that deviate from the norm are prepared for in advance. The group has developed processes for various unexpected situations, and they are continually updated and maintained. Flight traffic irregularities

are handled with care. and efforts are made to minimise inconvenience to the customer. Finnair has recently invested in new tools to both serve the customers better and perform the operations in a more optimized way.

Finnair respects the privacy of its customers and is committed to ensuring that personal details and other customer information are processed appropriately. Finnair has implemented the requirements of
the EUs General Data Protection Regulation (GBPR) in all its business processes. Company do all its best to guarantee the confidentiality, security and accuracy of customer data under all circumstances.
Company processes personal details at all stages of travel in compliance with the legislation on personal data and regulations issued by the authorities in the countries in which we operate.

Finnair Kitchen is responsible for food- and product-safety for all Finnair inflight services. Quality and safety of the catering operations are covered by Finnair Kitchen Quality
Management System. Official regulations and industry standards set the minimum requirements, which the company aims to exceed in all areas.

Finnair's Ground Operations unit is responsible for the acquisition, quality criteria and quality control of ground handling services required at airports. The unit's task is to ensure
that the ground services used by Finnair fulfil the requirements set for them, both in terms of quality and with respect of safety and official regutations.

To deliver on their service promises, Finnair Cargo, Kitchen and Ground Operations unit apply a systematic evaluation process to select subcontractors and partners. Partners are required, for example, to ensure and
maintain the competency of their personnel, and to ensure that vehicles, equipment and premises are appropriate. In addition to quality audits, Finnair regularly performs quality inspections to continuously monitor
both its own and subcontractors’ work. Finnair Cargo and Ground are for and updating their own quality systems and ensuring that operations comply with the requirements.

Supply Chain

The sustainability of the supply chain is very important for the airline as Finnair uses partners and service providers to an increasing degree as it expands its international route network. As provided in
Finnair's Code of Conduct, its procurement operations are based on the fair treatment of suppliers. Finnair has its own ethical guidelines for suppliers, the Finnair's Supplier Code of Conduct, and expects
all suppliers and partners to comply with the Supplier Code or essentially snmllar ethical standards. All partaers and subcontractors, moreover, are obliged to comply with the principles of the UN Universal
Declaration of Human Rights as well as local legislation. Finnair's ourcing Manual the Supplier Code of Conduct as internal instructions for implementation.

The persons making sourcing decisions must always stay independent in relation with business partners concerned. Finnair employee must declare themselves disqualified due to bias whenever they are required to make a decision pertaining
10 a contract or business relationship involving family relationships, ownership in the company concerned (with the exception of a reasonable share of ownership in a listed company), or any other business or debt relationship external

to Finnair, Finnair does not accept corruption in any form and requires that its personnel and partners comply with the principles of the UN's Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Finnair has a process and guidelines for commuouslv
improving the sustainability of supply chain and for handling possible non-compliances. Company aspires to continuously develop practices ensuring negative sustainability impacts can be mitigated and responsible sourcing is favoured.

Finnair’s Executive Board group is responsible for the steering of the group’s procurement activity. The management of the Procurement unit has the duty to ensure that the personnel carrying out purchasing has access to valid
purchasing guidelines and that the guidelines are observed. Audits are performed in certain product and service groups and especially among strategic and key suppliers. Auditing focuses on quality and safety factors.

Finnair is aware of the risks related to environment and human rights in geographical and industry-specific areas and aims at continuous.
improvement of preventive actions. The dialogue with the suppliers is continuous via themed supplier events.
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SUSTAINABILITY GRI Content Index
REPORTING PRINCIPLES
GLOBAL COMPACT COMMUNICATION [ 201: Economic Performance ]
ON PROGRESS REPORT (CoP) 201-1 Direct economic value generated and distributed
EUR mill. 2020 2019 2018 2017
GRI1 CONTENT INDEX
GRI102 General disclosure Direct economic value generated
GRI 103 Management approach Revenue 829.2 3,097.7 2,836.1 2,568.4
» GRI 200 Economic Other operating income 48.4 56.4 73.7 77.0
GRI300 Environmental Sales gains and losses on aircraft and other transactions [X] 02 427 401
GRI 400 Social Financial income 38.7 33 2.2 03
Total . ,157. ,950. 1689,
INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER'S o 9122 34526 29503 2.689.3
ASSURANCE REPORT
Economic vatue distributed
Materials, services and other operating expenses . 831.8 2,128.3 1.899.3 1,909.6
staff costs 158.6 530.9 494.7 4189
Payments made to shareholders and loan providers 247.2 120.1 181.0 41.9
Dividend 0.0 35.0 38.4 12.8
Hybrid bond interests and expenses 18.5 15.8 15.8 15.8
Financial expenses 228.6 69.4 126.8 13.4
Payments 1o governments 8.7 145 19.2 7.2
Donations and other charitable payments 0.0 00 0.0 0.0
Total 1,246.3 2,793.9 2,594.2 2,372.5
Economic value retained for operational development -329.1 363.7 356.2 3118
investments in tangible and intangible assets and accuisitions of subsidiaries 515.9 4438 474.0 5115
Comparable operating result -595.3 162.8 218.4 170.4
Return on capital employed (ROCE). % -15.2 6.3 9.3 13.6
Figures on economic responsibility are mainly derived from the financial statements and collected from company’s reporting system.
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201-2 Financial implications and other risks and opportunities due to climate change

Annual report pages 33-35, Risk management
Company Internet -pages: finnair.c

Finnair has implemented a systematic Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework and process, which is based on the COSO ERM framewaork. The process considers all potential risks, including climate change-related risks and evaluates
their poteatial financial impacts. The summary of the process and the list of most significant risks are presented in the Company Internet -pages. Finnair has identified and assessed various short- (1-2 years) and mid-term (3-5 years)
climate-related risks and opportunities against IEA WEQ 450 and IPCC RCPA.5 scenarios. In brief, Finnair prepare for jet fuel price increase, advocata on global or regional sustainability charges instead of national ones and upkeeps active
dialogues between different stakeholders to secure the reputation and basic need of the aviation industry.

201-4 Financial assistance received from government

Public subsidies normally consist of subsidies received for training and they are primarily related to the aviation training services provided by Finnair. The Finnair Aviation College, founded in 1964, is a special vocational educationai
establishment maintained by Finnair Plc. which operates as a special educational establishment under the Act on Vocational Adult Education (631/1998). The reported public subsidies do not include subsidies paid to the airline business by
the authorities in various countries, as they are considered business secrets.

2020 2019

Public subsidies received 4.4 13

* 3.3 mittion euros relate to COVID-19 subsidies.

Figures are derived from the financial statements.

203: Indirect economic impacts }

203-2 Significant indirect economic impacts

Finnair's sustainable growth and current route network utilising Helsinki Hub's geographical position enable Finland to have better connections to other parts of the world than domestic demand alone could support. This has a significant
impact on the travel opportunities of Finns and on the Finnish business sector competiveness. In addition, the awauon sectorisa mamr ;oh creator in Finnish society.
Blue Wings: Why travet is essential for Finland (https: finnair.com/it for-finland-21675.

r 205: Anti-corruption J

205-1 Operations assessed for risks related to corruption

During 2020, no incidents of corruption were notified through Finnair Ethics Helpline, available to both internal and external stakeholders, nor were there any material investigations on-going in the company.

205-2 Communication and training about anti-corruption policies and procedures

Finnair's Code of Conduct includes an anti-corruption section, and the receiving and giving of bribes is strictly prohibited. During 2020, Finnair continued to train its employees on Finnair's Code of Conduct, and all new emploveés receive
the mandatory e-learning module on the Code of Conduct.

205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken

No incidents of corruption were r2ported in 2020.

p——

206: Anti-competitive behaviour ]

206-1 Legal actions for anti- anti-trust, and practices

No incidents identified.
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[ 207:7ax

207-1 Approach to tax

Finnair’s principle is to pay, collect, remit and report the ndirect and direct taxes it is subject to in each country according to local laws and regulations. The aim of Finnair's tax principles is to support business decisions and to ensure their
appropriate implementation, also from the perspective of taxation.

207-2 Tax governance, control, and risk manageme 1t

Finnair group does not have any structures in place to transfer taxable income from Finland to jurisdictions with lower tax rates. Finnair's tax related risk isbasedona matrix (RACI matrix) and in
addition to Finnair group’s tax function, the risk manage ment processes are monitored by the internal audit function. Potential tax risks are reported also for the Executive Board of Finnair as welt as for the Audit Committee.

207-3 and of concerns related to tax

No incidents

207-4 Country-hy-country reporting

ASSURANCE REPORT Finnair's international business operations are mainly refated to the sales of flight tickets and cargo through Finnair PIc's foreign sales units, as well as local sales promotion activities. Sales units are not separate legal entities. The sales
units’ income is taxed pursuant to the regulations and deuble tax treaties pertaining to the international airline business as part of the parent company's taxable income in Finland. The operations of Finnair's foreign subsidiaries have
primarily been related to travel and back office services, and they are very minor in scale relative to the group’s business operations as a whole. Finnair has also had minor holdings (less than 20 per cent) in some insurance captives located
in Guernsey for business reasons, the results of which are subject to taxation in Finland.
Finnair's taxable operations in individual countries outside of Finland are minor in scale, which can be seen from the tables presented in the tables on the next page.
Finnair Group’s fareign operative subsidiaries are locate in Estonia, where income tax is due in connection with distribution of dividends. The group had also a dormant subsidiary in Russia. It was fiquidated at the end of 2020.
Specification for foreign subsidiaries” external revenue, esult before taxes, income tax payable and number of personnel is presented on the next page.
Profits of sales units are laxed in accordance with reguiztions and double tax treaties pertaining Lo the international airfine business and, hence, revenue, result before taxes, income tax payable and number of personnel in other countries
are not separately adopted in financial statements. Specification of taxes paid and collected in other countries is presented on page 21.
Other taxes primarily include environmental and electriity taxes. Due to the nature of the international airline business, jet fuel is tax-free.
Finnair has confirmed losses in taxation from previous tax periods amounting to approximately 0 million euros. The estimated amount of confirmed tax losses after 2020 taxable resuit is approximately 707 million euros due to the COVID-19
impact. The confirmed tax losses can be utilised against positive taxable income over the next ten years.
More information on direct taxes, such as the taxes purzuant to the consolidated income statement, deferred tax assets and liabilities and the adjusiment of the effective tax rale is presented in Note 5.1 in Finnair's consolidated financial
statements.
The most significant indirect taxes collected during the financial year are withholding tax liabilities, value added tax and excise taxes.
The passenger tariffs collected from flight passengers are not considered as tax-like payments remitted to the authorities subject to reporting as part of the tax footprint as these payments are usually remitted to the private or public party
responsible for airport operations.
Country specific information for 2020 is presented in the chart on page 21 only regarding countries where the amount of taxes paid, collected or deducted was at least 0.05 million euros. Countries where this threshold was not met are
presented as two separate geographical areas. The figures below include taxes paid and collected by subsidiaries and sales units.
Employer contributions paid refate to mandatory emplayer payments regarding employees located cutside of Finland. Withholding taxes on satary are collected based on local legistation. Value added tax on sales and purchases relate
mainly to passenger sales and carga services.
Total amount of excise taxes outside Finland in 2020 hzs been less than 0.1 million euros and, hence, this information is not presented on a country-by-country basis.
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2020, 2019
Finnair's operations in Finland and in other countries Finland* Estonia Other Total Finland Estonia Other Total
countries countries
Revenue, EUR million 829.0 0.2 0.0 829.2 3,088.2 9.5 0.0 3,097.7
Result before taxes, EUR million -654.6 0.3 0.0 -654.4 935 -0.5 0.0 93.0
Number of personnel 5,982 217 374 6,573 6,164 235 372 " 6,771
* internal turnover has been eliminated.
2020 2019
Direct taxes payable, EUR million Finland Other Total Finland Other Total
countries countries
Employer contributions 4.7 23 7.0 45 2.2 6.7
Property taxes 0.7 0.0 0.7 0.7 0.0 0.7
Other taxes 0.9 0.0 10 2.2 0.0 2.2
Public subsidies received* -1.9 -2.5 -4.4 -1.3 0.0 1.3
Taxes included in direct operating expenses and subsidies in total 45 -0.2 43 6.1 23 8.4
Income taxes payable** 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.3 0.0 83
Total direct taxes payable 4.5 -0.2 4.3 14.4 2.3 16.7
* 3.3 million euros of public subsidies received were COVID-19 related.
** Income taxes payable are tax expenses recorded based on the taxable result, which has partly been utilised against confirmed tax tosses.
2020 2019
indirect taxes collected for the financial year, EUR million Finland Other Total Finland Other Total
countries countries
Value added taxes, sales 63.1 0.1 63.2 95.0 0.9 96.0
Value added taxes, purchases 84.8 2.6 87.3 125.2 5.1 1303
Value added taxes, net -21.7 2.5 -24.2 -30.1 -4.2 -34.3
Withholding taxes on wages and salaries and other indirect taxes 64.8 2.0 66.8 100.1 25 102.6
Excise taxes 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.5 0.0 0.5
Total 43.2 0.5 4a2.8 70.5 -1.7 68.8
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REPORTING PRNCIPLES GRI Content Index
GLOBAL COMPACT COMMUNICATION 2020 Employer Value added taxes, Value added taxes, Value added taxes, Withholding taxes Total
ON PROGRESS REPORT (CoP) Country specification, EUR million contributions sales purchases net on wasg:ls;ir;:
GRI CONTENT INDEX Countries
GRI 102 General disclosure Estania 11 00 0.1 01 0.0 10
GRI 103 Management approach China 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.4
> GRI 200 Economic Belgium 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 03
GRI300 Environmental ™ o 00 00 00 o2 03
GRI 400 Soctal Germany 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2
INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER'S Spain o1 %0 01 00 o1 02
ASSURANCE REPORT Russia 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1
Switzerland 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1
South-Korea 0.0 0.0 0.1 -0.1 0.1 0.1
Japan 0.3 0.0 0.7 -0.6 0.5 0.1
Italy 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
France 0.0 0.0 0.1 -0.1 0.0 0.0
Denmark 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0
Sweden 0.1 0.0 0.3 -0.3 0.1 0.0
Norway 0.0 0.c 0.2 -0.2 0.0 0.2
The UK 0.0 0.0 0.4 -0.4 0.1 -03
Thailand .00 0.0 0.5 -0.4 0.0 -0.4
Areas
Other European countries* 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1
Rest of the world** 0.0 0.0 0.1 -0.1 0.0 0.0
Total 23 0.1 2.6 2.5 2.0 19
* Austria, Czech Republic, Hungary, Ireland, Latvia, Lithuania, The Netherlands, Poland, Portugal
** Australia, India, Singapore
Figures on economic responsibility are mainly derived from the financial statements. Other information with respect to economic responsibility is derived from the group's various operators.
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SUSTAINABILITY GRI Content Index

REPORTING PRINCIPLES
GLOBAL COMPACT COMMUNICATION [ 302: Energy ]
ON PROGRESS REPORT (CoP) 302-1 Energy ion within the
Annual report pages 23-27, Nen-=inancial Performance
GRI CONTENT INDEX

Finnair’s primary energy consumption consists of the use of transport fuels. Aviation is very energy-intensive, and Finnair’s largest environmental load arises from flying and particularly from the use of fossii jet fuel. Finnair's total jet fuel

GRI 102 General disclosure consumption comprises flights operated by Finnair itself, flights operated by Norra on Finnair's behalf, as well as so-called wet-{ease flights leased on a short-term basis from other operators due to lack of fleet or crew. In addition, jet fuet is
med on transfer and training flights, as well as on test runs.

GRI 103 Management approach consumed an transfer and iraining fig! «

GRI 200 Economic 2020 2019

» GRI300 Environmental Direct Energy C¢ i Non-renewable . Non-renewable Renewabl
GRI 400 Social Jet Fuel, kg 365,491,837 0 1.132.187.001 32.452
set Fuel, 6 15,643,051 0 48,457,604 1410
INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER'S Ground Vehicles Fuel, kg 68.807 26,252 203.789 54,887
ASSURANCE REPORT Ground Vehicles Fuel, G) 2,836 1,119 8,335 2,305
Solar Power, MWh 0 278 0 297
" solar Power, GJ 0 1,001 0 1,069
Total, GJ 15,645,887 2,120 48,465,939 4,784

Indirect Energy Consumpticn

Facilities Electricity, MWh 20.420 1,075 27,356" 0
Facilities Electricity, G) 73,513 3.869 98.482 0
Facitities Heat, MWh 15.129 3.782 24,806" 0
Facilities Heat, GJ 54,464 13.616 89,302 0
Total, GJ 127,977 17,485 187,784

Grand Total, GJ 15,773,864 19,605 48,653,723 4,784

* Year 2019 figures have been amended to include twa missing energy figures and due to minor chanages in facilites square meter allocation between different tenants.

Fuel consumption and emission figures for flight operations are derived from the company’s own monitoring systems and based on actval fuel consumptions (Annex 1 EU ETS Directive 2003/87/EC of the European Parliament and of the
Council, ‘Method A" EU ETS Monitoring and Reporting Regulation (EU) N:0 601/2012).

The used ‘Method A formula: Fuel consumption for each flight = Amount of fuel contained in aircraft tanks once fuel uplift for the flight is complete - Amount of fuel contained in aircraft tanks once fuet uplift for subsequent flight is
complete + Fuel uplift for that subsequent flight. This method is used in order to capture the fuel consumption by the aircraft's auxiliary power unit (APU) on the ground also. Where the Method A cannot be used, estimated average fuel
burn per block hour per aircratt type is used. For wet-leased flights fuel burn has been requested from wet-lessor. If not received, respective fuef burn has been calculated by aircraft manufacturer specifications or lessor’s information on
aircraft type fuel burn per block hour. Data gaps and erroneous data have been handled using substitution data as close to actual values as possible.

Ground vehicles’ fuel consumpsion figures have been derived from the company’s own fuel filing station. The densities reported by different fuel vendor(s) have been used for different fuel qualities. Where technical data sheets for fuels
used in ground vehicles (biodiesel, petrol, fuel oil) have not been available from the manufacturer, UK Government Conversion Factors for greenhouse gas (GHG) reporting 2020 have been used.

Solar power production figures have been received from the service provider's on-line up-to-date web-based reporting channel.

Organisations' indirect energy ion includes those corporate facilities where company’s own operations take place. The properties owned and leased by Finnair are mainly located in the Helsinki Airport area. The data include
electricity and heating consumption. The figures have been obtained from service providers and is based on paid invoices. Energy consumption figures are not available for Finnair's offices abroad (which are mainly sales offices), as their
energy consumption is typically invoiced as a fixed part of rent. According to the data provided by the energy suppliers 20 % of the purchased district heat and 5% of electricity is produced from renewable sources.
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302-3 Energy intensity

Annual report pages 23-27, Non-Financial Performance

In this report jet fuel is treated as energy because in terms of its purpose and environmental effects it is sensible to understand jet fuel as stored energy. Finnair's measures to improve its fuel efficiency focus on flights operated by the
company itself. Finnair monitors the fue! efficiency of its flights primarily by the payload indicator (RTK), which accounts for the passenger load factor, the mass of cargo transported and the distance between the origin and destination.

Jet Fuel consumption 2020 2019 2018 2017
&/ RTK (total, pax + cargo) 301.4 2493 2513 247.7
g/ RPK (aliocated) 293 25.0 25.2 25.0
fiters / Pax / 100km (allocated) 3.7 3.1 3.2 3.1

RTK = Revenue Tonne Kilometer,
RPK = Revenue Passenger Kilometer
PAX = Passenger

ASSURANCE REPORT The allocated intensity figures have been calculated by dividing the burned fuel between cargo and passenger masses. The total revenue mass of the transport activity has been calculated following
the ICAC emissions allocation principle; An average pzssenger mass with baggage is assumed as 100 Kg, plus a 50 Kg add-on to account of the on-board equipment and infrastructure associated
with passenger use (for example, the weight of seats, toilets, galleys and crew). Allocation of fue! ion between passenger and cargo activities derives from this relation.
302-4 Reduction of energy
Annual Report, pages 23-27, Non-Financial Performance
Finnair discloses its progress in emissions and energy reduction work in detail through CDP reporting. Those who would have interest and have CDP membership can found detailed disclosures at hitps://www.cdp.net/en.
302-5 Reductions in energy requirements of products and services
Annual Report. page 24: Fuel Efficiency Graph
Finnair is a network airline that specialises in passenger and cargo traffic between Asia and Europe. It also offers package tours under its Aurinkomatkat and Finnair Holidays brands. The energy consumption of Finnair's services is easiest to
observe with the jet fuel consumption intensity figures presented in the table 302-3.
[ 304: Biodiversity
304-2 Significant impacts of activities, products, and services on biodiversity
Finnair takes envi aspects into consil i the ground and in the air. Besides energy solutions that reduce the envi load, Finnair's envi policy also includes the preservation and promotion of natural
diversity, known as biodiversity thinking. Finnair has assessed the ecosystem services, or benefits provided to people by nature, that are most relevant to its business, and its operations most significant impacts on them. Of the different
categories of the ecosystem services. cultural services and regulating services are the most relevant to Finnair's business. Cultural services include tourism, human value and aesthetic value. Regulating services include the regufation of air
quality and climate, disease control, pest contro! and pollination.
Finnair's core/ husmess and kev producl areas benefit ecosystem services in various ways. Cultural services are particularly important for travel services. A:rommgly, Flnnau s travcl agency, Aurlnkomatkal has participated in various local projects.
to maintain at various severa years. When planning its destination programmes, Aurinkomatkat carefully evaluates their p ffe n the and bi For example, it has stopped all trips to 200s.
and other attractions where animals are held captive. The operations aim also to avoid excursions to sites where visits could pose a threat to modxversny The (uslomers areinformed at destmannns on appropriate conduct to preserve biodiversity.
In the airline business, Finnair has supported both cultural and regulating services by prohibiting the transportation of hunting trophies or memorabilia originating from endangered species or their parts in its cargo network. Also, primates
and canines intended for faboratory, experimental or ot her exploitation use will never be accepted for transport. Furthermore, Finnair has signed the United for Wildlife (UFW) Buckingham Palace declaration of the Duke of Cambridge to
prevent the illegal wildlife trade. As a signatory. the company has undertaken to promote the awareness of different stakeholders about this topic.
The significance of biodiversity in Finnair’s airline busin2ss will be hightighted further in the coming years through climate change mitigation measures. When Sustainable Aviation Fuels (SAFs) replace fossil fuels in the future, the company
wants to ensure that the primary production of feedstocks for renewable energy sources is used in line with the principles of and does not c: ecosystem services. For example, in the manula(lurmg of
biofuel, measures must be taken not directing to Indirect Land Use Change (ILUC). The objective s to ensure that arable land used for growing food crops is not used to produce raw material for biofuel, which would result in either the
clearing of forests or wetlands to create space for food production or a decline in food production. Regulating services have a significant impact on both the airline business and travel services. The local decline of biodiversity erodes the
operating conditions of the tourism industry and increases the risk of infectious diseases.
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304-3 Habitats protected or restored

In 2020 Finnair collaborated with Snowchange Co-op and the Landscape Rewilding Programme by supporting a 26 hectares namesake boreal peatland plot, Laincensuo. Laineensuo is a highly relevant biodiversity area, with bird life
including European Golden Plover and other relevant specxes The site acts as a carbon sink alleviating climate change. The carbon inventory is assessed using latest trace gas analyzers. Laineensuo restoration helps to improve water quality
downstream on Finnish boreal lakes and rivers. The project is part of Finnair's work to further understand climate change mitigation possibilities as well as contributing to biodiversity.

305: Emissions ]

305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emisslons

Annual report, pages 23-27, Non-Financial Performance

Nearly all of Finnair Group’s greenhotise gas emissions arise from flight aperations. Flying primarily causes two kinds of direct greenhouse gas emissions: carbon d’oxide and water vapour. Water vapour is the most important greenhouse
gas in the atmosphere, but it is not generally examined dlreclly as a human-derived greenhouse gas emission, because the water vapour in the atmosphere is mainly the resuit of natural evaporanon Air transport is in a special position in
this respect because the water vapour generated by the engines is released high in the atmosphere, which increases the atmosphere’s H20 content above the cloud layer. However, not enough is yet known about the impacts of water vapour
and other GHG temissions han €O, from aviation and while more scientific results are available company report the CO; emissions anly.

Direct GHG Emissions 2020 2019 2018 2017
Jet Fuel, t CO, 1,151,299 3,566.389" 3,248,045 2,902,787
Ground Vehicles @ HEL. t CO, 218 650** 755 740
Total, t €O, 1,151,517 3,567,039 3,248,800 2,903,308

* The 2019 figure has been amenzled:; Sustainable aviation fuel (SAF) emissions removed from Scope 1 reporting.
** The 2019 figure has been amended; Biodiesel emissions removed from Scope 1 reporting.

Emission factor for jet fuel used in the report has been 3.15 kg CO,/kg (Default 1PCC emission factors, taken from the 2006 IPCC Inventory Guidelines). Fuel mass has been converted to volume using densities provided by fuel vendor.
If density has not been available a default value of 0.80 kg/! has been used. Ground vehicles’ emissions (biodiese!, petrol, fuel oil) have been calculated using emission conversion factors for different fuel qualities originating from UK
Government Conversion Factors for greenhouse gas (GHG) reporting 2020.

305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions
Indirect GHG Emissions 2020 2019 2018 2017

Facilities electricity, t CO,
Market-based 5,352 6,812% 7.270 8,225
5.018 5,722

Location-based 3.031 4,322

Facilities heat, t CO,

Market-based 3,347 4391° 6,487 11,040
Location-based 2,912 4,068 5,200 7.417
Total {market-hased), t CO, 8,699 11,203* 13,757 19,265

* The 2019 emissions figures have been amended to match the emission factors received from the suppliers.

Market-based emission factors used have been received from the energy company. Since the energy company update it's emissions factor after Q1/2021, the 2015 emissions factors have
been used for 2020. 2019 facto-s being 249 kgC0,/MWh for electricity and 177 kgCO,/MWh for heat. Respectively, 2019 figures above have been updated compared to the previous year's
reporting. Location-based emission factors have been received through Motiva, factors used for year 2020 being 141 kgCO/MWh for electricity and 154 kgCO,/Mwh for heat.
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ON PROGRESS REPORT (CoP) other Indirect GHG Emissi 2020 2019 2018 2017

Fuel transportation & production, t CO, 248,755 770,575 702,790 627,200

GR1 CONTENT INDEX
GRI102 General disclosure Business travel, t CO 109 326 485 NA
GRI 103 Management approach Total, t CO, 248,864 770,901 703.186 627,113
GRI 200 Economic *) Figures have been amended to include ground vehicles indirect emissions and emissions from sustainable aviation fuel (SAF).

> GRI300 E"‘{ironme“tal Finnair has assessed its Scope 3 emissions based an GHG Protocol's Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard). The most material scope 3 emissions derives from Category 3 (Fuel and Energy related activities
GRI 400 Social not included in Scope 1-2). Emission factor source: SFS-EN 16258 standard Table A.1 for Jet A-1, petrol and fuel oil. Biodiesel emission factor (transport and production emissions) has been received from the manucaturer.

Business travel by Finnair empioyees primarily are made by the company's own flights, the emissions of which are reported under Direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1). Business travel made by other airline services is reported
INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER’S under the Other indirect {Scope 3) greenhouse gas emissions. These emissions are estimates, calculated utilising Finnair fuel consumption data from the same or similar (distance-based) Finnair route network.
ASSURANCE REPORT Finnair fully compensates emissions arising from its employees' business flights (both Scope 1 and 3, year 2020 total 353 tonnes).

305-4 GHG emissions intensity

Annual report, pages 23-27, Non-Financial performance

Finnair prefers to use RTK (revenue tonne kilometres} to divide its carbon emissions, since it measures emissions in relation to the distance travelled and the combined mass of passengers and cargo. Emission intensity figures below incude
scope 1 emissions only {TTW).

Energy Intensity 2020 2019 2018 2017
80,/ RTK {total pax + cargo) 949 785 792 780
80,/ RPK (Allocated) 92 79 80 79
g0,/ RTKCargo (Allocated} 514 488 493 492

RTK = Revenue Tonne Kilometer,
RPK = Revenue Passenger Kilometer
PAX = Passenger

The allocated intensity figures have been calculated by dividing the burned fuel between cargo and passenger masses. The total revenue mass of the transport activity has been calculated following the ICAO emissions allocation principle;
An average passenger mass with baggage is assumed as 100 Kg, plus a 50 Kg add-on to account of the on-board equipment and infrastructure associated with passenger use (for example, the weight of seats, toilets, galleys and crew).
Allocation of fuel consumption between passenger and cargo activities derives from this relation.

305-5 Reduction of GHG emissions

Annual Report, pages 23-27, Non-Financial Performance

Finnair discloses its progress in emissions and energy reduction work in detail through CDP reporting also. Those who are interested and have CDP membership can found detailed disctosures at https://www.cdp.net/en.
305-6 Emissions of i (0DS)

Airline operators are bound to use aircraft manufacturers’ certified and safe fire extinguishers. The manufacturers are constantly working on replacing halens from aircrafts but currently there are applications in aircraft where decent
replacements aren't yet found. There wes one reported event of leakage where halon 1301 was emitted to the air during the year 2020. The amount of halon 1301 emission was 2.3 kg (used in engines).
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ON PROGRESS REPORT (CoP) 306-2 Waste by type and disposal method
GRI CONTENT INDEX Annual report, pages 23-27, Non-Financial Performance
GRI 102 General disclosure 2020 209
GRI103 Management approach Hazardous, kg Non-hazardous, kg Hazardous, kg Non-hazardous, kg
GRI 200 Economic Energy use 45,227 1.130.864 74,057 3,281,482
» GRI300 Environmental Recycling 12,113 279,515 15.134 917,232
» GRI400 Social Composting 0 64.540 ) 13.296
INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER'S Landfil ° ° ° °
ASSURANCE REPORT Other 216 o 47034 o
Total 57,556 1,474,919 136,225 4,212,010
The waste votumes have been abtained from the service providers’ reporting channel.
[ 307: Environmental compliance j
307-1 Non-c with envi laws and
No incidents
[ 400: Social Standards ‘]
l 401: Employment ]
401-1 New employee hires and employee turnover
Annual report, pages 23-27, Non-Financial Performance
under 30 years 30-50 years over 50 years Total
Men Women Men Women Men Women Men Women
New employee hires 45 49 32 60 2 9 79 118
Employee turnover (including both 154 294 199 275 97 17 450 686
voluntary and involuntary terminations)
The figures have been retrieved from Finnair's HR information system.
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{ 402: Labour/management relations

402-1 Minimum notice periods regarding operational changes

Significant operational changes in Finland are governed by the Finnish Act on Cooperation within undertakings. Depending on the matter in question, the minimum time period applied can range from one day to six weeks. The collective
bargaining agreements that concern Finnair do not include provisions that run counter to these legislative provisions.

403: Occupational health and safety

403-1 0ccupational health and safety management system

Finnair has implemented an internal occupational health and safety management system in order to systematically maintain and improve occupational heaith and safety related work in ail Finnair units in Finland.

403-2 Hazard identification, risk and incident i

Work-related hazards are identified through systematic risk
implemented.

process. Risk

have been carried out for our operations and they are being regularly reviewed and updated, also if a significant change to its scope is

ASSURANCE REPORT All our emplovees have access to the occupational safety reporting system through which they can report incidents, near misses experienced and hazardous conditions noticed. All reports are investigated. and corrective and preventive

actions set to prevent recurrence. This approach applies similarly te injuries, near misses and occupational safety observations reported.

403-3 Occupational health services.

Occupational health services regularly carry out workplace surveys in order to assess the operations’ impact on workers occupational health, Regular health checks are provided for employees that are exposed to health hazards through

their work, such as noise, chemicals and working during nighttime. The exposure levels are kept as low as possible.

403-4 Worker participation, consuitation, and communication on occupational health and safety

The company’s occupational health and safety managenent system is developed in close contact with the employees. The employees have access to the occupational safety reports and the risk assessments. There is a formal regular

occupational health and safety committee in place with the employee occupational health and safety representatives from all Finnair units as members.

403-5 Worker training on occupational health and safety .

The basic training of occupational health and safety is mandatory for all employees as an e-tearning module. In addition, the occupational health and safety is part of all work-related trainings depending on the task,

403-9 Work-related injuries

Occupational accidents Workplace accidents Loss time injury frequency* Commuting accidents
Airline’s flight personne! 8 4 5 4
Airline’s ground personnel** 14 13 5 1
Aurinkomatkat Ltd 1 0 0 1
Tota! 23 17 4 6
* Loss time injury frequency (LTIF) refers to the number of workplace accidents per million working hours.
** Airline’s ground personnel include group management, support services, ground crew, and operative ground personnel.
Accident statistics are obtained from the insurance zompany and they are updated retroactively, as a result of which the 2020 figures may be subject to further adjustment.
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Number of work-related ill health cases

Number of work-related il health fatalities

Airline's flight personnel 0 0
GRI CONTENT INDEX Lkl
GRI 102 General disclosure Alline’s ground personnel* ° 0
GRI 103 Management approach Aurinkomatkat Oy ° 0
GRI 200 Economic Total [] L]
GRI 300 Environmental * Airline's ground personnel include group management. support services, ground crew, and operative ground personnel,
» GRI 400 Social " " y "
Accident statistics are obtained from the insurance company and they are updated retroactively, as a result of which the 2020 figures may be subject to further adjustment.
INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER'S [ 404: Training and education ]
ASSURANCE REPORT 404-1 Average hours of training per year per employee
All training hours and share between men & women Average hours of training Count of employees
Total, h Women, % Men, % Total, h Women, h Men, h Total, ea Women, ea Men, ea
Office staff 8,935 33% 67% 5 3 8 1,686 919 767
Cabin 75,025 81% 19% 30 27 48 2,534 2.240 294
Pilots 66,644 2% 93% 65 58 65 1,025 28 997
Other Employees 13,294 19% 81% 7 3 11 1,806 813 993
Total 163,898 7,051 4,000 3,051
The training figures have been retrieved from Finnair’s HR information system.
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404-2 Programmes for i ployee skills and assistance programs

Improving employee competence has a significant effect an the strategy il and finding critical areas itself is an integral part of strategic implementation pracess. The sirategic competencies
development requires cooperation with various parties. Thus, in Finnair, learning and development plans are built at the company, unit, team and individual levels. These are further discussed during the annual My Journey development

discussions.

Personnel competency is developed using varieties of difierent learning memods mcludmg traditional classroom training, on-the-job learning, e-learning, workshops, coaching, shadowing, and mentoring. On-the-job fearning, for example,
is a widely utilised effective learning method in ever charging working f-1 g is required.

Parmanent learning themes include the Code of Conduct. flight safety management, occupational safety and health in aviation, work induction, o::upauonalsalely and health awareness (or superwsors and nccupauonal safety card
training. Other vocational training includes outstation training. first aid and emergency training, basic and recurrent trainings, systems training. Also, with various is organised.

The vocational training for Finnair flight crew is conducted in cooperation with Finnair Flight Academy, while Finnair's Technical Services-Unit handles its own technical-specific training i Qur Learning & teamis

responsible for strategic and general business competency development.

The Finnair Aviation Academy, founded in 1964, is a spedal vocational educational establishment maintained by Finnair Plc, which operates as a special educationat establishment under the Act on Vocationa! Adult Education (631/1998). Its
task is to arrange further vocational training leading to a vocational or special vocanonal quallllcauon as well as other further vocational training required for the practice of Finnair Pic's and its subsidiaries” operations (Further Vocational

ASSURANCE REPORT Training Arrangement Permit 551/530/2006. 13 December 2006). As a privately the Aviation Academy funds its operations in accordance with government aid practices and it is a member of Business
Education i EL0 Elory).
404-3 Percentage of employees receiving regular performance and career development reviews
Performance and career development reviews (called My Journey) cover all Finnair personnel. The My Journey process is a management tool based on {bi-)annual discussions that guide individual performance reviews, target setting,
development and wellbeing.
[ 405: Diversity and equal opportunity J
405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees
Annual report, pages 23-27, Non-Financial Performance
[ 406: Non-discrimination J
Disclosure 406-1 Incidents of discrimination and corrective actions taken
During 2020, ne incidents of discrmination were notified through Finnair Ethics Helpline, avaitabe to both internal and external stakeholders, nor were there any material investigations on-going in the company concerning
non-discrimination.
[_ 407: Freedom of Association and Collective Bargaining ]
Disclosure 407-1 Operations and suppliers in which the right to freedom of association and coliective bargaining may be at risk
During 2020, it was assumed that Finnair's operations did not pose a risk to employees’ freedom of association or collective bargaining rights.
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[ 408: Child Labor ]

Disclosure 408-1 Operations and suppliers at significant risk for incidents of child labor

The responsibility of our supply chain is very important in the airline’s operations, as Finnair is increasingly using partners and service providers while its international route network expands. in accordance with the UN Global Compact
initiative, Finnair strives to prevent human rights violations and the use of child labor or forced labor both in its own operations and in its chain of operations.

The supply chain, which is directly related to aviation, operates in accordance with aviation regulations, thus these suppliers are closely monitored. International aviation safety regulations require that alf airport employees must be
registered and always carry an official identity card. This creates a basis for the fact that Finnair’s awn operations do not directly involve a significant risk to children’s rights.

However, there may underlie indirect risks and consequences associated with the supply chain and outsourced operations. Aviation rules require us to inspect aircraft component suppliers and service facilities ourselves. in these
inspections, we have not detected any use of child fabor. We use some manufacturing companies in Asian countries where local laws may not exist to protect children’s rights, so full assurance of supply chain cleanliness cannot be
guaranteed. B

During 2020, no cases of child labor were reported and there were no ongoing investigations in the company.

LA!A: Supplier social assessment ]

414-1 New suppliers that were screened using social criteria
414-2 Negative social impacts in the supply chain and actions taken

During 2020 Finnair discontinued using Sedex in assessing suppliers’ social criteria. The company is now developing new processes and guidelines ta ¢
company is constantly striving to develop practices to mitigate negative sustainability impacts and encourage responsibe sourcing.

[ a5: Public poticy |
415-1 Political contributions

impi supply chain's and handling of non-compliances. The

Finnair does not support any political parties or persons.
416: Customer health and safety _]

416-1 Assessment of the health and safety impacts of product and service categories

Sustainability Appendix; Chapter 103 -Customer expericene

In connection with the coronavirus, the company has continuously assessed the heaith safety of travel in 2020. Instructions related to safe travel are available on tke company’s website at: https:, finnair. [-di
coronavirus

Blue Wings: Covid and Flying (https:, ir.com/i i i i d-flying: dical-expert-s-vit 3316)

416-2 incidents of non-compliance concerning the health and safety impacts of products and services

No incidents
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417; Marketing and labelling

417-3 Incidents of non-compliance concerning marketing communications

No incidents.

418: Customer privacy

418-1 Substantiated complaints concerning breaches of customer privacy and losses of customer data

No incidents.

419: Socioeconomic compliance

419-1 Non-compliance with laws and regulations in the social and economic area

No incidents identified.
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independent Practitioner’s Assurance Report

To the Management of Finnair Plc
We have been engaged by the Manage-
ment of Finnair Plc (hereinafter also the
Company) to perform a limited assurance
engagement on selected environmental
performance indicators for the reporting
period 1 January to 31 December 2020
(hereinafter the Selected environmental
information), disclosed in Finnair’s Sustain-
ability Appendix of the Annual Report 2020.

The Selected environmental information
consists of the following performance indi-
cators:

. Jet Fuel consumed by all flights under
the Finnair call sign.

. Fuel consumed by Finnair's ground vehicles

. Finnair’s Solar Power

. Electricity and heating consumed in
Finnair’s properties.

. CO2 emissions originating from the
consumption referred to in points 1, 2
and 3 (Scope 1).

6. €02 emissions originating from the
consumption referred to in point 4
(Scope 2).

7. €02 emissions in Scope 3 category 3
(Fuel- and energy-related activities) and
category 6 (Business travel).

FNNTRN N -

v
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Management'’s responsibility

The Management of Finnair PIc is respon-

sible for preparing the Selected environ-

mental information in accordance with the

Reporting criteria:

For items 1 to 6 of the scope above:

- Finnair’s own reporting instructions
as described in Finnair’s Sustainability
Appendix of the Annual Report 2020.

« The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standard.

For item 7 of the scope above:

+  The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: Corporate
Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and
Reporting Standard as applicable.

+  Finnair's own reporting instructions
as described in Finnair's Sustainability
Appendix of the Annual Report 2020.

The Management of Finnair Plc is also
responsible for such internal control as the
management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of the Selected envi-
ronmental information that is free from
material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

Practitioner’s independence and
quality control

We have complied with the independ-

ence and other ethical requirements of the
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
issued by the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants, which is founded

on fundamental principles of integrity,
objectivity, professional competence and
due care, confidentiality and professional
behaviour.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy applies Inter-
national Standard on Quality Control 1 and
accordingly maintains a compr2 i

REMUNERATION
REPORT
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Practitioner’s responsibility

our responsibility is to express a limited
assurance conclusion on the Selected envi-
ronmental information based on the proce-
dures we have performed and the evidence
we have obtained. Our assurance report
has been prepared in accordance with the
terms of our engagement. We do not accept,
or assume responsibility to anyone else,
except to Finnair Plc for our work, for this
report, or for the conclusions that we have
reached.

We conducted our limited assurance

system of quality control including docu-
mented policies and procedures regarding
compliance with ethical requirements,
professional standards and apglicable legal
and regulatory requirements.

in accordance with the Inter-
national Standard on Assurance Engage-
ments (ISAE) 3410 “Assurance Engagements
on Greenhouse Gas Statements”. That
Standard requires that we plan and perform
the engagement to obtain limited assurance
about whether the Selected environmental
information is free from material misstate-
ment.
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In a limited assurance engagement the
evidence-gathering procedures are more
limited than for a reasonable assurance
engagement, and therefore less assurance
is obtained than in a reasonable assurance
engagement. An assurance engagement
involves performing procedures to obtain
evidence about the amounts and other
disclosures in the Selected environmental
information. The procedures selected
depend on the practitioner’s judgement,
including an assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the Selected envi-
ronmental information.
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Our work consisted of, amongst others, the
following procedures:

+  Visiting virtually the Company’s Head
Office in Finland.

Interviewing employees responsible for
collecting and reporting the Selected
environmental information at the Group
level.

Assessing how Group employees apply
the Company's reporting instructions
and procedures.

« Testing the accuracy and completeness
of the information from original
documents and systems on a sample
basis.

Testing the consolidation of information
and performing recalculations on a
sample basis.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT
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Limited assurance conclusion
Based on the procedures we have
performed and the evidence we have
obtained, nothing has come to our attention
that causes us to believe that Finnair PIc's
Selected environmental information for the
reporting period ended 31 December 2020
is not properly prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the Reporting
criteria.

When reading our assurance report, the
inherent limitations to the accuracy and
completeness of sustainability information
should be taken into consideration.
Helsinki, 16 February 2021

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy

Tiina Puukkoniemi
Authorised Public Accountant (KHT)
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Contact
information

ON €+ 4

House of Travel and Transportation
Finnair Oyj

Tietotie 9 A (Helsinki Airport)
01053 FINNAIR

Tel. +358 600 0 81881
(1,25 €/answered call + local charge)

company.finnair.com
investors.finnair.com

www.facebook.com/finnair
www.facebook.com/finnairsuomi

www.twitter.com/Finnair
www.twitter.com/FinnairSuomi

https://blog.finnair.com/en/
https://blog.finnair.com/

www.instagram.com/feelfinnair/
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